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Prelude ï  

Conspiracy of Ravens 

I grew up in and around Baltimore. Most of the time it was just my brothers and me. Dad was 

perpetually busy at the University and Mom had remarried and moved off to Boston with the rest 

of the brood. That's us Millers, dysfunctional to the core.  

It was my last day on the east coast for a while, perhaps forever. So, of course I headed for the 

city.  

There are three places I love to go when I'm visiting the old Inner Harbor Area, and since this 

was my farewell excursion, I had to hit all three. The first stop was Fort McHenry, which 

somehow the city has managed to keep in fairly good repair. I looked at the cannons and 

wondered what it would have been like to lived there; to see the battle that inspired Sir Francis 

Scott Key; to be inspired. Inspiration is running low these days.  

Next site was Poe's grave. Edgar Allen Poe, and odd man if ever there was one. I've read some of 

his works, I guess growing up in the area it's almost required reading. I bought a small bottle of 

brandy and left it there: a toast to his memory and the Raven.  

Ravens have always been considered to be messengers and far too smart to do ónormalô bird-like 

things. Maybe thatôs why Iôve always liked them. They just donôt fit the mold. Even when you 

refer to a group of them its something ominous. You may have a pride of lions, a pack of wolves, 

but when it comes to Ravens, you have a conspiracy.  

Sometimes it feel as if the fates have conspired against me... if I believed that. These days Iôm 

believing very little. The three people I care the most about are missing, on the other side of the 

continent. Tomorrow, Iôm heading out from BWI. My gear is already packed, and all thatôs left 

are the goodbyes.  

My final stop was an empty pier near the Aquarium. The pier is kind of a sad place to some. It 

was the final docking place of the USS Constellation.  

She was sister ship to the USS Constitution and had a rather impressive career of her own, but 

she always lived in the shadow of her sister. I saw her once when I was very young, before a fire 

took her. Now all that's left are the pictures, and a scarred old pier with a decaying visitor's 

center. Kinda makes me think of my family.  

Seven kids, 2 sets of parents and it seems Iôm the only one whoôs worried enough about the boys 

to do anything about it: something that should be preserved that's just been left to rot. Memories 

are all that seem to exist now, a faded photograph and some burn marks from all the fighting.  

Well, since I was due to head out in the morning and I don't like being downtown by myself I 

turned to leave. Besides, I was getting way too maudlin for my liking. As I turned, I saw an all 
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too familiar brooding face: Aaron. I could feel the hair on the back of my neck stand up as he 

smiled at me.  

"Jess... I heard you were leaving, figured I'd find you here," he said.  

His expression was too normal, his words held just the right edge of socialness that if you didn't 

know us, didn't know our history you'd think we were old friends.  

"Aaron," I said, fighting to keep an air of civility between us.  

ñSo, you were just going to leave without saying good-bye?ò he asked, his tone almost sounded 

hurt.  

Now let me tell you something about Aaron and me. Iôve dated a lot of guys, a lot. For the most 

part it just never seems to work out: Iôm not what theyôre looking for or weôre too good of 

friends for them to chance ruining it. Not that I really mind, because in almost every case, we 

usually end up as friends and thatôs find with me.  

Not Aaron.  

Aaron was one of the few that I had to break up with and he did not take it well at all.  

ñIôm not the one with the restraining order,ò I told him. I probably shouldnôt have been so curt, 

but the last time I saw him, the boys were with me and Iôm trying really hard not to think about 

them.  

ñIts your brothers isnôt it?ò he asked, that hurt tone coming through loud and clear. ñIts always 

your brothers. Iôm so tired of them coming between us.ô  

I froze, a chill running up my spine. ñAaron, the only time they came between us was when you 

were coming after me with a baseball bat.ò  

He smiled at that. The little bastard actually smiled.  

ñAnd they arenôt here any more...ò Aaron told me as he moved slightly closer. Thatôs when I saw 

the Louisville Slugger heôd hidden behind him.  

Now I work for Citywide Ambulance service as a paramedic and one of the things they issue is a 

panic button. Its supposed to sound an alarm and bring in back-up. Itôs not anything near as 

fancy as the DocWagon folks provide, but we do try and look after our own.  

As I backed away from Aaron, I hit the button and nothing happened. Iôd forgotten: I no longer 

worked for Citywide - Baltimore, and my job with Citywide - Seattle was on the opposite coast 

and two weeks away.  

I could tell by Aaronôs smile, heôd already taken that into consideration.  
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As I backed away, I could hear the ravens.  

Aaron smiled: I was running out of pier. My heart was racing as I tried to remember everything 

the boys had taught me.  

ñGet inside his swing and he canôt use his weapon against you,ò Mattôs voice was calm as I 

remembered the fighting lessons heôd given me.  

ñGo for the weak points, the nerve centers,ò I could hear Alanôs voice now. He didnôt have to 

teach me the areas to strike, Iôd learned that in anatomy.  

I drew a deep breath, but I couldnôt keep the tremble out of it as he pulled back to strike. As he 

swung I hit the dirt and tried to come up under his swing, but heôd managed to bring the bat 

down. I gasped as it connected with shoulder. Without thinking I changed from ducking to 

tackling. Where Mattôs tactics failed, Nickôs took over.  

Nick was yet another failed romance. Heôd ended up being almost another member of the family, 

another brother, who taught me how to take care of myself.  

The fighting style he taught me was one he called óGator Rockô. From the outside it looked like 

nothing by mindless thrashing, but from the inside it was a careful exercise in trying to match up 

all your hard bony parts to all your opponentôs soft fleshy ones. Or as Alan had said, ógo for the 

weak points and nerve centers.ô  

I knew I must have hit something, cause he went slack and stopped screaming. Gasping for air, I 

rolled out from under him. I could tell he was having trouble breathing, but so help me, for once 

in my life, I didnôt care. I went to the call box and waited for the police to arrive. The paramedics 

glowered at me when they arrived because Iôd done nothing to help the óvictim.ô  

It was the second time the man had tried to kill me, and so help me, I was not going to give him 

another opportunity.  

The Star wasnôt too happy with my performance either, until they ran the background checks on 

both of us. One look at the restraining order and their attitude changed. They told me I could file 

the report in the morning, but Iôd be gone by then, so I went downtown and filed the report. It 

was nice to know that by the time he was released, Iôd be long gone.  

As I followed the police to the station, I could see the ravens circling overhead: a conspiracy is in 

the air...  
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Week One ï Getting Situated 

Thursday, June 22, 2056 - Arrival at SeaTac 

I arrived at SeaTac under a dark cloud, but from what I've been able to gather, that doesn't really 

mean much in these parts: there's always a dark cloud, and its almost always raining. It's late and 

my stuff isn't slated to arrive until morning so, I've pretty much decided to say here for now.  

Its not like I can go all that far anyway. I've spent most of my credits getting here. I've got one 

last paycheck from Baltimore, and I'm not slated to start working here for another two weeks. 

That means four weeks until I start getting a regular paycheck again. God I hate moving.  

With my money limitations, and the fact that I need to be here in the morning, the only choice 

that made sense was checking into one of the quaint little coffins they've got here and grabbing 

some shut-eye. It was either that or grab a cab over to the boy's place... I don't think I'm ready for 

that.  

It'll wait till morning...  

So... here I am laying in a coffin motel room with barely enough space to write, my backpack 

and my medical kit wedged in beside me. Great start to a new life... Guess it could be worse... 

could be raining.  

'Night y'all.  

 

Friday, June 23, 2056 - I hate bureaucracy!  

It was raining...  

Today's rant : "I hate Bureaucracy!"  

Went to the freight depot to pick up my gear. The guy there said I couldn't pick up my bike 

without a local driver's license. So, I go to DMV, but I can't get a driver's license yet, since I 

don't have a permanent address. All I need for proof of address is a bill going to my current 

address.  

I ended up taking a cab to the boy's place. Needless to say, I wasn't in the best of moods. I'd 

already spent more today than I planned on spending for the entire week and I hadn't managed to 

accomplish anything other than a monster headache...  

My luck changed a little after lunch. Mrs. Macadders, the super in the boy's building came in, 

with Lone Star to see what I was up to... Once THAT was straightened out, she obliged my by 

giving me a bill for the boys door, which she had replaced after the 'break in'.  
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It wasn't quite that bad, but it sure felt like it. She did make me tea after scaring the daylights out 

of me... and the bill did give me proof of residence. Rough start, but after lunch I was ready for a 

rematch.  

Went back to DMV, got my license... and then it was another cab ride back out to SeaTac where 

I once again attempted to pick up my bike. This time I was told that the first gentleman was 

wrong and I *didn't* need my license, but it was too late in the day to process it, so... come back 

tomorrow...  

Boom, he lowered the closed sign right in front of me.  

Another cab ride back to the boy's place and a very frustrating evening of cleaning and 

contemplating all sorts of things to do to any annoying bureaucratic idiots who cross my path-- at 

least I'll be able to fix any damage I do to them.  

But... the piece de resistance came that evening when I went to the corner store to pick up some 

food for the night. I was tired, cranky and not paying attention: Big mistake.  

When I exited, some of the local gang were waiting to welcome me to the neighborhood. I 

scanned their faces, but I didn't recognize anybody from the last time I was here....  

I was *not* in the mood. When they started posturing I just lost it. I told them something 

like..."Look, its been a really bad day... can we just assume that I've been properly impressed and 

just go on about our business."  

And of course... they didn't take it all that well. I think I would have been Jess-burger if someone 

else hadn't started shooting first... Yeah, I luck out and go from potential victim to street doc 

mode in 5.9 seconds.  

After that it was bureaucracy reporting, questioning... and the first officers on the scene, 

remember me from a B lier in the day... I ended-up down town. One finger-printing later and 

they're apologizing because the officer with the memory lapse suddenly remembered the B a 

false alarm.  

So they turn me lose... and... you guessed it... I had to take a cab home. Not one of my better 

days.  

 

Saturday June 24th, 2056 - Rebounding  

This morning I did not want to get out of bed. After everything that happened yesterday, part of 

my mind just didn't want to function. I mean, I've been in town less than a day and a half and in 

that time I have been, mistaken for a burglar, hassled by a gang, witness to a drive-by and 

arrested under suspicion of criminal wrong doing.  



 

A Year in Seattle  9  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

By this time I have taken 5 cab rides, stood in at least 27 different lines, been poked, prodded and 

otherwise annoyed.  

Finally primeval part of my mind kicked in and tried to convince me that my bad luck had run its 

course. Yeah, right, I should be so lucky.  

I felt a lot more human after a shower, but then I was face to face with reality again. Here I was, 

alone in Seattle, sitting in my brothers' condo, with no idea where to go from here. Since I lost 

my supplies in last night's fiasco, I decided to try again, but this time I was paying attention.  

I saw them this time, long before they surrounded me, but there was no way I was prepared for 

what happened next. They smiled and handed me something that looked almost like a shoe lace, 

I looked at it for a second and then smiled.  

I thanked them for it and they seemed surprised that I didn't ask what it was. It was a token. A 

symbol that indicated I could move through the neighborhood un-hassled. They'd acknowledged 

me as a street doc and therefore, I was a protected commodity.  

That was when Fin stepped back into my life. I'd been out here almost 2 years ago, spent 3 

months visiting, exploring. Two of those months were spent dating Fin. He pulled up on his bike 

as the presentation ended.  

He sat there and started laughing. Two years and the mans' first words to me are. "Jess, I should 

have known it was you..."  

Of course, he'd already heard all about last night's debacle. "Only you could get yourself in a 

situation like that and get out of it just as easily."  

This both seemed to amuse and amaze the assembled gangers. Fin had been one of them, and 

that I was his friend seemed to elevate their opinion of me even more.  

With a smile, he offered me a ride. He took me to breakfast and he filled me in on what he knew 

about what had happened. It wasn't much. Some gunfire, the condo was ripped apart by someone 

looking for something, and nobody had seen a thing.  

After that he took me out to SeaTac and helped me deal with the series of clerks until I had my 

bike and the rest of my stuff was on its way to the apartment. He rode with me back to the boys' 

place... I think he's trying to look out for me.  

However, after a few hours of watching me clean and get things into a semblance of order, he 

told me it was good to see me and that he'd be in touch.  

Ah well, at least I have my bike now... the rest will come in time.  

.  
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Sunday, June 25th 2056 - Picking up the pieces  

Things never happen the way you expect.  

I spend most of last night cleaning up the place and trying to get everything in order, and this 

morning was just a continuation of yesterday.  

Matt's room was the easiest. He'd always been a bit sparse in the furnishings department. His 

futon had been slashed open, the paper screen smashed. Every drawer was dumped and the stand 

where his swords were always proudly displayed was hauntingly empty.  

I re-stuffed the futon and hit the slashes with some heavy duty thread. I figure until I get the rest 

of the place in order, I'll sleep there.  

Next I tackled Alan's room. His was the Master bedroom, complete with walk in closet. Not that 

he used it for anything as ordinary as 'cloths' mind you. No, that was his inner sanctum, also 

hauntingly empty. I caught a whiff of incense, but nothing else. The floor was clean and the 

markings were gone. I couldn't tell if had been... undone... but it didn't feel right going in there. It 

took me almost 5 hours to establish order in the place, but when I was finished, it looked almost 

as if Al would be coming home at any minute.  

Andy's room was last. I gasped when I saw how hard hit his room had been, then paused. 

Thinking about it, it didn't look *that* much different than the way he normally kept his room. 

The only difference was a big gaping empty place where his computer stood.  

I closed the door.  

Everything is almost normal. The only weapons I found was a broken sai and a pair of shanai. It 

took me until this morning to realize something else was missing-- the cats. The boys have been 

missing for almost a month now, and Taco and Maxwell aren't really known for their survival 

skillsï dry food is their idea of roughing it.  

It was about three when I realized I hadn't eaten yet. I went to the diner on the corner and had a 

late lunch. I didn't really recognize anybody, but they recognized me. One or two knew who I 

was, but everybody seemed to have heard about me.  

I was sitting there when one woman walked up to me and stood there staring. I turned and 

smiled, but she was scowling at me.  

"Should have let them die," she told me angrily. "Do us all a favor."  

I looked at her and shook my head, offering her a seat. "Some grow out of it," I told her as she 

continued to stare at me. "But they've got to live long enough to learn."  
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She didn't get it. Some people never do. I sighed and told her I'm a medic, its what I do... How do 

you explain to someone the oath, the belief... I'm not here to pass judgement on people, that's for 

their ministers... I just keep their bodies going...  

"Now more of *us* will get hurt."  

There was something in her voice that told me, I wasn't one of *us*... I had broken some 

unwritten rule.  

She left me, sitting there, trying to sort out what she'd said, and how I felt about it. I'd almost 

gotten a handle on it when a man walked up and sat down across from me. He wasn't exactly 

friendly, but he wasn't exactly hostile either. He just sat down and stared at me for a minute or 

two.  

When he spoke, it was in measured tones and it took me a while to get used to his speech pattern.  

"Jess, all she understands... is boys like them, they killed her son... she hates them all-- and you 

helped them, therefore-- you're as bad as they are..."  

Looking at him, I wasn't sure if he shared that opinion or not, but since he sat there smiling, I like 

to think he's a friend.  

"I have to..." I told him softly. It wasn't really a plea, or an excuse, just a simple statement. I don't 

wear the caduceus on my jacket for show... its what I am.  

He nodded. At least some people understand.  

He sat there a moment longer and then smiled. "I assume you'll be looking for the cats," he 

added, his grin widening.  

I didn't believe it at first, but as he smiled I began to understand. He introduced himself and told 

me he'd been looking after my wayward charges.  

The man's name is Mario, and he's the neighborhood grandfather... A good man to know, and it 

turns out a good source for neighborhood gossip. Problem was, there wasn't much gossip about 

the boys, only the same story Fin had told me. At least I have the cats back.  

Things are beginning to get rolling, I just have to be patient.  

.  

 

Monday, Jun 26th 2056 - Missing Persons  
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Well, today I made my first voluntary trip down to police headquarters. After waiting in line for 

2 hours I got directed to the missing persons desk two levels down. With visitor pass in hand I 

made my way through the station and stood in another line for almost an hour before getting to 

talk to the desk clerk.  

Officer Saunders. I mean, I'm used to your typical civilian clerks who are bored out of their 

gourds doing the drudge work... but there was no way you could expect Officer Saunders. First 

off he's about 8'10" average height for a Troll I guess. The man was gruff, but straight forward. 

He showed me how to fill out the request, in triplicate since I was looking for Matt, Alan and 

Andy.  

He was an odd combination of helpful and gruff. He made the checks he gave me the case 

numbers and status, then growled at me to get out of there and let people with real problems get 

their information. As I headed out he called to me, telling me to check back in a week for any 

updates, and that I might want to check the hospitals and the morgue for John Does.  

I turned in surprise. It was the first helpful thing I'd gotten from anybody at the star. He winked 

at me then growled, "Now stop wasting my time!"  

It gave me something to think about as I went back upstairs and turned in my pass. The clerk 

asked me if I got the information I needed and I shook my head.  

"Sorry honey," he said. "sometimes nothing's better than the alternatives."  

It wasn't very comforting, but at least he made an effort.  

The rest of the afternoon I spent riding around the city, getting a feel for the layout and traffic 

patterns. I've got just over a week to learn the area before I'm on duty. At least it felt like I was 

accomplishing something.  

 

Tuesday June 27th 2056 - And John Does  

Today was the hardest day I've been through in a long time. Following officer Saunder's advice, I 

stopped by the hospitals looking at their John Does. I only hit the public hospitals, but I figure I 

better learn where all of them are if I'm running an ambulanceï public and private.  

Looks like I'm going to need to buy a map of the place.  

The weather wasn't too badï of course, it was raining. The ride gave me time to clear my mind 

between stops at the hospitals. I guess it wasn't all that bad. I've seen more injured people in a 

standard shift, but somehow it was different.  

I wasn't there as a street doc, there was nothing I could do for them, their golden hour had long 

expired before I reached them, and all I could do was try and identify them. I was glad to say that 
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I didn't know any of them. But to be honest, I'd rather find the boys in the hospital than in the 

morgue  

The morgue ï that had to be the worst part of the day.  

Again, I've seen dead bodies. I've attended my share of autopsies, and even done some of the 

cutting. Its part of the job. I guess the problem was... I wasn't there to study mortality, but to find 

the boys. That was not an easy thing for me to do. It was almost like admitting they could be 

dead.  

Don't get me wrong, I know that that's probably the most likely option, but it doesn't mean I have 

to admit or accept it. Maybe it is a form of denial, but I can't shake the feeling that if they were 

deadï I'd know somehow. It doesn't really make sense, but I think it's the only way I can keep on 

with this. Guess its like the clerk said, it beats the alternatives.  

I have to admit thought, the Chief M.E. was a trip. Dr. Tommy Chen was there when I arrived. 

He reminded me a lot of Dr. Drasco the M.E, in back in Baltimore. He had the same droll sense 

of humor. It helped, made the setting seem more normal, at least normal for me I guess.  

Did I say 'droll'? Morbid would be more like it. But you kinda get used to graveyard humor in 

this business. Its how you fight it. You laugh about it, you even laugh at it, cause death is no 

laughing matter, but maybe if you laugh hard enough you can keep it from getting to you.  

Sometimes I think we're all guilty of it. After the Night of rage, where countless lives were lost, I 

thought the world was going to end. Until Matt looked at me and shook his head.  

"Hell of a birthday present, hu kid?"  

It wasn't really funny, but I was nine and it kinda put things into perspective. You can't beat 

yourself up over things you can't control. You just do your best with what you've got and don't 

look back.  

I guess the real problem here is that its all about looking back. Looking for something that maybe 

gone forever.  

Damn, I've been here less than a week and I'm sounding like I'm giving up. I'm not though. Us 

Millers are made of sterner stuff.  

I hope.  

 

Wednesday, June 28th - A new direction 
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The day started off kind of slowly. I didn't really want to do much of anything after yesterday. 

One of the bodies... what happened wasn't pretty and for some reason I spent most of the night 

imagining Matt, or Alan, or Andy's face attached to it.  

I think that's the last time I eat microwave burritos right before bed.  

I mean, I've seen worseï hell, I've treated worse and never had a problem. I think this whole 

thing is getting to me.  

I finally did manage to get up and by then, the walls seemed to be closing in on me. I figured 

doing some routine maintenance on my bike might take my mind off of the rather self destructive 

mood I was in.  

I pulled out my token the local gang had given me and figured it was time to mount it, and the 

others I'd collected back in Baltimore. When I'd finished, my bike looked more like a 

talismonger's shop than anything. I'd attached them and the others to my antenna and was 

looking at it from an artistic standpoint when Mario came in.  

He stood there for quite a while before speaking, and the finally he came over. "I've been 

watching you," he commented evenly.  

I looked at him, but waited for him to finish.  

"Seems, if you're left to your own devices, you'll tear yourself apart, but if you're doing 

something for othersï you don't have time to worry about the other things."  

I shrugged, but I think he pegged me with that statement. I mean, I'm most comfortable when I'm 

up to my eyeballs at an accident scene. I mean, I don't have to thinking about myself, what I 

should say, how I feel... the only thing that matters is getting the injured where they need to be, 

and keeping them alive long enough for the real docs to do their work.  

When I looked back up at Mario, I could tell, he knew me.  

"I know you're not a full Doc, but sometimes a street doc's better for what goes on in the 

neighborhood. Folks round her do all right, but still... they can't afford a regular Doc for every 

little thing that goes wrong."  

He had my interest up now.  

"My daughter runs a clinic in the neighborhood, and she could use some help. With your 

training, you could do some Assistant work, freeing her up for the bigger stuff."  

I smiled at him. He was offering me something positive to do to keep my mind off of my 

problems, and a way to get to know the folks in the neighborhood and maybe, just maybe learn a 

little more about what happened to my brothers.  
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If only it had been that easy. His daughter, Trina was so over worked that she didn't have time to 

see him. She had us waiting in the reception area while she tried to catchup on her patients. I 

guess maybe she thought he wanted her to look at me, cause any time he tried to talk to her, she 

just shook her head.  

It wasn't until somebody brought a kid in that had been mauled by a dog that I really got to do 

much of anything. She was already calling the ambulance when I dropped to my knees and 

pitched in.  

Normal doctoring, maintaining health... I know the basics. But give me an emergency situation 

and I'm at my prime. By the time the ambulance arrived, we had most of his wounds dressed and 

he was looking a lot better.  

Trina told me anytime I wanted to help out, I was welcomed.  

Guess I don't have to worry about having nothing to do. Oddly enough, that helps a lot.  
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Week Two ï Things are seldom what they seem 

Thursday, June 29th 2056 - Learning the ropes 

I took an early morning drive through the city during early morning rush hour to get a feel for the 

streets and the traffic. Maps are one thing, but they never really mean that much to me until Iôve 

driven the roads and can put a picture to the corner.  

When I got home, I began marking the map for the morning rush hour and the usual traffic tie- 

ups. Itôs an odd hobby, but one that comes in quite useful when youôre running an ambulance, or 

acting as a motorcycle medic.  

Itôs a wonderful job really, but very new to the area. Thing is the Australians and the Brits have 

been doing it for over sixty years. Remote areas, heavy trafficï there are times when you need to 

get a medic to a person faster than traffic will allow and helicopters arenôt always the answer.  

Enter the motorcycle medic.  

Itôs a bit different from a standard medicôs position, because thereôs usually a much longer wait 

for transport. Normally the job means stabilize and transport, but when transport is delayed and 

you have a patient with a serious condition, you have a lot more work ahead of you. Its up to you 

to stabilize them and keep them going until the transport can get there.  

After I finished up with the maps, I ended up over at the clinic helping Trina out. For the most 

part I ended up being a combination triage nurse and a P.A. handling the minor cases.  

I didnôt do too badly, but lets face it, my training is geared to emergencies. You help the patient 

and keep them going until you can get them to hospital for treatment. Its very rare in my line of 

work that colds are a serious concern. Usually by the time that comes into play, theyôre at the 

hospital, and under the care of a full medical staff.  

Still, a lot of the folks didnôt want anything to do with me other than ñWhatôs the problem.ò and 

ñthe Doctor will see you now.ò (Did I mention, I make a lousy duty nurse?)  

On the bright side, today didn't seem as bad as yesterday was, although I did get some rather 

nasty stares from a few of the older patients. I knew it was about the gangers, but there was 

nothing I could do about that, and nothing I would change. Itôs what Iôm trained to do. You 

swear the oath, you put aside your personal feelings and judgements.  

The only thing that matters is the injured and treating them, the rest can wait until after the 

situation is under control. The problem is, right now, my entire life seems out of control.  

Sometimes I wonder if I'm fighting what might not be a losing battle, but definitely one you can't 

win.  
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At least with the two of us working the clinic things ran rather smoothly. I know Trina looked a 

lot less frazzled by the end of the day.  

There were actually times when nothing was happening. Iôm not sure if Trina was pleased, or 

worried by that. Maybe Iôm not the only one running from my own demons.  

Around five she came into the nurse's station and caught me listening to the traffic reports and 

making notes on my maps: marking the traffic flows, and charting the problem areas.  

When I explained that I needed to know the routes to take and how the time of day will effect my 

run, she shook her head and told me it was a busman's holiday. I had to chuckle at that one-- 

technically working here is a busman's holiday.  

But sometimes the only holiday you have is the one you make, busman or otherwise, at least itôs 

a change.  

 

Friday, June 30th 2056 -Smoke and Mirrors 

Well, Iôm slated to start work in one week. Iôm actually looking forward to it. After two days of 

kids with skinned knees and angry mothers, I could use a rest from this little diversion. Trina 

keeps trying to tell me Iôm a natural and should think about a ñserious medical career.ò  

I know sheôs teasing, but sometimes I think I went into emergency medicine because you donôt 

have as much time to get attached to the patient. I mean, youôve got a serious job to do. You get 

them out of danger and where they can be helped and you donôt have time to let emotions come 

into play. You do that, somebody almost always gets hurt. Its an odd combination of remaining 

detached, but accessible. The last thing you want is a patient who thinks you donôt care, cause 

thatôs when they stop caring.  

Still, there are cases where you spend an inordinate amount of time with the patient. Either while 

youôre trying to extricate them and keep them conscious, or youôre trying to keep them going 

until the rest of the team arrives.  

Those times, you do get to know about them, and youôre almost always curious as to how theyôre 

doing afterwards. I have a few people like that in Baltimore. The folks who didnôt stop fighting, 

the ones who looked you up afterwards just to say thanks... the kids.  

I almost always remember the kids. Here its different. The kids arenôt in any serious danger for 

the most part probably got what they deserved, like the Jenkinsô boy who got bitten when he 

grabbed the neighborôs cat by the tail and tried to swing him over his head.  

But then you get kids like the Davis boy who got óthumped upô by the local gang. Yeah, them 

again. And of course, since I patched them up it was all my fault. Richard didnôt seem to mind 

that fact, but his momï man did she lay into me.  
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I was glad Trina was there to bail me out. She was calm and patient and explained that as a 

medic, itôs my duty to treat anyone in need.  

It was a great speech, and I almost believed that she agreed with it until the end of the day when 

two rather bloody Orks came in dragging an Elf between them. They looked as if theyôd been in 

a major fight somewhere. They were in need and Trina refused to help them.  

She REFUSED! I couldnôt believe the same woman who preached tolerance and duty was 

turning her back on folks who were obviously in need.  

She just told them to get out, and not to come back.  

I think I must have been staring at her in disbelief and shock when she turned around. She just 

glared at me and told me that if I had a problem with that I could leave too.  

Needless to say I did. I ended up patching them up in their van, but it was rough. Half the stuff I 

needed was either in the clinic or in my kit at home. I couldnôt go back to the clinic, that much 

was obvious and they refused to go to the apartment. I did what I could for them, and then they 

were off. I ended up going for a long ride, trying to clear my head on the whole matter, but I kept 

thinking about Trinaôs reaction.  

I was halfway to Redmond before it hit me: all of her patients had been human. That thought sent 

a shiver up my spine. I pulled over and just sat there for a while. I know it wasnôt the smartest 

thing I could do, but I just needed to think.  

I got back to the apartment around midnight and just collapsed. Iôm not sure if Iôm going back to 

the clinic.  

 

Saturday, July 1st 2056 - Shattered illusions 

The day started at about 3 AM when I heard breaking glass and an explosion. I barely heard it, 

but the sound of sirens, that woke me up. Lets face it, if thereôs one sound Iôm well in tune with, 

itôs a siren.  

My adrenalin was pumping before I was even consciously aware of the siren. From there, I was 

moving before I could really think about what I was doing. I jammed my feet into my boots, 

grabbed my kit and was out the door without a second thought.  

It was a fire bomb, and it hit the clinic. I was completely confused until I saw the hate slogans 

someone had sprayed around the building. I felt sick to my stomach.  

I mean I just couldnôt believe it. Everything had seemed so normal, I thought this kind of 

stupidity had mercifully died out. I wanted to find the people who did this and make them need 
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my services, but I knew it wouldnôt do any good. People like that never seem to learn. Unless 

what you say agrees with their cannon, your words mean nothing.  

I scanned the faces of those gathered, knowing that people who work on this sort of terror like to 

see the results of their work, make sure their message was heard, but I didnôt see anybody that 

seemed out of place, except probably me.  

As the fire trucks finished their job I saw Trina sitting on the curb across the street from the 

clinic staring at the gutted building. Mario was sitting next to her, trying to comfort her, but I 

could see the shock in her eyes. I think Mario saw it too, cause he got a blanket and wrapped it 

around her.  

He caught my eye as I headed towards them and shook his head. I guess I was probably the last 

person she wanted to see right then, I donôt think I could really blame her.  

I tried to go back to sleep, but it just wasnôt happening. It was a long time before dawn came and 

I played last nightôs events back over and over again in light of what had happened. Was it fear 

that had made her send them away? I didnôt know any more. I had been so sure that she was 

motivated by hatred and now this.  

Now I had seen the true face of hate. By the time the sun rose, I knew what I had to do. I went 

back to the clinic, or the remains of the clinic, and began cleaning it out. I was deep in thought 

and self recrimination when I noticed the people whoôd gathered. I turned, ready for them to 

blame me, to tell me I had no place there, but instead they began picking up the pieces with me.  

Maybe it wasnôt them not understanding, but me not giving them a chance. By noon we were all 

tired and the woman from the café came over and handed out sandwiches. She made sure I took 

one and gave me a brief smile.  

It was long work, and by the time the sunlight started to fade, I started to blend into the darkness, 

coated in ash and soot. I forced myself to keep going, it was almost a sort of penance. As I 

reached for the last of the wreckage, Mario put a hand on my shoulder.  

ñYouôve done enough Jess,ò he said softly.  

I looked at him, shaking my head. It was my fault and I told him as much.  

He chuckled gently. ñNo Jess... This was not your fault.ò  

I looked at him. Iôm sure my expression was seriously confused.  

ñYou did not bomb the clinic... you did not paint those hateful sayings...ò  

ñBut they did it because of me... because I treated those people...ò  
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ñIf they had not done it now, they would have done it later... but that does not matter... what 

matters is that we rebuild and continue on. And you are doing that...ò  

I shook my head and tried to say something, anything, but the words werenôt there. My world 

had been so clean cut until today, black and white. That illusion was shattered with the front 

window of the clinic.  

ñThere are good people here,ò Mario told me softly. ñBut the hateful ones are the ones we tend to 

see... If you think about it, they have hurt themselves more than those they hate, for they have 

robbed themselves of the medical facilities that they may need.ò  

I tried to think about that, but all I could see was the damage.  

ñGo to sleep Jess, it will be better in the morning.ò  

I went home, tried to follow his advice, but sleep was a long time in coming.  

 

Sunday, July 2nd 2056 - Night terrors  

Remind me to stay on Marioôs good side...  

Yesterday caught up to me with a vengeance. My whole body ached when I got up and forced 

myself back into the shower. I was still washing soot out of my hair, but when I looked down the 

water shifted from black to redï blood red.  

I can remember it so vividly. Everything was so normal and then I was surrounded... I canôt even 

think about it without shuddering. It was a nightmare unlike any I have ever had. All I remember 

was the pain and the terror. Something was grabbing me, holding me down as fire surrounded 

me. I could feel it, smell it... it burned... it...  

It was bad.  

There seemed no escaping the pain and fear. I know I screamed, screamed myself hoarse and 

then some. When I finally broke free of the nightmare I was soaked in sweat and too exhausted 

to move. I was also wrapped up in a blanked and someone was holding me.  

For the longest time, I could hear their voices, but I couldnôt make any sense of the sounds. I 

stared out at the familiar surroundings but I didnôt really see them. I just knew that if I closed my 

eyes, the nightmare would take me again.  

Finally the voices started making sense, and I actually recognized them, Mario and Trina. I let 

out a long sigh and tried to move.  

ñEasy,ò Trina urged. I could hear the concern in her voice.  
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ñDid anybody get the number of the truck that hit me?ò I managed to ask, at least I think I did. 

Itôs still a bit unreal to me.  

I could feel Marioôs strong hands helping me sit up, and Trina gently helping from her side. 

Once I was upright Mario pressed a steaming cup in my hands and told me to drink. I took a sip 

and almost threw up.  

ñDrinkò he told me again.  

I brought the cup up and tried to take another sip, but I couldnôt.  

ñDrink it quickly,ò he urged me. His tone was soft enough, but it left no room for argument.  

When I finally got it down, he helped me lay back down. I donôt know how long I was out, but at 

least there were no more nightmares. When I woke up, the furniture had been pushed aside and I 

was laying in the middle of the floor, in the middle of a circle.  

Mario was still there, but he looked almost as bad as I felt. I waited until he told me it was alright 

to move. Iôve seen enough of what Alan does to know that once a spell is started any interruption 

can have disastrous effects.  

When he finished, I looked at him. ñWhat happened?ò I finally managed to ask.  

It turned out that it was Marioôs revenge on those responsible for the attack on the clinic. He 

called them the óNight Terrorsô, his friends. Unfortunately for me, my guilt drew them to me. I 

was responsible, at least in my own mind, and that was enough for them.  

Needless to say, I spent most of the day in bed after that.  

 

Monday, July 3rd 2056 - You try  

I didn't have any more nightmares, but then again, Mario stayed with me all night. When I woke 

up, he was there, handing me another vile smelling concoction.  

I made the mistake of sipping it again and after all my system had been through, that was the last 

straw. When I was finally functional enough I looked around and realized that I was on the couch 

in the boy's condo. The furniture had been pushed back into place, but I could still see the 

remains of the circle.  

ñIs it over?ò I remember asking weakly.  

Mario looked at me. His expression was both kind and sad. ñFor now,ò he told me. ñFor now.ò  

I forced myself to concentrate on him. ñFor now?ò  
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He sighed and gave me a rather apologetic look. ñI am afraid that once they have entered your 

mind, their effect remains.ò  

I really didnôt like finding out that the óNight Terrorsô were gone only to find out that Iôd be 

having flash backs from their visit.  

I think Mario understood my line of thought, because he shook his head. ñIt is not that bad... it is 

the memory of what they did. Iôm sorry Jess. I didnôt think theyôd harm any other than those who 

did the actual damage to the clinic.ò  

I wasnôt really worried about that anymore. It was my fault that they attacked the clinic, but I 

canôt not treat somebody because of what might happen. Still, Iôm pretty sure Trina wonôt want 

to see my face around there. Not after yesterday.  

That was my line of thought, but I was very wrong. I had lost a day in there with the óTerrorsô 

and trying to cope with what happened.  

Mario looked at me and smiled kindly. ñGo take a shower, youôll feel better. Then Iôll take you 

out for late lunch.ò  

That gave me a start. I was so sure it was still relatively early in the morning but looking at the 

clock, it was indeed well after noon.  

The shower helped, as did the food. I couldnôt help but notice the way people stared at me. I 

didnôt know what to make of it until one of them walked up and put a hand on my shoulder.  

ñI hope you wonôt let what happened scare you away,ò she said.  

óI hope you wonôt let what happened scare you away.ô I couldnôt believe it. These people, who I 

brought so much destruction in my attempts to do the right thing are hoping the violence doesnôt 

stop me from trying.  

ñThey are good people,ò Mario told me later. ñSometimes they are afraid but they are trying to 

do what they think is right, just like everybody else. Sure, theyôll make mistakes, but theyôll own 

up to them and move on.ò  

I knew by his smile he wasnôt just talking about them, but about me. Its given me something to 

think about.  

 

Tuesday, July 4th 2056 - Independence day 

July 4th - Independence day, sometimes I wonder why we still celebrate it. The world has 

changed so much since a few British colonies declared their independence and then fought for it. 

The country they formed has changed, shifted, disintegrated since then. Instead of a tyrannical 
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government running our lives, we have corporations to do the job. The ancient battlegrounds 

have given way to shopping malls, corporate complexes and mini-marts. Only a few of the parks 

and monuments remain.  

I can remember as a kid, when we were a smaller slightly more functional family, dad took us 

into the city to watch the fireworks from Ft. McHenry. I remember watching the colorful 

explosions and vowing that some day, I would be a 'sky painter'. I was five at the time and I 

couldn't even pronounce pyrotechnics, let alone understand what all was involved with the 

production I was witnessing. I only knew that it was beautiful.  

Matt picked me up and held me so I could see better and he was pointing out the contrails and I 

followed them, jumping when they'd finally explode and deliver their charges. I don't think I ever 

felt safer than I did that day or more in awe of the world around me.  

Sometimes I wish I could go back to that day and start over. It was a time of innocence, when 

Matt was in his police officer phase and Alan was going to be a stage magician, and I was going 

to paint pictures in the sky.  

A lot has changes since then. Looking around the apartment I see vague reminders of those days, 

a portrait of the four of us from the last time I was here visiting, the small postcard I sent them 

last 4th of July, a picture of the fireworks over Ft. McH.  

I went there last year. It just wasn't the same. I was so busy worrying about the safe handling of 

explosives, and the children playing with bottle rockets.  

Once a medic, always a medic I guess.  

The experiences of the last few days are catching up with me. I always counted on the boys to be 

there for me: Matt to protect me, Alan to analyze everything and tell me what was really 

happening, and Andy to keep me on an even keel.  

Here I am, in their city, their condo, trying to fill the hole they left behind, and I have absolutely 

no clue what that hole is. That was one of the things that was missing. There was no sign of 

work, profession... what were the boys doing out here?  

I pulled out a microwave dinner and was about to fix it when Mario knocked on the door. The 

man is going to pull me out of my shell whether I want him to or not. He pretty much told me 

that was his plan.  

It was a community block party-- just folks, celebrating. It was nice.  

People greeted me, welcomed me to the neighborhood and tried to make me feel at home. Even 

some of the local gang was there, passing out potato chips and punch. It was almost like a perfect 

moment. I saw Trina out of the corner of my eye, but anytime I moved towards her, she was 

gone.  
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Not that I blame her, I mean I made such a monumental mess of everything. At least that was 

what I thought.  

Rule number 1 : Kids and fireworks do *not* mix. 

Rule number 2 : Fireworks and lighter fluid mix all too well.  

It amazes me how quickly things can change, especially when you're a medic. One of the kids 

was playing with a sparkler and decided she wanted more, and another kid decided to help her. 

I'm not sure exactly what happened, but the sparklers hit the lighter fluid and before you can say 

'flash fire' Trina and I were on the scene putting out flames and kids.  

I looked at her, since she was senior to me in the medical buis, and she was looking at me 'cause 

I was the resident medic and like I said, there's a difference between General medicine and 

emergency medicine. We got the kids situated and after the ambulance took them away, I looked 

at Trina.  

I figured it was time to figure out where I stood, 'cause on the whole I like the lady, and her dad's 

the only real friend I have here. So, I asked her if I could buy her a cup of coffee.  

She accepted and I'm glad she did.  

We sat staring at our cups of coffee for quite a while before either of us spoke, and then we both 

started at the same time. Finally I started.  

ñIôm sorry,ò I finally managed to tell her. ñI didnôt think my treating those people would cause 

all this trouble. I never wanted to hurt you or the others...ò  

Trina smiled at me and then laughed slightly. ñAw, Jess...ò she told me shaking her head. ñAnd 

here I was afraid youôd never come back to the clinic.ò  

ñI... didnôt think youôd want me,ò I told her finally. ñBetween the attack and the way I reacted...ò  

Trina smiled again and then took a sip of her coffee. ñJess, I couldnôt help them, not without 

endangering the clinic...ò  

ñI realized that,ò I said, thinking of the graffiti.  

ñThey were shadowrunners,ò she explained. ñAnd hurt shadowrunners usually mean corporate 

security that doesnôt care whoôs in the crossfire.ò  

I think I stared at her for quite a while as I digested, or tried to digest what she was telling me. 

Shadowrunners was not the sort of thing you said so nonchalantly back home. It was something 

that was whispered if spoken at all. Finally I nodded.  

ñI thought you refused because... ñ  
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ñBecause they were metahuman?ò  

I nodded, knowing not only how badly Iôd judged her, but how wrong I was.  

She started laughing. ñNo wonder you looked at me like that.ò Finally she shook her head and 

sighed.  

ñWell, I realized that I never saw any at the clinic until that night.ò I think I was grabbing at 

straws to retain some dignity.  

ñThere arenôt that many in the neighborhood,ò she finally told me. ñI think weôve got two trolls 

and a few dwarves, thatôs about it. They tend to only come out at night, when the hate mongers 

are usually safely tucked away.ò  

ñSeems I owe you an apology,ò I sighed.  

ñAnd I owe you one for what my father did,ò she countered.  

Its like I said before, things are seldom as they seem.  

 

Wednesday, July 5th 2056 - Getting the runaround  

I stopped by the temporary clinic Trina had setup at the diner to check on things. After three days 

recovering from the incident, I was ready to do something, but things werenôt too busy.  

As it is the neighbors have been pitching in to get the clinic rebuilt and restocked, the neighbors, 

the merchants, even the gang.  

I noticed them last night and from the looks of things theyôve stepped up their patrols. Iôm not 

sure if itôs the desire to protect the neighborhood or just a case of nobody picks on my brother 

but me. It doesnôt really matter right now.  

Since Trina didnôt need me, I figured on reporting to the main office and then stopping by the 

station and introducing myself. Iôm not required to be there until Friday, but thereôs always 

paperwork to fill out and lines to stand in. I figured I might as well get an early start.  

When I stopped by Citywideôs main office and dispatch my time was spent equally between the 

two. Forms for employment, employment contracts, drug screening, preliminary psych profiles, 

id cards, uniforms, panic buttons, each item on the list seemed to involve its own unique line. 

Even when I was the only person being processed, they had to have a line, and I had to wait.  

I arrived at the station house Iôd be working from-- 97th fire district. I waited out in front of the 

Captainôs office and then the fun really began.  
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By that time it was 5 p.m.: shift change. I was sitting there when the captain walked by and 

reached for the door. He turned and looked at me and then nodded at the door. ñYouôre late,ò he 

told me. ñNot a good thing for a rookie to be...ò  

I was about to object when the alarm sounded. Everyone froze as the dispatcher gave the 

specifics. It was a heart attack, in the heart of our district, and in the heart of the rush hour 

congestion. The ideal place and time NOT to have a medical emergency.  

One of the medics rushed over. His eyes were fixed on the Captain, otherwise heôd have seen the 

amused smile on my face. It was Ray, a guy I dated in High School. A lifetime ago, I know, but 

heôs the one that got me into emergency medicine.  

ñCap... thatôs...ò he started.  

ñI know... take the rookie and get over there as soon as you can,ò he stated nodding at me.  

Ray was busy shaking his head. ñWeôll never get there in time. We NEED the bike...ò  

The Captain shrugged and shook his head. ñYou arenôt checked out on it.ò he stated.  

ñHeôs not, but I am,ò I said evenly as I looked at him. Ray turned, looked at me  

ñHey Jess,ò he greeted me as if weôd just seen each other last week..  

I smiled and looked at the Captain. ñJess Miller,ò I introduced myself. ñIôm your motorcycle 

medic from Baltimore.ò  

Although I didnôt say óBaltimoreô, I used the proper pronunciation of óBalmerô to emphasize the 

point that I was not from around here and definately not a rookie. I figure Iôll save the Balmorian 

pronunciation of 'Ambulance' for another time.  

ñYou sure about this?ò he asked, knowing I wasnôt due till Friday.  

I smiled. ñFrom the looks of things, youôre a medic down and I donôt think this guy can wait till 

Iôm supposed to be here.ò  

That got me a smile from the Captain, and then a, ñwell, what are you still doing here?ò  

I got my radio designation and was rolling. It wasnôt what I planned, but that seems to be the 

story of my life. I got there and started CPR and managed to keep him going until the ambulance 

could get there about 20 minutes later.  

I finished up the paperwork for the run at the hospital and returned the bike to the station. The 

rookie, who just graduated from the EMT classes never showed, having taken a cleaner job at the 

Renraku Archology. I wish her luck, but sheôs got a lot to learn about protocol.  
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I ended up staying at the station for till about 12, then heading home. Since theyôre a medic 

down, my scheduleôs been changed: I start work tomorrow.  
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Week Three ï Step lightly into the Shadows 

Thursday, July 6th 2056 - First day on the job 

The day started out alright. I slept in knowing that as the new kid I was going to be pulling the 

5P to 5A shift. Not that I mind, that covers most of the rush hour at night, which I tend to think is 

usually worse, and therefore more interesting. That goes double for night shifts on weekends.  

Okay, I know there's something messed up in that line of thought, but it's the way I think. There's 

nothing like some guy who's just parked his overpriced luxury vehicle into the back of a semi to 

put things in perspective. I mean, if I'm working, I'd rather it be constant and challenging than 

routine. And this job is anything but routine, most of the time.  

I ate breakfast around two at the diner, checking in with Trina. I filled her in on my schedule 

change. With the way the schedule is, I have a whole three hours where I'm not driving to or 

from the station or sleeping. Not much I can do at the clinic during those three hours, but I have 

Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays off, and I'm not always on a run when I'm working. At 

least that's how it was in Baltimore. Some days we'd spend more time cleaning and stocking the 

rig than we would using it. That's life.  

I brought a cup of coffee with me to the station and got to meet the rest of the day shift. It seems 

that they had planned all their 'new guy' pranks for the EMT that never showed, so they decided 

to use them on me.  

I managed to avoid the loose cap on the sugar, the flour blast from the locker, but I was unable to 

avoid the toxic coffee, although judging by the general reaction of those around me, that prank 

was unintentional, and got everybody.  

It was good to be working with Ray again. We knew each other well enough that when it came to 

working an accident scene, we had it down to an art. Things were a little rough on our first call 

where I rode in the Ambulance. It was about 8 or 9 when the call came in. Some dispute over a 

parking place of all things.  

Now, when we worked back in Baltimore, Ray was my senior and I followed his lead, but that 

was almost 7 years ago, and I'd been running as senior paramedic for the last 4 and first on call 

with the bike for the last 3. Which meant there were a few things we needed iron out. When 

you're on a scene, you have to have one person in charge, calling the shots and any other medics 

on the scene are to take their cues from the primary medic.  

The only problem was Ray was used to being primary, and so was I. Since it was his turf, I let 

him take lead on this one.  

The fight involved no less than 4 victims, the original combatants and two people who tried to 

break it up, including one of LoneStar's finest. This is one of the few times you want to know 
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who was fighting. Mostly so you don't end up putting them in the same ambulance. I put in the 

call for a second unit while Ray sorted out the situation.  

From the looks of things, at least one knife was used. Several officers arrived before the second 

ambulance and helped us secure the scene, and the combatants.  

One of the victims became belligerent, the one who started the fight. He started saying how we 

had no right to treat him if he didn't want to be treated and that we had to let him go.  

Ray smiled at him, calm as you please and said, "that's right sir, you can refuse treatment and 

we'll oblige." The man started to smile at that until Ray added, "but then you'll have to go with 

the nice officers and be booked on assault charges. I really think you want this arm looked at 

before you go to jail."  

I had forgotten about Ray's curbside manner. Needless to say, the man calmed down a bit.  

By the third call we were pretty much back in sinq. Without really discussing it, we just fell into 

a pattern of every other call, unless it was one of our specialties. Ray's great at extraction, I'm 

good with sucking chest wounds.  

We had a busy night, but still, by the time shift change rolled around, I had a few pranks setup 

for them.  

 

Friday, July 7th 2056 - Friday night in the city  

I stopped off at the diner for lunch again and checked in with Trina to see how things were 

going. She says that the clinic should re-open in about a week and things were looking good. I 

asked if she wanted me to pick up some supplies for her, but she just smiled and told me that 

everything had been taken care of.  

I'm not sure if she's just being nice, or if someone had indeed helped out. It would be nice if that 

were the case.  

I thought about it on the drive to the station, but I pretty much realized that if I think about it too 

much, I'll only succeed in driving myself crazy. Besides, I've got a job that'll do that all by itself.  

Today was a prime example.  

Friday: People in such a hurry to get home for the weekend that they aren't paying attention. 

People in a hurry in the rain: not a good combination.  

We got to work four accident scenes during rush hour and another three during happy hour. For 

the most part the accidents were rather simple, fender benders with minor injuries.  
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The last accident, on the other hand, was anything but routine. Seven cars, one tanker truck and a 

minivan. From the looks of things one of the cars pushed the minivan into the tanker truck, and 

everybody else got caught up in the wake. The folks in the minivan were wedged in and there 

was no getting to them without bringing in the heavy equipment.  

Only problem was-- the tanker truck was leaking and judging by its markings, we did not want 

anything resembling a spark anywhere near the scene. At that point Ray put me in charge of 

everything else so that he could concentrate on the minivan extrication. Fortunately most of the 

injuries weren't too serious: three concussions, a possible neck fracture, a few cracked ribs. The 

worse injuries were in the car that ran the minivan into the tanker.  

And that was where the real fun began. When we arrived on scene, I had already called in for 

support. After a brief triage we realized that the real work was going to be with the minivan and 

the car that ran it into the tanker. I let the others handle the other cases and moved in on the car. 

As I neared the car, I noticed the bullet holes in the side of the car and radioed that in.  

My first concern was Ray. If the people in the van were shooting at the car, then he was in 

serious danger. Looking back I should have worried about myself as well, but I was busy 

worrying about the unconscious men in the car. There were three of them. One look at the 

driver's side window and I knew I was only worried about rescuing two people. The three bullet 

holes clustered on the driver's side didn't look good. I looked in and verified.  

The other two were injured, but alive, and I was going to need the jaws of life to get them out. 

Again, the concern was the tanker truck. Unless we could identify the contents we had to assume 

the worst.  

With a call into dispatch we were in a holding pattern until they could get a hold of the tanker 

truck's owner. While we waiting the Star came in and tried to take over. Securing the scene is 

one thing, but telling us how and where to do our job is quite another.  

Dispatch settled the disagreement - the contents were not only flammable, the fumes were 

dangerous. We had to dawn our heavy gear. After a brief conference Ray and I agreed that we 

needed to get the two people in the car out first.  

Once they were situated, the 97th got to work extracting the passengers in the van. I looked at 

Ray and then nodded to the truck. He shook his head. The driver was beyond our help.  

Cap pulled our tanker into position and set down a layer of foam between us and the truck. We 

had less than 25 minutes of air left when we got the first of 4 out of the van. As we started 

carrying them out, the star was there making sure we knew that they were under arrest. I don't 

think any of us were impressed.  

Our concern was saving them. At 15 minutes we got two more out, but the fourth was wedged in 

but good. He never stood a chance. We'd gotten him on O2, but he'd inhaled enough of the 

chems from the truck that when we did get him out, it was too late.  
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After that we were taken out of commission while the hospital checked us out and made sure that 

we hadn't inhaled too much. Ray and I were held over for observation.  

 

Saturday, July 8th 2056 - Another Saturday night... 

Well, my third day on the job, and I'm not on the job. Like I said, Ray and I were kept for 

observation. Everything seemed fine for the first half of our observation period, but then we both 

seemed a little 'affected.'  

Judgement was the first thing to go, and we were laughing our asses off watching the news. It 

didn't really sink in at the time, but the tanker was carrying some failed research pharmaceuticals 

to a dump site and the folks in the van were trying to hijack it. At the time, like I said, we were 

so out of it that I think we would have found the test pattern intellectually stimulating.  

I know I don't want to repeat the experience, but it was interesting. The effect seemed to wear off 

by evening, but after our behavior earlier they were reluctant to let us go. To be honest I much 

preferred the idea of staying there, even if it did mean the station being two medics down.  

Unfortunately we had very little to do, aside from lay there and have doctors visit us and test our 

reflexes and have nurses draw our blood to track the chemicals in our system. I got a call into 

Mario and he promised to feed the cats for me.  

Seems he used to care for the cats when the boys were away, that was how he'd managed to get 

into the condo when the Night Terrors hit. Thinking about that, I started to chuckle. If they were 

the Night Terrors, these things were the Night Giggles.  

The funny thing is, after the effects had worn off, I could remember everything in vivid detail. 

The deep theoretical discussion on the merits of dental floss, waxed vs unwaxed is forever etched 

in my mind.  

That was probably why they wanted it. Something that makes you totally goofy and yet 

remember everything exactly as it happened.  

Saturday night and I'm in a hospital room. The worst part is it gave me way too much time to 

think about things. Again my mind turned to what the boys were doing here.  

Matt, a football player, jock... martial artist. Alan, a formally trained magician and Andy a 

computer phreak if ever there was one. I didn't want to think about it, but the answer that kept 

crossing my mind was just too unreal. I know these guys... they're my brothers. They'd never 

cross the line, go illegal... would they?  

But the signs were there: no signs of a formal job, the condo was completely paid for. I began 

wondering how much I really knew about my brothers. Suddenly I was wishing that I was still 

feeling goofy.  
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Reality can be like that sometimes.  

 

Sunday July 9th 2056 - Reminiscing 

Today we were released, but they sent us home-- no work today. Ray didn't object and I had no 

desire to do anything other than curl up in a small fetal ball and sleep off the after effects. The 

only way I could describe it was to take the worst hangover you've ever had and go sit in a trailer 

in the middle of a hail storm.  

Needless to say, I took a cab home. I was in no shape to be riding. My head was pounding when 

I got home and I wished the hail would stop, that the hangover would go away.  

The last hangover had been the day after I completed the training program to become a medic. 

Matt had flown in for the occasion and he was the one that pinned my caduceus on for me. Then 

he and the boys had taken me out for a night on the town.  

And it wasn't a night out downing brews not with my brothers, no... it was dinner and champagne 

at Skipjacks. That was also the night that Alan announced he was leaving Baltimore, leaving the 

college where he was TA-ing and going to Seattle with Matt. That made me drink more than I 

really thought I was drinking. It was bad enough that Matt was so far away, but he was nine 

years older than I was, Alan was closer, 5 years closer. It was almost like our family was being 

broken up again.  

Of the three of them I think Andy understood the most. He gave me a hug, promised me that he'd 

always be there for me. God I miss them.  

Part of me wishes I had stayed here two years ago. Maybe then I'd know what happened to them. 

Maybe I'd have a better idea of what they were up to.  

I sacked out in Matt's room, curtains drawn shut and the blankets pulled over my head. When I 

woke up I could smell something in the kitchen. I staggered to the door and opened it. I shouldn't 

have worried.  

It was Mario, playing mother hen to me again. I was glad to have the company. Mario and Trina 

are the closest thing I have to family out here.  

After I finished eating he sent me back to bed and for once I didn't argue.  

 

Monday, July 10th 2056 - exercise in futility 

Today was an exercise in futility. Trina still didn't need me and I had to do something. I took a 

cab over to the station to pick up my bike. After that, I found myself at Lone Star HQ.  
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After I got my visitor pass I headed down to missing persons with a bag of doughnuts in hand. 

Saunders was there with a rather belligerent man who was trying to tell him that if his daughter 

wasn't found he was holding him personally responsible.  

When he left a vacuum of silence seemed to follow him. There was a long pause before 

Saunders' voice called out, "next!"  

I handed him the report requests in triplicate, as requested and he began processing the 

information. After a long pause he opened his eyes and shook his head.  

"Nothin'" he said softly.  

I nodded and handed him the bag of doughnuts.  

"Is this a bribe?" he asked teasingly.  

"Nah," I answered. "Breakfast."  

He chuckled slightly then jerked his thumb towards the door. "And quit bustin' my chops," he 

growled after me, carefully sliding the bag under the counter.  

I was in no mood for comforting when I reached the main desk and turned in my pass. 

Fortunately they were rather busy. They took the pass back with a slight nod and then it was 

another trip through the metal detector.  

I can understand having to go through it on the way in, but out? I commented on that and all it 

got me was glowered at by the guard. With a shrug I headed out. I had a couple of theories about 

the boys, but I didn't know who to ask or where to begin.  

If the boys were doing something shady, they were good enough to keep that hidden. The only 

people I know here, and trust are Mario, Trina, Fin and Ray. Of them, Fin would probably be the 

one to ask.  

I left a message for him, but I still haven't heard anything.  

I almost went to the morgue today, but I just wasn't in the right frame of mind. There's always 

tomorrow.  

 

Tuesday, July 11th 2056 - Touch the shadows 

Something tells me, there's a lot I need to learn about this city and what goes on here. When I 

showed up at the morgue, Dr. Chen had several JD's waiting for me. None of them were the 

boys, thank God, but three of them were very familiar. They were the men from the van.  
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I knew that they hadn't survived the accident, but the injuries that brought them here were not the 

ones we'd treated at the scene. I could understand miss remembering one of their injuries, 

considering the circumstances we were working under, but three? And all three from small arms 

fire? To the head?  

I don't think so.  

I headed home, part of me wishing that I'd stayed in bed. My life was complicated enough before 

the boys went missing and now it seems to want to get even more complicated. Who am I 

kidding, I love complications: they keep me from thinking about myself and what I'm doing.  

I almost called it a night, until I noticed the car that was following me. And I wasn't being 

paranoid. A few odd turns were proof enough for me. Believe me, after being stalked by 

someone, you learn to notice these things.  

I weighed my options as I continued to meander through the city. If I went to a Lone Star 

substation, he'd probably leave, but then I wouldn't know why he was following me. Same for 

going to the station.  

After a few casual turns I pulled into a local Stuffer Shack and went inside. I was watching the 

reflections in the slush-o-matic as I poured myself one.  

I was never more relieved when I heard a familiar voice call softly. "Jess."  

It was Fin. I turned and smiled at him.  

He could see the relief in my eyes. "So, what is it now?"  

That fast he was already shifting modes. "I got a tail."  

He gave me a sly smile and nodded. "Plan?"  

"I was going to try and id them, that's why I stopped here, but..."  

I could see his grin grow as my sentence trailed of.  

"But with me... I could try returning the favor?"  

I nodded and so did he. He gave me a gentle kiss on top of the head and then faded into the night.  

"See ya later," his voice called from the doorway.  

Losing the tail was easy. I was on a bike, they were in a car. But what they wanted remained a 

mystery. I'm still waiting to hear from Fin.  
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Wednesday, July 12th 2056 - Intrigue  

Sleep was a long time in coming. After two hours of tossing and turning I gave up and pulled out 

some 3x5 index cards I'd bought. I walked into the livingroom and sat down on the couch. I 

began writing down the events I knew about, starting with my arrival in SeaTac.  

Even after arranging the events so that the related incidents were grouped together, there was still 

no pattern. Was I being followed because of the 'accident victims', my brothers, the runners... 

some other factor?  

I don't know how long I mused over the cards, only that it was light when I woke up. The cards 

were still arrayed around me and I was no closer to an answer than I was the night before.  

I spent the day wondering why I was being tailed, trying to make heads or tails of this whole 

mess. And no matter what I did, the questions over rode everything else until I had to get out of 

the house.  

I was careful, watching everything expecting at any minute to have the strange car pull up along 

side of me. I didn't need to worry. My guardian angels were looking out for me. Fin must have 

told the locals that something was up, 'cause everywhere I went, one or two of them were always 

nearby, just in case.  

And then there was Mario. I'm beginning to think the man has a sixth sense when it comes to me 

being in trouble. Or maybe its just the fact that I always seem to be in trouble. I don't know, but I 

know I was grateful for the company.  

I managed to distract myself for most of the day sorting bandages for Trina, but as evening came 

so did the tension. It didn't help that I started worrying about Fin. Should have known the man 

could take care of himself.  

I didn't see Fin until well after dark, and he did not look happy.  

I was sitting in the condo fiddling around with my guitar when Fin arrived. I let him in quickly 

and he ran a quick check of the place before settling down.  

"Who did you tick off at the Star?"  

I looked at him questioningly. "They were cops?"  

Fin stared at me for a minute until he realized I wasn't playing dumb. "They were cops," he told 

me. "Special investigators."  

The news did not make me feel any better, and I showed him the cards. After he read through 

them he sighed. "You've had a busy few weeks," he commented when he finished. "You noticed 

the car after you left the morgue?"  
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I nodded.  

"And you're sure they haven't followed you before?"  

I shrugged. "As far as I can tell," I answered.  

"And how did you notice them this time?"  

I sighed. "I had a boyfriend who went off the deep end," I told him. "He tried to kill me... I kinda 

learned what to watch for."  

I've got to give Fin credit, he took the information and accepted it. "Okay, so... either it has 

something to do with your brothers, the runners you helped, the attack on the clinic or the dead 

guys at the morgue."  

I nodded. "But if it were the boys- I've already been to the morgue once, and as for the others..." 

I shook my head. "I don't know."  

He winked at me. "What does your gut say?"  

I looked at him for a minute then sighed. "That it's the guys at the morgue."  

He nodded. "Then lets go with that. Let me check into a few things..." He stopped his crystal 

blue eyes searching for mine. "But this wasn't why you were trying to get a hold of me?"  

I took a deep breath and met his gaze. "No. I... I've been thinking about the boys," I admitted. 

"And... they weren't working regular jobs were they."  

Fin studied me for a minute and finally shook his head. "Nah kid, they weren't. And they can 

take care of themselves."  

I gave him a slightly stiff smile. I appreciated his candor. "Where do I start..."  

He paused then nodded. "You let me run this through a few of my contacts and you act like 

nothing's changed. I'll get you what information I can- on the cops and your brothers.  

One of the things I've always liked about Fin, he's never been the type to soften the blows, except 

by not answering the unasked questions. If I want to know, I know Fin will give it to me straight.  

"Act normal," I sighed.  

"Better you than me," He countered, giving my shoulder a squeeze. "We'll get this worked out." 

That said, he slipped out of the condo and faded back into the night.  

'Normal,' I wondered to myself. A medic from Baltimore, shifting cities and coasts to look for 

three brothers who are missing- what is normal anyway?  
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Week Four ï The Shadows Step Back 

Thursday, July 13th 2056 - Memories of Balmer  

Well, work is good for keeping my mind off of everything except whatôs going on right then and 

there, usually. It was actually a rather slow day, but it let me catch up on old times with Ray.  

Iôve met some pretty interesting people in my line of business, but the people that always amazed 

me the most were my coworkers. I think no matter where Iôve worked, thereôs always been a 

Cap, even if he wasnôt the Captain. I mean back home the óCapô of the 87th was actually one of 

the older firemen who never did settle down.  

Usually this is considered a youngsterôs profession, but there are some that never lose the drive 

or the nack. You get some who burn out within the first year, some after five, then thereôs a gap 

where the lifers learn that this is just a fundamental part of who they are.  

Me, I never wanted to be a fire fighter. I donôt like fire, never had, never will. My kick is rescue 

work: come in, get people where they need to be and ride off into the sunset. Rayôs like that too, 

you do the job, you move on.  

Somewhere along the way, adrenalin gave way to duty, or the other way around, but in the end 

you realizeï this is what you are.  

Ray and I spent most of the night shift talking óBalmerô at each other and comparing notes about 

what people find odd.  

There were some phrases I never thought of, like the tendency to say things like:  

ñHey Ladyò - Greeting to a friend (female) 

ñHey Hon,ò - Greeting to a friend (male or female.) (Not as familiar) 

ñCan I help you, hon?ò - Greeting to a customer (Stuffer Shack)  

Then thereôs the pronunciation of certain words:  

Balmer - Baltimore 

Amblance - Ambulance 

Wuter - Water 

and Police with a long ñoò  

I think Rayôs been here long enough that heôs picked up the local accent. Me, I spent enough 

time near the military, Aberdeen, Edgewood Arsenal area... to pick up the more clipped neutral 

accent they use, but I still use a slight drawl when Iôm working on a patient. It usually makes 

them more comfortable.  
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By the time the shift was over, weôd pretty much caught up, but my anxiousness had returned. I 

still had the mystery of the tail and the three dead men on my mind, and I hadnôt been able to tell 

Ray about it.  

Fin had told me to act naturally and thatôs what I tried to do. Although what passes for natural for 

Ray and me might be considered a bit weird by most.  

But I knew if someone was willing to follow me around the city, listening in to a conversation at 

a firehouse probably wouldnôt be all that difficult.  

I got home around 6 am, as the sky was a light, dawn gray. I saw a few of the neighbors on their 

way to work and smiled at them, but there was no sign of Fin. Not that I really expected him. Fin 

is one of my ógrayô friends, someone who its better that you donôt ask about what they do, but 

that was what I needed right now.  

If my suspicions were right, the boys had been working the gray-zones of the shadows for quite 

some time. Not that any of that mattered right now. All that mattered was unraveling the 

mysteries that seemed hell bent to catch me.  

I got to the condo without incident. When I was inside and had locked everything down, I found 

a note from Fin. It had two words on it, hastily scribbled, but they set my heart on edge:  

Be Careful.  

I looked around the condo and didnôt see anything out of the ordinary, until I noticed that the 

3x5s were gone. That set my even more on edge. I must have checked every window and every 

door to make sure they were locked before exhaustion finally took over and I sacked out on the 

couch.  

I probably only got 3 hours of sleep when the alarm went off and it was time to get ready for 

work. I donôt think I could ever get used to this kind of life.  

Friday, July 14th 2056 - That Serious? 

Getting used to night shift was never one of my strong suits, add only getting 3 hours sleep to the 

mix and youôve got a recipe for disaster. I was awake and functional until about 11 when normal 

sleep needs tried to assert themselves. I ended up taking a nap, but I only got about a half an hour 

before we were up and rolling.  

The big problem with this shift is the fact that the ideal times for the motorcycle are during rush 

hour, but then again, right now, Iôm supposed to be training Ray on the differences so that we 

can split shifts.  

Heôll probably get the day shift, having seniority. And Iôll be stuck with 5P to 5A. Sometimes I 

hate the man.  
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Early on we did get a motorcycle call and Ray rode with me, having one of the squad guys drive 

the Ambulance and meet us there. It was a drowning and someone was already giving him CPR 

when we arrived. I think it was really hard on Ray to sit there and watch me, but normally when 

thereôs a motorcycle response, thereôs only one medic and they have to keep things under control 

until the ambulance arrives.  

I wonder if Iôll handle it as gracefully as he did when its my turn to observe and comment. 

Somehow, I doubt it.  

Ray and I are both doers, I think thatôs what attracted me to him in the first place. Watching and 

waiting is the surest way to drive us crazy. Which is exactly what all this intrigue and drama is 

doing to me.  

Iôve been turned into a witness to the action, a bystander... an investigator after the fact. I need to 

be in the middle of it, not on the sidelines, not trailing it by days, weeks... months. Its been 

almost three months since the boys disappearedï hell, its been three days since I was followed 

and not knowing why is driving me up a wall.  

I did manage to get some sleep between calls, but by the time I got home, I was beat. Of course, 

you know that means Fin had to be waiting for me.  

Fin was not looking too happy when he followed me into the condo.  

ñYou didnôt see anything,ò he told me, right off the bat. ñThere were no bodies at the morgue, 

you just forget it.ò  

I stared at him for a minute and then shook my head. ñNah-uhò I told him shaking my head. 

ñThis is not the sort of thing I can just forget.ò  

Fin looked at me hard, I could see the worry in his eyes. ñGirl, ya arenôt ready for this. You gotta 

let it drop. You donôt theyôll take you out, and your partner.ò  

I was beginning to feel the ramrod shoved down my spine as I started to object, but the last 

comment made me stop. Endangering Ray over something like this was enough to give me 

pause.  

Fin nodded. ñI ainôt kidding ya on this one Jess. Its serious and you gotta just act normally. Next 

Tuesday, you go back the morgue, you make it a routine, every Tuesdayï you go there looking 

for your brothers.ò  

I was stunned. One of the things I always loved about Fin was the fact that he didnôt pull that 

macho bullshit about óMe Tarzan, you Jane.ò He trusted me to handle my end on anything, from 

working on our bikes to moving through the back streets.  

ñThat serious?ò I finally managed to ask.  
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He nodded, his eyes suddenly looking very old and very tired. ñYou be careful,ò he urged finally 

and turned to leave.  

ñFinï thereôs still the question of the boys,ò I finally asked.  

He looked at me and sighed. ñIf I thought I could get you to listen, Iôd tell you to leave that one 

too.ò He studied me for a minute then pursed his lips and shook his head. ñJess, they arenôt 

saints, never wereï they are some of the best, but even they got bowled over... ñ  

My eyes widened slightly, it was the first time anyone had talked to me about them in that tone.  

ñI have no idea what they were working on, but it was serious. Serious enough to make them pull 

up stakes and get the hell out. Nobodyôs heard from them, not anybody. But you keep looking, 

cause no one else is.ò  

I tried to ask him more, but he was already out the door.  

Suddenly the place looked very small and very unsecured.  

 

Saturday, July 15th 2056 - Sheep 

Sometimes it feels like youôre just spinning your wheels.  

I mean, I know more about the boys and what they were doing here, but it doesnôt really help me. 

According to Fin, something óbowled them over'. And as for the men and the morgue that I 

ódidnôt seeô-- seems Iôve managed to find a lot more trouble than I bargained for.  

I came here looking for answers and so far Iôve gotten nothing but more questions, more 

confusion and a lot more to worry about. Iôm good at worrying.  

Too good.  

Finôs description of the situation seemed to echo in my head as did his warnings. Iôve really 

begun to wonder what Iôm doing hereï and why. I looked up at the portrait of the four of us and 

remembered why: the boys.  

Theyôre all that really matter to meï the boys and getting the job done. Not much of a life I 

guess, but itôs the one Iôve chosen.  

The day seemed pretty routine, but there were too many times where I could have sworn I was 

being watchedï studied even. It made me nervous, but I couldnôt even talk to Ray about that, Fin 

had made that much clear. I had to pretend everything was normal; pretend that the hairs on the 

back of my neck werenôt standing up; pretend that my heart didnôt start racing every time I saw a 
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cigarette flare in the shadows; pretend I didnôt notice the same pair of headlights behind the 

ambulance on at least four calls.  

The night was a busy one, thank god for small favors. For the most part I was on call or cleaning 

up after a call most of the night, but once, when Ray and I lifted the Gurney into the ótruckô-- I 

swear I saw the car again.  

By the time I got home I was about ready to crawl up in a small fetal ball and wish it would all 

go away. I thought Iôd had enough but it seemed someone didnôt think so. As I parked my bike, I 

saw the car again.  

I forced myself to unstrap my kit from the back of the bike and sling my helmet through the 

handle like I always do. I could feel my hands shaking as I told myself. óSheep... sheep... donôt 

see anything, donôt do anything... just keep moving like the rest of the flock. Say hi to Mrs. 

MacAdders, grab the morning paper... routine... routine... sheep.ô  

Its hard to pretend you donôt notice, especially when theyôve stopped being subtle. This worries 

me even more, but if I did know something, if I hadnôt ónot seenô those three in the morgue; this 

is when Iôd crack. Iôm pretty sure thatôs what theyôre counting on.  

After I finished my ógetting off work ritual.ô I went home to the boys condo and locked the door 

behind me. Sleep was a long time in coming and I still have one more work day this week. I 

donôt think Iôm going to make it.  

 

Sunday July 16th 2056 - an exercise in paranoia 

When I finally woke up and got myself moving I had just enough time to grab a bagel from the 

diner and go to work. I didnôt see any sign of the car, but I wasnôt looking too hard. I didnôt want 

to see it, didnôt want to think about the fact that I was being followed, that my life and Rayôs 

were in danger because something very hinky was going on.  

I got to the diner, kit and helmet slung over my back and was about to sit down at the counter 

when the waitress looked at me and smiled.  

ñYouôre late Jess,ò she said. It was a half-statement, half-chide.  

I nodded and looked at my watch. ñIôll just have...ò  

ñA bagel,ò she told me before I could finish. ñI know... ñ she added with a wink as she produced 

a brown bag. ñDonôt eat too quickly, its bad for your digestion.  

I smiled and went to the cashier, who promptly waved me off. ñSettle your bill when you arenôt 

running late for work Jess,ò he chuckled.  
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I was smiling when I reached my bike. At least some things were working out. As I strapped my 

kit back down on the back of my bike, I realized why the car wasnôt in sight.  

Theyôd bugged the bike. I dated a guy who was a óspookô once. He used to show me all the 

ólatest and greatestô in espionage equipment, and I recognized it as an offshoot of a 

tracking/listening combo device. A very nice, very expensive, very paranoia inducing piece of 

hardware has shown up on my bike and I canôt get rid of it without arousing suspicion.  

They keep this up, they arenôt going to have to do anything to me, Iôll do it all by myself. I 

slipped the brown bag from the diner between the kit and the straps and put on my helmet.  

I could see the reflection of the car as I adjusted the straps and again had to force myself to 

pretend not to notice. Iôm really hoping they give up soon, before I lose it, or the local gang 

decides to start playing with them. On second thought, that might not be too bad.  

 

Monday, July 17th 2056 - a call from the Star 

The one good thing about Mondays is I can sleep in. Usually that is. I got home around 6am, 

sleep time for us ghouls and children of the night. I even managed to get an hour of sleep before 

the phone rang.  

It was Lt. Saunders from the Star calling. Theyôd found something. I could tell by the tone of his 

voice it wasnôt nice, or pretty, but I knew it was at least something. He asked me to come down 

to the station and ask for Sgt. Andrews, the chief investigator on my brothers' case.  

I forced myself to take a quick shower and to eat something before heading out. Without enough 

sleep, I was just asking for trouble, no point in making it worse.  

I headed to Lone Star with my invisible mini entourage.  

Sgt. Andrews was congenial enough, your average, overworked investigator with way too many 

unsolved cases haunting him. Another reason I like my job. All the questions that can be 

answered are answered at the scene. Keep them alive, get them to the hospital, do as much as 

you can, then move on.  

Thereôs no need to find out why he had a heart attack, why he was shot. Those were just facts 

you faced and dealt with. You find the background of the personôs health ant the current 

situation. You look for things like what happened, what medicines is the patient taking, do they 

have any pre-existing conditions, a history of problems, but thatôs about as deep as your 

investigation gets. There isnôt any real time for the whereôs and whenôs.  

A man has a heart attack, you treat him. Some one gets shot, you turn the investigation over to 

the Star, while you assess how bad it is and treat it accordingly. You get your case to the 

hospital, report their condition and its no longer your case.  
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He smiled and sighed. ñIôve been meaning to talk to you,ò he said. I could tell he meant it, but I 

also knew that if something hadnôt happened, he probably wouldnôt have been able to make the 

time for another month, if at all.  

I nodded, but by then, I just wanted to know what this was all about.  

One thing about Sgt. Andrews, heôs good at reading people. He nodded and got down to 

business.  

ñWe found your brother Matthewôs car.ò He shook his head as I sat up hopefully. ñSomebody 

dumped a can of diesel in it and torched it.ò  

I could tell from his tone of voice that there was more, and I knew all too well that I didnôt want 

to know. I didnôt want to know, and yet I had to know. I took a deep breath and looked at him.  

I closed my eyes as he said. ñI need you to come down to the morgue with me.ò  

I think I surprised him when I just looked at him and nodded. Something had told me it was 

going to end this way.  

ñWe donôt have much to work on, and its not very pretty,ò he said gently, I think he was trying to 

prepare me for it.  

Burn victims are never pretty, and I told him as much. His eyes widened slightly and then he re-

scanned his notes and nodded.  

ñThatôs right... youôre a medic...ò  

ñYeah,ò I told him, forcing my tone to remain even.  

Iôd like to say it was a good visit, but it wasnôt. The only good thing was I was pretty sure the 

guy theyôd found in Mattôs care wasnôt anybody I knew. The build was wrong and his dental 

work had been done in plastic and polly synth. Our dentist still preferred porcelain and silver.  

I know the Sgt. was surprised. Not only did I know my way around the morgue, I knew the doc 

and I knew what to look for. I shrugged.  

ñI figured this would be one of the places Iôd need to check for my brothers. Here and the 

hospitals.ò  

He smiled and nodded. ñYou ever need a job...ò he offered, looking as tired as he felt.  

I shook my head. ñNo thanks,ò I answered with a smile. ñI like my work, its straight forward and 

you donôt have to worry about stepping into the middle of something.ò  
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Like me with my tail and all the intrigue that seemed to be attacked to me. ñIôll take a simple 5 

car pile up, thanks.ò  

It took a while to get it out of my system, so I hung out at the clinic for a few hours before I 

finally fell asleep at the nurseôs station.  

 

Tuesday, July 18th 2056 - 'take the day off' 

Well, I know Fin told me to make it my routine to go to the morgue today, but I was there 

yesterday, and the only JD had been the guy from Mattôs car.  

Mario made me promise to take the day off. I planned on it too, really, but sitting around the 

condo, knowing I was being watched, testedï judged. I couldnôt just sit there and do nothing, 

besides, there were lots of hospitals to check.  

I almost made it out of the building when he cornered me.  

ñJess... do you even know the meaning of ótaking the day off?ôò  

I smiled at him. ñI think it usually involves me, a hospital and a lot of sedatives...ò  

At least I made him smile. I know me too well: I canôt relax as long as there is something I can 

do about a situation, and thatôs what the John Doe check is about. Iôm doing something. Iôm in 

there and Iôm looking. If I stopped, it would be like giving up.  

I think he understands, but I can see that heôs worried to. Hell, Iôm worried. Its been almost four 

weeks since I arrived and Iôve already been in the hospital once, been shot at, trailed, 

investigated tormented by my own guilt and in general not had a good time of it. And Iôve 

promised myself that I was going to give it a year.  

I donôt think I can get myself into too much more trouble, but Iôm sure Iôll manage to find a way.  

Iôm just too persistent not to and my luckôs been leaning towards trouble ever since I decided to 

come here.  

 

Wednesday, July 19th 2056 - daughters 

Today got off to a weird start. I figured on helping out at the clinic and hopefully keeping my 

mind off of things.  
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The street seemed almost dead when I walked from the condo to the clinic. Nobody was in sight, 

when I got to the clinic, I got the real surprise. The waiting room was empty and when the doctor 

came out to see who was nextï it definitely wasnôt Trina.  

I looked at him in surprise and he asked if he could help me. I shook my head, and then 

apologized.  

ñIôm Jess,ò I finally managed to tell him. ñI sometimes help out here and... to be honest you took 

me by surprise.  

He smiled and nodded. ñTrina took the day off and asked me to fill in.ò  

I nodded again, knowing just how slow on the uptake I must have seemed to this guy, Doc 

Rivers. ñLooks like you got a slow day,ò I said, unsure if he wanted me to stick around or not. 

Unsure if I wanted to stick around or not.  

He chuckled. ñSeems they either knew that she wasnôt going to be in today, or when they come 

in and find me hereï they mutter something about coming back tomorrow and leave.ò  

ñKinda hard being the new kid on the block,ò I agreed.  

ñYeah, but I guess I have to start somewhere,ò he answered.  

ñUsually,ò I answered with a smile. I think I like this Doc, but right now, I need to do something, 

and sitting around a clinic with no patients isnôt what I had in mind.  

He gave me an apologetic smile. ñNot what you were looking for either?ò  

ñSorry,ò I told him. ñMaybe Iôll go rock climbing or something. Who knows, maybe Iôll add 

some excitement to your day too.ò  

He looked at me a minute and then smiled when he realized I was joking about getting hurt. ñJust 

be careful.ò  

I nodded and headed out, but when I got outside there was a car waiting for me. I tensed slightly 

and started to back away before Trinaôs head poked out of the window.  

ñCome on Jess,ò she called. ñDadôs making us take the day off... heôs already packed a picnic.ò  

Being given the choice of nothing to do but brood, or eat some of Marioôs cooking and get away 

from it all for a whileï I got in the car.  

He took us to a park and a combination of the food, the scenery and the company really helped 

with my outlook on life and my current situation. Trust Mario to know exactly what to do. He 

joked about having to look out for his daughters.  
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Like I said... its good to have family. 
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Week Five ï Falling deeper in 

Thursday, July 20th 2056 -gaslight 

I woke up early this morning. Early for me when I'm working the night shift that is. I actually sat 

down and read the paper before rushing off to work. I think the picnic did me a lot of good. I 

know that getting out of the city helped immensely.  

Of course when I got back, and got down to work, I was right back in the middle of too much 

work and too much intrigue. This time there were - I can't even really describe it. You know how 

it is when you put something down and when you come back, it isn't quite where you put it?  

That was how it was today. I'd be filling in the crossword puzzle when we'd get a call, and when 

we'd get back, it just didn't look right. I would have put it off to the paranoia inducting activity 

lately but...  

I don't know.  

The worst one was finding that somebody had moved one of the tokens on my bike. Now you'd 

think with the number of them hanging off my bike, I shouldn't notice one of them being moved 

around, but believe me, it practically screamed at me. It was the one I'd gotten from the 

Warthogs of Dundalk.  

I was about to dismiss it all as my own budding paranoia, but somebody had moved the token. It 

wasn't even a big move, the kind that would happen if somebody took it off to look at and then 

replaced it.  

I gave up. If they were going to muck with me, fine. I made it a game to see how many mistakes 

they made and started keeping track of them mentally. At least it was a game, until I realized that 

the tokens had to have been rearranged while we were all on call...  

And I distinctly remember seeing the 'mystery' car that's become my constant companion. Maybe 

one of the guys did it after they returned and we were still at the hospital, but I don't' think so. So 

much for the nice relaxing trip out of town. The tension is back with a vengeance.  

 

Friday, July 21st 2056 - losing it 

Okay, now there are two tracking devices on my bike and a motorcycle's been added to the 

entourage. If it weren't so infuriatingly bizarre. I think I'd actually be enjoying this.  

"Lets spy on the paramedic." Sounds like an interesting game. I wonder how many of them I can 

gross out?  
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The only problem is, I know I'm not good enough to notice everything. Are they trying to get me 

to notice them? Am I supposed to have reacted and failed the test because I've been too oblivious 

to their attempts to be seen.  

They are going to drive me crazy. Scratch that, they have driven me crazy.  

I can't go anywhere without somebody watching me. I feel like I'm living in a docudrama where 

the camera's are already rolling and every move is being analyzed. Maybe I'm over analyzing it, 

but if I weren't working, I'd be climbing the walls.  

Work- there's another place that's going to drive me straight up a wall. Fridays have to be the 

worst. Payday, end of the week, party night- that's Friday night in Seattle. This time at least the 

accidents were 'normal.'  

Its hard to be self conscious when you're working triage. Most of the accidents were minor ones. 

The worst car accident was one where a car hit a drunk who'd 'come out of nowhere.' At least 

that's what the driver said- forty-seven times.  

Thing was, he'd been going fast enough that the guy should have been hurt a lot worse than he 

was. One of the advantages of having your body that relaxed I guess. We got him to the hospital 

before he even really realized what had happened.  

He tried to pick me up at least three times. The man was definitely delirious  

After that the calls got rather boring. The tails were interesting though, especially when we were 

on a call. Still, I could really do without them.  

 

Saturday, July 22nd 2056 - Making plans for monday  

Hump day! No rush hour, just party goers and those who pray on them. I think my spooks are 

taking a rest. I haven't seen them, but the tracking equipment is still on the bike. Can't seem to 

get away from them.  

I concentrated on reviewing the cases we'd been through and going over the 'tricks of the trade' 

with Ray. The hardest part for him is going to be driving like a maniac. I've had a good 5 years 

of that, and Ray's always been the responsible one.  

We've got a date to go dirt biking on Monday. He's going to need it.  

He looked at me kinda funny at first when I suggested it, but I told him we should practice and 

explained, "If you're going to fall, and believe me you are going to fall... its best to do it in the 

dirt.  
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Don't tell anybody, but I think he's getting into it. Its kinda fun watching Mr. "Law and order, do 

it by the book or don't do it at all" getting a kick out of driving really fast through traffic on a 

bike.  

A couple of times, I had trouble keeping up with him. I guess I have the advantage of knowing 

the equipment and how it handles and he's got the experience of driving in the rain. Sure is 

enough of it around. There were a few times where I had to back off to keep from hydroplaning. 

But there's no way the ambulance could have gotten where we were going in time.  

Thinking about it afterwards I realized that it's probably why there's now a motorcycle following 

me - the car couldn't keep up.  

It was a good day at work, and I only got two more marriage proposals from patients.  

 

Sunday July 23rd 2056 - Hello? 

You'd think after a week and a half of someone driving around on a motorcycle with bright 

strobing red and white lights, wearing a bright reflective YELLOW riding suit, with a great big 

caduceus emblazoned on the helmet, somebody at the Star might have noticed.  

To be fair they probably did, but nobody seemed to have mentioned it to the bike cop who 

decided that it was his duty to pull me over. When I didn't pull over it became a matter of honor 

for him to bring me in.  

The worst part of it was the fact that I was on a code 3 response to a cardiac arrest. It also didn't 

help that he seemed unable to talk to dispatch and chase after me at the same time so he opted to 

ignore the relay from Citywide that I was a medic on response.  

When I got on scene he actually drew down on me and started the take down procedures. You 

should have seen his face when the officer on scene dressed him down for interfering with a 

medic on call. Good thing too, a minute later and I don't think we would have been able to get 

the guy back. After the ambulance was gone, I was packing up my gear and getting ready to 

follow when he came up to me.  

Even after everything else, he somehow felt that my response was inappropriate.  

"You see those lights, you're supposed to stop," he growled at me.  

I looked at him for a minute and shook my head. "I see red and blues, I stop," I told him. "Unless 

I'm running my red and whites, then either you get out of my way, or you run interference for me 

cause somebody's life is on the line. And next time, you listen to dispatch Jr, 'cause if you had 

had your way, that man would have died. You don't interfere with the responding medic."  
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I wasn't very nice, but after all that and him still not getting the clue- I'm sorry, some people are a 

waste of oxygen.  

He looked like he wanted to do a lot of things at that point, including arrest me, but he opted to 

storm off telling me that he was going to file a complaint on me with Citywide and something 

about me regretting it.  

Cap just grinned at me and shook his head. Some people just don't get it.  

 

Monday, July 24th 2056 - an assignment 

This just isn't going to work. Even in the dirt, I can't get Ray to loosen up, and if he doesn't he's 

going to be one hurting puppy when he falls.  

Yeah, when. That's the joy of this job. Sooner or later, you're going to go down. If you're lucky 

its only once, but there are too many road hazards, stationary and rolling for you to never get 

caught in one, or seven.  

I've had one major spill back home that laid me up for almost a month. It was another three 

before I was allowed back on the bike, and believe you me, it was not a fun time.  

The day was pretty much a bust all the way around. Trying to teach Ray the maneuvers he'd need 

was hopeless. His response was erratic at best. The only reliable things were my tails. The car 

was there when I got up in the morning and met Ray for breakfast. The bike was there when I 

tried to work with Ray.  

The trip home did give me an idea though. There was this arcade I passed... it advertised, 'the 

next best thing to being there,' and 'You describe it- we'll design it.' Who knows, maybe some 

simulator action might get him to loosen up.  

I took a swing by missing persons, but Saunders was gone for the day, and the clerk there had as 

much personality as a spaghetti noodle. On my way out Sgt. Andrews caught up with me.  

"Jess," he called.  

It worries me when police officers remember my name, and they haven't met me in my official 

capacity. I turned and waited for him to catch up. It surprised me when I saw the haggard look in 

his eyes. He somehow managed to look more exhausted than he did last week.  

I think he could read my thoughts 'cause he just smiled at me and told me it was the lifestyle. I 

had to chuckle at that.  

"We could always use another Medic," I countered with a smile.  
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He shook his head. "I work better with the missing and the deceased."  

From his expression I knew something was up. "What can I do ya for?" I asked.  

Now it was his turn to be surprised. Seems I'd hit it dead on.  

"I know you go to the morgue and the hospitals... doing the leg work that I... just don't have the 

time for... I have a few cases," he held up a folder and looked at me questioningly.  

"And you were figuring since I was going to be there anyway..."  

"You mind?"  

I shrugged. It wasn't like it was putting me out any and if I did this, it meant he'd have more time 

to work on the other angles of his caseload-angles I just can't attack.  

I nodded and asked, "can you download the images to chip, then I can cross reference them..."  

This made him pause. I lifted up my hair and revealed the data and chip jacks that were well 

hidden. "It makes my job easier," I explained. "I can file my reports and stats in a blink of an eye, 

get back out faster... Any special procedures can be chipped in."  

"Just didn't expect a medic to..."  

"Mess with their own head?" I nodded. I remember how against it my father was... but Andy had 

his and I couldn't help but notice how useful it could be. I've been proven right on too many 

occasions to even think of regretting it. "It's a big benefit, believe me... "  

He nodded. "I'll have it for you in the morning," he told me and started to head away.  

"Tell you what," I called after him. "How about I buy you dinner and somebody makes the 

copies while we're eating?"  

He stopped and looked at me for a minute. Finally he nodded and as we walked towards the front 

desk he corrected me, "I'm buying."  

Dinner was nice. We talked mostly shop, but it was pleasant enough that I forgot about the tail 

and intrigue, until I saw them on my way home. Them and a second motorcycle.  

They didn't do anything until I got home. As I dismounted the second bike turned its lights on... 

it was the officer from the other night- Officer Smiley.  

He'd followed me from the station house, I knew that much. I'd had a long day, and now he 

decided that I needed a 'safety inspection."  
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I have to laugh though. He couldn't find a thing wrong-but he did find one of the tracking units. 

He was about to say something when I met his eyes and gave my head a slight shake. His eyes 

widened, but he nodded, and then warned me to 'keep my nose clean,' and strode back to his 

bike. I could tell he was trying hard not to look for the tails.  

Things just got a little more interesting.  

 

Tuesday, July 25th 2056 - more than meets the eyes 

Officer Smiley wasn't there in the morning, but the others were. I stopped at the diner and settled 

my bill at the counter. I really have to watch my money now. Payday isn't until Sunday and I still 

have to keep the bike fueled and me fed for the next few days. And the cats, can't forget the cats.  

As I got ready for my 'John Doe' search of the morgue and the hospitals, I realized what was 

wrong. I hadn't seen any of the local gang. This began to worry me a little, so I stopped by the 

clinic to check with Trina about it.  

I was rather surprised to find Doc Rivers there. Then again, I saw the way he looked at her. I 

guess it wasn't that much of a surprise. It took me a minute to remember why I came.  

Trina told me not to worry too much. They've been known to keep a low profile at times, and 

that since the attack on the clinic, they'd actually been taking turns watching the clinic at night. I 

could tell from her tone of voice that there was more, but I could also tell it wasn't something I 

wanted to ask about.  

It was a half answer to my question, which I guess is more than I've been getting these days. I 

promised I'd come back around five and see how they're doing, but judging by the looks the two 

of them were exchanging, I don't think the were going to have any problems.  

Dr. Chen was waiting for me. I could tell by his smile he was actually looking forward to my 

visit. I guess he doesn't get that many visitors with a pulse. He showed me the week's cases, all 

the time discussing the worst cases and comparing them to the worst ones I'd dealt with. I 

happened to see his reflection in one of the lights and realized he was mostly doing it to keep my 

mind off of why I was there.  

I didn't find the boys, which was a relief, but after cross referencing the retinal images and the 

general stats on one of Sgt. Andrew's missing person's cases, I knew we'd found one of them. 

Only now, it's a homicide. I phoned him from the lobby and gave him the case number.  

He thanked me, but I know he wasn't really happy with it. The case was a 15 year old girl from 

Council Island. Sometimes this whole thing just messes with your mind. I cross referenced this 

case with the others and found out that her 14 year old brother was missing as well.  
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After a quick check with Dr. Chen I found out that she'd been found downtown. That meant I 

had about 4 hospitals to check including Harbor View and University. I figured I'd start with 

those two, mainly because if I were running a kid who'd been hurt the way she was, I'd take them 

to Harbor View First, University second with Seattle General and Nightengale's very distant 

third choices.  

I found her brother at Harbor View. He'd been messed up pretty bad and was still in a coma. I 

put a call into Andrews. I stayed there going through his file, until Andrews got there with the 

boy's family.  

By the time he got there, I knew where they'd found him-- about 5 blocks from where they'd 

found his sister. In addition to his injuries were chemical traces of a rather powerful date-rape 

drug, popular with the club set back home. I figured I'd take a quick look down where the kids 

were found and scope out the area.  

Again Andrews read meï I'm really going to have to work on that.  

He pointed out that I was getting side-tracked from my objective and I just shook my head. "No.. 

I just don't want to see another kid like this... " I think he understood, but it was hard to tell.  

How do you explain to someone how my brothers and I are? I mean, we'd lay down are lives for 

each other without a second thought, but when it comes to kids... innocents... kids come first.  

The boys are adults, they can take care of themselves, but kids... kids are sacred.  

I think he understood.  

As I rode downtown, I reviewed the case in my mind. They were both found in the shadows of 

the Renraku Arcology, within a few blocks of 4 of the city's more prominent clubs including 

Penubra.  

I tried to get on with the JD search, but something kept bothering me. Finally I went to Citywide 

dispatch and started going through the records.  

Within the past four months there had been 9 similar calls, but this was the first one with a 

fatality. Each of the other victims had been identified so all of them had been classified as 

random acts of violence. A shiver went down my spine when I called Andrews with the 

information.  

He told me to come down tomorrow and file a report. There was something in his voice I 

couldn't quite identify, but I figure I'll know tomorrow.  

I'd like to say I got somewhere on my search for the boys but I ended up back at the condo with 

no more answers than I'd had that morning. I checked back at the clinic, but lets just say they 

didn't need me hanging around. I treated myself to a long hot soak and went to bed.  
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Wednesday, July 26th 2056 - clay pigeons 

I actually slept in. Or at least I started to. I was tired enough that the phone startled me when it 

rang. It was Sgt Andrews. I'd forgotten that he wanted me to give him the details on my 

'investigation.'  

After a quick shower I headed downtown. I didn't see the car this time, but somehowï I knew it 

was still there. The motorcycle on the other hand seems to have developed a rather distinctive 

misfire in the engine.  

I have to admit I was feeling a little more self assured than I should have under the current 

circumstances. As if to prove that point, I found that the car was already at the station when I 

arrived.  

This made me more than a bit nervous, but before I could say anything, Sgt Andrews was there 

leading me deeper into the station. Instead of taking me back to his desk he took me to a bank of 

elevators. He pressed Sub Basement 3 and smiled as the elevator headed down. He didn't say a 

thing until we reached bottom and the doors opened.  

"Do you know how to shoot?" He asked as he gestured towards another door and guided me onto 

a shooting range.  

I nodded still unsure where everything was leading. It turned out it was leading to the shooting 

range. There was another man there. Sgt Andrews nodded towards him and a then man pressed a 

button. I tensed as I heard the mechanisms activate and then I saw a barrier raising from the 

ground.  

"This room is sound proof," Sgt. Andrews informed me once the barriers had finished closing.  

I looked around warily. "Why?"  

He smiled at me innocently. "So no one can hear the gunfire."  

I gave him my best 'yeah right,' look and he smiled. Then he nodded to his friend. "This here is 

Jonathan. He's from Council Island."  

He gave me a slight smile and then bowed slightly. "Thank you for what you have done on 

behalf of the Walker children."  

I shook my head. "I haven't really done anything," I answered. I hadn't either. I just did a little of 

the 'legwork' on the case.  

"No... you have taken an interest and you have endangered yourself on their behalf."  
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I had to object with that one. I hadn't done anything dangerous. The biggest danger I faced was 

traffic and I said as much. I really didn't like the amused smile he exchanged with Sgt. Andrews.  

"I am sorry," Jonathan said when he noticed my look. "Sgt Andrews had told me that you were a 

warrior at heart. It is refreshing."  

I shook my head, still not knowing where this was leading.  

Sgt Andrews handed me a gun and pointed towards the end of the range. It was a Walther palm 

pistol, a hold out gun really. It was also the kind I carried back in Baltimore. I think I glared at 

Sgt Andrews after that. I do not like how much they knew about me, even though it was all on 

record.  

Most medics carried at least a hold out. Like I said we have a team that protects us, but its 

nothing fancy and their response time isn't all that fast. If you need them, you better have 

something on you. Something I'd left at the station back in Baltimore: my concealed carry permit 

was for Baltimore and I hadn't been sure about transporting it to Seattle. It really would have 

helped me with Aaron.  

I took it and emptied the clip at the target. Most of them were good, but a few of them missed 

completely.  

Sgt Andrews nodded and inserted a clip into his own gun and chambered a round. "Tell me about 

the other victims..." he prompted as he began shooting at the target.  

"Nine other cases, all reports of unconscious woman in an alleyway. All young... most looking 

under age. Alone..."  

"How do you know they were under age.. Or appeared that way?"  

I had to smile at that. "When we call in the stats, if we don't have an age, we estimate. Almost 

every estimate was 'Female, 16-25.' I looked at Jonathan. "This is the first call with two people 

involved, and one of them dead."  

He nodded. "I thought so. Michael is... young enough that he..."  

"Could be mistaken for a woman?"  

He nodded again.  

I looked at them both for a minute, a chill going down my spine. "You want me to go in..." It was 

a statement more than a question. Again, they exchanged that smug look.  

Part of me wishes I could have walked out at that point but they were right. I didn't like people 

preying on kids and given an opportunity to do something about it, I would.  
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"When?" I asked in a resigned voice.  

"Tonight." Sgt Andrews answered as he handed me a piece of paper.  

I looked at it, expecting an address, but instead I found a concealed carry permit.  

"I owe you at least that much," he said with a smile. "Jonathan will be giving you cover... all you 

have to do is be yourself... and be careful."  

I gave him a lopsided look. "Which do you want," I asked wryly. "Cause I can't do both."  

It took him a minute and then he chuckled. "Guess you're right."  

Yeah, if I was being careful, I wouldn't be letting them set me up as a clay pigeon.  

I'd like to say it was a wonderful evening, but whoever had attacked the Walker kids seemed to 

have been satisfied with whatever he'd gotten. I had a few offers to dance, but mostly I just 

hopped the clubs in the area.  

I was feeling rather let down as I left the last club in the area, Penumbra. I signaled a cab and let 

out a sigh as it pulled over and the driver waited for me to climb in. I felt something prick the 

back of my neck and thenï everything was hazy until I woke up in a tubful of hot water.  

I was shivering, and a rather kindly woman was watching over me, pouring warm water over the 

towel I was wrapped up in. She smiled at me when I groaned.  

"Here," she told me as she handed me a cup of hot liquid. "Drink."  

She sounded like Mario when he'd order me to "drink" one of his concoctions. At least this tasted 

good. I tried to ask what happened, but she simply shook her head. "Let their poisons wash from 

your system, then we will talk."  

I tried to focus on her, but I was drifting again.  

I think it was several hours later when she pronounced me well enough to get up and helped me 

dress. I was feeling less groggy now, but I still didn't know what was going on. Once I was 

dressed, she carefully handed me my pistol. It was a gentle gesture to assure me that all was well. 

It helped.  

She led me to a long house and there were several men and women gathered there. At the far end 

I saw Jonathan and Sgt. Andrews. They both stood and seemed very relieved to see me up and 

around truth be told, I was glad too.  

I could also tell they'd managed to find something. I waited expectantly until the meeting was 

called to order and Sgt Andrews and Jonathan explained what had happened.  
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Organ leggers. If that didn't give me pause nothing would. They were harvesting organs from 

young women coming to the clubs in the area. And they were being very particular. I looked at 

the needle hole in my arm and realized they'd taken a tissue sample... to see if I matched any of 

their customers.  

Of all the possibilities I'd come up with I hadn't even thought of this. The council wasn't happy to 

learn what had happened, but at least we knew and the people who had attacked their children 

had been caught. It wasn't much, but it was something.  
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Week Six ï Getting back up 

Thursday, July 27th 2056 - What ifs 

Today I nearly spilled on the way to work. I should have taken that as a warning, but as always, 

there was too much happening and way too many people needing out services. Then came the 

big spill, where I did go down. All I can tell you is the fact that I don't remember much of what 

happened, but its coming back.  

It was raining, big surprise there, and I was responding to another cardiac call. I was heading 

towards an intersection, full code 3 response-- lights, sirens... the works. Next thing I know I'm 

in the middle of the intersection, flat on my back, looking up at officer Smiley.  

He told me my first reaction was to ask him how bad the others were. The rest is hazy, but he 

tells me that I talked him through everything I needed, from calling dispatch to immobilizing me.  

I do remember the chopper and being winched into the air. The flight itself was a blur, but I 

know it was bad. I could hear it in the medic's voice as he tried to tell me everything was fine.  

I ended up in Harbor View and I'm glad I did. Harbor View is known for its emergency care, but 

they aren't known for magical healing. That's where my last few days worth of adventuring came 

in.  

Seems word of my arrival and condition reached the ears of the Walker family. I don't know how 

they knew, or how they managed to get through security, but one of them came to me and ...  

One minute I was in pain, and very scared- the next I was floating peacefully. I swear it was one 

of the most wonderful feelings I've ever had. When I woke up, Ray and Officer Smiley were 

playing poker waiting for me to wake up.  

I've never been healed magically before, but let me tell you- it's the only way to fly!  

I came back down to earth when Officer Smiley told me what had happened. He had pulled 

somebody over for speeding and was writing them up when he heard me approaching. He turned 

as he heard squealing tires and saw a limo pull out as I passed. Guess he thought I was through-- 

wrong.  

I swerved goosing the throttle, but there was no missing him. He clipped my rear wheel, and 

that's all he wrote. All things considered, I got off really lucky. The bike's going to be in the shop 

for a while. I don't think I mind riding in the truck for now.  

There's a whole series of 'what ifs' that have been running through my head all night and let me 

tell you- its enough to give anybody pause.  
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What if I'd been a fraction of a second slower? What if the Limo had been a tad faster? What if 

Officer Smiley hadn't been there? What if I'd ended up at General instead of Harbor View? What 

if I'd never met the Walkers?  

Ah well, a world of what ifs can drive you crazy and I still have a job to do. Thanks to Mrs. 

Walker, I'm here to do it.  

 

Friday, July 28th 2056 - Changes 

Its still kinda hard to believe I'm still on the job after yesterday. Hard to believe I'm still 

breathing if you think about it.  

Believe me, I've been doing a lot of thinking about it.  

I don't know; it's almost enough to make you believe in something beyond the rat race. I've never 

been one for religion, but there have been too many coincidences lately. Yeah, I've been playing 

the 'if' game again. Have to watch it or I won't know which end is up.  

I do know I got up early and spent a few hours at the clinic before heading to work though. I am 

a firm believer in 'what comes around goes around.'  

Matt called it Karma, Alan called it 'cosmic balance', Andy just called it luck. Whatever, I'm not 

taking chances, well, any more than usual.  

The shift was comparatively quiet for most of the evening. Only two accidents and one shooting, 

not bad for a Friday night. Kinda makes me worry about what they have in store for us 

tomorrow.  

I was about halfway through the shift when I realized what else was missing: the motorcycle tail. 

Guess he had to take it in for repairs. Of course its not like I'm going out on any calls on the bike, 

not until she checks out. I stopped by central on the way in to check on her... I'm lucky to be 

alive. One look at my helmet and I knew that the protective gear had kept me together long 

enough that there was something for the Walkers to bring back.  

The helmet took the abuse that would have probably splattered the grey matter all over the 

pavement. There was no reviving it, but I was alive because of it. Kinda heavy.  

I didn't used to dwell on mortality, really. Its something new to go with everything else. I still 

don't know what's going on, and if I don't hear from Fin soon... I may have to do something to 

change that.  

At least that was my line of thinking until I looked at Ray. I swear for a fraction of a second I 

thought I saw a red dot on his forehead. This is so uncool that I have to do something. I don't like 

threats to my friends, real or imagined and something tells me, its going to get a lot worse. You'd 
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think after two and a half weeks they'd have packed it in by now- or have they and they're only in 

my imagination now?  

I looked at my bike and the devices someone had oh so carefully planted. It was not my 

imagination. The only question is then- what do I do about it?  

One other change though. This morning I rented a safety deposit box. I'm leaving a copy of my 

notes, so that if anything does happen to me- whoever comes looking for me... they'll have a 

better idea of what was going on. Once this thing with the tails and the men I didn't see is over- 

I'll include a copy of my journal.  

Just in case- I don't want to leave somebody with the sort of mess the boys left... I just want some 

normalcy in my life.  

 

Saturday, July 29th 2056 - Life goes on.  

Let me get this out of the way now. Birth is messy. Okay, life is messy, and for most of the 

people I see, leaving it is just as messy, but coming into this world has got to be one of the 

messiest things I've ever seen.  

There- I feel better now. Yes, today's calls included a pregnant woman who gave birth on the 

way to the hospital. And trying to do anything on a moving ambulance can get pretty hairy. 

When it became obvious we weren't going to get to the hospital in time, I had Ray pull over.  

Between the two of us, the woman and her husband, and the baby for that matter, its amazing we 

got anything done. She was in pain, and we couldn't give her anything, so she had to rely on the 

breathing exercises as the little one made her grand entrance.  

Once she was out, Ray began suctioning while I clamped the umbilical cord. After drying her off 

and suctioning again, she was wrapped up in a blanket. We placed her on her mother's stomach 

and got rolling again. I checked on the mother and made sure she and the baby were fine and 

stayed that way.  

We got them to the hospital without further incident. The father smiled at us and told us it was a 

miracle. The pride and joy in his eyes was worth it.  

I guess it was a miracle, but how come all the miracles in the bible are nice and clean and 

beautiful and this is so messy? Just the way it is, I guess. Still, its nice to see that life goes on.-- 

messy though it may be.  

 

Sunday July 30th 2056 - Confrontation 
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The motorcycle is back, and they did fix the misfire. I think they're trying to get noticed now. 

No, there's no thinking about it, they are trying to get noticed. The car pulled up next to me at a 

stop light and the passenger just looked at me from behind mirrored shades.  

He had one of those practiced 'don't mess with me,' expressions that I swear they teach cops to 

make. It happened at three more lights, so I did the only thing I could do really.  

I went to the local Lone Star substation and told an officer there that there were these two men 

following me. I don't think they were too happy with me, but they're the ones who started this 

game.  

They were back on me by mid-shift so when I finished my shift, instead of going home, I went to 

the central precinct house and filed a complaint of two men following me. As I filed the 

complaint, they walked up to the officer I was working with and asked him to allow them to take 

over.  

I feigned ignorance, demanding to know what was going on. I told the officer that these were the 

same men who were following me. The first one brought out his badge and held it out for me to 

see. Daniels, I'm going to remember that name.  

"Then why were you following me?" I demanded.  

"We have our reasons," he told me as he took over the officer's chair and his partner sat way too 

close to me, straddling the chair so that its back was between us.  

I shook my head. "Not good enough," I told them, looking from one to the other. "And I know 

I've seen your car around, so either tell me what's going on, or leave me alone."  

The indignation was real, even if the ignorance wasn't. I had really had enough.  

"Why were you poking around the morgue?"  

"I have my reasons," I told him in the same tone of voice he'd used.  

"And that would be?"  

I gave him an exasperated look. "Finally, someone in this town who doesn't know my business."  

That earned an extra special glare from Daniels' partner, who never once showed me his badge. 

"You can co-operate or we can make this very unpleasant."  

"You've already made this very unpleasant," I told him. "Do you know what its like to think ... 

just to think you're being followed, after being stalked by an ex-boyfriend? Do you know what 

its like to go from thinking, and telling yourself its all in your imagination, only to find out it 

isn't. And when you complain, you find out that your 'stalker' is a cop? You want to know what I 

do at the morgue- ask Dr. Chen, ask the desk Sargent, ask Sargent Andrews, or Saunders down 
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in records- read the freakin' paper, or try asking me, but this harassment bit of following me and 

intercepting my complaint is a bit much, and completely unnecessary."  

"Ms Miller," Daniels said, trying to sound soothing.  

"And if you know my name, you shouldn't have to ask. Why do I go to the morgue? Why does 

anybody go to the morgue. To look at dead people. If you want I'll be back there tomorrow and 

you can watch me look at dead people."  

"Ms Miller," he tried again. "There is no need to be hostile... we're here to help you."  

"Here to help me," I repeated a little sarcastically. "And how is following me around, scaring me 

half to death going to help me?"  

I couldn't help myself, I was on a roll.  

"All right," Daniels said in a nice calm soothing, very faked I might add, voice. "Tell us..."  

Good cop.  

I looked at him, surprise and exasperation showing on my face. "I'm Jess Miller..." I started, 

sounding like he was being very slow, which he was.  

"We know that much," his partner growled.  

Bad cop.  

I shook my head and sighed. "My brothers Matt, Alan and Andy are missing." I kept my eyes 

wide and nodded at them like I was expecting them to catch on.  

The rest of it went something like this:  

Good Cop: "I see... so you were looking for them." 

Me: "Actually, when I'm at the morgue, I'm trying not to find them." 

Bad Cop: "I don't like your attitude." 

Me: "And I don't like being followed. If you'd like I could file an itinerary." 

Good Cop: " That won't be necessary." 

Bad Cop: (sulk) 

Me: "How long have you been following me anyway?" 

Good Cop: "Not long..." 

Me: "But if you know I've been going to the morgue, that means... you've been following me... a 

week, two weeks?" 

Bad Cop: (smug) : "Three." 

Me: "Three weeks!? And you couldn't ask? Half the precinct knows my business and you're 

wasting time following me?" 

Good Cop: "We have our reasons." 
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Me: "So you keep telling me..." 

Good Cop: "I'm sorry we scared you..." 

Me: "So...did you at least get the number of the limo that hit me?"  

Bad cop decided to take a new approach. "What did you find at the morgue?"  

I shrugged. "Dead people," I answered shaking my head. "Last week I found a girl who'd been 

killed by organ leggers, because the drugs they used to subdue her had no effect, so they 

bludgeoned her to death. Before that, a couple of John Does, included a burn victim that was 

found in my brother's car. Fortunately, it wasn't any of my brothers. The week before that, 3 guys 

we pulled from an accident scene.. DOAs.. The week before that, two mutilation homicides and a 

wino... before that...more of the same."  

"We have to ask these questions because, you seem to know your way around the morgue all too 

well..." Daniels again.  

I bowed my head in exasperation. "I'm a medic. We have to do post mortums once every six 

months to keep our 'skills sharp.' Its regulation. You either get used to it, or you leave the 

profession."  

Daniels nodded. "I think we're done here," he announced.  

I shook my head. "That depends," I told him. "Are you going to keep following me?"  

Bad cop scowled at me. He scowls well.  

Daniels gave me a slight, and again very faked, laugh. "No... we're sorry about this 

misunderstanding..."  

I nodded innocently, but I think we all knew that it wasn't over yet. Not by a long shot.  

 

Monday July 31st 2056 - Tapped. 

It was after noon by the time I got home from Sunday's shift and my jaunt to the station. I took a 

long hot shower, called Trina to tell her that I was going to bed and that I'd stop by the clinic in 

the morning and went to bed.  

At about four a phone call woke me up. When I picked it up, the line was very quiet and then a 

chilling voice said, "I'm watching you..." Then he hung up.  

It wasn't enough to recognize the voice, but after dealing with Aaron, I knew the procedures for 

dealing with threatening phone calls. I called the phone company and told them to send the 

number on to the police, reported what had been said and then settled back to bed. Two hours 

later the process was repeated.  
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The third time, I got to meet more of the 'Star's finest'. They came over and tapped the phone. 

Oddly enough I didn't get any calls after that. Cute way to get my permission to tap the line, I've 

got to give them credit for that.  

After the 'excitement' died down, I went to the diner. The one good thing about yesterday: it was 

payday. I treated myself to a steak dinner and went for a walk. Daniels and his friend were still 

there, but back to hiding. I'm beginning to wonder if those two ever sleep.  

Actually I should probably feel safer knowing that there are people out there so dedicated to 

duty. Too bad they're dirty.  

 

Tuesday August 1st 2056 - Looking at dead people. 

I checked in with Trina at the clinic around eight and stayed until about eleven-thirty. After 

everything that happened this week, I was glad for the change of pace. No immediate 

emergencies, a few cuts and scrapes.  

I recognized one of the patients as one of the gangers. He looked as if he'd gone through a ringer. 

He remained calm and stoic as I checked his injuries. They were mostly superficial, a lot better 

than they looked. I started to say something and he shook his head and handed me a note.  

I took the note and nodded slightly, then pretended to check the clipboard. "Let me get you some 

ice for that," I told him and headed back to the nurse's station.  

My hand shook slightly as I opened the note, but I shouldn't have worried. It was from Fin:  

Jess,  

Good job confusing them. Things still hairy. Don't give up. Play it close to the vest. Beware ValenzBioChem. 

Toast, eggs over easy.  

Fin.  

I memorized the name, and smiled at the 'toast, eggs over easy.' It was a private little tag. I always had 

toast and eggs over easy before a big exam. Fin knew this. So, the real test was still to come.  

I trashed the note and came back with the ice, but the ganger was long gone. He'd done what he'd 

come to do. One look from Trina and I knew that somehow she knew, at least some of it. I 

realized something I hadn't done since the hospital had pronounced me 'safe and sound.'  

I hadn't had my blood work-up redone. I wrote this down on the chart and Trina nodded. Not 

only did she know something was up, she knew I had to keep quite about it. She handled it 

quietly and efficiently, using the ganger's chart as the contact name, she drew blood and did the 

work up herself. I should have the results tomorrow.  
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I was about to leave when she gave me a warning look. "Be careful." She mouthed. I nodded. It 

seems to be the watch word these days.  

When I left the clinic, Daniels and his friend were out and visible, so I went over to them.  

"I'm going to the morgue to look at dead people," I told them. "Care to join me?"  

Daniels shook his head. His partner simply scowled.  

"Okay," I told them. "Just thought I'd ask."  

Someday, I think I may regret doing that, but it felt so good at the time.  

Andrews was waiting for me at the morgue. He looked kinda sheepish as he handed me an 

updated disk with the information on the missing person's cases that were currently being 

worked. You'd think they'd have networked the hospitals and the police departments together by 

now, but still, half of what I found last week was because of intuition and knowing how injuries 

can change a person's appearance.  

Dr. Chen was in rare form as he started 'introducing me' to his clientele. Andrews lasted about 

ten minutes before he realized that he had an important meeting to go to. As he left the room, Dr. 

Chen looked at me with a slight pout.  

"Was it something I said?" he asked, feigning a hurt expression.  

That made me chuckle, as did how quickly his expression shifted back to his usual jovial, but 

morbid self. After he'd finished showing me all but the last of his charges he paused and placed a 

hand on my shoulder.  

"This one... isn't pretty," he warned me. Coming from him, I know that meant it was pretty bad. I 

took a deep breath and nodded.  

I clenched my fist as he pulled out the tray and revealed a young man, about Andy's build. His 

face had been chewed off, probably by devil-rats. I swallowed hard as I tried to ID him. Between 

decomposition and teeth marks it was hard. Somebody had really not wanted this man identified. 

I moved forward and moved his hair aside slightly.  

I let out a sigh of relief and looked up at Chen. There was no datajack.  

It wasn't Andy, but what had been done to the man was chilling. I looked at Dr. Chen and 

nodded. "If you can, can you give me your findings on this one?  

He looked at me for a minute and nodded. Some people react by not reacting, some by running 

away. People like me deal with things like this, by trying to do something about it.  
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"Watch it Jess," he warned. "You keep this up, you're going to either have Andrews' job or you're 

going to end up a ghoul like me."  

"Doc," I told him. "Its my job to keep cases away from you two."  

He grinned. "And yet... here we are."  

I smiled back. "Yeah, but I'm only one kid..."  

He nodded solemnly. "Remember that Jess, you can't do everything."  

Maybe I can't do everything, but I sure as hell can try.  

 

Wednesday August 2nd 2056 - A visit 

The morning started out quietly enough. I woke up at about 9:30 and headed over to the clinic, 

skipping breakfast, which was a big mistake.  

When I got there things were already hoping. Seems a cold was making its rounds and 

everybody had the sniffles. I think summer colds are the worst. I mean, if you're sick and its cold 

and miserable out well, that's fine, but when its nice out..  

Scratch that, I forgot where I was. Its damp and miserable here so why worry about it. It took till 

about 11:30 before we'd gotten the crowd down to two cases. When Trina finished with them, 

she called me in for a conference on Mickey Hernandez.  

It took me a minute to realize that that was the name the ganger had given when he came in and 

gave me the note. I scanned 'his' chart as I looked at the results of my blood test.  

The white blood cell count was up, triglycerides and cholesterol were within normal standards. 

But there were some abnormalities. The chemical composition was slightly off, almost as if there 

were still trace amounts of the chemical still in my system.  

If that is the case, then I'm a walking talking sample of this chemical. The name ValenzBioChem 

floated through my mind as I thought of Fin's warning. Maybe it wasn't what I'd seen, but what I 

had that they wanted.  

After I finished reading the chart, Trina told me that she wanted to see about getting him back in 

here and running a few more tests. It took me a minuted before I realized what she meant.  

"I'll try and get a hold of him," I said with a slight nod.  

Needless to say, I didn't feel much like eating at lunch time. I was having a staring contest with a 

tuna sandwich when the phone rang.  
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"Lynwood clinic," I answered.  

"Jess, I was hoping I'd find you there." The voice was way too cheerful- Andrews again.  

"Am I that predictable?"  

"Well, I got your report on the John Does and the matches, you weren't home and you aren't on 

duty."  

"I'm that predictable," I sighed. "What's up."  

His voice grew serious. "It's the Walker boy, he's taking what happened pretty hard."  

I suppressed my first response which would have been a bit caustic and took a deep breath. "So 

where do I fit in?"  

"Jonathan thought that maybe you could talk to him."  

A lot of thoughts went through my head at that point. The fact that the kid needs either a priest or 

a shrink, not a medic that's got her own problems, but I realized that that was exactly why they 

wanted me. I was facing something similar and knew where the kid was coming from.  

"He's back home by now right?" I asked.  

"Yeah," Andrews answered. "Jonathan'll meet you on the west bridge."  

Just like that. They knew that if they found me, I'd accept and I did.  

The security check outside the Island seemed a bit tense when I approached. I guess there are 

still some places where a motorcycle means trouble, I just thought they'd all caught on by now.  

Jonathan walked me through security and I began to suspect that there was a lot more to him than 

Andrews had told me. I could tell by the reaction of the people around us that there was 

something up there.  

He seemed to be oblivious to it, so I didn't say anything. Besides, I wasn't there to see him. I was 

there to see Mike Walker.  

His folks were waiting for me, that much was obvious. I tried to thank Mrs. Walker for healing 

me, but she just waved it off.  

We pretty much dispensed with the pleasantries, and I went in to see Mike. He tried to be 

gracious, but I could see the hurt and the guilt in his eyes.  

I asked him if he wanted to talk about it, but he just shook his head. I kinda knew how he felt. 

Finally he let out a sigh and focused on me.  
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"They asked you to come, didn't they?"  

I nodded. I'm not going to lie to the kid.  

"It was my fault," he finally said. "I was the one who wanted to see the city, wanted to... "  

I let out an exasperated sigh and shook my head. "It wasn't your fault. You two ended up in the 

wrong place at the wrong time. There was no reason, no divine plan, just circumstance."  

He shot me a hard look at that one.  

I let my breath out slowly and then told him why I was in Seattle. Why I happened to find his 

sister, and him.  

"Just... circumstance..." he finally whispered.  

I nodded. "It would be so easy if there was a reason, or at least an answer to all the questions, but 

there never will be, and that's what makes it hard."  

I don't know if I was talking about me or about him at that point, it didn't really matter. There 

was no resolution, no answer to all the questions. Just one of those things that you have to pick 

yourself up afterwards and move on.  

I think we both had a good cry, but the problem with tearing open wounds like that, is the fact 

that they seem to take forever to heal. I gave Mike my pager number, told him if he needed to 

talk, just to give me a call.  

He nodded, and I made my exit, at least I would have if my blood sugar hadn't dropped as low as 

it had. I passed out.  

Great impression, great way of demonstrating how to take care of yourself. I woke up once again 

under Mrs. Walker's watchful eye. She scolded me gently and made me eat something before I 

was allowed to talk. It was like dealing with Mario.  

Great, now I've got two 'mothers' watching out for me. I keep this up, I'll have adopted an entire 

family of my own. Maybe that's what I'm trying to do.  

Dammit, I miss the boys.  
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Week Seven ï Enough! 

Thursday August 3rd 2056 - Back in the saddle. 

I ended up staying with the Walkerôs last night. I wasnôt in much shape to leave, and Mike really 

needed somebody to talk to. In the morning, when I was ready to leave, Mrs. Walker asked me if 

I would please come back tomorrow for their daughterôs funeral.  

I looked at her, and could tell it was really important to them-- and to Mike. I agreed.  

It turns out itôs a day long affair, from sunrise to sunset, which means Iôm going to have to get 

someone to take my shift for me.  

Jonathan once again led me through the security check and I paused. I didnôt have the slightest 

idea of what was óappropriateô to wear to a funeral, especially here. Back home, I could get away 

with wearing my dress uniform, but here on the island, somehow, that felt very wrong. 

Especially since I didnôt have anything to do with trying to save her, or her brother.  

He got this odd smile. ñYouôll be here then,ò he told me. ñGood.ò  

There was something strange in the way he looked at me. It was strange, but pleasant. ñWhat?ò I 

asked.  

He just smiled and shook his head. ñWeôll supply the clothes for the ceremony,ò he told me.  

He said óceremonyô not ófuneralô or óserviceô... óceremonyô and he still had that odd smile that 

made me feel like he was setting me up again.  

I tried not to think about it on the way home, but I couldnôt help myself. I stopped by the library 

to find out what I could about Shalish and Elfin burial practices. Needless to say there wasnôt 

bloody much. Guess Iôll find out tomorrow.  

I managed to take a nap before I got up and headed to work where another surprise awaited me. 

The bike was back. Not the tailing one, that oneôs been back (although I didnôt see any of them 

while I was on Council Island.)  

No... it was my service bike. Complete with a new helmet for me. As I walked into the station 

everyone was gathered round, guiding me to it. As I moved clear of them, they formed a ring 

around me and the captain stepped forward with a new helmet.  

With a slight chuckle, I dropped to one knee as he approached and held it out for me. ñArise 

good knight,ò he told me.  

Laughing I stood back up and took the proffered helmet. It was the same model as the one that 

had saved my life. Again, it had the reflective caduceus worked into it, but on the other side was 
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the small image of a motorcycle with angel wings and a halo. I touched it and then looked up at 

them, smiling.  

Cap chuckled. ñYour first ókillôò he told me, then warned me not to try and become an Ace. As 

everyone began pummeling my back, Cap signaled for silence and charged me to ógo forth on 

my loyal steed and protect the people of the realm.ô  

That is exactly what I ended up doing, and you wouldnôt believe the number of people of the 

realm that needed protecting.  

Still it was touching. Its an odd bunch I work with. But their hearts are good, and I fit right in.  

 

Friday August 4th 2056 - The Funeral 

I went to the Island right after work. True to his word, Jonathan was waiting for me, with a 

traditional Shalish dress. This time the security people didnôt really give me a second glance. It 

seems they had been warned about me.  

What happened over the next 14 hours is almost impossible to describe. There were so many 

things that were so touching. It was a funeral, but also a tribute and a celebration. Its odd, but for 

the first time since Daniels and his buddies started following meï I actually felt at home, safe, 

protected and loved.  

As the sun started to set, Jonathan and another man came forward and held their hands out for 

me. I looked at Mrs. Walker who merely smiled and told me to go with them. I moved slightly 

unsteadily but they supported me and led me away from the ceremony. I thought it was perhaps 

something I wasnôt supposed to see, but I was in for quite a surprise.  

I donôt really remember what happened next. I remember smelling something sweet and woodsy. 

And then colors, all around me. It was almost like when Mrs. Walker healed me... or when Mario 

cast his mark of protection upon me. On some level I knew I should have been nervous, but no. It 

was beautiful, peaceful. There was no danger or deceit onlyï acceptance.  

When they finished I looked at Jonathon in a combination of curiosity and confusion. He merely 

winked at me and smiled.  

When we returned to the gathering a feast had been setup and Jonathan led me back to the 

Walkers. They smiled as Mike made a space for me and Jonathan said something I couldnôt 

understand. They all smiled, and I began to realize that something was definitely up.  

As the feast continued I tried to ignore the way people looked at me, but when Mr. Walker stood, 

it all became rather clear.  
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He stood and raised his glass. ñTo my daughter,ò he toasted. I started to raise my glass, but Mike 

held my arm down and shook his head gently.  

Everyone else raised their glass and joined his toast with an answering, ñto Gwyneth!ò But the 

toast wasnôt over. Before drinking, Mr. Walker raised his glass again.  

ñTo my daughter,ò he stated again, looking at me.  

My eyes widened as the others joined in with an answering, ñto Jessica!ò  

Iôd like to think I took it well, but I know I gave Jonathan my best deer in the headlights look as 

he raised his glass and drank from it. óWelcome home Jessica,ô he said softly.  

Afterwards, I tried talking to him trying to find out why all of this had happened.  

He told me that after all I did, they wished to honor me. I started to object. I hadnôt done 

anything.  

Jonathan smiled and shook his head. ñJess, you risked your life to bring their attackers to justice, 

and that cannot go unnoticed. You exhibited courage and honor and it is their desire to honor that 

courage. Like it or not... you are family now.ò  

ñAnd the magic bit?ò I asked still a little warily.  

Jonathan smiled slightly. ñThe elders had to be convinced that you werenôt... helping for other 

reasons... ñ  

When he saw I still didnôt get it, he explained it to me. The Walkers were rather influential in the 

community and it was the job of the shamen to make sure I hadnôt helped out in order to 

ingratiate myself.  

No, me with my bullheadedness checked the details of what happened and never looked past the 

names of the folks involved. He said it was refreshing and, like it or not, I belonged here.  

Needless to say, I stayed the night again.  

 

Saturday August 5th 2056 - Family 

I got back to the condo around 1:30 after spending the morning watching trid with Mike. Heôs a 

good kid.  

It was nice.  
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His folks on the other hand-- I mean, every time I tried to help out in the kitchen I got shooed out 

by Mr. Walker, telling me that I was a guest and when I finally objected he smiled, like heôd 

trapped me.  

I said something about ñBut I thought you said I was family...ò  

He pounced on that telling me ñThen you accept!ò  

I think I have a lot to learn about my new family. When I got back home, I checked on the rest of 

my family. The cats were indignant because I hadnôt been home yet and ignored me for 15 

minutes before they became permanently attached to my ankles.  

I gave Mario a call and he was his usual self. Heôs noticed Doc Rivers and Trinaôs budding 

romance. I had to laugh at his opinion about that. He feels that Doc Rivers has a lot of gall going 

around wanting to be called óDocô while Trina is just óTrinaô.  

I tried to point out that everybody here has known Trina since she was a kid and its hard for 

people to change what theyôre used to calling her, but I donôt think heôs buying it. Then he 

started grilling me on what happened yesterday.  

I remembered the tap the police placed on my line and just chuckled. ñItôs a long story,ò I told 

him and then promised to tell him about it some time. I still had to do a few thingsï like laundry, 

before I went to work.  

The shift at work was insanely hectic until about three when I guess all the trouble makers had 

either weeded each other out or had gotten tired and finally went to bed. Me, I was just as happy 

about it, because theyôd pretty much worn me out. I actually managed to grab a few hours of shut 

eye before the next call came out. It came in right at 5, right before change of shift, and Ray and 

I were on it.  

It was a long call too. Not overly taxing or exerting, just long. We had to extract a woman who 

was pinned in her car. She wasnôt hurt too badly. Just trapped and very vocal about us not 

damaging her car. She actually refused treatment at first in order to protect her car, which of 

course prolonged the whole situation. We didnôt get back to the station until about seven.  

Needless to say, I got home, fell face first into the couch and didnôt get up until four, and then it 

was the mad dash back to work.  

 

Sunday August 6th 2056 - Scapegoats 

Well, like I said, I woke up face first in the couch with only enough time to grab a shower and 

get back to the station. I should have figured it was a sign of the way things were going to go 

today.  
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Thing is, it wasnôt a really bad day case-wise. Victim wise howeverï I donôt know, it was like 

everybody felt it was our fault they were in need of our services and every pain they felt was our 

fault.  

Excuse me Mr. Philips, Martin K., but donôt you agree that it might have more to do with the 

bullet in your chest than my taking your pulse?  

It didnôt help that the other participants in their particular debacle had Doc Wagon (gold) and had 

already been picked up. That was our fault too. We were inept, rude, under qualified and 

generally a waste of his tax money.  

Yeah, right, I know... buzzard didnôt even have a SIN, which means he hadnôt paid taxes, but I 

wasnôt about to argue the point, since his ranting was pretty much the only the only thing that 

was keeping him going at that point.  

I did at least get him to shut up long enough for me to check out his chest wound.  

Pneumothorax. - Air in chest... sucking chest wounds... my favorite. Especially with this guy, 

cause after bandaging him up we got to apply oxygen. Not that the mask kept him quiet mind 

you, but at least it kept his complaints muffled.  

Obviously we were more than happy to turn him, and his wrath over to the emergency folks. We 

left to the sound a whole new list of complaintsï against us; the star; the medical staff.  

And that was one of the better calls. Man Iôm glad tomorrowôs Monday, or at least I would be if I 

werenôt covering Georgeôs shift.  

Ah well, such is the life of a big city medic I guess.  

 

Monday August 7th 2056 - Reputation 

I stopped by missing persons and irritated Saunderôs with my usual request for information. He 

took it-- grumbling all the time, but heôd already done the check for me and had it waiting.  

Nothing.  

He also handed me a chip that Andrews had sent down in anticipation of my arrival. I was about 

to leave when Saunders stopped me in the hallway.  

ñJess, you all right?ò  

I looked up at him, kind of surprised by the gentleness in his voice. I think I said something 

almost intelligible like ñYeah, why?ò  
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ñYou look ragged out,ò he explained softly. He patted my shoulder comfortingly, if a bit 

awkwardly. ñYou keep swinging kid... you'll find them.ò  

I looked at him and smiled. It was the second time he managed to tell me just what I needed to 

hear. Even as I started to perk up he smiled at me. ñI like chocolate cream filled,ò he told me 

with a wink, then turned and went back into the room, muttering about people óbustinô his chopsô 

before I could thank him.  

I headed to work and clocked in. Of course the crew was different and Georgeôs partner seemed 

a bit curious about the ódaredevil medic.ô I like to think I convinced him I wasnôt suicidal before 

I had to go out on the bike. Letôs just say... I think the óinsaneô rating has been maintained.  

We left the station at about the same time, me on bike, Walter in the truck. I know I was still in 

sight when I had to dodge the truck that was backing up, without looking. I have to admit, I got a 

lot more adrenalin I needed right then.  

I got to the scene without further incident, but the damage had already been done. Walter was 

convinced I was reckless and that my accident had been my fault. He even went as far as to 

complain to the shift Captain.  

Fortunately, heôd done his reading on the program and on me. Believe it or not, even with my 

two accidents, Iôm considered one of the safest in the program. It's not us, itôs the environment.  

I could tell by the way Walter looked at me, he did not want to deal with me or any moto-medic: 

we were a bastardization of the true calling.  

Truth be told, heôs a dinosaur. Shame too... cause heôs a good medic. The night was long, a lot 

longer than it needed to be, but Walter did not like having me as a partner and that made things 

that much worse.  

He insisted we practically sterilize the truck after every call. Now I believe in cleaning it up and 

keeping it safe, but doing an inventory after each call is a bit much. Of course that also meant 

that I was a ósloppyô medic in his book.  

Of course, as he was filing one of his complaints against me, I swiped a box of gloves from the 

truck and put them back in the storage locker. He came back from the Captainôs office and jerked 

his thumb over his shoulder. ñCap wants to see you,ò his tone was smug.  

I shrugged, handed him the clip board and went to see the Captain. The Captain sighed as I 

closed the door.  

ñMiller,ò he said. ñDo us all a favor... if you have to switch shifts... donôt pair up with Walter.ò  

I nodded. ñWhat did I do this time?ò  

ñYou didnôt use your turn signal.ò  
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I looked at the Captain and shook my head in disbelief. ñI donôt believe this.ò  

ñAnd you failed to do the inventory after the last call.ò  

ñDid he mention that I had to replace a fuse on the bike... oddly enough, the one that protects the 

signal circuit? And that the equipment comes before inventory... and that heôs an...ò  

ñMiller,ò the Captain warned me.  

I nodded.  

ñHeôs an insufferable bastard, but heôs an insufferable bastard with seniority.ò  

This got a smile out of me. A smile that broadened as we heard Walterôs anguished cry as he 

discovered that his precious inventory was off.  

The Captain looked at me for a minute as I fought, and failed, to keep a straight face.  

ñWhat did you do?ò  

I tried to suppress a smile as I reported that I had taken a box of gloves back to storage because it 

had been in the truck for too long. ñI was called in here before I could replace it,ò I added 

defensively.  

I could see the barest hint of a smile cross the Captainôs face. ñMiller... I think you better replace 

that box before he goes into an apoplectic fit.ò  

ñYes sir,ò I answered as I stood up.  

He managed to keep a straight stern expression until I closed the door, but I could hear him 

laughing.  

It was the one bright moment in the shift.  

 

Tuesday August 8th 2056 - Hitting close to home 

After a full shift with Smilinô Walter, I ended up sleeping in. I didnôt get to the morgue until 4, 

just in time to catch Dr. Chen while he was still there.  

ñJess,ò his greeting sounded almost relieved. ñI was afraid you werenôt going to show up.  

ñAnd miss a chance to visit? I worked last night.ò  

He nodded. ñLets see last night, 3 car pile up, 1 dead, and a shooting on 52nd place.ò  
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I nodded about the accidentï Iôd worked that one. ñ52nd? Thatôs Lynwood,ò I stated in surprise.  

He nodded. ñLooks like the victim was killed elsewhere and then dumped.ò  

I nodded and steeled myself for what was to come. Iôd seen the accident victim, no one familiar, 

just another person who was in the wrong place at the wrong time.  

I was not ready for the shooting victim. Iôd seen him, last weekï when he handed me a note from 

Fin. It was the same single shot to the head I óhadnôt seenô used on the guys from that damned 

van.  

Dr. Chen noticed the change in my expression. ñYou know him?ò  

I moved woodenly and nodded. ñI live in Lynwood...ò I said softly. ñHeôs one of the locals.ò  

I donôt really know what was on my mind, but I found myself back at the clinic. Trina knew 

something was wrong, and she closed up and took me to Marioôs.  

He tried to tell me that gangers tended to die that way, but I couldnôt shake the feeling that it had 

a lot less to do with his lifestyle and more with my problems. I think Mario could sense that, but 

bless him, he knew better than to ask.  

I also know that this is the last straw. Finôs warning or not. Iôve got to do something.  

I wonder if Officer Smilelyôs on duty tomorrow.  

 

Wednesday August 9th 2056 - Enough 

Last night my dreams were almost as vivid as theyôd been when the Night Terrors had hit me, 

but this time, they were all my own doing. I kept seeing that boy, laid out on the table.  

Something told me that unless I did something his case was going to remain unsolved: just 

another case of street violence. No matter what I did, I kept seeing his eyes staring at me, trying 

to tell me something, but I couldnôt hear him.  

I drifted that way until I woke up with a hand over my mouth and someone staring down at me. 

Needless to say, it was not my preferred way of waking up. My heart was pounding and my hand 

was already on the Walther when I realized it was Fin.  

He gave me a questioning look and released me after I nodded.  

He led me to another apartment down the hall and didnôt say anything until heôd turned on the 

radio, the shower and a white noise generator  
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His first words to me were, ñdonôt do it Jess.ò  

I tried to deny that anything was up, but he wasnôt buying it. He knew me too damn well and said 

as much. I took a deep breath and tried a different tact.  

ñThey killed that kid.ò  

ñYeah, I know,ò his answer was curt and I could tell he felt about it the same way I did. It may 

be a dog eat dog world, but Fin was one of those dogs long enough that he couldn't stomach it. I 

never was a part of that world, which is why Iôve never been able to accept it.  

ñThen lets stop playing their game,ò I finally growled. ñWe tried it your way, and weôve got 

some information, but still nothing concrete right?ò  

Fin nodded. I could see the effort it took for him to agree with me on that point, but he was still 

trying to protect me.  

ñBut your partner...ò  

ñLook Fin,ò I growled. ñIôm a walking talking sample for that secret little chemical cocktail. And 

if I am, itôs a sure bet Ray is too, so if someone wants the drug, weôre a nice easy way to grab a 

sample. If theyôre afraid we know something about the murders, we know Jack...ò  

ñBut they donôt know that.ò  

ñExactly.ò  

I think he finally got my point, but he was a long time in agreeing with me. ñSo, whatôs your 

plan?ò  

I smiled. ñFirst, we get Ray out of the line of fire. Get him to take a few days off until this thing 

blows over.ò  

ñWhat about the job?ò  

ñI keep working it, only now Iôm also digging for dirt. Thereôs a bike cop that knows something 

is up, and I think he can help, knowingly or not. With you and him covering me, I start pushing 

their buttons.ò  

ñYouôre setting yourself up again,ò he objected.  

I shook my head. ñTheyôve already set me up. Iôm just using it. Iôve got two cops, Daniels and 

his mysterious buddy following me, and a bike. The cops were asking me about my trips to the 

morgue, that really interested them-- The bike-- I donôt know if theyôre working together or at 

odds, but the cops are definitely dirty.ò  
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Fin nodded. ñThat makes sense. They cap 3 suspects whoôve been exposed to the drug... But then 

why did the let you two go?ò  

I thought about that for a minute. There were only a few possibilities I could think of. Either we 

were too óhigh profileô to eliminate, we didnôt know anything, or we were bait.  

Fin tried each of the possibilities before commenting. ñIt could be any of those reasons, or all of 

them.ò  

In the end it didnôt really matter. Fin became my ghost and I got to work.  

Ray wasnôt too crazy about the cloak and dagger but he understood. Of course... youôll never 

guess who he traded shifts with. Yep, I get to work with Smilinô Walter till we get this sorted 

out. That should be good for a few laughs.  

Phase one of my tweaking was slightly tricky but a stroke of genius if you ask me. It involved a 

trip to a hobby shop, a kitchen supply store and a radio shack. Several rolls of electrical tape 

later, I had what I needed: a frequency emulator set to the frequencies used by the tracking 

devices. Then came the switch  

Fin served as lookout as I planted the older tracking device on the bike and the newer one on the 

car. It was a bit stressful, but well worth the effort. The key was a set of timers that were set for 

2:30 pm tomorrow, one to turn off the emulator on my bike and two to re-activate the tracking 

devices. It wasnôt like I could really hide from them for long, not with the job. But I would have 

2 hours where they wouldnôt know where to find me.  

Something to get them thinking. Itôs not quite what I wanted, hell for now its not much more 

than counting coup, but if theyôre going to play with me, Iôm going to play back.  
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Week Eight - Recovery 

Thursday August 10th 2056 - Hook 

I spent the better part of the morning making odd stops here and there, letting Fin get a handle on 

my tails, and giving him the opportunity to make sure there werenôt any other devices. He found 

one of course, worked into the fabric of one of my tokens. The one from the Warthogs. He very 

carefully worked it free of the token and left it next to it. It meant when the signals died, Iôd have 

to ditch it on something nearby, preferably something moving.  

It also meant that they were either taking extra precautions, or thereôd been a third tail. But it also 

meant we needed to change plans and that meant involving a third party. Since they hadnôt been 

able to follow me to council island it seemed like a pretty good place to meet, but I hated 

bringing Jonathan, and possibly my new family in on this.  

I shouldnôt have worried. Jonathan was more than happy to oblige, and get involved. The only 

questions remaining were: 1) would we pull it off and 2) would Officer Smiley be there.  

The answer to both was a resounding óYESô. At 2:30, the light on my transmitter went off. I was 

next to a bus at the time, and was able to attach the third tracking device to that. Then it was a 

just a simple matter of getting out of site.  

Fin gave me the all clear on the car and the bike, but number three weôd just have to take on 

faith. Iôm not really trying to get away from them, just to push a few buttons. Hopefully now, 

theyôll make a mistake and tip somebody off.  

Fin continued to track my pursuers, while I met with Officer Smiley and Jonathan and gave them 

a run down of what had been going on. Officer Smiley nodded.  

ñIôd been wondering what was going on,ò he admitted.  

Jonathan merely smiled. I think he really liked the idea of hunting the hunters, but he wasnôt too 

crazy about me staying visible. This from the same man who let me play bait to a bunch of organ 

leggers, go figure.  

At least this time, Iôm doing more than playing bait, Iôm doing something about it. Jonathan 

suggested I get Andrews involved, but if this case is leading where I think it is, heôs going to end 

up with the case, and I want his involvement in it to be clean. Itôs the only way we can make it 

stickï whatever it may be.  

We finished the meeting and Jonathan ósmuggledô me across the border in the back of a truck. 

When he stopped to unload in an alleyway, I rolled out, and headed to work.  
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I was keyed up, no way not to be and dealing with Walter was enough to set anybody on edge. 

He decided that he was going to lay down the law, as if he hadnôt tried Monday. He told me no 

ówet behind the earsô rookie is going to make him look bad.  

I took a deep breath, Iôd pretty much had enough of him too. ñIôve got four words for you,ò I told 

him, my eyes blazing. With seven years experience in emergency med, Iôm hardly a rookie.  

He waited, a sneer still on his face.  

He asked for it. I held up my fingers and counted off as I said, ñJohns Hopkins Shock Trauma!ò 

Itôs where I cut my teeth, the oldest, best in the field, the people who pioneered medivac and a lot 

of emergency procedures that are still the standard, and I told him as much.  

ñJust because Iôm new here, doesnôt mean Iôm fresh out of school,ò I added as he stared at me.  

He kinda looked like a guppy, trying to get air as he stared at me. I had to smile at that. Yeah, the 

kidôs got some experience all right.  

Things actually calmed down a little after that. I think olô Walter may be reevaluating his 

opinion, but he still hates the idea of the motorcycle medic. He muttered something about it 

being too flashy, all show, no real purpose. I think they felt the same way about medivac when it 

started. Gee, Iôm a pioneer!  

Now if I can just get these people off my tail. By the end of shift I was ready to hit the hay, but I 

still had work to do. Oddly enough, Walter says heôs looking forward to working with me again 

tonight.  

I rode back to Council Island and we went over my bike again. It seems to have picked up 

another device and a watcher spirit who Jonathan politely asked to leave.  

So, weôve got people tracking me, following me magically, time for me to get the records for the 

accident. It wasnôt hard. People at the station have gotten used to seeing me, then it was a case of 

going down to records and getting it from Saunders. He raised an eyebrow, but some chocolate 

cream filleds took care of that.  

Then I dropped in on Dr. Chen. He was a bit surprised, but more than happy to give me the 

toxicology reports on the three men from the van, the truck driver and Lynwood case.  

After that I went home and sacked out for a little while. We took turns sleeping and going over 

the information on the three men from the van, the shooting of the ganger, whoôs name was 

Ritchie, and the truck that was involved in the accident.  

It made for some interesting reading.  
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Friday 11th August 2056 - Line 

The morning was split between reviewing the information at hand, debating it, and getting what 

sleep we could. Breaking our surveillance of my tails probably wasnôt the best thing we could 

do, but it served the over all planïkeep them guessing.  

When I left for work, Fin followed me and Officer Smiley made it a point of making equipment 

inspections on anybody following me. The final bit of protection came from Jonathan who was 

watching over me magically.  

The bike had been in the garage all night with some of the locals watching it. Fin gave it one 

final going over before I headed back to work. It was clear. I couldnôt see my guardians watching 

out for me, but knowing they were there made me feel a lot better. It also gave me time to think, 

and I had a lot to think about.  

As the shift progressed I started thinking about the men in the van and Ritchie. According to the 

M.E.ôs reports, the 4 shooting victims had been shot posthumously. The bullet, being slow 

enough, did massive quantities of tissue damage but kept most of the gray matter inside the scull.  

It had also been completely redundant.  

Reading over Dr. Chenôs notes I noticed that with the first three cases the weight of what 

remained of their brains were all well under average.  

Their blood work-up was also unusual: the concentration of chemicals normally released during 

injury, even death were abnormally low, and some chemicals found normally were non-existent. 

The two that should have been found and werenôt were Superoxide Dismutase, an enzyme that 

breaks down Superoxides which causes aging and the Beta Endorphins.  

The thing was, Richieôs readings were all normal. Normal tissue mass, normal volumesï normal 

everything.  

That did not make sense at all. He had been killed the same way, and yet the results were very 

different. It was wrong enough that I spent the better part of the night musing over it.  

We had at least 5 motorcycle calls in the evening and it wasnôt until things slowed down and 

Walter commented on how óyouôd never get me to do that, I swear it looks like people are 

actually gunning for you,ô that I really began to get paranoid again.  

Now mind you, Walter still insisted on a full inventory and complete wipe down of the truck 

after each call, but at least he realized that I had to do the same for the bike when I took it out. 

Not that I inventoried. No, I pulled replacements for the supplies I used and made sure 

everything was functional.  

It was a long shift, but the mystery still kept me keyed up enough that the exhaustion didnôt 

really hit until the end of the shift.  
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After work it was another trip to Council Island, since I was relatively safe there. It also meant I 

could meet with Jonathan and tell him whatôd happened and he could relay it to the others.  

I spent the morning there again reviewing what information we had and what the others told me 

about the day. Fin agreed that it looked like several of my ónear missesô were intentional.  

Jonathan suggested I go with him for a jog around the island to relax me, and I jokingly said 

something about an óendorphin rush.ô Thatôs when the pieces started falling into place.  

I had some research to do, but it would have to wait until after the run, and a good morningôs 

sleep.  

 

Saturday August 12th 2056 - Sinker 

It was almost 4:30 when I woke up. Jonathan had decided I needed the sleep, and its not like I 

could really argue with him on the matter. I have to admit, I felt a lot better with a full dayôs 

sleep.  

Today we repeated the process, still mulling over what we had, but now we had information 

from Fin and Officer Smiley who were concentrating on finding out as much about my tails as 

they could. They both managed to get some pretty interesting, if contradictory information on 

Daniels and his partner, Cummings.  

Within the department they were the golden boys, solving some of the most difficult cases in 

local history. They were given free rein to investigate cases to the fullest with little to no 

supervision because of their record.  

The streets told a very different story. If you were somebody they considered worthwhile, they 

were your best friends. Theyôd protect you, help you out if you needed it-- perfect gentlemen. If 

you were a ónobodyô they were your worst nightmare. They would hound you until you either 

gave them what they wanted or left. Either way, they got what they wanted. There were rumors 

about them throwing money around along with their badges to get what they wanted, and a lot of 

the times, their collars were people who couldnôt have done what they were accused of doing, 

but there was no one to back them up.  

Two very different stories, with the truth somewhere in the middle, Iôm sure, but it makes me 

wonder if theyôve classified me as a nobody or a somebody. It made quite a difference in the way 

we handled things. If I was a nobody, then they were waiting for something, probably using me 

as bait. If I was ósomebodyô then they were most likely protecting me.  

The third possibility was that the jury was still out and they werenôt sure if I was someone to 

protect or to hound. Either way, theyôre in the middle of this.  
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Fin finally gave me what he had on ValenzBioChem and it made for some very interesting 

reading. They had developed some of the best anti pain and anti aging pharmaceuticals available 

on the market, but they hadnôt rested on the laurels. Instead theyôd continued their research, 

using the residuals from their previous successes to fund their research into more natural 

methods of pain control.  

He also had some of the details on the chemicals Ray and I had come into contact with. It didnôt 

mean much to him, but it meant a whole lot to me. He also had the name of the doctor whoôd 

done the clinical studies on it, Dr. Mitchell Rivero. I wasnôt sure why, but the name stuck in my 

mind, but then, there was the chemical itself-- impressive.  

It was originally designed to enhance the bodyôs ability to make certain chemicals that are 

naturally beneficial, mostly endorphins. It was also designed to inhibit the creation of 

endorphinase the enzyme that breaks down endorphins, thereby trying to create a steady flow of 

the pain inhibiting, euphoria inducing, chemicals to the entire body. The problem was, the 

chemical ended up working too well.  

It triggered the production of both Beta Endorphins and Superoxide Dismutase, but there was 

nothing to stimulate its release. The chemicals would remain in ridiculously high concentrations, 

actually crystalizing in some cases, until they were either absorbed back into the system, or were 

released with the introduction of a stimulus to the hypothalamus. In those cases, the test subject 

died.  

Needless to say, the research was halted, the chemical was disposed of and the notes were sealed 

in the vault, never to be used again. Yeah, right, I should be so lucky.  

So now I know Iôve got this time bomb rolling around in my head, just waiting to go off, 

realizing just how seriously messed up this whole situation is for everybody involved.  

Me, Ray and the guys in the van, weôd all been exposed, and if my guesses were right, somebody 

triggered the release, and collected it up from the first three guys. The question of ówhyô arrived 

at about the same time as the answer.  

The hormones werenôt person specific. You could use these pure, concentrated doses of 

Endorphins as a pain killer or a euphoricï or the Superxide Dismutase as the ulimate anti-

oxidant... a youth serum. Chills went up and down my spine like an alarm, things were a lot 

worse, and yet better, because at least now I knew the why, now it was a question of stopping it 

from going any further, but something told me it had.  

I thought about Ray, and myselfï how dangerous this all was. How severely twisted the situation 

was. Four dead that we know of. Four... I stopped for a moment as I realized another piece of the 

puzzle: Ritchie had never been exposed to the chemical.  

Then the alarms really started sounding. Riviero... River... Rivers... Doc...  
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Trina had used Ritchieôs chart to do my blood work-up, but the name wasnôt his on the chart 

either. Heôd given an assumed name and weôd used that chart. It did have his time of arrival and 

he could have been tracked through that. Still, Trina had kept the work in house, doing it all 

herself, so only people who worked at the clinic would have had access to the information. Me, 

Trina... and Doc Rivers.  

It would have been easy for him to trace Ritchie by his arrival timeï especially if he had 

someone watching the clinic. I felt drained when I realized that, and I could tell Fin wasnôt 

pleased when he heard the news. In being careful, weôd set Ritchie up without even realizing it.  

It was a good thing I was on duty, or I probably would have been up on assault charges. 

Fortunately or not, it was a busy night and by the end of the shift I was exhausted.  

 

Sunday August 13th 2056 - Bad medicine 

I think we were all a bit dazed. Weôd been ready for almost anything, but not this. Not a doctor 

killing his patients. It was completely unthinkable to me, but I donôt think Fin was all that 

surprised. Still, no matter how we tried to explain it, or reason it out, everything kept pointing 

right back to Doc Rivers. It just fit too wellï way too well.  

There was no discussion, no debate, no question. I headed for the clinic as soon as I finished 

work. We werenôt quite sure exactly what to do, but we knew we had to do something soon, the 

key would be getting Trina to a safe place before we confronted Rivers. There was no way of 

knowing what heôd do.  

We were right. Officer Smiley and Jonathan kept a watch as Fin and I went into the clinic. He 

was with Trina, I called her out into the lobby, hoping sheôd come alone. I hated doing this to 

her, but if Rivers was doing what we all figured he was doing, she was in big danger. When 

Trina came out, she knew something was up. Unfortunately, so did Rivers.  

He seemed calm enough, until he pulled out his gun and leveled it at Trinaôs head. ñI told them 

you were too suspicious, that we should have harvested you a long time ago.ò  

His words made me shiver. ñEspecially after you pulled that trick with the Smithers boy.ò  

The Smithers boy, Ritchie. ñYou and your band of ghouls did that,ò I growled resignedly.  

They had. Heôd pointed him out and theyôd done the rest of the work. But they didnôt get what 

they wanted. Not from him, and they werenôt going to get it from me, not if I had anything to say 

about it.  

As I looked at him I realized something else. My eyes widened in shock and disgust. ñHow many 

others... have you... exposed to this wonder drug?ò  
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He smiled, drawing Trina closer. He was using her as a shield between us. ñMore than you 

think,ò he taunted. ñThatôs one of the joys of working in clinics in the poorer sections of town. 

More people nobodyôs going to miss.ò  

It didnôt take Trina long to catch on to at least some of what was going on, and when she did, 

there was no stopping her. She slammed her foot down on Riversô instep, causing him to loosen 

his grip. Then, she grabbed his gun arm and flipped him over her shoulder, twisting his arm until 

he lost his grip on the gun. Then she had him in an arm-lock.  

ñWhat did you DO!?ò she demanded.  

He was trying to opt for pleading the Fifth Amendment, but Fin took that moment to point out 

that there were no police in the vicinity. Just the people heôd used and betrayed.  

He remained silent, but I found his notes. They were quite thorough. Names and dates of the 

óexposureô, a line though the name when theyôd been óharvestedô and a red star to indicate that 

the person was prime for the taking.  

My name was on the list, as was Mrs. MacAdders, several of the people Iôd met at the diner and 

Trina herself. Guess he didnôt want to leave any witnesses.  

We knew he wasnôt in on this alone, but he was trying very adamantly to deny everything. When 

it was clear he wasnôt going to co-operate with us, I went out and walked over to Daniels where 

he was watching from concealment.  

This was the tricky part, because if they were dirty, if they were the ones working with Rivers, 

we were all going to be in danger, but we had to know.  

Thankfully, they werenôt. Theyôd been watching me, trying to decide my angle on the this whole 

mess; trying to classify me as someone to protect or someone to use. I think the juryôs still out on 

that one.  

They rounded up Rivers, but he was confident now that he was in the hands of the police that he 

was safe. That his cohorts would bail him out.  

I wonder how a night visit from Marioôs Terrors will change his attitude.  

There was a lot of picking up to do, and we all knew it wasnôt over yet. There were still at least 

two more people whoôd been following me, there were Riversô people and the current list of 

people who needed to be protected. They all had to be dealt with.  

I dropped in on Ray, whoôd nicely barricaded himself in his apartment. When he read the details 

on the drug, and whatôd been going on, he agreed that what Iôd done was probably for the best.  

At least Iôd been able to protect him. That was some consolation, but, as I said, it wasnôt over 

yet. Not by a long shot.  
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I spent most of my shift down at police headquarters filing reports and supplying the details. 

Trina was busy on her end, doing damage control down at the clinic. Forget Riversô having to 

deal with Mario, I think Trinaôs opting to be her own Terror with the man.  

 

Monday August 14th 2056 - Crawling from the wreckage. 

Well, it took us most of Sunday night to get everything straightened out. The police couldnôt pin 

any of the murders on Rivers, and he was so smug about that.  

He wasnôt quite as smug when the crimes against humanity, illegal use of a controlled substance 

and human experimentation charges were leveled. Poor baby didnôt qualify for parole.  

As for bailing him out, his óassociates,ô opted for a more permanent solution. Fortunately or not, 

depending on how you look at it, they were denied their solution as well. At the very least it 

provided Rivers with a very interesting wake up call.  

The person I felt the worst for was Trina. She trusted him, not only with her heart, but with her 

patients, her family, her people and he betrayed them all.  

At some point during the process of filing forms and getting the updates at the precinct house, I 

fell asleep. Everyone must have figured that I needed it, and I probably did, but I did not need 

what happened next.  

I canôt tell if it was a dream, a vision, or if somebody spiked my coffee, but bits and pieces of it 

have been coming back to me all day.  

I was in a room, it looked like one of the interrogation rooms. There were three people there with 

me. There was a woman, a man, and some big bulking form that I couldnôt assign a race or 

gender. The woman did all the talking.  

I could make out her form against the bright lights, but not much more. Like I said, its only 

coming through in flashes. I remember the woman telling me, how the men in the van and even 

the boy were óparasitesô and that now they had at least served society.  

She said something about sparing Ray and me because we were productive members of society, 

and how it all worked out. I can remember objecting, or at least trying to, but I donôt think I did 

more than nod.  

I remember as she left, she said something about óweôll discuss this more another time.ô  

All I do know for sure was when they left me to sleep, I was on the left side of the door. When I 

woke up, I was on the right.  

That convinced me more than anything that I really wanted to go home and sleep.  
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Tuesday August 15th, 2056 - Damage Control 

Last night seemed even worse than the night Marioôs terrors hit. At least with them there was a 

sense of continuity, yeah, I was trapped in it, but at least it was complete. This time my dreams 

were haunted by nightmarish flashes of images of the woman and her companions.  

I was beginning to think there was a lot more to these glimpses than just the hallucinations of a 

tired mind. When I showed up at the clinic Trina was going through the records and contacting 

the people on the list. The police were handling the people from other clinics, but these were her 

people and she felt it was best for them to hear about it from her.  

She looked up at me when I came in and I could see the numbness in her eyes. This had taken a 

lot out of her. I tried to be encouraging, but I hadnôt really gotten enough rest for that.  

We sat and talked for a couple of hours as she waited for the people sheôd called to show up. I 

stayed with her, since I was a part of this, and probably the reason Rivers had come to Lynwood. 

Letôs face it, most of his óvolunteersô were people from poorer areas of town, people nobody 

would miss and that doesnôt really match Lynwoodôs profile. Most folks here are middle class, 

but then again, weôre close enough to a few squats in the area that we do get patients from places 

like Keelerôs corner.  

He did óexposeô folks from out of Lynwood, but he also went for a lot of people here: people I 

knew and cared about.  

I was kinda mulling over that when Trina laid into me.  

ñYou are not and will not take responsibility for that manôs actions!ò She yelled. ñHe used these 

people, he use me, and he used you, but he was the one doing it!ò  

I nodded, but I was still thinking about Ritchie and the people on Riversô list. I could tell Trina 

was too.  

Around two I left and dropped in on Dr. Chen. Andrews was waiting for me again, as were 

Daniels and Cummings. That kind of surprised me. I mean, Andrews, yeah heôs been here before 

to give me the details on his current case load, but the spook squad...  

I really have to watch it though, all three of them could read my expression. On the bright side, 

Daniels and Cummings found it slightly humorous. Well, Daniels did, Cummings is still going 

for the stern, bad cop look.  

Nothing had really turned up, but at least now the tails are goneï I think.  
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As Dr. Chen was showing me around his case load, I had another flash. Someone carrying me 

over to the table and setting me in a chair. I heard the words: ñTen Minutesò then a faint buzzing 

sound.  

I snapped out of it as Dr. Chen touched my arm. ñJess?ò he asked. ñAre you all right?ò  

He could tell I was startled out of something, but I really couldnôt explain it to him. I stayed for a 

little while, and then let Dr. Chen get back to his business.  

Afterwards I kind of drifted around the station, and then made my way back home. I had dinner 

with Trina and Mario, but I was still tense. Between the lack of sleep, the stress of the last few 

days, and the nagging little flashes of memory, itôs no wonder.  

Hopefully Iôll settle down some and get some sleep tonight. 

 

Wednesday August 16th 2056 - Weighing the odds. 

Sleep: that was the plan at least, but my mind seemed to have other ideas. I didnôt sleep well. I 

didnôt really have any detailed dreams, or anything, I just couldnôt sleep right. Any time Iôd drift 

off, Iôd have another flash. Most of the time there wasnôt even an image involved, just feelings. 

Again, nothing concrete.  

Needless to say, I wasnôt doing all that great when I went to see the Walkers. I was feeling bad 

ócause with everything happening, Iôd avoided them, afraid of bringing them into the middle of 

something.  

Mr. Walker understood and even appreciated that, and I think the fact that I was at least working 

with Jonathan mollified Mrs. Walker. However, saying Mike was angry with me would be an 

understatement.  

That lasted until I had another one of those flashes: I think he saw something in my eyes. I know 

Mrs. Walker saw it. One minute I was sitting at the table, the next... a light caught my glass and 

was reflected into my eyes. I froze, images of the bright lights in my eyes and the woman talking 

played through my mind.  

Next I know Iôm laying down on the couch and Mrs. Walker is hovering over me. It was almost 

like the night Iôd met her. I looked up at her. I remember trying to say something, but only 

managing to groan.  

She just patted my shoulder and told me not to worry about it. She was gentle and patient, 

waiting until I was ready to talk to her, but even when I wasï there was nothing to tell her, not 

really. The images were confusing, but what I found even more disturbing was the lack of 

anything more than flashes.  
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When Iôd finally relaxed, Mrs. Walker began guiding me back to the station, back to happened as 

I slept, or thought I was sleeping. Iôm not sure if remembering the full incident is more 

comforting than the flashes, but at least I know the whole thing now.  

The images arenôt any clearer. The woman, the man and the hulking figureï they remain 

shadowy figures, but their message...her message...  

She talked about the victims, told me that they were ónon-productive members of society.ô That 

she had given them the chance to give back to the community rather than to take. That, by paying 

the ultimate price, they had been redeemed.  

She made it sound like it was a great thing she was doing, but she was lying-- lying to herself, 

and to me. She told me how theyôd protected Ray and me in the hospital, changing our records 

electronically so that nobody else would try to harvest us.  

óHarvest,ô that word again. It still makes me shiver.  

We were productive members of society, and therefore to be protected, until I saw too much and 

began to grow suspicious. Then I became a detriment, if not to society, then to her plan. She told 

me she was giving me a second chance, that if I let it go, she would let me and the others go.  

She offered a simple trade off, in her perfect little world. She didnôt say she would stop, just that 

she would leave us alone. I cannot let it go.  

Its not in my nature, and yet... Trina, Ray, Mrs. MacAddersïthe others. Are their lives worth the 

nameless, faceless others that will fall in their place?  

Mrs. Walker knew me and understood my dilemma. She called Jonathan. If the woman could 

ótalk to meô as she did in the police station, there was no way the Star would be able to protect 

me. The power of the spells and the chemicals that had been used on me, were too powerful and 

too well organized.  

I would have to trust Jonathan to handle this.  

Problem is, the woman will be calling on me again. I know this much. When she does, she will 

know what I know. The key, for now, is to comply.  

Even when the nightmare is overï it isnôt over.  
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Week Nine - Trouble 

Thursday August 17th 2056 - Sanity Check 

It feels strange, I'd finally taken control again, done something with it, and now I was 

surrendering it almost as quickly. Still after what Jonathan and the Walkers found out, and what I 

managed to remember, its probably for the best.  

They agreed with me that the woman behind all of this must not be allowed to get away with 

this, but they also agree with each other, that I should let them handle things. I started to object: 

tell them that this was my battle, but Jonathan just smiled and shook his head.  

"No Jess," he told me gently. "This is a family matter now... one of ours has been threatened."  

I gave him a worried look. "Who... who did they..."  

He chuckled at my cluelessness on the matter, then kissed my forehead. "Don't change little 

sister," he told me and then he left the room. I could hear him in the other room talking to Mr. 

and Mrs Walker about the situation.  

Mr. and Mrs. Walker, his parents, and now mine as well. His gesture was so much like Matt-- I 

wasn't sure what to do. Part of me was offended that they were planning on fighting my battle, 

without including me, but then sanity prevailed. This was a case where the less I knew, the better 

it was for everyone involved, But I didn't have to like it.  

And I didn't!  

Work was actually a welcomed bit of structured insanity that put everything back in perspective. 

We had enough cases to keep us busy most of the evening. It was a standard case of do what you 

can when you can, and don't sweat what you can't control.  

Its kinda been the watchword since I got here, I just have trouble listening to it.  

It was nice to be working with Ray again. Walter may have relaxed a little around me, but all 

that meant was that at best I was semi accepted at as a junior partner, and at worst, as a necessary 

evil. Of course, all I had to say was 'Johns Hopkins' and he'd let up on me again. Think I'll have 

to call back to the guys and have them send me a jacket in his size.  

Anyway, looks like we got another call.  

 

Friday August 18th 2056 - Cat Kisses 
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Busy day, busy night. I woke up with Taco sitting on my chest proclaiming that there was no cat 

food in his bowl and demanding that I do something about it. Of course, he didnôt help any by 

continuing to stand on my chest and meow, and when I finally got up, he seemed to be doing his 

best to trip me on the way to the kitchen.  

Maxwell on the other hand sat regally by the bowl waiting. When I finally managed to get food 

into both their bowls, Maxwell blinked slowly at me and then dug into the food. ñBlowing cat 

kisses,ò Alan had called it.  

I tried not to think about him or the others as I got ready for work. It was hard not to. Iôve been 

here almost two monthsï two, and Iôm no closer to finding out what had happened than I was 

before. Ah well, I knew it would take time when I came here. Still Iôd hoped to have found 

something, something only a sister could find...  

I looked at the all too familiar portrait of the four of us and down at the cats. ñThey didnôt 

happen to tell you two anything did they?ò  

Maxwell looked up at me, made a ógertô noise as he blew a cat kiss at me. I chuckled as I got 

dressed and tried to see what was happening in the world around me. Then it was grab a shower 

and head to work.  

Work was... well work. We had a rape case to deal with. Standard procedure is to have one, non-

threatening, member of the team stay with the victim, give them comfort and support and see 

them through all the testing and exams that are required. In this case, it meant me.  

I stayed with the guy, convinced him to go to the hospital and get checked out. He was too 

messed up physically not to. It was not an easy time, it never is.  

Thing is how do you explain to someone whoôs been through that ï its not about sex, its about 

power and control? And how do you tell a guy that its not somehow worse when it happens to a 

man? Itôs the same deal, same problem, same aftermath, same fallout.  

ñWhat will my girlfriend think?ò That was his main concern. Personally, I figure if she holds it 

against him, sheôs got some serious issues to deal with and heôs better off without her. But again, 

its not my place to say anything, just be there, be comforting, be consistent. Although I did 

promise to deck anybody who said anything. That at least got a smile out of him.  

Heôll be okay with some counseling, but itôs a hard thing to go through.  

Even with what Iôve been through with Aaronï yeah, he tried to kill me, which I guess is the 

ultimate power trip, but I still havenôt fallen victim to him and a lot of that was plain dumb luck.  

That reminded me that I need to check on his status with the guys back in óBalmerô. Cases like 

that one are emotionally draining. Seeing people victimized is never easy, guess thatôs another 

part of why I do what I do. I see them through a crisis and hopefully get them where they need to 
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be. Still, sometimes, I wish there werenôt so many people giving me folks to help. Thereôs 

enough freaky stuff out there without adding to it.  

At least the visible tails are gone and my life seems to be un-freaking. No worries, Iôm sure that 

will change too.  

 

Saturday August 19th 2056 - Instamatic 

Know what I said about un-freaking, well, forget it. When I got up to get ready for work 

everything seemed normal enough, but when I got out to my bike... there was another token on it. 

Now I admit, there are a lot of tokens on the bike, and I could probably remove half of them 

since I wonôt be back in Baltimore anytime soon, but I know each and everyone of them, and this 

was not one of the ones Iôd put there.  

I saw it as I strapped my kit, and bagel down and got ready to head towards work. Needless to 

say I gave the bike a serious once over after that. Nothing else had changed. None of the other 

tokens had been touched. I took it off, inspected itï nothing. I even ran the detector Fin had left 

with me over the bike, but there was nothing new.  

As I finally put the token back and prepared to leave, one of the local kids came over, a big grin 

on his face.  

I watched expectantly as he gave me a conspiratorial smile. ñWe have a truce with the Night 

Hunters... Doc Rivers got some of their people too. They asked us to give that to you.ò  

I could tell by his smile, heôd watched me check over each of the other tokens. I think it amused 

him, but he was also a bit surprised that I knew what each of them were and where theyôd come 

from.  

I nodded. ñThanks.ò  

ñYou be careful out there Doc,ò he told me softly. ñThere are a lot of people been asking about 

you lately.ò  

My eyes widened slightly as he studied me again. ñSo this is more than just a social call,ò I 

commented.  

ñYeah,ò he answered. ñTheyôve been hanging out, watching mostly showed up two days ago, 

askinô questions like cops, flashing lotsa creds. They talk like you, outta towners. We chased emô 

out, but theyôll be back.ò  

ñThanks,ò I said again.  



 

A Year in Seattle  94  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

ñWe look after our own,ò he answered. His voice was rather gruff, but I knew that meant me. ñIt 

true you nearly killed a guy before you came here?ò  

My eyes widened. Aaron. Was he somehow behind this? He was supposed to be locked up on 

parole violation and assault charges, but that didnôt mean he couldnôt hire somebody to do 

something.  

ñActually he tried to kill me,ò I answered, trying to cover my surprise. ñAnd the cops back home 

knew that.ò  

He nodded. ñYou want, weôll deal with them,ò he said in earnest.  

I know my response was probably a little too fast, but I didnôt think they needed any extra 

trouble and I knew how theyôd deal with these folks. At least he seemed to understand. ñDonôt 

forget Doc, weôre here if you need usï just like youôre there for us.ò  

That said, he drifted back down the street.  

I had hoped that would be enough to keep the fates busy, but of course, my life was getting 

uncomplicated so something had to come up.  

It came in the form of an accident. The damage on the car indicated that someone had hit it 

repeatedly, probably trying to run the driver, a 34 year old woman, off the road. As usual, since 

she had to be extricated, I stayed with her as Ray put together the extrication plan.  

It was good to be working with him again. Ray and I donôt order each other around we work 

together and thatôs it. While Ray discussed the cutting required, I continued to check the 

womanôs vitals and try to keep her awake.  

She was trembling and worried and I did my best to comfort her. When she asked me for her 

cigarettes, I tried to tell her she couldnôt smoke and she became more adamant. In an effort to 

calm her down I followed her instructions.  

Inside her purse was a camera, a press id and her cigarettes. She nodded as I pulled them out. 

ñInsideò  

I looked at her worriedly and checked her pulse again, but she pushed my hand away. ñInside!ò 

She insisted.  

I opened up the pack and found two film disks tucked inside. ñKeep them safe,ò she told me. 

ñBig... very big..ò she told me. I nodded carefully putting them in my storage unit and closed it 

up. Once Iôd stowed them away she nodded.  

After the call and the standard clean-up and prep, I slipped one out and slotted it. The first 

pictures were normal enough. They were covert pictures, but nothing really out of the ordinary. 
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People coming and going from an office building. Then I recognized one of the men as one of 

Andrewsô missing persons.  

He was walking into what looked like a normal office, but then there were pictures from inside. 

It was setup like a medical exam room. There were pictures of him on an operating table, and 

then, with his chest open, not cut, but opened, like a cabinet. He was couriering something in his 

chest cavity.  

I had no idea what it was, but it was obviously important enough that someone had tried to kill 

the woman whoôd taken the picturesï and now I had them.  

There was no hesitation, no big moral debate, I knew who to take them to.  

I stopped by the precinct house on the way home and surprised the desk Sargent when I 

announced that I was here to see Andrews. He even objected that it was just Sunday morning. I 

grinned and took the visitor ID and clipped it on. ñNo rest for the wicked,ò I told him with a 

lopsided grin.  

When I told Andrews what I had he nodded. He was very interested in the pictures and the 

patient. When he finished looking at them, he tossed me one of his new case files.  

Homicide: Lydia Greenwood ï the reporter.  

I nodded. ñFigures.ò  

ñJess...ò He called. I knew he was trying to warn me, but we both knew it was pointless.  

ñWhat can I say, Iôm a trouble magnet,ò I told him with a shrug.  

At least when I left the station I wasnôt followed. I headed over to Council Island and checked on 

Mike before going home and grabbing some shut-eye.  

 

Sunday August 20th 2056 - Familiarity  

The day was rather normal, except that I noticed the two men Iôd been warned about. They were 

poking around the diner. I ended up skipping breakfast, but I shouldnôt have worried about it too 

much: there was a bagel waiting for me on my bike. Iôm beginning to wonder if everybody in the 

neighborhood is watching out for me.  

Lord knows I need it.  

Iôm not entirely sure what these people are up to, especially since its not like Iôm hiding. Judging 

by the reports Iôm getting from the gang they seem to be trying to discredit me. Asking lots of 

leading questions, making it look like I was running from something. Of course, after two 
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months, everybody here knows me well enough that if theyôre suspicious, theyôre going to ask 

me about it, not speculate.  

Not that I think Mario would let them, and Mario is family to just about everybody here.  

By the time I got to the station, George and Walter were out on a call and I couldnôt do anything 

except prep my bike and think.  

How much did the people in the neighborhood really know me? How well did I really know 

them? It didnôt really matter, but those questions led to the real one ï how much did I really 

know about my brothers.  

I mean, I know that Matt likes butter on his toast and Alan snores, butï I had no idea what they 

were really doing here. I mean, I assumed that Matt was teaching martial arts, and that Alan was 

probably studying at the university, but I hadnôt found any sign of him every registering at the 

school. Andyï I just assumed he was sponging off the boys, trying to find himself.  

Tells you how much I know.  

George and Walter came stumbling in about an hour after shift change. Walter being Walter was 

already starting his clean-up and inventory when Ray and I took over. We shooed them out, 

telling them to get home and get some sleep. I could tell that George was all for our taking over 

on the scrub-down (and inventory) but Walter seemed convinced that he had to finish what heôd 

started. We ended up compromising and sharing the duties.  

Almost as soon as we reported the unit as in service, we were on the road. As soon as we were 

finished with one call and clean up, we were on another. It ran that way for most of the shift. It 

was bad enough that I just crashed at the station house for a few hours before heading out.  

I stopped by records and split a half a dozen doughnuts with Saunders. (His four to my two). 

There was still nothing new on the boysô case, but at least I had breakfast. Or was it a late night 

snack? I really need to get my schedule together.  

 

Monday August 21st 2056 - The anti-scam 

Once again, I was planning on sleeping in, but somehow Iôm beginning to think that Iôm not 

meant to sleep on Mondays. Iôd finished feeding the cats and reading the morning papers when 

the phone rang.  

I didnôt recognize the voice on the other end and their face was hidden in the shadows, but they 

certainly seemed to know me.  

ñJess? Jess Miller?ò the person asked, his voice was tense almost worried.  
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ñYes?ò I answered evenly, trying to figure out whoôd be calling me. If the person had known me, 

then he wouldôve known that Iôd be sleeping about now.  

ñLook, I canôt talk long. Your brothers are in trouble. They asked me to call you. They need 

money..ò  

He was moving fast, too fast and I knew it. He was telling me what I wanted to hear, but he 

wasnôt really saying anything.  

ñTell me where they are and Iôll take it to them,ò I answered evenly.  

ñNo,ò he answered quickly. ñIts too dangerous. Thatôs why they asked me to contact you. Iôll get 

it to them, but I need you to get as much as you can without drawing attention. Meet me at 

Willyôs Bar down in Kingsgate. Two hours.ò  

He hung up before I could say anything, so I did the only thing I could do. I spoke into the 

phone. ñDid you guys get that?ò I asked and then hung up the phone.  

It rang a minute later.  

ñJess,ò the voice was terse and familiar. Then the picture came in, it was Daniels.  

ñYeah,ò I answered. ñIs it just me or did that sound like a setup if ever there was one?ò  

ñYou arenôt planning on going there are you?ò he objected.  

ñWell, that depends on whether or not youôre planning on sending anyone there to watch over 

me.ò  

I could hear him hesitate. ñIts not our jurisdiction,ò he answered.  

ñAw, come on,ò I objected. ñYou guys have carte-blanche.ò  

I could hear him talking to Cummings and was surprised when Cummings took over the call. 

ñWe canôt guarantee your safety,ò he stated tensely.  

ñYeah, but are you going to be there?ò I asked with a smile.  

His scowl gave me all the answer I needed.  

ñOkay, Iôll be there,ò I told him. ñThere was a guy running this sort of scam back east, sounds 

way too much like his approach.ò  

He nodded, still scowling. ñThink he moved out here, weôve had several attacks on citizens,ò he 

admitted gruffly.  
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It was interesting to me: Cummings really wanted this guy. ñOkay, tell me what you want.ò  

ñWeôll put a unit on your apartment in case heôs just trying to get you out of the place, meet us 

at...ò again there was a pause. ñThe Quickmart on 78th Ave,ò he finished.  

They were waiting for me by the drink dispenser. Daniels started taping a wire to me as 

Cummings told me what they had. It was weird working with these two, especially since it was 

what, a week ago that they were following me around making my life an interesting situation?  

ñPlay naive, but not stupid,ò Cummings warned, forgetting to scowl. ñAnd whatever you do, 

donôt let him take you anywhere.ò  

With their instructions I headed into Renton. Admittedly it wasnôt my choice of places to go, but 

it was ideal for meeting someone who was trying to not be noticed, and to avoid police 

intervention.  

I took a seat in one of the booths and waited, trying very hard not to watch everything. Like 

Cummings said, I had to play naive but not stupid. When the waitress came I ordered a glass of 

wine. I watched as she placed the order with the bartender and then brought it over to me. As she 

served me, the man I was supposed to meet entered and headed towards my booth. I couldnôt 

help but notice the look the bartender gave him as he moved by.  

Something told me I didnôt want to drink the wine. I picked up the glass and pretended to take a 

nervous sip.  

After he introduced himself he gave a quick furtive look around and then sat down.  

ñThe boys,ò I asked, sounding hopeful. ñHow are they?ò  

ñTheyôre fine,ò he assured me, looking around again. ñThereôs no time, did you bring the 

money?ò  

I shook my head. ñNo,ò I answered, watching his reaction carefully. He was not very happy 

about that, and yet, it was almost as if it meant something more to him.  

If he was the same person as the guy whoôd been running the scam in Baltimore then, I knew that 

I was in danger of losing more than my money. Assaults were another part of the his M.O. and 

the look heôd given the bartender made me suspect my drink as well.  

ñLook, every moment weôre together, its more dangerous for you...ò  

I nodded. ñI... just needed to know they were alright,ò I told him.  

He looked at me for a minute and then nodded. ñTheyôre fine... but we have to get them the 

money...ò  



 

A Year in Seattle  99  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

I nodded and pulled out a credstick. ñTheyôll know the password,ò I told him with a smile as I 

pretended to take another sip of my wine.  

It was obvious he wasnôt expecting that. He smiled, suddenly forgetting that he had to leave 

quickly. It was then I knew there was something in the wine. I smiled at him, my eyes looking 

slightly less fixed.  

ñDo you have more money?ò he asked softly.  

I smiled and nodded. His smile grew, sure that I had had enough of whatever the bartender had 

slipped me. He viewed that as his signal that he was in control. With a smile, he moved around to 

my side of the booth and proceeded to get too friendly. That was Danielôs and Cummingsô cue. 

They nabbed my so called ófriendô and his accomplice and I needed a shower.  

And for thanks, I got to go home and get some much needed sleep.  

 

Tuesday August 22nd 2056 - The going gets weirder 

Tuesday, missing persons check. I stopped by central and picked up the list from Andrews. There 

always seems to be a lot more cases added and very few removed. At the morgue I didnôt find 

any leads on the boys, but I did find the man in Lydia Greenwoodôs pictures.  

Missing person, mystery courier, and now DB. Thing was, his chest cavity was a normal human 

chest cavity again. That was enough to bring Andrews to the morgue. Dr. Chen noticed our 

interested and bumped the case up so we could have the results. Andrews ended up having to 

make a few phone calls while he worked.  

I donôt think Iôll ever understand that one. The man works Homicide and Missing persons and 

canôt watch an autopsy. I guess its different when someoneôs being cut open to determine the 

cause of death, but Iôve seen some deaths that make the coronerôs table look mild, besides, 

theyôre already dead when they get here.  

There was some sign of scar tissue, but nothing definite. His chest cavity was indeed a normal 

chest cavity. I tried not to think about it as I made my rounds on the John Doe hospital check. It 

was Andrewsô case. I was only involved from the periphery.  

Yeah, right, if thatôs the case then why do I have the deep sinking feeling that its going to drag 

me in like everything else thatôs been happening around me? By the time I got home, Iôd almost 

convinced myself that Iôd have a nice quiet evening and hit the sack early.  

That lasted until I opened the fridge and pulled out my water bottle. Taped to the side was a 

message from Fin.  
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Jess:  

Need your help, garage midnight.  

Fin. 

I stared at the note, then looked at the clock, then stared at the note again. If I was lucky I could 

get three hours sleep before Iôd have to get dressed and head out, but I couldnôt.  

Once again Fin had slipped through my supposed security and left a cryptic message for me. Iôm 

glad heôs on my side, although sometimes Iôm beginning to wonder.  

 

Wednesday August 23rd 2056 - First Run 

Okay, thereôs no wondering, Finôs on his side. Not that there really was any real doubt on the 

matter. Iôm a friend and heôll watch over me, but when he óneeds my servicesô Iôm not a friend, 

Iôm a team-mate and I better pull my own weight or get left in the dust.  

It probably doesnôt help that I was planning on a nice quiet evening: get some extra sleep, get 

ready for work. I had no idea what was up until it was too late to do anything but follow through. 

I think itôs the city. Nothing like this happened to me back in Baltimore. Here, Iôve been turned 

from paramedic, to assistant investigator (read bait) and now... shadowrunner. I think I need to 

make a better class of friends.  

In this case Fin had need of my explosives expertise. I just had to set things up and set them off 

at the appropriate time. My instructions were simple: set things up, wait for his signal, then fade 

back into the night and keep from becoming a liability.  

When I showed up in the garage, there was no sign of Fin, but I had another set of instructions 

waiting for me. It was like a scavenger hunt. I was supposed to ride over to the quick-mart, slip 

into a protective pair of coveralls, put some oversized cloths on over them and take a bike that 

was waiting for me in the alleyway.  

I followed his directions and by the time I arrived at the designated area, I wouldnôt have been 

able to recognize me. Fin was very careful to not introduce me to his companions, which was 

fine by all of us.  

The setup was simple: rig a car thatôs running on remote, wait for the signal and then blow it up. 

Somebody else was driving it, I just had to make sure we were on different frequencies and 

control the explosion as the car drove by a gate. It was obviously a diversion, for what I donôt 

knowïthat wasnôt something I needed to know or really wanted to know.  
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I could tell his óassociatesô werenôt to crazy about having me there, but they admitted it was nice 

to have someone who knew what they were doing handle the demo. My heart was pounding as I 

followed Finôs directions.  

I fired the charges and then faded into the night. I walked to the metro, took it south, towards 

Renton. Got off, faded into the crowds there, then slipped down yet another alley way, changing 

into a set of cloths that were waiting for me. I left the first set there, then took the Metro west. 

Two more changes and I was finally in my own cloths, the coveralls being the last thing to go. I 

took the train back to the city, went to the movies. When I left the theater, my bike was waiting 

for me, along with the ticket stub to an earlier movie.  

I marveled at how well heôd covered my tracks, and when I found out what I was helping with, I 

was very glad.  

It was all over the trid in the morning, everybody was talking about the failed gang raid on 

Aztechnology. The police were putting it off as a prank, but it was obvious that the corp wasnôt 

being quite as blase about the whole thing. Something had happened last night and I had been a 

part of it.  

As I write this, I realize, Iôve taken my first step into entering into my brothersô world. Itôs a 

scary place.  

  



 

A Year in Seattle  102  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

Week Ten - Steamed 

Thursday August 24th 2056 - Just the facts 

Back on duty, Andrews was waiting for me with a warning. Someone had taken over the 

investigations into Lydiaôs murder and the death of the courier. The disks had been confiscated 

and the new investigators would probably be talking to me.  

I could tell from his expression that something was up, and it wasnôt good. I thanked him for the 

warning, but I could tell there was more. He looked at me, his expression very serious. ñYou saw 

those pictures.ò  

I nodded. ñYeah,ò I sighed. ñI had to know what to do with them, and it was the only way to find 

out.ò I didnôt think it was necessary to tell him that I hadnôt just seen themï Iôd made copies. 

Copies that were now safely tucked away in a secondary safety deposit box under an assumed 

name.  

I may be slow, but I do catch on.  

The investigators were Federal, and they had the mirrored shade-cop look down pat. I got called 

into the Captainôs office and introduced to them between calls. They asked me about the call and 

didnôt I think it was odd that the woman asked me to hold onto the disks for her.  

From what Iôve seen of this place, thatôs just Seattle on a Saturday night. I told them as much.  

When they asked me the next question, I knew they were studying me, I could feel one of them 

zoom in on my pupil and I knew he was watching for any change in my blood vessels. A rather 

effective lie detector without having to get my permission.  

ñDid you look at the pictures?ò  

I nodded. ñYeah,ò I admitted. ñI wasnôt sure who to send them to.ò  

ñAre you holding out on us?ò  

I turned and gave Fed #2 a look. ñIôm a medic,ò I told him. ñLady gave me two disks, said they 

were important. I figured it was either new Elvis sightings or something for the police.ò  

ñWhat made you think it was a police matter?ò  

I resisted the urge to say, óNo signs of Elvis.ô and told them the truth. It was all a matter of record 

anyway and it was the safest way to play it.  
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I donôt think they entirely believed me, but it was pretty much a matter of public record. I could 

tell they wanted to ask more questions, but we got called out. I left to their promise of seeing me 

again.  

We got a call close to Aztechnology and I came in on the motorcycle. They victim looked like 

heôd been roughed up and dragged there. Roughed up? More like mauled. The cuts were made in 

parallel groups of three and four.  

I couldnôt help but notice the way the guards studied me as I worked on the man. It was enough 

to set anybody on edge. The man was in shock, and I tried to stabilize him as Ray arrived with 

the truck.  

As we lifted him into the truck, something fell from his hand. I had about 3 seconds to look at it 

before one of the guards was there, taking it from me. There was something in his eyes that told 

me I did not want to fight him on this.  

Silently I climbed into the truck and Ray got us rolling. I looked out the back window and could 

see the guard watching us as we drove away. The look he gave was enough to send shivers down 

anybodyôs spine.  

We got the man to the hospital in time, but it doesnôt look good. Heôs probably got a 30% chance 

right now. When we went to get my bike, the guard was still there. Heôd moved my bike behind 

the gate, for safetyôs sake.  

As I went to reclaim it, he put a hand on my shoulder. ñCuriosity is a dangerous thing Jessica 

Miller, beware of those who hunt the night.ò  

I turned and looked at him questioningly, but it was almost as if he hadnôt said anything. As I 

wheeled my bike back onto the street, I heard him say to another guard. ñShe is the one.ò  

If that isnôt enough to send chills down your spine nothing is.  

I have to admit thought, now I see why the Star hadnôt gotten anywhere with my brothersô casesï 

thereôs just too much stuff going on around here for it to all get sorted out, and just when you 

think you understand, a new layer gets added to the puzzle.  

I think Iôm going to stay as clear of Aztechnology as I can.  

 

Friday August 25th 2056 - A six pack would be nice 

Man, what I wouldn't give for a bushel of crabs and a six pack right now. It's the end of crab 

season and I'm on the wrong end of the country. It doesn't help that I'm up to my elbows in 

mystery.  
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Man I wish it was just crab meat. That, I could dig into- lot safer too.  

On the bright side, the guys from Baltimore aren't faring any better, but still. If I were home, they 

wouldn't be able to run their little campaign of trying to discredit me. That's what it boils down 

to. I feel like they're trying to steam me, but just can't find the right combination of spices, guess 

I'm not the only one having problems with the difference between cities.  

I finally met them at the diner this morning. They came in after I sat down, and then flanked me 

on either side of my counter seat. They started asking me about Baltimore and commenting on 

my ódereliction of duty' in not treating someone in need.  

I looked at them and shook my head. "You want to get to the point of all this or are you going to 

keep bad mouthing me and harassing me?"  

The first one acted surprised, and innocent. "Harassing you?" His tone was perplexed, even 

though I could tell by his eyes he wasn't. "Miss Miller, we're just trying to understand why a 

perfectly healthy paramedic would refuse to help a man in need. A man she had endangered in 

the first place."  

My eyes widened at that, but I forced myself to remain calm and collected. "First, I was no 

longer a paramedic in the city, secondly, the man in question had hit me in the left clavicle with a 

Louisville Slugger, rendering my arm non-functional. A person requires two hands to perform 

most first aid procedures, especially Cardio-Pulmonary Resuscitation or in his case Artificial 

Respiration. I therefore secured the scene and called for the paramedic staff."  

The other man snorted as he looked at his coffee. "Yeah, we read what you told the police."  

I shook my head. "Then you know the whole story gentlemen," I declared getting up from the 

counter. "And if you'll excuse me- I have a job to do."  

I tried very hard not to react when one of them said something about, "We'll see about that."  

I don't believe it: even from jail, the man's trying to ruin my life. I turned and sighed. "I thought 

it was an investigator's duty to remain objective, to explore every avenue, but then again, you 

aren't real investigators, you're hired guns, trying to bring me down- and that is harassment."  

The didn't seem phased by what I said, but I felt better. Not that any court in their right mind 

would take the charges seriously, but if they twisted the truth just right it might be enough to get 

me hauled in and perhaps make it to court, and then the charges would remain in my jacket, a 

small chink in my armor.  

I'd seen guys in my place ruined with less, so now I have to watch my step. Damn Aaron, he's 

alive because I did the right thing. I didn't roll over, I didn't die and I didn't kill the bastard when 

I had a chance. Maybe that was my mistake. No, I start thinking like that, I'm just as bad as he is. 

I didn't kill him because it was no longer life or death for me. And these bozo's are just using 

scare tactics, trying to make me slip up.  
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PM.  

I've had a lot more time to think about those two yahoos and what they said. They are fishing, 

trying to pin something on me, anything. Or they're merely trying to push my buttons. Thing is if 

they know where I live, Aaron now knows where I live. He's in jail, but for how long. How long 

will it be before he convinces someone else that he was chemically imbalanced and that he's over 

it now. How long before he comes back into my life swinging?  

And as if I didn't have enough problems, we got another call to Aztechnology: another man in 

front of the gate looking like he'd been through the wringer, another creepy trip back to get the 

bike. And of course another knowing smile from the guard.  

Man, too many complications. I could really use that beer, maybe a half dozen crabs to go with 

it.  

 

Saturday August 26th 2056 -Just a few questions Ma'am 

Okay, maybe crabs and beer are too much to ask for - how about a little sleep? This morning, no 

sooner did I finally lay down, and get comfortable than the door bell rang- and rang. I stumbled 

to the door and peeked out. It was the Feds.  

"Miss Miller, we have a few questions for you. It won't take more than an hour of your time."  

It took three.  

At first they were asking questions about the pictures, about the accident scene, if I'd seen 

anything out of the ordinary, but then the conversation turned.  

From then on, practically none of the questions had anything to do about Lydia Greenwood, the 

pictures or the courier. They had everything to do with Aaron, and Baltimore and my last night 

in town.  

I started answering their questions, but as they progressed I shook my head. "Gentlemen, if you 

continue this line of questioning, I will need a lawyer present."  

This seemed to interest them both. I could see them sit up in their chairs, as if I'd given them a 

lead.  

"And why would that be Miss Miller?"  

I just love it when they call me 'Miss Miller'  

"Lets just say I don't want any misunderstandings in this matter," I answered evenly.  
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"There's no need to worry, we're just trying to learn more about you, and how you're involved in 

this case. Nothing dangerous or clandestine..."  

I shook my head. "I have every reason to be suspicious," I answered. "Especially since you're 

asking questions based on rumor and innuendo instead of actual police records."  

"There's no reason to be suspicious."  

They tried reassuring me, but I had had enough. "Gentlemen, Since I've arrived in Seattle, I have 

been mistaken for a burglar breaking into my brother's apartment; harassed by gangers; shot at in 

a random drive by; arrested while trying to administer first aid after said drive by; drugged by 

organ leggers, who were using a new catch and release program; turned into a guinea pig for 

some banned pharmaceuticals; used as bait in a multiple murder case; drugged; questioned; 

terrorized; been thrown into the middle of what's looking like a federal case; played clay pigeon 

to a scam artist with more than money on his mind; harassed by a couple of supposed 

'investigators' from Baltimore trying their best to discredit me in a case that has nothing to do 

with anything, and you all seem to be buying into it. Still wonder why I seem a bit suspicious of 

this whole thing?ò  

They stared at me. I don't think they were ready for my tirade, but its been a rather busy two 

months.  

I finally relaxed a little and sighed. "Look, if you want a statement about what happened in 

Baltimore, you can get a copy of the report, the restraining order and the case history from the 

Inner Harbor Office of Legal affairs. If that isn't enough, I can get you copies of them, and the 

news clippings-- but it has nothing to do with this case, or even why I'm here, so can we get back 

to the topic so I can get some sleep before I have to go back to work?"  

They finally recanted. I guess they realized I'm not going anywhere and maybe they should do 

their homework before pressing the whole Aaron thing.  

I managed to squeeze in 7 hours of sleep, but it meant getting up and going straight to work, no 

trid, no cats, no nothing. I hate days like that, cause that's not living.  

The shift was peaceful for a change and I'm happy to say there were no more calls to 

Aztechnology.  

 

Sunday August 27th 2056 - Enough 

I think I can officially say, without any hesitation or reservations, that I have completely and 

utterly had it!  
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Iôm tired of living under a microscope, Iôm tired of being watched, questioned, followed, and I 

am really tired of seeing people I care about getting hurt. I donôt know how much more of this I 

can take. I just...  

Okay... deep breath. The morning started out normally enough. The guys from Baltimore had me 

under surveillance. They were in this big white van that could have easily had ñHI WEôRE 

WATCHING JESS MILLERò stenciled on the side.  

The only bright part of the day was when I got to spend some quality time with the cats. They 

were taking turns going for extra cute points and vying for affection. But between the van and 

the feds and the rumors they were feeding everyoneï Iôm just glad everybody knows me well 

enough to know what I would and wouldnôt do.  

Everybody but the Feds that is. They seem really chummy with the óBalmer boys. I tried to shake 

it, but the screaminô heebie-jeebees were going pretty strong. I think I would have been able to 

handle everything, but I had another one of those... óblackoutsô while I was waiting for Ray in 

the truck after one of our runs.  

This time I remembered everything, and believe you me, it was not fun. The woman knew I was 

hiding something from her. She knew! More to the point the man with her knew and he made 

sure I knew he knew, I could feel him in my mind. And if that werenôt bad enough, Big Dark and 

blobby turned out to be an Orc with a very twisted sense of humor, and a very mean back hand.  

She gave me one more chance to óredeem myself.ô Like I need some lady whoôs given herself the 

right to stand in judgement of others based on her twisted sense of morality telling me what I 

should be doing. Wonder how sheôd feel if she were on the receiving end of her little wonder 

chem.  

I wonder how sheôd like being the member of the herd to be culled.  

Yeah, Iôm in a dark mood. óCause that wasnôt even the worst of it ï we got another call to 

Aztechnology. And this one was worse than the last two, a lot worse.  

It was Fin.  

Yeah, I got the call, first responder... I get there and Iôm trying to find out how bad it is when I 

get a good eyeful of torn flesh, and that all too familiar grin. I mean...  

Thereôs no way I can take much more of this. Its just too much. Ray understood. He picked up 

the bike for me... I stayed with Fin until we were sure he as over the worst of it. Theyôre still not 

sure how complete his recovery will be.  

I donôt know how Iôm going to take anymore. This has just beenï too much.  
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Monday August 28th 2056 - A bushel of crabs... and a beer. 

I woke up around 2:30. I was still rather freaked over yesterday. A call to the hospital and they 

assured me that Fin would be all right, given time to heal. He checked out around 5:30, hasnôt 

been seen since.  

Not that I blame him. Aztechnology has a reputation for how it deals with its enemies. From the 

looks of things, it's been earned. I tried to lose myself in ónormalô things. Cleaning the condo, 

dustingï laundry. But even the condo is a reminder of how completely out of kilter everything is 

around here.  

I thought about calling Mario, but I didnôt want him to help me on thisï it was something I 

needed to work through on my own. I think he knew something was wrong, but he also had the 

sense to leave me alone when I was in the laundry room.  

By six I was starting to get hungry and was about to leave when somebody rang my doorbell. It 

was Ray. Well, the first view I had was the can of beer he was holding in front of the viewer. 

When he was sure I was there he pulled it back to reveal a rather irritated blue crab.  

I donôt think I could have opened the door fast enough.  

It was just what I needed. I didnôt need any fancy meal, just a table coated in newspaper and 

spices and goo. A bushel of crabs, some beer, and a friend to share it with was all it took. We 

didnôt talk. We just steamed them up and had ourselves a crab feast.  

One by one, my friends stopped by, mostly checking on me, making sure I was okay. Some 

stayed, a few even tried the crabs. Mario, Trina, Mrs MacAdders, even Saunders stopped by, 

saying he was a little worried when he didnôt see me down at the station. He tried one of the 

crabs, but said it was way too much work to get such a small amount of meat.  

Sometimes, thatôs the point, and sometimes, the work makes it all that much better. Guess thatôs 

life in a crab shell.  

 

Tuesday August 29th 2056 - Frying pan? 

Its amazing: some crabs, some good friends and a good nightôs sleep can work wonders. Iôm still 

not sure how much I can handle, but at least Iôm handling things today. I stopped by the morgue 

and visited with Dr. Chen, got Andrewsô latest list of JDôs and spent pretty much the rest of the 

day hospital hopping.  

Another thing that amazes is how quickly people get used to things. I think every duty nurse in 

every major hospital knows me by now. If they donôt, theyôve at least heard of me. I rarely get a 

raised eyebrow anymore when I ask to see their John Doe cases.  
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While I was out, I stopped by Council Island and visited Mike and the rest of the Walkers. 

Jonathan knew immediately that Iôd seen the mystery woman and her assistants again. He also 

had some more information for me.  

Seems one of the Senior VPôs from ValenzBioChem had left the company in a big hurry after 

Doc Riverôs arrest. He also found out that her limo had been in an unreported fender bender a 

few weeks ago. Betcha the paint matches the sample they pulled from my bike.  

Mrs. Walker was very concerned that I was still in danger. I didnôt think it was wise to mention 

the little...incident at Aztechnologies. Somehow, I donôt think theyôd look too well on what Iôd 

done, whatever it was I had been involved in.  

I couldnôt stay long, but as always it was a peaceful interlude in the middle of the day. Or it 

would have been if it werenôt for the latest bit of news. I ended up stopping by central and 

checking the records for calls near Aztechnology  

I may have been off duty, but that didnôt mean there hadnôt been another attack. There had, and 

another mauling victim had been found out in front of the gate. I was reading through the report 

when I found a picture of victim number four. I knew this victim as well, it was the Guard whoôd 

ï warned me?  

Was it a warning or a threat? Iôm beginning to wonder. He said something about ó... beware...ô 

and óthose who hunt the nightô. Iôm not sure I want to know more, of course Iôm in this mess 

because I didnôt want to know more, and now Finôs taken off for parts unknown. If I had sense, 

Iôd leave too, but I have a job to do, and I think Iôve pretty much established the fact that I have 

no sense.  

I caught sight of the white van several times during the day. They tried to follow me onto the 

island and were stopped. Thank God for small favors.  

I made it back to the condo in time for dinner with Trina and Mario, but I had a lot on my mind, 

and a lot of things to worry about. I donôt think I was very good company.  

 

Wednesday August 30th 2056 - Fire 

Well, this morning the feds stopped by my place, not to question me, but to deliver a subpoena. 

Great way to start the morningï I am wanted before a federal review board for my actions or lack 

thereof in the case of one Aaron Mistopholes of Baltimore.  

The date on it was for today, one hour from the time they showed up at my door. Talk about 

feeling railroaded. Good thing I was still in my sleep cloths, cause otherwise I donôt think theyôd 

have given me a chance to change. I tried to make a call, but they nixed that as well. So much for 

being there to óhelpô me.  
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I tried to explain that there were people who were expecting me, but they came back with 

something about this not taking long. Then they were reaching for their handcuffs.  

The whole thing stunk and I knew it, but I didnôt know what to do. If they were on the up and up 

and I resisted, things could get pretty nasty. On the other hand, if they werenôt, things already 

were pretty nasty.  

ñYou donôt need those,ò I stated backing away slightly. ñAnd if you feel you do, then I want 

uniformed officers from the Star here... Officers that I know.ò  

I donôt think they were expecting that.  

ñMiss Miller, this is merely a precaution,ò one of them said soothingly as he once again moved 

closer.  

ñExactly,ò I answered evenly. ñThatôs why I want the added precaution of uniformed officers of 

the law to carry this out.ò  

They looked at each other for a minute. ñIôm afraid we really donôt have time.ò  

My heart was racing now. Iôd let them into the apartment, assumed they were on the up and up 

and now things were getting more and more hinky.  

ñMiss Miller, if you will please turn around and place your hands behind your back,ò Fed 

number one stated.  

ñUniformed services,ò I repeated. ñIt will take them less than 5 minutes to get somebody over 

here.ò  

They didnôt like my attitude, I didnôt like theirs, but in the end, there were two of them and I 

didnôt want to add assault to whatever charges had been cooked up. Only problem was, I was 

finally catching on that things were a lot worse than I thought and the whole thing was probably 

a setup.  

They led me out to a waiting black Americar with government plates. At least that part wasnôt 

cocked up. I donôt think Iôve been that scared in a very long time. With everything else thatôs 

happened so far, I didnôt have time to worry; time to think about what could or might happen. 

Now I had nothing but time.  

As soon as I was in the car, I started working on the handcuffs. I figured that if they were on the 

level they might understand, but from the looks of things, they werenôt and I needed every 

chance I could get. It took me a good five minutes, but I did mange to get them unlocked.  

The drive in seemed straight forward enough, until I recognized the building from Lydia 

Greenwoodôs pictures. Fed #2 turned towards me. I could tell he was focusing on my pupils 

again, looking for any capillary reactions. ñDo you recognize this area?ò  
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There was no use lying. ñThat building was Lydia Greenwoodôs pictures,ò I answered nodding 

towards the building from the pictures.  

I couldnôt help but notice the half nod he gave his partner as he guided the car away from the 

center of the city, away from the federal buildings and away from the courthouse. My heart sank. 

The inspectors from Baltimore had been a perfect diversion, the perfect setup. They werenôt 

worried about my credibility, just about a way of controlling the situation. I had no doubt that I 

was about to have an óunfortunate accident.ô  

I was contemplating something desperate when the car was rear-ended by a white van. The same 

van that had been following me since the investigators from Baltimore had shown up. Fed 

number one opened the door and held out his badge as he moved towards the driverôs side of the 

van while Fed number two kept an eye on me.  

Investigator number one got out of the van and was yelling at Fed number one. I noticed that his 

voice had grown slightly nasal, and he was pouring on the Dundalk accent. Fed number Two was 

splitting his concentration between me and his partner, when Investigator number Two knocked 

on the car window and pointed his gun at Fed number Two.  

I was relieved to have been rescued, but was even more wary when Investigator 2 started to herd 

me towards the van. ñMiss Miller,ò he told me in a gruff voice. ñWe donôt have time. Weôll 

explain later.ò  

I nodded and grabbed his gun, using one of the Chi naôs Matt had taught me to break his hold on 

it. I tucked it under my belt and backed away. ñIôll be at the main Star station,ñ I told him, then I 

turned and ran as fast as I could.  

I hate not knowing who to trust, but it would have been the perfect setup. Suspect flees Federal 

custody, only to turn up dead elsewhere. I figured if anybody had a legitimate beef, they could 

talk to me downtown.  

Nobody every showed. I reported the whole thing to Andrews, and he reported it to his captain, 

who then reported it to the Federal Marshallôs service. Only problem was of course, theyôd 

turned over all their evidence to the Feds.  

They were all rather ticked off. Without those pictures they had nothing and they knew it. I let 

out a heavy sigh and asked Andrews to provide an escort to the bank and my safety deposit box. 

I grabbed a few blank disks on the way out and made an extra set of backups at the bank. I donôt 

think theyôre going to lose these.  

Tuns out there actually a Federal inquiry I was supposed to attend, but under the extenuating 

circumstances, its been postponed. Thank God for small favors.  

After a rather lengthy discussion, they decided that I needed to be put into protective custody. I 

was now a Federal witness. I put my foot down on that, or at least I tried to.  
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ñLook,ò I told them. ñI appreciate the offer, but weôre already one medic short, you take me 

away and youôre going to lose a lot of the cityôs emergency medics, cause the others are going to 

have to take up that much more slack, and the job has a rather high attrition rate as it is.ò  

Again there was a lengthy discussion and this time they came up with a compromise. I would 

have a Marshall with me at all times. I tried to object about it getting in the way of my work, but 

they óissuedô me a Marshall who was also a certified Paramedic.  

Somehow, I think the big danger is over, but its nice to have someone who understands watching 

my back. And Citywide doesnôt even have to pay him.  
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Week Eleven ï One Crisis Over 

Thursday August 31st 2056 - Me and my shadow 

Well, me and my new best-buddy and roommate got off to an interesting start. He showed up at 

my door, suitcase in hand. I was not expecting that. He's planning on watching over me 24-7.  

That could prove interesting. I know he already doesn't like my motorcycle riding and then 

there's the whole thing of the motor-medic going out ahead of the truck. Hard to keep track of me 

that way.  

He's an interesting one our Marshall Jason Casey. He insisted we take his car to the station. I 

asked him what he preferred to be called, in the hopes he'd guess I'm not too fond of "Miss 

Miller".  

"Casey," he told me. "Casey or Case.."  

I nodded as we headed into the station house.  

"What do I call you?"  

I smiled, it worked. "Jess, ever'body calls me Jess," I told him. "Unless they're pissed off at me 

and then they call me..." 'Cap supplied: "MILLER!"  

I didn't even get to finish the sentence, but there it was.  

I smiled at Casey. "Like that," I told him with a slight nod and then went over to talk to the 

Captain.  

"Miller, what are the rules about bringing visitors into the station?"  

I bit back the smart response of reciting the regulations and shook my head. "He's not a visitor," I 

answered. "He's my baby-sitter," I added jerking my thumb over my shoulder. "Marshall Jason 

Casey, Captain David R. Daltry."  

Cap gave me one of his sternest looks to date and demanded an explanation. When I finished, he 

nodded.  

He wasn't too crazy about the situation, but he agreed that it was nice to have us full up on 

medics for a change. Then he turned and said it was bout it being time I had somebody watching 

out over me.  

I'd just gotten Casey setup with a locker when Ray rolled in. I was about to introduce him when 

Ray just grinned.  
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"Case! Haven't seen you in ages."  

My jaw dropped. Turns out at least half the folks at the station house know him. As he was 

saying 'hey' to all his old friends, Ray was giving me that sideways 'what's up?' grin. I was just 

about to explain when a call came through. Casey started to follow me, until he noticed I was 

pulling on my helmet.  

"What are you doing?" he demanded as he wheeled me around by the arm.  

I was surprised by the strength in his grip, but I still managed to meet his gaze. "I'm responding 

to the call," I answered nodding towards the bike. "Ride with Ray, I'll meet you at the scene."  

I could see the wheels turning in his mind as he studied me. I gave him a wink. I wasn't being 

headstrong and thinking I was invulnerable, well, I was being headstrong, but I know I'm not 

invulnerable.  

Believe me, I know just how mortal I am, but I've got a job to do, and I'm not about to crawl 

under a rock and give up. If I do, they win, and I just can't cope with that. I think he could see 

that in my eyes.  

"Miller," he growled as he let go of me. "You be careful."  

I nodded. At least he understands... and that means this may just work out.  

 

Friday September 1st 2056 Concessions 

Casey insisted on taking the couch, after thoroughly checking out the condo. He found a few 

security goodies the boys had installed that I didn't know about, and then he added a few more. I 

watched him as he did it, studying the equipment.  

I wasn't making small talk, anything like that interests me, always has. That's how I've learned 

half the things I know. Casey was patient enough to answer my questions, but I could tell he was 

concentrating on security. Makes sense, both our lives depend on it I guess.  

Then he concentrated on me. What I do, how routine my life is, where I go and who I know. If 

he was a surprised by the Missing Person's visits or the John Doe checks, he hid it really well. 

All he said when I finished was, "I figured it was something like that."  

That earned him a long hard stare.  

He waited until I got over my semi-snit and started telling me what I could and couldn't do. First 

and foremost he told me that there was no way I was to ride my bike until this whole thing was 

over; I was too vulnerable. He was already moving on to change number two when I insisted we 

back up a little.  
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I understand that the man has a job to do, but there has to be balance, and I just wasn't getting it. 

He was taking the approach that he called the shots and I towed the line. There was, in his book, 

no room for negotiations, I felt that there were compromises that could be established on all 

sides.  

I didn't get too far with that before he was reviewing my schedule. There was nothing he could 

do about the work schedule, so he didn't even bother with that. But then came the questions of 

'What do you do after work.' Now, for the most part, I go home, play with the cats and go to 

sleep, but when I can I like to watch cartoons with Mike on Saturdays, and I'm *not* going to 

give that up, besides, I can't think of a safer place for me than Council Island these days.  

Still, I was to be his charge, his passenger, in all things. That was the hardest part. I'm used to 

going where I want, when I want. Guess I've been alone too long. He told me I could still move 

about freely, within reason, and with him 'attached at the hip.'  

He's okayed my 'Breakfast engagement on Council Island,' again without a second glance, and 

my Missing person's check, although he insists I can do it over the phone. He'll allow me a trip to 

the morgue, since its in the middle of Star Territory. As for traipsing over half of Seattle looking 

at John Does, that was right out.  

And I was just getting used to the routine. From the looks of things... I get to work like a maniac 

and then get cloistered at home until this whole thing blows over.  

I think Casey's pretty happy about that.  

Well, at least he was until I got my first call of the evening. Traffic accident and car fire. We 

were all on it. Took up most of the night too. After shift I grabbed a quick shower and Casey 

drove us to Council Island.  

I was expecting a full inspection since I was a) in a car and b) with Casey, but the guard just 

smiled and waved him through. I was suspicious enough that by the time we reached the 

Walkers, and Mike called him Uncle Casey that I just gave up. The man knows everybody.  

Mr. and Mrs. Walker seemed relieved that Casey was now my body guard, and Mike, bless him, 

thought it was 'cool.'  

When we headed back to the condo, Casey just looked at me. His expression was... mystified?  

"What?" I asked.  

He shook his head. "You're full of surprises Jess, that's all."  

It was something interesting to contemplate on the drive back to the condo.  
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Saturday September 2nd 2056 - Confessions 

I woke up this 'morning' to the sounds and smells of Casey cooking breakfast. The man was 

actually cooking real food-- right there in the condo! On a work day even! I don't know where or 

when he got the food, but it actually smelled good.  

He smiled at me questioningly as I came out of the bedroom and headed for the shower. "You 

want some?"  

I looked at it, and I have to admit it smelled good, butï me and real food don't always agree and 

first thing in the morning about all I can tolerate is coffee and a bagel. I told him as much and 

shambled off to get ready for work.  

Work was pretty uneventful, which was both a blessing and a source of worry for most of us. 

Ray and I have been at this long enough to know that when everything is quiet, somebody, 

somewhere is doing their best to make our lives interesting.  

If they were however, we were busy having problems of our own. At about 3 AM the station lost 

power. A quick look out the window revealed that everyone else on the block still had power. 

This little mini-blackout was all ours.  

It wasn't all that bad, we're a fire station after all. We've got flashlights, searchlightsï we've even 

got mini generators. Looking back it was more an inconvenience than anything. In the dark it 

took us a while to get to the root of the problem, and in the daylight, it was obvious. It looked 

like something very large had used our transformer as a scratch post.  

For everybody else it was a curiosity. For meï another bone chilling sign that I really shouldn't 

have helped Fin out the other night.  

We only had one more shift for the week, but protective custody was really looking good to me. 

The only problem wasï this was something of my own doing. It gave me quite a bit to think 

about on the way home.  

Casey noticed how quiet I was being and didn't say a word until he'd gotten me home. He studied 

me for a really long time before he asked, but I could feel the questions building up.  

"Jess," he asked softly. "This isn't the first time you've been in ï trouble is it?"  

I shook my head. "This is kinda mild in comparison to some of the things that have been going 

on since I got here."  

He watched me patiently as I pulled up a pillow and sat down on the couch cross legged.  

"Wanna talk about it?"  
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His tone was gentle, but I could see that he also wanted to know exactly what he was up against. 

I can't say as I blame him.  

Finally I nodded. I didn't plan on it, but I ended up telling him everything that had happened 

since I arrived here. I even told him the parts I hadn't told Mario and Trina; the parts I hadn't told 

Andrews or the Walkers.  

He listened to it all then finally nodded. "You know... the Azzies aren't too fond of people 

messing with theirï things."  

I nodded. The only excuse I had was not knowing what I was getting into.  

He smiled at that. "Just like the organ leggers, or the chemicalsï or even the Lydia Greenwood 

case."  

I shrugged. "Just lucky I guess," I answered with my best lopsided grin.  

He chuckled. "You, Jess Miller, are what we in the business like to call a 'trouble magnet.'  

I nodded. "Yeah, that's one way of putting it."  

Again he studied me and finally asked the question that'd been bothering him. "What's with this 

case in Baltimore?"  

I shook my head and ended up taking out a little bit of aggression on the fringe of the poor 

hapless pillow in my lap. "I used to date the man," I finally answered. "He was getting more and 

more possessive, almost mildly abusive. I'd had enough, told him so. Figured that was 'end of 

story.'  

I stopped shaking my head. 'He had a slightly different ending in mind."  

Casey studied me for a good five minutes as he made his own conclusions and pieced things 

together. "Sorry," he said softly.  

I nodded. "Guess I've been a trouble magnet for a whileï just that here, they give 'trouble' a 

whole new meaning."  

Casey nodded. "Get some rest," he urged. "I'm going to make a few phone calls."  

I know my eyes flared at that. Usually when people have a few calls to make, I end up in even 

more trouble. Then again, I had admitted to being an accessory to *something* to a federal 

officerï what do you expect?  

I figured it would be a while before I managed to get to sleep, and it was. I kept hearing what 

sounded like a jaguar crying outside my window. I'm pretty sure it was my imagination.  
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Sunday September 3rd 2056 - respite 

This morning Casey was all smiles. It made me nervous, which only seemed to make him smile 

more.  

I finally broke and asked him what was up.  

"They found Eleanor Kapisniak, former Senior VP of ValenzBioChem," he told me.  

That made me perk up some. "How? Do they have enough to put her away?"  

He smiled at me. "We did," he answered. "But the point is rather mootï someone already put her 

away permanently."  

That surprised me a bit, but then I shrugged. She believed that in this world the little fish got 

eaten. She must have run across a bigger fish. I nodded.  

"That doesn't surprise you," he commented. "Good, maybe there's hope for you yet."  

Now, the explanation for that, I just had to hear. He told me that I was too much of an optimist, I 

needed a good dose of cynicism if I was going to make it in the mean streets of Seattle.  

"Yeah," I answered wryly.  

He nodded. "That's a start," he told me. "Keep it up, I'll make a cynic of you yet."  

I chuckled at that, but I knew both of us were thinking about whatever bowled Ms. Kapinsniak 

over, and wondering if it would be visiting any time soon. Still, in the world of intrigue and 

corporate shadows, she'd committed the cardinal sin, she'd gotten caught. Hopefully, I'm a small 

enough fish that they'll let it go at that. Not that I'm about to relax after everything that's 

happened lately.  

At this point, I'm wound so tight, its going to take a year for me to unwind. A year, or a whole 

mess a' crabs. Make that a year and a whole mess a' crabs.  

On the way in, Casey gave me the other bit of news. It wasn't really good, but it wasn't bad 

either: He'd gotten my case put back on the slate. I go in Tuesday to testify before a review 

board. If I prove my case, it gets tossed out, otherwise, I end up back in Baltimore on criminal 

charges. Hopefully, Aaron and his investigators haven't managed to twist things around too badly 

and the truth will still win out.  

Thing is, I'm not enough of an optimist to believe I'll actually be done with him, justï over for 

now. Sometimes I think, that's all you can hope for.  
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Monday September 4th 2056 - closing in the ranks 

Since I was due before the Board of Inquiry tomorrow, I decided to combine the Missing 

person's check and the only acceptable portion of my John Doe check, the morgue. Looking at it 

through what I imagine to be Casey's eyes, it's kinda a sad existence really. I work 48 hours a 

week, spend most of my spare time either looking for my brothers, or getting myself into trouble.  

Not really much of a 'lifestyle.' I don't know. I can't stop looking and it is the reason I'm hereï to 

find out what happened to my brothers. There was nothing new, but we all went through the 

motions anyway.  

Saunders smiled at me and pretended to call up the records. I knew he already had them for me, 

but he pretended to look up the data. "Nothin,' he told me gently, I could see the apology in his 

eyes, but then he was back to business as usual.  

On the way out he told me to 'stop bothering him,' and something about getting that 'poor excuse 

for a body guard out of his office.' I didn't miss his encouraging wink. Neither did Casey.  

One thing about Casey, he misses very little. Even the cats haven't been able to scam him, and 

there are times they've managed to convince *me* that I haven't fed them a half an hour after 

feeding them.  

So, the missing person's visit was a bust, which is no real surprise. I'm pretty sure that if anything 

had come up Andrews or Saunders would have told me personally. Our next visit was to the 

morgue and Dr. Chen.  

I wish we hadn't found anything or, at the very least, that Casey hadn't been with me. We found 

out why the investigators from Baltimore never showed up at the station. Technically I guess 

they had, just not the way we were expecting.  

Casey knew immediately that I knew them, and when he found out who they were, it was all I 

could do to keep him from taking me into full protective custody then and there. We reached 

another compromise, which was that I would stay on Council Island until things cleared up. He 

also was reaching for the phone to cancel the review board hearing.  

That was too much. I'd geared myself up for this, I was ready for it now. Postponement now 

meant way too much stress for me. I'd waited long enough, trying to second guess what the 

investigators and Aaron had managed to piece together to get things to the point that there even 

was a review board.  

Again Casey found a compromise that kept me as protected as I could be. Instead of bringing me 

to the review boardï they would come to Council Island and convene there. They agreed, which 

surprised me, but then again, anything Casey is involved with seems to have that effect.  
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So, tomorrow I will have my day and hopefully explain the circumstances thoroughly enough 

that I'll be staying right here.  

Wonder if I can file harassment charges against Aaron? That's the real problem, I could slam 

dunk him right here, right now, but I won't play his game. Hopefully in the long run, that'll make 

the difference, but for nowï I wait and worry.  

 

Tuesday September 5th 2056 - The board 

Its funny. I knew I was innocent, I knew (that if there was justice in the world) that they would 

find me innocent of any wrongdoing, but I was still nervous. This is more than my job we're 

talking about here. Its who I am. I can't stop being a medic anymore than a leopard can changes 

his spots: a leopard or a jaguar.  

Another thing that's interfering with my work, or has the potential to. Maybe I should take some 

time and rethink what I'm doing here. If what I'm doing in my off time keeps effecting my job, 

maybe I should stop.  

The only problem is, I can't stop. This search, and all the trouble I've managed to get into is part 

of me too. Usually I can accept it as the way things are, but right now, with everything I've done 

up against a microscope, I have to think about it. Sometimes I wish I could turn a blind eyes, that 

I could justï ignore the strange things that have happened and just do the job I was meant to do.  

Yeah, right. I can't turn my back on a mystery anymore than I can turn my back on a call; its just 

not in me. All the tension, all the worry I've had over the last few weeks, it all comes down to 

this: a board of inquiry.  

I didn't eat all that much at breakfast, much to Mrs. Walker's chagrin. She reminded me of my 

visit to Mike and how bad it would look if I passed out in front of the board. I tried to eat more, 

but I was just too nervous.  

It was miserable. The line of questions, the expression on the board's facesï they'd already made 

up their minds and it was up to me to convince them otherwise. Aaron and the investigators had 

really done a number on this case. The version they had was that I, a duly sworn paramedic had 

turned my back on an obviously harmless man. That I had attacked a known mental patient who, 

had I tried could have been talked out of it.  

Oh, yeah, they'd laid it on thick.  

I took a deep breath and forced myself to remain calm, but my hands were shaking. 'Harmless 

mental patient.' A harmless mental patient who's been stalking me for three years and has tried 

explaining his feelings to me with a 'Louisville Slugger'. Actually to be fair, the first time, I think 

it was a 'Cal Ripken the IVth,' but the sentiment was the same.  
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I did the right thing then, and I pulled out my folder on Aaron, that I keep just for such 

occasions. I'd made copies and I let them review those for a while. The file was complete, I 

started it after I'd filed the restraining order and continued to date.  

It had medical records from both attacks, dates and times I'd been visited by him. The case 

number of every call I made to the star about him, copies of the police findings from Baltimore, 

compliments of Saunders. I even had notes about the arrival of the investigators and the 

questions they'd asked as well as the feds. It had everything.  

After they'd finished reading that, I further explained that a) I was not an active paramedic at the 

time of the attack, b) that I was in no shape to administer first aid and c) had I done so, I would 

have endangered myself and the 'victim', which is clearly against regulations.  

I could see them try to resolve what I'd told them with the 'facts' in the case. Then I was asked to 

leave so they could deliberate.  

I think that was the worst part. Sitting there knowing that my future depended on seven men 

weighing my truth against Aaron's. On the bright side, Casey, Mrs. Walker and Mike were 

waiting for me outside the council chamber they'd commandeered for this case.  

Mrs Walker handed me something to drink and something to eat. I looked up at her and she gave 

me one of the sternest 'mom' looks I've ever seen. I accepted it and ate. There are some 

arguments, you just can't win.  

I was a nervous wreck by the time they called me back in. I could barely stand without shaking. 

Mike gave me a smile and then I was back in front of the board.  

They started to draw it out, telling me how they'd weighed the evidence and that they had the 

solemn duty to protect the citizenry... almost fifteen minutes before they finally told me that they 

found that I had acted accordingly, and that the matter is closed.  

I think the chairman was enjoying making me squirm. They filed out and the Walkers came in. I 

was collecting up my folders when Mrs. Walker started reading through one of them.  

"He... did this to you and they..."  

I nodded. "Its why I keep the medical records... Pictures can be faked.. Memories can be... 

manipulated, but x-rays are forever."  

I was so relieved. I was still a medic and I would not face criminal charges in Baltimore.  

Casey entered the room after seeing the board off. "That went better than expected," he 

commented.  

I nodded solemnly. "I'm not leaving here in handcuffs," I offered after a minute.  
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"Little chance of that," Casey assured me with a chuckle.  

I thanked him for his vote of confidence, but he just shook his head. "Council Island belongs to 

the Salish Shidhe Council, a sovereign nation without reciprocity. They couldn't have taken you 

if they'd wanted to."  

It took a few minutes for that to *really* sink in. No, Casey doesn't miss much at all. Its good to 

know he's on my side.  

 

Wednesday September 6th 2056 - a day off 

After all the tensionï it was like I'd been stuck in a small dark room only to find that there was a 

whole bright world out there.  

When I got up in the morning, I went for a jog with Jonathan. Well Jonathan and Casey, we're 

joined at the hip as he put it. But even having Casey as my shadow, I still felt more relaxed than I 

have in a very long time.  

Its good to know you aren't alone in the world. You would not believe the celebration we had last 

night. I called Mario and Trina and filled them in. They were quite relieved as well. Mrs. Walker 

told me to invite them so my 'family' could celebrate my good fortune.  

Its hard to feel down when you're with the Walkers. The celebration was the perfect release after 

all the tension I've been facing. When I woke up, I realized I'd slept better than I have in ages.  

I think it's the Island, and the people here. I've got family. It's a good feeling and I think up until 

now, I hadn't really realized just howï unprotected I'd been feeling. Between the Walkers and 

Mario and Trinaï I have a very full family, and they're functional!  

Mike and I spent a few hours just cloud watching, talking about nothing and everything. He's 

doing a lot better, but I can still see the slightly haunted look in his eyes. I can't help but feel for 

the kid. I think he finds it easier to talk to me, because I'm kinda in the same situation.  

I keep wondering if things would have been different if I had moved out here two years ago, 

when the boys had invited me to move in. I understand him, I also understand that 'what if' is a 

game you can't win.  

So we talked, and played, and thought. It was a peaceful way to spend the afternoon. I wish I 

could stay here forever, but that's not in my nature either. I have to go back tomorrow, start work 

all over again.  

But at least I got a respite. A taste of how life can be, its enough to see me through another week, 

that and another taste of Mrs. Walker's cooking.  
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Week Twelve ï And another begun? 

Thursday September 7th 2056 - A shooting range. 

Casey and I got to the station around 4:00. It was probably for the best, because that was the last 

thing to go right all night. First call was an officer involved shooting. Of course, dispatch failed 

to mention that the shooting was still going on, and there were a lot more people involved than 

just the officer.  

A sniper had set himself up on one of the high rises and just started shooting. Right at rush hour, 

with at least three hours of daylight to back him up. By the time weôd gotten there, heôd already 

gotten at least 20 people.  

As we pulled in, we got a very serious reminder that the ambulance is not an armored vehicle. 

One bullet went through the roof and lodged in the floor about 2 feet from the ójumpô seat, where 

I was sitting.  

Ray called dispatch with a ósituationô report, and we were informed that dispatch was fully aware 

of what was happening and that the situation would be dealt with accordingly. We were to 

remain in the area and help once the area was secured.  

They werenôt spelling things out, because they didnôt want people to panic. So instead they 

simply pretended it was a normal call. Meanwhile people were getting hurt.  

What happened next was pure chaos as another sniper opened fire from the opposite side of the 

street. All the people who had taken cover from the first sniper were now sitting ducks for the 

second.  

Without thinking about it, or discussing it, all three of us went into action. Ray backed the 

ambulance back into an alleyway while Casey and I started putting on bullet proof vests. Another 

addition to our gear that I really didnôt mind. All too often snipers spell medic óT a r g e t ó. Not 

this puppy.  

We were about to exit the truck when Ray whistled for us. We looked out the front window and 

Casey and I smiled at each other. There was an armored car on the edge of the target zone. One 

quick call to dispatch, and they took care of the rest. The driver moved over and let us load our 

gear. Now we were armored, and we had something we could work with.  

As we worked several other armored cars began coming in, and we managed to evacuate most of 

the stranded motorists. It was tough, tense, intenseï and exactly what I love about my job. We 

made a difference out there. We did our job and the Star did theirs.  

And for once, people didnôt complain about us damaging vehicles  
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Friday September 8th 2056 - 15 minutes, or thank you Andy Warhol 

It was all over the news today: the shooting, stories of courage under fire, the men who óHeld the 

City Hostage' for 3 hours and the men who stopped them. It was a media feeding frenzy. Three 

hour specials with a full analysis of how the snipers were able to take control, full graphical 

simulations of what was happening and how the Star was helpless to stop them until the choppers 

arrived.  

I think they interviewed every man woman and child in a 30 block radius of the site. All told we 

had 57 injured, 27 of whom were serious and another 6 who were critical. there were also 13 

fatalities, including the snipers and three officers.  

Loomis, Wells-Fargo and InnerSite Armored Car services were cited with saving the day. They 

tried to cite Citiwide with the idea, but that didn't last too long. They were the heros, and we 

were incidental. I don't really mind, especially after seeing the reporters pounce on two of the 

Wells-Fagro drivers. Man, they were worse than the snipers, and there were a lot more of them.  

Casey was amused by the whole thing, and I was relieved-- until we reached the station. Then we 

got ambushed as well. Everybody wanted 'our story.'  

"Our Story." Right, they wanted something they could use something touching, or traumatic or 

something from the 'shame' file. Thing was, we all knew that if we didn't supply a good enough 

story, odds were, they'd make one up for us.  

Great place to be when you're supposedly under federal protection and laying low. Fortunately, 

they decided we were way too boring for the viewing public, and moved on 'real heroes.'  

We got a laugh out of that one, but of course, we waited until they were well out of sight. No 

need taking chances. Things were pretty sedate tonight, which is a relief.  

I did find out that I'm needed downtown tomorrow morning to testify in Doc River's Grand Jury 

hearings. They were going to send a Federal officer around for me, but since Casey's already 

following me around, it looks like I'm going to drop by on the way home in the morning. That 

means I try and get some sleep tonight and hope that nothing happens.  

(Which means I'll catch a few 15 minute naps here and there if Iôm lucky.) I will be so glad when 

this is over.  

 

Saturday September 9th 2056 - Blind Sided 

As soon as we got to the Federal Building, I knew something was wrong. I couldn't really put my 

finger on it, but something just radiated from the place, especially the room where the Grand 

Jury was convening.  
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Casey gave me an encouraging smile. It was almost as if he couldn't feel it, but after living with 

the man for less then two weeks, I knew better.  

As we moved into the room he whispered, ñstay close, be ready to move."  

I nodded, Neither of us had any way of knowing what was wrong, only that something was 

wrong. We both felt it and went in hoping that would be enough.  

It wasn't.  

As Casey led me in from the back of the room, Doc Rivers turned, only it wasn't Doc Rivers. I 

froze, backing up just a little. Casey looked at me and then at Doc Rivers, as his face melted, 

transformed. He was no longer even human, he was huge, female, and very familiar.  

It was Big and Blobby from my nightmares. She threw River's attorney to the side as she stood 

and started to move in on us.  

"Should have stayed at home," she growled at me.  

Casey moved forward, placing himself between her and me. As he concentrated on her, I felt a 

hand on my shoulder. My mind started to swim like it had when Iôd blacked out: the Thin Man, 

Eleanor Kapisniak's mind reading sidekick.  

I was starting to gray out, there was no time to think, no time to do anything by react. I dropped, 

like I was passing out, but as I hit the ground I kicked my legs together and spun around. I was 

on the ground, but at least so was he. I managed to surprise him, but I knew that wasn't going to 

last.  

I knew that if he recovered, there was nothing any of us could do. Without thinking I put him 

into a sleeper hold and prayed that I lasted longer than he did. My head was swimming as he 

fought to regain control. I almost grayed out again before everything cleared up.  

As it did I heard a scream from the room. It was as if everyone had unfrozen at that instant. 

Without the Thin Man controlling what they saw, they got a sudden dose of reality.  

Finally people were moving. Security was closing in on us, on Casey and the Orc woman who 

was trying to tear him to pieces.  

As they moved, Big and Blobby growled incoherently and threw Casey to the side. I could see 

her debate between me and the door.  

I guess the door was too far, or she was just too ticked off to care. I heard the gunshot as her fist 

connected with my head.  
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Next thing I know, I'm in the back of an ambulance with Walter checking my pulse and my 

pupillary response. I don't know for sure, but I was probably registering about an 8 on the 

Glasgow scale.  

(The Glasgow comma scale is used to establish the degree of consciousness in a patient... its 

based on response to stimuli. Ratings range from 3-15 with 15 being the highest) 

Eyes 
 

Open Spontaneously  4 

To Verbal command  3 

To Pain  2  

No response 1 

Best Motor Response 
 

To verbal Command Obeys  6 

Painful Stimulus Localizes pain  5 

Flexion (withdrawal)  4 

Flexion (abnormal)  3 

Extension  2 

No Response  1 

Verbal 
 

Oriented and converses  5 

Disoriented and converses  4 

Inappropriate words  3 

Incomprehensible Sounds  2 

No response  1 

By the time I woke up the worst of it was presumably over. The police had found Rivers under 

the bunk in his cell. It looked as if he'd been scared to death, except from the huge hand sized 

bruises around his neck. Casey filled me in as I stared at the sling holding up his right, heavily 

casted, arm.  

I remember groaning something intelligent like, "sorry."  

He just smiled at me and shook his head. "Trouble magnet," he teased.  
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I think my scale rating slid a bit at that point, I was muttering incoherently. That lasted until a 

small voice yelled "Dad!" and a whirlwind of arms and legs barreled into Casey.  

He knelt down and was hugging what turned out to be a little boy. Then a woman, who could 

only be his wife (ex-wife actually) came in. It was hard to tell which of us she disapproved of 

more, Casey or me.  

I found out it was definitely me. Seems she 'knew all about me' from a pair of Feds that had 

stopped by to ask her some questions.  

That set both Casey and me on edge. The woman may have been ticked off, but she was alert 

enough to notice the change. "You aren't an informant are you?"  

I shook my head slowly. "Jess Miller... Paramedic... material witness," I said, introducing 

myself.. I was really regretting trying to shake my head at that point.  

I could see the change in her eyes. She wasnôt angry at me any more. She was startled to find out 

that the real threat had been in her home; that she had let them into her home. She was angry: 

angry and scared.  

"Dammit Jase!" She swore as she glared at Casey, then looked worriedly at their son.  

I could see the tension between them. They may disagree about a lot of things, but it was obvious 

that their son came first. I could see Casey trying to work his way out of this one. He couldn't 

protect them and me.  

"Case," I called. "Call Andrews... or Jonathan... they'll take care of me..."  

I could see the relief and worry in his eyes. I was giving him a way out of this and, as usual he 

hadn't missed a thing. He nodded briefly, then met my gaze.  

"Jess, make sure you aren't alone at night," he warned. "That thing will be back if you are... stay 

with someone. I donôt know how long the summoning will last, but as long as its out there, it will 

be hunting you.ò  

I wanted more information, but I knew there wasn't time: Casey was already making calls and 

once again, everything was in turmoil.  

 

Sunday September 10th 2056 - Seventeen 

They say doctors make the worst patients... According to the nurses Iôve dealt with today though 

its us medics. I think Iôll have to agree with her. I make a lousy patient.  
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Andrews stayed with me throughout the night, Jonathan through the day. I found out from 

Jonathan that there was nothing Mrs. Walker could do for me... seems magic has its ógolden 

hourô as well.  

My jaw is sore, I look like Iôve been through a meat grinder and I canôt seem to think straight. 

The doctors are concerned about that. Concerned enough that they slated me for all sorts of tests 

and scans for tomorrow. I have to admit, if I wasnôt worried before, I am now.  

Citiwideôs concerned ócause Iôve missed too many days for a medic whoôs only been on the job a 

little over two months.  

Now, most of the absences are directly involved with an actual óon the job incident.ô The 

problem is most of those absences were legal oriented, not medical. Medical would have been 

acceptable and as far as theyôre concerned, this is legal, not medical. I donôt entirely follow their 

reasoning, but since I was injured during a Grand Jury hearing, its legal.  

That coupled with last Tuesdayôs hearing is enough for them to flag my file and put me on 

probation if they want to. I donôt think they will, but its one more thing for me to worry about.  

We havenôt heard from Casey, but both Jonathan and Andrews both assure me that he can more 

than take care of himself. I know theyôre probably right, but it doesnôt mean Iôm not worried. It 

really bothers me that these two would stoop so low as to even indirectly threaten Casey and his 

family. I think we both know that they wanted Casey to feel threatened; to leave me unprotected, 

to make him choose between me and his family.  

Hopefully they didnôt count on Jonathan and Andrews. Then again, they were probably counting 

on me being at home, or on the job, not in the hospital. Itôs a good thing that everybody out to get 

me didnôt decide to just start working together. If they did, Iôd be toast.  

The really big problem with all of this is the fact that I have way too much time to think. Being 

in a hospital, Iôm leaning towards contemplating my mortality. A lot. I need to be at work, itôs 

the only thing that lends a sense of order to this chaotic existence I call my life.  

Walter visited me in the evening. He told me that I was the óbestô concussion heôd had in a while.  

I asked him about my Glasgow rating on the ride in and he laughed. He told me I was... óhappy.ô 

And when he asked me how I felt I kept asking him if heôd gotten the number of the truck that 

hit me.  

He told me the oddest answer Iôd given was when heôd held two fingers in front of my face and 

asked me how many fingers he was holding up. Iôd answered, óseventeen.ô  

I had to laugh at that one, but I could see the worry in his eyes.  

ñDonôt do that to me again, Baltimore,ò he told me gruffly.  
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I smiled. I have no intention of a repeat performance. Then again, I didnôt plan the premier 

either.  

 

Monday September 11th 2056 - Nothing but a headache 

I didnôt sleep well last night. Itôs probably a combination of the warning Casey had giving me 

and anxiety over todayôs tests I guess.  

I hope thatôs all it is.  

I heard the cat cry again last night. I know it set Andrews on edge. I wonder if Casey told him 

about it. If he did Andrews didnôt saying anything about it.  

Jonathan took over the role of my guardian around seven this morning and sat with me through 

the barrage of tests that took up most of the morning. They didnôt do much to reassure me, I can 

tell you. By the time they were done I was more than a little irritable.  

The first battery was inconclusive and so theyôd moved on to more comprehensive tests. By 

lunch time, I had had enough of it. They said theyôd have the test results in a few hours but I still 

hadnôt heard from the doctor by dinner and things were getting worse.  

I was still having trouble concentrating and I could feel a headache building up behind my eyes.  

I knew something was very wrong and waiting for the doctor only seemed to make things worse. 

Finally, when he did show up, he pulled Jonathan aside to talk to him.  

I nearly blew a gasket I mean, *I* was the one who they were discussing. It wasnôt until 

Jonathan came back with the doctor that I began to understand.  

ñJess,ò the doctor called to me gently.  

ñWhatôs wrong with me,ò I snapped.  

ñJess,ò Jonathan urged calmly. ñNothing is wrong...ò  

Iôm pretty sure I glared at him after that, but the doctor only seemed to accept this as further 

evidence. When he told me his prognosis, I was offended, angry, practically belligerent but 

finallyï I realized he was probably right: post-concussive syndrome.  

The test results had come back negative, because there was nothing for them to findï nothing 

physical that is. It was literally óall in my head.ô  

The insomnia, the lack of concentration, the headaches, it was all my mindôs way of coping, or 

not coping with what had happened to me.  
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Oddly, I was relieved. Now that I know whatôs wrong, I know what Iôm up against. My own 

mind is causing the problems and I need to get it back under control. Its that simple really-- that 

simple and that complicated.  

Balance. I need to relax, and get over this... all of it. I need to find whatever my mind canôt cope 

with and then find a way to cope with it.  

Until I do, Iôm not doing myself or anybody else any good.  

Only thing isï I donôt know if I can do this alone. Then again, with Jonathan, Andrews, Mario, 

Trina and everybody else, Iôm not really alone. Itôll take some time, but now I know Iôll be all 

right, and that makes it bearable.  

 

Tuesday September 12th 2056 - Sunshine, fresh air, and Mrs. Walker's cooking 

Well, they kicked me out of the hospital this morning. I could see the relief in the nurse's eyes 

when she handed me the release forms. Can't say as I blame her.  

Like I said, I don't make a very good patient. I'm still fighting monster headaches, but at least I 

can force myself to concentrate when I have to. I think things will be a lot easier once I'm back to 

my regular routine and I don't have time to think about it.  

Casey showed up to escort me from the hospital. He looked tired, but satisfied. I could tell by his 

expression that his family was safe, and that he was back, not only to protect me, but to see to it 

that these two never have a chance to threaten his family again.  

I agree completely with him on that, and on the idea of them never bothering me again for that 

matter.  

He smiled and wheeled me out of the hospital. It felt good to be out of there and I was looking 

forward to going home. I was surprised when Jonathan drove up and opened the doors for us. I'd 

forgotten, part of my agreement with Casey involved me staying on Council Island between 

shifts. I have to admit, it should make it harder for anybody to get to me, it just means my life is 

once again on hold.  

Who am I kidding, my life's been on hold since I came out here.  

By the time we got to Council Island, I was working on my third headache and was a little more 

anxious than I really wanted to be. I guess I keep waiting for the next bomb to fall.  

I'd like to say that *that* is all in my head, but I know better. Trouble's been doing a really good 

job of finding me and I don't think she has any intention of stopping anytime soon.  
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Mrs Walker watched over me as I ate and then made me go to bed. I wasn't really tired but I 

knew I needed it. I could hear her humming in the next room and I could smell something fresh 

and green and just a little smokey wafting through the room.  

I woke up about three hours later feeling much better. Mrs. Walker just smiled at me and sent me 

out to play with Michael. She told me I don't play enough.  

I certainly got my share this afternoon. I'm tired enough that I should sleep well tonight, I think 

that's her plan at any rate.  

 

Wednesday September 13th 2056 - A matter of security. 

I woke up this morning and for the first time in three days, my head wasnôt pounding. That alone 

was enough to make me smile. I could feel some of the kinks unwind as I got up and took a 

shower. I was smiling when I reached the kitchen, but then the tension was back. One look at 

Jonathan and I knew something had happened last night.  

ñWhat?ò I asked. I could feel myself starting to lose it again. Normally I can roll with the 

punches, but theyôve been coming so fast and furiously that I canôt miss óem all. The courtroom 

was a perfect example.  

Jonathan came over and gave me a gentle brotherly hug. ñThey tried to bully their way through 

security,ò he told me gently. ñNobody was hurt, but they got away.ò  

I nodded woodenly, but he wouldnôt let go of me. Not until I stopped trembling. I hate being like 

that. Iôm used to taking charge of my life, not being the ófrail little flowerô that needs protecting.  

Jonathan let go of me when he heard a slight growl escape my lips.  

ñJess?ò he asked questioningly as he looked into my eyes.  

ñIôm fed up is all,ò I told him. I know my voice was strained, but it was thereï the ramrod down 

the spine. I can only be pushed so far, and Iôd reached my limit.  

ñSo,ò Casey asked from the other side of the kitchen table. ñWhat are we going to do about it?ò  

I looked at him and then at Jonathan, who gently led me to the table and let me take a seat. 

Theyôd been waiting for that I think. I was about to ask for a map when Casey brought out an 

electronic map and placed it in the middle of the table, then hit the switch. A map of the Island 

and the surrounding parts of Seattle sprang to life.  

Heôd placed it so that the display would be facing me. But he seemed perfectly comfortable 

dealing with a mirror image of everything. With a stylus, he pointed out where theyôd tried to 
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come across, but there were other bridges, and ferries that come here all the time. Those at least 

are regulated. They could still try and boat here on their own, or worse, go for an aerial attack.  

I really didnôt like that idea, especially since Mike and I had been out playing just the other day. 

ñIf theyôre going to attack,ò I finally sighed. ñWe want to be someplace where we can control the 

field. Theyôll be picking me at my most vulnerable...ò  

Casey nodded. ñI figure thatôs when youôre on a motorcycle call.ò  

I nodded. ñYeah, Iôm alone for five to ten minutes, sometimes more, but thereôs usually a police 

officer nearby.ò  

ñSo theyôd have to hit you from a longer distance if they wanted to get away,ò Casey agreed.  

ñOr flash their badge,ò I reminded him. Communications between agencies had always been a 

problem and these two had already used it to their advantage. I thought about that for a moment 

then looked back at Casey. ñAny word on what those pictures were aboutï what they were 

smuggling? Why these two are so hell-bent to eliminate me even now that its too late?ò  

Casey shook his head. ñThey say that itôs a security issue.ò  

I couldnôt help but notice his derisive snort, or sharing it.  

After reviewing the map, we realized that if they were going to try something her, last night was 

it. Theyôre smart enough to know that security has locked down on me. The only other thing they 

could try would be something like a sniper from the water, or from a remote. The remote was 

unlikely, since the security procedures here included a field that would disrupt the controls for a 

remote. Still, I donôt think Iôm going to be going outside the next few days.  

Iôm still on medical leave. Two more days and then I go back and get checked out, and hopefully 

declared fit for duty. In the meantime, I think Rayôs partnered with Walter.  

The immediate covered, we started trying to work out the next phase: how to get me at work. 

The firehouse itself could be a veritable fortress, and probably the last choice for a simple hit. 

The question was, were they willing to sacrifice a few innocent bystanders to get to me?  

I didnôt think so. I mean, their threat to Caseyôs family was veiled, more of a ósee what we could 

do if we wanted toô sort of thing. Cat and mouse games, not a direct attack.  

Casey nodded as I thought. He was thinking the same thing. We worked on it off and on 

throughout the day. There was no way for us to control the calls we got, or how we handled them 

really, all we could do was be prepared.  

I wasnôt really in the mood to play bait again. Iôve done that enough lately, thank you. 
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Week Thirteen ï Curtain Call  

Thursday September 14th 2056 - Reflections 

Sometimes I really wonder if I understand the meaning of the word órelax.' Its like Mario said 

when I first got here- If left to my own devices...  

The thing is-- I don't know any other way to be. On the bright side I'm feeling much more alive, 

much more óme' than I have in a while. I want to find these two and put an end to this stupidity.  

I'm angry now, and I know that anger isn't going to help in this. It never does.  

I know that Mrs. Walker is up to something. Whenever I see her, she's humming that tune I heard 

the other night. She'll look up at me and smile that knowing, motherly smile. I'm pretty sure she 

know's it's driving me crazy. I think that's why she's smiling so much.  

Mike has been a joy these past few days, and I think we've both been exorcizing our demons 

with the help of Trid, countless game cartridges, and just being there with someone else who 

understands. We talked about them a little bit- my brothers, Gwyneth... I even talked a little bit 

more about Aaron. It felt good to just talk, no judgements, no second guessing, just being able to 

talk about anything and everything. Almost everything.  

I still haven't told anybody else about the 'incident' at Aztechnotlogy, or the maulings--or the cat. 

That one is entirely my fault. I should have asked more questions. I'm beginning to think that's 

what they're going to put on my tombstone.  

"Here lies Jess Miller-- she should have asked more questions."  

Actually, when I was talking to Mike, I began to realize what bothered me about this whole 

thing. Now that I've had some time to think about it, I know there's more going on here than 

meets the eye.  

Why were they still trying to get to me?  

Their cover's been blown so they're not trying to protect themselves; revenge is a losing 

proposition. That means either they think I have something that the fed's don't have... or they 

don't know that I made copies of the pictures.  

There's got to be a missing piece here somewhere, I just don't know where it is.  

Then it came to me. Retinal scans. They'd scanned me when they questioned me, watching 

pupillary, and capillary responses. I thought it was interesting at the time, but now it gave me an 

idea.  
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When I id-ed the courier, I did it by visuals alone. Dr. Chen would have gotten the fingerprints to 

confirm, but nobody had checked the retinalï there had been no need. It wasn't standard op. I 

still had the retinal images from Andrew's MP case.  

I ran it by Casey. It was a longshot, but at least I pegged what had been bothering him. Their 

persistence to get to me just didn't make sense. Looks like we need to talk to Andrews in the 

morning.  

 

Friday September 15th 2056 - Questions and Answers 

I was doing much better this morning, although I had a headache. Come to think of it, this whole 

thing has been one big headache. The more I think about it, the more out of kilter everything 

seemed.  

I didnôt pose any more of a threat to whatever was going on. Not since I passed on the copies of 

the picturesï unless this whole thing was to draw attention away from whatôs really going on. Or 

the retinal images... I wish I'd compared the two while I was at the morgue.  

Andrews showed up around 11:00, should have figured that Casey wasnôt going to put me at risk 

to talk to the man. Part of me really appreciates his help and protection, but sometimes he really 

gets on my nerves with it.  

We talked for a while, but it led us right back where we started. Dr. Chen had verified both 

finger prints and retinal scans, nothing had been overlooked. We tried going over everything as 

we knew it, but it wasnôt helping.  

Thatôs about when I pulled out the 3x5 index cards again. I passed a handful of them to Andrews 

and to Casey. They looked at me for a minute and shrugged. Talking about it hadnôt helped, 

maybe writing it down would.  

It did.  

Once weôd all written down the events as weôd seen them, we sorted the cards so that they were 

all in order, everything from the 911 call to me handing out the 3x5's was there. We took turns 

reading the cards out loud.  

Iôd gotten the call, Lydia had given me the disks. I looked at them copied them and gave a set to 

Andrews. He began the investigation. He talked to several of Lydiaôs co-workers and her boss. 

She was working on a smuggling case. Something big. Sheôd filed a few background reports, but 

nothing really telling... Just information on the area and that the night of her accident was 

supposed to be the big break. ï Then Feds One and Two had descended on the Star and Andrews 

was taken off the case. The Feds grilled him. Asked where heôd gotten the pictures. Heôd told 

them the truth, it was all on record and they were supposedly on the same side of things.  
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Thatôs where things got interesting.  

Theyôd asked him about me; how he knew me; how I knew to give him the picturesï and heôd 

told them how Iôd done a few things for him, that he was the chief investigator on a case I was 

interested inï and how I did the missing personôs check.  

As we went through that section for the umpteenth time, Andrews gasped. ñJess,ò he said. ñDo 

you still have the disks I gave you for the missing personôs check?ò  

I nodded. Iôd been meaning to return them, since he gave me a new update each week. Normally 

I just slotted the chip and read off the information. I pulled out my disk case and began going 

through it. I found the one for right after Lydiaôs accident and handed it to him, then began 

looking back through the ones before.  

Scanner in hand, Andrews found the information on the case in question. I pulled up a pre-

accident version of the same case. All the background information was the same, but all the 

identifying records were completely different. Retinal scans, finger prints, dental recordsï they 

all belonged to two very different men.  

Theyôd been able to cover their tracks, changing all the online police records, but I had one of the 

few offline copiesï and it was enough for them to want to kill me.  

One look at the two of them and I knew I wasnôt going back to work for a while. Not until this 

whole thing was straightened out.  

I made another copy of the disk.  

 

Saturday September 16th 2056 - The end's in sight. 

I ended up making about twenty copies. The original went directly to the safety deposit box. 

Andrews took one back to the station, Casey sent three to various people in the Fed chain of 

command. Jonathan sent several copies to people he knew on the Salish-Shidhe council, but that 

wasnôt the end of it.  

After several phone calls to the office Casey also sent a copy of the police records and Lydia 

Greenwoodôs pictures to her newspaper. They promised to publish it with the morningôs paper. I 

know I felt much better about the whole matterï Cloak and Dagger just doesnôt work all that 

well against an avalanche.  

Thanks to my friends and family, I wasnôt caught in it. Itôll be a while until Iôm safe, but very 

soon, theyôll know that going after me is pointless. Funny thing is: if they hadnôt tried, weôd 

never have figured it out.  
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I was feeling a lot safer, until Casey pointed out the fact that it wasnôt over, and that there were 

still some things theyôd have to work out. I know he didnôt mean to burst my bubble, but like the 

man said, óit ainôt over till itôs over.ô  

At least the end is in sight.  

As we got ready for my checkup, I found out what Mrs. Walker had been up to. She came in as I 

was getting ready to go to the hospital for my check-up. She was carrying my uniform, only it 

wasnôt my uniform. I could ófeelô it. It was like when Mario was working on me, or the feeling I 

got from of Alanôs things. It was kind of tinglely.  

She smiled innocently when I looked at her. Now, it was a slight feeling of magic I got from the 

uniform, but my vest, was something else entirely. It practically screamed ómagicô-- she hadnôt 

done anything to hide it since it was to be worn under my uniform. She had worked a very light, 

tightly woven cloth into a cover for the vest. I didnôt recognize the patterns, but I knew they were 

all protective. I knew some were Salish, some Shidhe, some were Aboriginal, some, very formal, 

western style patterns.  

She handed them all to me and smiled. ñThanks... mom...ò Iôd finally found my tongue.  

She smiled and hugged me. ñSome one must look after my little girl,ò she told me with a 

mischievous grin.  

Iôm amazed at how many people are.  

Since I wasnôt going to work today, I left the uniform there, but there was no reason to leave the 

vest behind. I put it on under my pullover.  

She seemed satisfied as I left with Casey for my check-up. I got a clean bill of health, but Casey 

wants to wait for me to go back to work. Not that I can say I blame him: all the time we were 

out, I could feel the hairs on the back of my neck standing up.  

We were back on the Island before dark, but I couldnôt help but feel that something was still 

watching me. I went for a late night jog with Jonathan. He was in the lead, but for the most part I 

could see him. As he rounded a turn, I lost sight of him.  

Thatôs when I saw it.  

It was a jaguar, but not a jaguar. It was hunched down low, its eyes seemed to glow in the 

twilight. As it stood, it took on the form of a man. His eyes glowed ever so slightly as he pointed 

at me. I was so freaked out I didnôt move. He did.  

He started moving towards me, shifting back into the form of the jaguar... and then he leapt 

through me. It was as if he faded as he passed through me, but I could feel it: a cold chill as the 

catôs form passed through mine.  
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In my mind I heard a voice whisper. ñNext time...ò  

 

Sunday September 17th 2056 - Can you hear the fat lady singing? 

I really wish someone had told the bad guys it's over.  

I wish theyôd listened.  

At least its over, but thatôs the only good thing I have to say about the whole mess. I just wish it 

had happened some other way.  

The paper came out this morning, complete with everything Lydia Greenwood was hoping to 

make public. The Feds had supplied the details. It was so weird to me. It turns out I was in the 

middle of an international terrorist smuggling ring. They were transporting toxins, using ex-

governmental spooks. Andrewsô missing persons case was the result of a worried girlfriend who 

hadnôt been clued in as to what was going on and had called the police when he hadnôt shown up 

for three days. They realized that theyôd needed to cover their tracks, so theyôd gotten someone 

who generally looked like him, fixed him up the rest of the way, and let the police find him. 

Guess then they figured they only had to tie up a few loose ends, like a stubborn Paramedic, 

whoôs predisposed for trouble.  

I was in the middle of it, and I had no idea what was going on. Even after reading the report a 

second time, I was still amazed at how little Iôd known about the whole mess. But, on the bright 

side, with everything out in the open and arrests being made left and right, it meant I could go 

back to work.  

It meant I should have been able to go back to work.  

That should have been the end of that. Over. Kaput. No more... Go directly to Jail, do not pass 

go, do not collect 200 credits. Hasta la vista, donôt forget to write...  

But no. Our boys were so intent on taking out the threat that they missed the fact that the threat 

had become reality and it was time to pack it in.  

My first night back and it was a busy one, calls all over the city. Minor fender benders; twelve 

car pile ups; heart attacks... the works. By the time we got our last call, we were exhausted. I was 

glad to be back, but man, I was looking forward to a nice long hot soak.  

Last Call of the night, pre-dawn, heart attack. My call, motorcycle response since traffic was still 

tied up in some places. I got to the place, but instead of a man down, there was a human shaped 

pile of rags laying on the sidewalk. There was no victim, no panicked wife... only the hairs on 

the back of my neck standing up. Ray and Casey were due to arrive in less than five minutes. 

Five minutes that could have cost a heart attack victim his life, five minutes where I presented 
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the perfect target. As I tried to get on my bike, the first bullet hit me full in the vest. It knocked 

me to the ground.  

My heart was racing: if I laid still, they might think they got me; if they didnôt, I was an easy 

target for the killing shot.  

I rolled out of the way. I mean, my helmetôs rated to take some serious impact, but itôs designed 

to protect me from solid objects at motorcycle speeds, not projectiles...  

I was in serious pain. The vest had stopped the bullet, but the impact had been enough to knock 

me down. I pulled my pistol, even though I knew they were out of the Walterôs range.  

I reached for my radio and tried to call for back up. Thatôs when I found out it wasnôt my vest 

that had taken the brunt of the impact. It was the Motorola... I hit the panic button for all I was 

worth and found the best cover I could under the circumstances, a nice thick dumpster.  

Ray and Casey got there before the backup team. I was hoping the feds would leave at that point, 

but no, they started shooting at the truck. Ray pulled it out of there, Iôm glad he did. There was 

no way he could have found me, and even if he did, there was no way I could have gotten there 

without presenting a good target.  

The response team arrived, with the police, the Federal Marshals, K-9s and helicopters. They 

found our boys, and again, that should have been it, but as they were being led to a car, one of 

them broke free and grabbed an officerôs gun.  

I turned when someone screamed 'Down!' And had a really good vision of the barrel of the gun, 

before Casey tackled me from the side. It all happened in slow motion. We were on our way 

down when the gun fired. I could hear Caseyôs grunt as the bullet went through his vest.  

I could see the look in his eyes as he gasped in pain. We hit the ground as a barrage of shots 

answered the first one. I didnôt even bother to look to see if theyôd gotten him. I was already 

working on Casey. I got his shirt open and was already assessing his injuries when Ray came 

with the kit. The bullet had managed to miss everything vital, but he was still one hurting pup.  

I was in the back with him when he came to and looked at me. ñTold you... you were a trouble 

magnet...ò  

I smiled. He was going to be all right. ñCase hon,ò I told him. ñI may be a trouble magnet, but 

Iôve never been shot...ò  

He looked very surprised by that, but its true. Iôve been stabbed, shocked, hit, bitten, clubbed, 

drugged, beaten up, kicked... but Iôve never been shot.  

The doctors say heôs going to be all right, but I stayed with him until he woke up. Figured it was 

time someone watched over him for a change.  
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Monday September 18th 2056 - Visiting friends 

I stayed at the hospital until about 9:00, when his ex showed up with their son. I could see the 

relief in her eyes when she saw him.  

I get the impression that the big reason they broke up was the job. Iôve seen that a lot. High 

adrenalin, high stress jobs, things you canôt talk about, risks you have to take to get the job done, 

it isnôt easy on relationships.  

Iôd headed out, reflecting on that. My own history with relationships isnôt all that great, but I 

think its more because I always end up being more of a friend than a girl-friend. Iôve pretty much 

accepted that as a fact of life. Besides, the last thing I need right now is a relationship.  

I got as far as the elevators when his little boy, Ethan come running up to me. He took my hand 

and led me back into Caseyôs room, telling me that his dad wanted to see me.  

Casey looked at me and smiled. ñWe just wanted to thank you,ò he said.  

I smiled. ñThank me for getting you shot?ò  

He chuckled at that, but his wife shook her head. ñNo... for letting him take care of us... for 

taking care of him after he got shot... for being there.ò  

I smiled. ñIôm just sorry yôall ended up involved in this.ò  

She smiled at me, almost like sheôd expected something like that. ñYou be careful Jess Miller, 

Paramedic... material witness.ò  

I had to laugh. ñYou too,ò I said then turn to Casey. ñYou ever want a safer jobï Citiwideôs 

always looking good medics.ò  

He said, ñthanks but no thanks.ò And then made some comment about my job being anything but 

safe. Turns out heôd been shot at more in the past week than he had in three months. Guess he 

has a point.  

I stopped by records, but there wasnôt really anything new there. Andrews had a new disk for me, 

but he paused before giving it to me.  

He tried to get me to think about taking a break from all of this, but I just finished a week-long 

break. I needed to get back into the routine and I think we both knew it. He gave me the disk and 

then asked me out to lunch.  

We had burgers, nothing fancyï but he passed me something else he figured I might need. It was 

a private investigatorôs licence and ID. Sometimes I swear the man has my life planned out.  
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Tuesday September 19th 2056 - Near miss 

Its amazing how quickly you can get used to something. I didnôt really realize how empty the 

condo was until last night. Sure, the cats were there, but they were sulking in the livingroom. Iôd 

been ignoring them, so now it was their turn to return the favor.  

I called Citiwideôs corporate office to find out how much trouble I was in. For a change, I wasnôt 

in any. They didnôt like the idea of anyone using their medics for target practice, and since Iôd 

almost been killed after the area was supposedly secured, they figured I could start back to work 

whenever I was ready.  

Personally I get the feeling that Casey and his bosses had come in on my side with this. Once 

that was settled, I called in to the station to get a report on how things actually were. They 

needed me back as soon as possible, no surprise there, but they also needed me to step up Rayôs 

training. The daytime calls were building up and one motorcycle didnôt cut it.  

I thought about that as I started my rounds on the John Doe check. Rayôs problem is that he canôt 

loosen up long enough to get the feeling for it. We need him up to speed, but we need him up to 

speed and uninjured. I mean, the medical part isnôt really a problem, Rayôs good at improvisingï 

the big problem is the bike. By the time Iôd reached the morgue, Iôd seriously begun to consider 

the simulator solution.  

Dr. Chen was happy to see me. He told me he was glad things were back to normal. He asked me 

if Andrews had turned me into his lackey yet, so I showed him my badge. He shook his head.  

ñLike I told you Jess,ò he sighed. ñYouôre going to end up with his job.ò  

I shook my head. ñNope,ò I answered. ñIôm a medic.ò  

It felt good to say it. I am what I am, and with everything else thatôs been going onï its really 

good to have that back.  

The Hospital check was a bust, almost. Seems there was a John Doe at McChord that matched 

Alanôs description. He was there last week, but gone by Sunday. They never got his real name, 

but I got his medicals...  

I really donôt want to get my hopes up, but itôs the closest Iôve gotten to a clue in a while. 

Everything was inconclusive, of course. I spent the rest of the day trying not to think about it, not 

to get my hopes up. I finished the check and decided to immerse myself in my work, or at least in 

a VR version of it. I ended up going to the arcade Iôd seen after trying to get Ray to do some dirt 

biking.  

I figure if I canôt get him to loosen up in reality, maybe a little virtual is just the thing he needs. 

Iôve got an appointment to go back there tomorrow.  
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Wednesday September 20st 2056 - Going virtual  

I must have reviewed the McChord case twelve times last night, and it was still rolling around in 

my head when I went to check in on Casey. He was looking a lot betterï well except for looking 

pathetically bored.  

When I got there heôd used just about every scrap of paper in reach and folded into some 

intricate piece of origami. He looked up at me and smiled.  

ñYou sleep okay?ò He asked me.  

I had to chuckle. Iôd slept all right for a change, he on the other hand looked like he hadnôt and I 

said as much.  

He chuckled. ñGuilty,ò he admitted. ñI hate hospitals.ò  

I could understand that completely. ñOrigami,ò I commented as I nodded to the pile of paper 

animals and boats.  

ñOnly when Iôm bored,ò he answered.  

I looked at the pile and then back at him. ñThat bad?ò  

He nodded. ñTeresa left about an hour after you did, havenôt seen her since.ò  

I looked at him in surprise. Theyôd seemed, like theyôd talk more than that. ñSo,ò I asked 

changing the subject. ñWhen do you get out?ò  

ñTomorrow morning,ò he sighed. I could tell that was 24 hours too long, probably 48 judging by 

the origami.  

ñCan I get you anything?ò  

He smiled. ñThis is perfect,ò he told me. ñIts nice to have a friend to talk to.ò  

I knew what he meant. We talked for a while, but as the conversation drifted off, I started 

thinking about the JD at McChord.  

ñYou find something,ò he asked. I was startled, but thatôs Casey. Man doesnôt miss a thing.  

ñMaybe,ò I told him. ñMaybe not.ò  

There are a lot of people who match Alanôs general description. The big difference was this 

guyôd been mildly cybered. Alan could have had surgery, but he was always talking about how it 
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interfered with the flow of energy. Matt always agreed with that, saying something about it 

interfering with the flow of oneôs Chi.  

I handed him the folder, figure its always good to have someone a little more subjective review 

things.  

He finished reading it and handed it back to me nodded. ñNothing concrete,ò he agreed. ñHell of 

a break.ò  

I nodded. ñA break that is no break.ò  

He nodded, then asked what I was up to. I told him about my appointment at the arcade.  

He chuckled. ñGood luck, sounds like if it works, youôll have a useful tool for training others.ò  

I shook my head and started laughing. ñMy live, as a video game.ò  

ñJust be careful,ò he urged.  

I looked at him a moment and grinned. ñIôll check in on you when Iôm done.ò  

He told me I didnôt have to, but I could see that he could definitely use the company.  

The arcade was an interesting trip. The manager turned me over to one of his techs and he led me 

to one of the simulator rooms. The tech introduced himself as ñPushCitiò and got to work laying 

out a network of cables as he had me explain exactly what I was trying to do.  

He nodded to himself as I explained what I did and how I was trying to train my partner. When I 

finished he looked at me and began explaining his equipment.  

ñWhat Iôm going to do, is place this net over your head. Itôll pick up your brain impulses, and 

translate them into data. This first session will let us get a preliminary feel for the project and 

allow us to adjust the equipment.ò  

He sounded bored with the procedure, but enamored with the equipment.  

I grinned. ñWould this help?ò I asked as I uncovered my data and chip jacks.  

This time he was surprised. ñYou deck?ò he asked me.  

ñOnly minor stuff,ò I admitted. ñReports, procedures, news feeds.ò  

He looked at me in surprise as he leaned closer. ñYouôve got a 1st rate piece of ware there, and 

all you do is file reports???ò  

I shrugged. ñI wanted to leave my options open.ò  
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He grinned at that, then got to work. We got a wire frame done of the simulator, but by the end 

he was seriously getting into it. He understood the idea of sudden hazards, road and weather 

conditions. Turns out heôd done motorcycle simulations, but never one thisï strenuous, and never 

one where you were trying to get somewhere without getting hit. Usually it was some sort of 

evasion.  

He told me heôd have a first pass in about a week, and then he also told me to stop by sometime 

and heôd show me how to really ñuse that thing right.ò  

I looked at him for a minute and then smiled when I realized he was talking about the datajack.  

Mission accomplished, I headed back to the hospital and spent the rest of the evening with 

Casey. His wife hasnôt been back.  
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Week Fourteen ï Getting in step 

Thursday September 21st 2056 - Third wheel 

I checked on Casey in the morning; Therese was there to drive him home. I figured they have 

things they need to discuss, so I vamoosed. With nothing better to do until shift started, I headed 

back to Lynwood and the clinic.  

I figured it was about time I checked in on Trina and see how things were going there. I think itôs 

the first time I really noticed the work people had done when they rebuilt the clinic. The walls 

were ever so slightly thicker, and the glass had been replaced with some sort of Poly that looked 

virtually unbreakable.  

It was amazingly well done, and barely noticeable. I started feeling guilty about not being there 

all that much, but that didnôt last long. It never does where Trinaôs concerned.  

I gave her the low down on everything that happened. She made me sit on an exam table as she 

checked me out herself. When she was satisfied that no lasting damage had been done, she let me 

off the hook, and the table.  

I helped out until 4:00 and then headed for the station. It felt good to ride there on my ownï 

good, and yet slightly... wrong. Its amazing how quickly I got used to having company. I got to 

the station and reported in for duty. Ray was really relieved to see me, after a week of Walter I 

can understand.  

ñYou ready to work, Miller?ò Cap growled at me. ñOr are you just visiting these poor slobs?ò  

ñIôm here to work sir,ò I answered with a nod.  

ñóBout time,ò he was still growling, but I could see the smile on his face. ñGot anything on the 

side I should know about?ò  

I thought for a moment. ñNot that I know of.ò  

ñGood,ò he answered. ñLetôs see if we can get some work done around here then.ò  

It was nice to lose myself in routine. We reviewed the dayôs cases and Ray brought me up to 

speed on what Iôd missed.  

He noticed I was still wearing my vest, but didnôt say anything. Then I noticed he was wearing 

his too. We both got a laugh out of that. I briefed him on the simulator and he agreed that it was 

probably a good idea. The only problem is when youôre in a simulator, you know itôs a simulator. 

You arenôt going to die. In the real world, you could.  
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We both know that, but we also both know that the more you do something the more second 

nature it becomes and sometimes thatôs what keeps you from going down.  

It was a good nightôs work. Seven accidents, a stabbing, a woman having trouble breathing and 

only one cardiac. I was back in action, and loving every minute of it. 

 

Friday September 22rd 2056 - Always on duty 

The day started out quietly. Iôd forgotten what that could be like. I woke up around 2:00, stopped 

by the clinic, spent an hour helping out, then headed on in to work. I was taking my time, 

enjoying a nice sunny day.  

I had my scanner going, so I heard the call: a shooting about 5 blocks from where I was. I wasnôt 

officially on duty, but lets face it, I was on duty. I was close enough that I got there even before 

DocWagon. Now thatôs rare.  

With all their equipment and money, they can afford to be anywhere, anytimeï full response, full 

cover. Iôd be lying if I didnôt admit that Iôd been tempted to join them. Better hours, better payï 

but I like to feel like Iôm helping people, not just the people who can pay.  

When I got there, the man who looked like heôd done the shooting had been dispatched by a 

rather angry looking Asian man. He was still holding his sword in what Matt called a ready 

stance. Something that doesnôt look too threatening, but can be in a matter of seconds.  

As I moved forward to check on his companion, he stepped between us. ñDocWagon has been 

called.ò  

I nodded, then shook my head. ñTheyôll be here, but in the meantime, Iôm a paramedic,ò I 

carefully pulled out my ID and showed it to him. He was singularly unimpressed. I could tell by 

the sound of his companionôs breathing that he had a sucking chest wound. Once youôve heard it, 

you never forget that sound.  

ñLook,ò I told him. ñYour friend has a sucking chest wound. The sooner treatment is started, the 

better off heôll be.ò  

I studied him for a moment and realized that he was not this manôs friend, but his bodyguard. It 

was just something in the way he carried himself, reminded me of a guy I used to date in 

Baltimore.  

ñMy guess is, youôre sworn to protect him,ò I watched as he made a half nod at my statement. 

ñIôve sworn to preserve life... right now, our goals are the same...ò  
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I could see him waver for a moment, and then finally he nodded. I was immediately on my knees 

working on his boss. It wasnôt easy to ignore the sword that was carefully placed so that he could 

dispatch me, should the need arise, but I did my best.  

Iôd gotten the entry and exit wounds sealed and was about to administer Oxygen when the 

DocWagon, High Threat Response Team (tm) showed up.  

One of their security types demanded that I move away from the victim. I looked at him and 

sighed. ñChest wound, pulse 40 and thready, pupils non-reactive... get a medic, NOW!ò  

I can at least say, he was bright enough to figure out what was going on. He gave the all clear as 

the bodyguard sheathed his sword. Three of their medics piled out and took over as I filed out an 

incident report and handed them a copy.  

Then they were gone and I was left to gather up my gear and head on in to work. After that... 

things seemed rather slow. 

 

Saturday September 23rd 2056 - Street Fire 

I got to visit Mike on the way home. We watched a few cartoons and had breakfast. It was a nice 

bit of normalcy in an otherwise chaotic day. Mrs. Walker suggested I just stay there and get 

some rest before my shift starts. I didn't plan on it, but I was already drifting.  

When I woke up, she had a simple breakfast waiting for me. She had that ómom up to something 

grin' again, and when I got to my bike, I could tell what she'd been up to. My bike had that same 

ófeel' to it as my uniform. There was nothing visible, but I could feel the magic surrounding it. It 

was almost as if the bike had taken on a limited life of its own.  

I looked at her and sighed. "You're going to try and take care of me in spite of myself, aren't 

you?"  

She smiled and grinned. "It is a mother's job," she told me softly. "And you child, need more 

protecting than most."  

I had to laugh at that one. It didn't used to be true. I did have a normal life once. I think I was 

twelve at the time. Fortunately my luck, fickle though it may be, may get me in trouble, but its 

also managed to keep me alive. I guess I can't complain too much.  

As I got on the bike, I could see Mrs. Walker's satisfied smile. She could tell I was still wearing 

my vest.  

When I got to the station, I clocked in and began working on the bike. I'm half tempted to take it 

over to Council Island and let Mrs. Walker give it the once over, especially after the way the rest 

of the shift went.  
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In the evening we had the usual problem with people enjoying the weekend a little too much. I 

could never understand the need to impair oneself in order to have a good time. The problem 

with a lot of the órecreational chemicals,' is the fact that everything is impaired, especially 

judgement.  

Things that would normally be a minor irritation become unbearable, an injustice or insult that 

must be handled right then and there. Problem is, when people go into that mode, even the medic 

is the enemy.  

I managed to deal with most of them rather well. One advantage to my size and demeanor- most 

of the time it gets through to some functioning part of their mind that I am smaller than they are, 

someone to be protected. Most of the time.  

One of our patients was actually smaller than me, smaller and feistier. Turns out that she was 

also not really human. She was a paranormal. Nothing like working on a woman who'd been in a 

bar brawl and have her suddenly come to- and change. One minute I'm working on a concussion 

with some minor cuts and bruises, next I'm trying to keep from being bitten by a very ticked off 

Wolf.  

Sometimes I really hate what's happened to the world. I don't have any problem with Meta 

humans, magic can be a bit freaky, but right then I was really beginning to dislike shape shifters.  

The only good thing was the fact that when she shifted to her normal form, the wolf's physiology 

didn't seem effected by the chemicals that had gotten her human form into such trouble. As soon 

as she got a good idea of what was going on, she calmed down and trotted off.  

I wish I could have shaken the adrenalin rush as easily. I was still trembling when I went back to 

work with Ray on the other combatant.  

"Where's yours?" he asked without looking up.  

After a pause I said, "she refused treatment."  

It took me a little while to shake it off, but I wasn't given much time to think about it. As soon as 

we called in that we were back in service, we were on another run.  

The evening revelers gave way to the hardcore trouble makers. One gang fight, two drive-by 

shootings, three stabbing and a Molotov related fire with injuries.  

Fortunately they got tired too. We were finally looking forward to that 3 hour period between 

exhaustion and morning.  

The calls had died down, when Cap came in with a police scanner. Lone Star was in serious 

pursuit, along with security from Ares. Someone had broken out of their main office and was 

tearing up the town trying to put some distance between them and their pursuers.  
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That meant even more work for us. There had already been 3 accidents with PI reported, and 

from the sounds of things, a lot more coming. They were heading our way, and as we headed 

towards the rig, Cap held up his hand.  

"Watch it boys and girls," he commented. "Sounds like the Ares folks want them badly enough 

that they're actually taking on the Star on this one."  

I turned in surprise. Why would a security team try and take out the Star? They were on the same 

side, weren't they?--Unless...  

I felt my stomach fall with that thought. "Unless," how can one word evoke so much terror? It 

meant the suspects had something that they did not want to be found. Something that shouldn't 

have gotten out of their precious little base. Something that if we ended up too close, could make 

us the victims of 'friendly fire.'  

Whoever these actors were, it was a good bet they were desperate. They're escape was anything 

but subtle. Even as we prepped our equipment, I couldn't help but wonder-- what else was going 

on while everybody was concentrating on this. I couldn't help but think of Fin and the little-- 

incident with Aztechnology. The explosion had be a diversionary thing, cover for the real action. 

I wondered if this was the case, or if somebody's luck was about to come crashing in headlong 

into mine. At least with Fin, whatever he'd done was relatively quiet, as was Aztechnology's 

retribution, this was so public it wasn't funny...  

There were another two accidents, one involving the lead Lone Star Car and an Ares security 

team, by the time they reached our district, all hell was breaking lose. We started rolling, figuring 

on being mobile when the guano really started flying.  

It didn't take long for it to happen either. We were paralleling the action, trying to avoid 

becoming causalities ourselves, while remaining available to help those who already were. That's 

when I got an object lesson on the lethal capabilities of some of the technology available.  

As I paralleled the action, I heard a faint buzz, that turned into a roar as a remote performed 

strafing runs down the alley I was following, like I didn't have enough to evade already.  

I swerved up a side street, which took me a lot closer to the pursuit than I wanted to be. The 

remote was doing its level best to stay with me, and I was doing my best to lose it, and steer clear 

of the ongoing carnage ahead. I was running out of room and about to willfully dump the bike 

rather than go any further. Right before I did, it buzzed past me and started adding to the chaos 

ahead.  

It was over quickly with the getaway car out distancing themselves from the Star as the drone 

held them off. I waited until I heard the all clear, which was given from an Ares helicopter. As I 

pulled out of the alleyway to survey the damage, I could see the car in flames-- and an Ares team 

cleaning up the area.  
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When I approached them, I was warned off. This was their jurisdiction. It didn't seem wise to 

argue with the hardware the man was packing, so I went back and worked my way through 

triaging the rest of the scene.  

Most of the injuries were minor, whiplash, fractured bones. We had a couple of extractions to do. 

By the time we finished, Ares had already cleaned up the scene below. It was almost as if 

nothing had happened.  

I couldn't help but feel a chill. That could have been the boys, or Finï or even me, and it was all 

for nothing.  

 

Sunday September 24th 2056 - Hell Hounds, Ancients and medics... oh my. 

Yesterdayôs clean up lasted well into the morning shift. By the time we were done filing reports 

and cleaning up, it was too late to go home. Staying was out of the question. Sure I could have 

crashed on one of the bunks, but I know me. If Iôm there and a call comes in, Iôm not going to 

sleep.  

I ended up crashing over at Rayôs. Heôs got an apartment about 3 blocks from the station. It was 

a one bedroom quasi efficiency apartment. There was a semi wall between the sleeping room and 

the main room. I could hear him snoring in the other room. I was tired enough that it actually 

lulled me to sleep.  

When I woke up Ray was in the shower. I hadnôt brushed my teeth in over twenty four hours and 

they felt like they were wearing mittens.  

Yeah, I can look at a multiple car pile up with fatal and critical injuries, attend autopsies... but 

man... please let me brush my teeth!  

Guess we all have our pet quirks.  

While I was pondering this Ray finished his shower and tossed me a towel. After a shower and a 

quick bite, we were heading back to the station. We drove by the area where the chase had 

ended, but it was almost as if it had never happened. There were some signs of scorched 

pavement, where the car, and those in it had met their end, but that was it.  

Ray nodded to me and I turned on the scanner. Best way I know to find out whatôs going on in 

the world. The police calls were low, which is a good sign. It is after all Sunday afternoon. For 

some people it does make a difference, but for usï its another day on the job. There was nothing 

there or on the radio about last nightôs chase, making it sound like it was a slow night for us, but 

weôd been there, we knew better.  
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Ray looked at me, knowing that my curiosity was running a mile a minute. He just shook his 

head. ñJessï one of these dayôs your luck is going to run out, and I donôt want to be in the same 

state when it does.ò  

I tried to smile innocently at him, but we both knew it wasnôt working.  

ñIôll send you a letter when it does,ò I promised.  

He chuckled. ñWonder what tonight has in store for us,ò he muttered as he hit the gas and took 

us out of the area.  

ñIf my luck holds true to form, either World War III or an óInjured Cat in treeô call, lets see how 

things went for first shift before we decide.ò  

It didnôt take us long to figure out what kind of day theyôd had. Every vehicle had been serviced, 

washed, and waxed. Yeah, we get the hard night and they get the easy stuff. Figures.  

Ray and I just looked at each other and in unison agreed: ñWorld War III.ò  

I think if I worked in a normal place, no one would have understood the exchange, but Walter 

looked up at us and sighed. ñCome on kids, it canôt be that bad...ò  

We listened to their briefing and got more and more concerned about our shift. Theyôd gotten the 

CIT callï that could only mean trouble for us.  

I think, because we expected it, the trouble never really got started. There was a minor gang 

skirmish between the 405 Hell Hounds and the Ancients. It was more a like a rolling gang war, 

where theyôd fight in one place for a few minutes, then drive on to the next target area. Keeping 

the battle on the run so that nobody could catch up with them.  

We caught up with the ones that were unable to keep up. We treated, or tried to treat the injured, 

but neither side wanted anything to do with us, probably since weôd have to report their injuries, 

but stillï  

One of the Ancients quaintly told me that he did not need the assistance of one whose parents 

had been of questionable lineage. He tried to walk away, and got maybe three steps before blood 

loss caught up with him.  

ñI think you do,ò I told him when he came to.  

He groaned, but at least this time, we were able to take care of him.  

They finally got tired of their game, but by then 5 Hell Hounds and 3 Ancients had been 

sidelined. And I thought football was rough. 
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Monday September 25th 2056 - An easy job. 

I dropped by the station and records on the way home. Doughnuts in hand I waited behind a mob 

of people in front of the desk sergeant. It was the most chaotic Iôd seen the place since Iôd been 

here.  

As one man yelled incoherently at the hapless sergeant, he looked up from his books and called 

out my name. Surprised, I moved forward. He tossed me my pass and told me that Andrews 

wanted to see me when I was done.  

That only seemed to annoy the first man more, but the sergeant seemed immune to his abuse. As 

he buzzed me in, I could see him give me a weary smile. I nodded commiseratively and headed 

for records.  

The crowd in front of me was almost as bad. I understand how they feel, but taking it out on the 

folks trying to help isnôt going to get you anywhere. I looked guiltily at my doughnuts for a 

moment and shook my head. I reminded myself that it wasnôt a bribe, just a bit of civility in an 

otherwise uncivilized world.  

Okay, the gentleman, and elf, in front of me probably had enough civilization and culture for the 

rest of us and then some, but even he was at his wits end. He got to the counter and almost lost 

his cool when Saunders explained to him that he had to fill out the request forms to the left 

before he could be processed.  

Instead of getting louder, like the man next to him, he grew more civilized, more cultured, more 

formal. I could see the look in his eyes as he turned to go file his forms knowing that he would 

have to start all over again with the line.  

I gave Saunders a wink, and the bag of doughnuts. ñWatch these for me, will ya?ò I asked and 

then went over to the counter where the man was busy being overwhelmed by the form.  

ñItôs a bit complicated at first,ò I commented gently. ñBut after you fill out enough of them, you 

get used to it.ò  

He looked at me, a raised eyebrow the only indication that Iôd made him even the slightest bit 

curious. He sighed. ñI do not need the help of [translated: a woman of questionable parentage]ò  

I just love the way you can say something like that in their language and make it sound soï 

melodious.  

I just grinned. ñMy parents were married when I was conceived,ò I informed him. ñThey just 

couldnôt stay that way.ò  

That did surprise him. I didnôt think expected a round-eared, Homo Sapiens-Sapiens to 

understand him, let alone respond.  
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Lets face it, you learn a lot of interesting words in the back of an ambulance where youôre 

treating someone. This can come in handy at times.  

He lightened up slightly, but not much. I showed him the key parts of the form, explained that 

the more information he supplied the easier it would be to check. And I passed on the wisdom 

that Saunders had given me. ñYou may also want to check the hospitals.ò  

He studied me for a moment. ñIs that not Lone Starôs job?ò  

I nodded. ñProblem is, they donôt have that much time in the day to check everything. Some 

things do fall through the cracks, and every little bit helps. There were,ò I paused to scan the disk 

Andrews gave me. ñ47 new missing personôs cases last week and only 5 old ones cleared from 

the week before.ò  

He studied me for a minute. ñThen you help... search for missing persons?ò I could see the hope 

in his eyes.  

ñNot that much,ò I said softly. ñBut if I see him, Iôll let you know.ò  

ñI can pay you,ò he offered. ñPlease.ò He nodded and pulled out a likeness of his brother, the 

missing person.  

I looked at the picture for a moment and then at him. Before I could say a thing, he was offering 

me money. ñ1000 credits for anything you find on him.ò  

I smiled and shook my head, he didnôt need to pay me for the information that followed. ñAs of 

4:00 AM he was at University Hospital.ò  

He looked at me in a combination of confusion and indignation. I could tell he thought I was 

belittling his situation.  

I sighed, and met his gaze. ñIôm a paramedic,ò I explained. ñMy partner and I took him to 

University.ò  

He gasped slightly. ñWhere... how... what....?ò  

It was good to know that his facade could be broken. ñDowntown, he was in a gang fight, he was 

stabbed. Heôs going to be fine, but he needs to rest and regain his strength.ò  

He nodded and pulled out a credstick. I had to wave him off on that. ñAll part of what I do,ò I 

told him. I could see that he wanted to thank me, but that he also wanted to see his brother. ñGo 

on... ñ I urged.  

Then it was back in line for Saunders. Nothing newï except somebody else had noticed the case 

at McChord. I could see Saunders was trying to encourage me, but we both knew how little that 

really meant.  
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We had breakfast and then I headed upstairs to see Andrews. He had the new list and a warning. 

Seems some Yaks have been looking for me.  

This one surprised even me. ñI havenôt ticked anyone off lately, I swear...ò  

Iôm not sure if I was trying to convince myself or him.  

ñJust be careful Jess,ò he urged.  

ñI thought I was before I came here,ò I answered in a half complaint.  

He laughed, but I knew we were both worried about it. As if I didnôt have enough to worry 

about. That was enough for me. I headed home and buried my head under the pillow wishing for 

the roller coaster to stop so I could get off and catch my breath.  

 

Tuesday September 26th 2056 - Just another day 

I got up around 8:00 this morning and started going through things at the condo. Mario had been 

taking care of the cats for me, but thereôs so much else Iôve been neglecting. The mail had piled 

up and the cats were not happy with me. I havenôt been around much, and when I have, Iôve been 

preoccupied. Its not like I really had a choice in the matter, but still...  

I was amazed by the amount of dust and almost empty condo can collect in a week. Dusting and 

vacuuming helped me get my head together enough for the rest of the day. Once I was ready to 

head out, I reviewed the open cases and compared them to the ones already on file. There were 

no changes.  

That in itself was a relief. I headed out with a new list and a renewed vigor. It was good to be 

doing something, even if it did seem futile most of the time.  

Dr. Chen was his usual self. He seemed both relieved to see me and to see that I was alone. He 

made a comment about my óshadowô and I told him that Iôd send along his regards. I was able to 

identify one of Andrewsô missing persons, a woman about 40.  

After a rather futile afternoon I dropped by the arcade. PC was happy to see meï well, he was 

happy to show off the progress on the simulator. He said heôd tried it out himself and its real 

enough that he doesnôt envy me my job.  

I checked it out, it was just want the doctor ordered. I could feel every bump, push, slide... I gave 

him the thumbs up and he grinned. He figures he can have a óhelmetô version later on this week. 

I gave Ray a call about it.  

He didnôt sound quite as excited about it, but heôs willing to give it a try. Weôve got a date for 

tomorrow night to try it out.  
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That finished, I stopped by Caseyôs to see how he was doing. Thereseôs car was in the driveway, 

so I figured it probably wasnôt a good time to visit. Its funnyï I think it the first night I really felt 

alone since I got here.  

 

Wednesday September 27th 2056 - Quiet reflections. 

The day went rather slowly. Funny how that happens where thereôs no international conspiracy 

following you around everywhere you go. I wondered if this was how things were for normal 

people as I headed over to the clinic.  

Yeah, it was about then that I realized that my life was anything but normal, but it helps pass the 

time. At least Iôm meeting my neighbors, and a lot of them seem moreï receptive to me now. I 

still get an occasional glare but for the most part people seem to have gotten used to me.  

I am worried about Trina though. Ever since the incident with Doc Riversï she hasnôt left the 

clinic. I donôt know if sheôll ever trust anybody to ófill inô for her. Not that I can really blame her, 

but she really needs to take some time off.  

Hell, Iôd take some time off if I knew how.  

I met Ray at the arcade around 7:00 and we spent the next few hours tweaking the input/output 

until we had something that was realistic enough to satisfy all of us. The only thing it lacks is 

pain feedback, which is a good idea since the entire idea is to get Ray to relax.  

When we finished I drove by Caseyôs place again. Thereseôs car was still there. Guess they 

figured things out.  

Ah well, tomorrowôs a work day. 
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Week fifteen - Investigations 

Thursday September 28th 2056 - Ready to roll. 

I should have known it was too good to last. The second bike is here, which means we donôt 

have to ride tandem (which with the moves we make is suicidal and contrary to popular belief, 

Iôm not suicidal.), or have him follow on my bikeï we can do this thing right.  

First item of business was going over the bike, making sure everything was fine tuned for Ray 

and making sure it was stocked properly, and so that Ray knew where everything was. Then we 

got our first call.  

We headed out, me in the lead. It was a rainy eveningï but then it always seems that way. Dark, 

oppressiveï wet. I donôt know how many accidents we have because of the rain-- people driving 

too fast, hydroplaning; people not stopping fast enough on slippery roads. Then when the sun 

does shine we end up having accidents because people just arenôt used to the light.  

The roads were slightly more treacherous than usual, I did okay, but Ray went downï not too 

hard, but hard enough. The protective gear took the brunt of it like its supposed to, but I know 

heôs going to be stiff in the morning. He signaled me that he was fine and I continued on my 

way.  

He caught up with me about two minutes before the ambulance arrived. We did a good job of 

handling it all things consideredï but his bikeôs going to need some work before it goes out 

again. I told him that Iôd figured out his plan and it wasnôt going to work.  

He just glared at me and shook his head. Iôve seen that look before, just never on his face. Doubt. 

Heôs wondering if he can do this on a nightly basisï we all go through that stage. Sometimes it 

hits later on, but its always there, lurking. Some people like the job because of the adrenalinï 

Rayôs never been that type... he does it ócause its what he is.  

Heôs not a daredevil, heôs not an adrenalin junkieï what he is is one of the best medics on 

Citiwideôs payroll. I donôt blame him for wanting to think this through, itôs a bit of a jump. But 

its not like Walter thinksï we arenôt the ógunslingers of modern medicineô or some bastardization 

of the true calling. Weôre an adaptation.  

Rayôs just realized how dangerous the job really can be and our job is dangerous enough as it is. 

Seems more and more people donôt care about the lights or the siren. Sometimes.  

We got another call and Ray got up, looked me in the eyes and told me he was taking it. Just as 

simple as that. I could almost see it click for him. He found his reason, whatever it may be, and 

he just decided.  

I know Rayï once he made that decision everything fell into place. Now that his heart and mind 

are in it, everything else will follow.  
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Fire District 97 ï rescue division, is online and ready to serve.  

 

Friday September 29th 2056 - Jess Miller- the video game. 

Ray and I started early this morning(afternoon). We took a ride down to the arcade and found out 

that my life *did* make an interesting video game. At least the motor-medic part of it. I donôt 

think people would believe it if we threw in the other things that have been happening lately.  

Some of the people playing it had a hard enough time believing that what they had was real. I 

think the simulation may have gotten some people interested in the riding part of it at least. I just 

wonder how many of them wouldnôt like the rest of the job.  

I explained to PC what had happened and he nodded as I described the incident. What it all 

boiled down to was the feel of the road against the tires. Knowing what you can handle and what 

you canôt. Three very different variablesï four actually. The weather conditions, the road, the 

bike and the riderôs response.  

PC nodded and thought about it for a moment. I swear he looked like a cartoon character with a 

lightbulb over his head when he came up with a solutionï he began coding for different bike 

types and then designing an input device so he could gage different riderôs responses.  

We left him there, lost in his algorithms. He told us distractedly to come back Tuesday and heôd 

have something for us. Iôm just waiting for Citiwide to get the bill.  

When we got in, Walter gave us a rundown on the calls theyôd covered. From the looks of things 

everybodyôs just waiting for us. Sometimes it feels that way.  

Guy about to speed home, checks his watch and decides to wait thinking, óJess and Rayôll be on 

in an hour, why donôt I wait for them and give them something really interesting to work on.ô  

Sometimes thatôs the way it seems. Its almost as if thereôs a set number of accidents planned for 

the day and if they donôt get them out of the way in the morning weôre dealing with them all 

night.  

It was all in the radio calls. All night. It wasnôt just us, every district seemed swamped. Every 

time weôd clear, we were rolling again. My bike got a full work out, and Ray handled his share 

of calls on it.  

When end of shift rolled around I looked at him and nodded. ñCongratulations,ò I sighed. 

ñYouôre a moto-medic.ò  

He smiled at me, but he looked like I felt: exhausted.  

After shift I went to Council Island and fell asleep in front of the trid with Mike.  



 

A Year in Seattle  157  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

 

Saturday September 30th 2056 - Open mouthï insert foot 

I hadnôt meant to spend the night/day, but instead I woke up on the couch, wrapped up in one of 

the throw blankets. Mrs. Walker was fixing breakfast/dinner and insisted that I at least have 

something light before I headed back in.  

When I got to the station, Therseôs car was there. It was a bit of a surprise, but not as much of a 

surprise as seeing Casey up and about. Guess he was tired of being the invalid. When I saw him 

over talking to Ray, I smiled. He was looking a lot better than the last time Iôd seen him.  

ñJess,ò he called.  

I smiled and waved, still looking around for Therese. ñHey Case,ò I called as I finally joined 

them. I could have kicked myself when I asked where she was. His face fell slightly and I could 

feel the slight chill to his voice.  

ñShe headed back east,ò he answered stiffly. ñFigured it was probably for the best.ò  

I bit my lip. I was kinda hoping that theyôd managed to work things out, especially with how 

much time they were spending together. ñSorry,ò I said.  

He nodded. ñSheôd pretty much planned on leaving once I gave her the all clear on the case,ò he 

added with a sigh.  

ñBut...ò I looked at him and thought about the car out in front of his place. It didnôt really make 

sense. ñShe left you her car?ò  

He chuckled. ñYeah, wellï it would have cost her too much to ship it and Iôm still in no shape for 

my bike.ò  

If I hadnôt been feeling stupid before, the next question sewed it up completely. ñWhen did she 

...ò  

ñLast Sunday night,ò he sighed. ñWas kinda hoping to see you...ò  

I felt like a complete and utter idiot. Here Iôd been ógiving them roomô all the while, theyôd given 

themselves several thousand miles of room. What can I sayï I blew it. Chalk another one up to 

bad breaks.  

Thing wasï I didnôt want to just mark this one off as a mistake and move on. I wanted him to 

know how I felt. Only problem is... Iôm not sure how I feel any more. I mean... I like Case. But 

when I thought he had a chance with Therese I was happy for him, if a bit let down myself.  
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Ah, hell! I canôt figure out any of this. I am so much better with accidents and trauma than Iôll 

ever be with relationships and I should probably leave it at that. I meanï Iôve already blown it, 

why not just admit it and move on.  

The rest of the conversation was cut short by another call. It was a messy one that took up a good 

two hours of our time, but as we were heading back to the station Ray looked at me and shook 

his head.  

ñWhat?ò  

He just smiled and let out a long sigh. ñJess, I know you. Its not like you to not visit the 

man...What gives?ò he said.  

I had to shake my head and chuckle. ñI didï but Thereseôs car was in the driveway. I kinda 

figured theyôd patched things up.ò  

He looked at me and chuckled. ñNow, thatôs more like the Jess I know.ò  

ñYep, putting two and two together and getting 3.5.ò  

We drove to the station in silence. Ray was about to say something when I noticed two men 

standing next to my bike. I could tell by the way they stood that the taller of the two men was 

protecting the first. I didnôt recognize him, but I did recognize the man he was guarding.  

ñJess,ò Ray warned. ñThose two are Yakuza.ò  

I nodded. ñOne of them was a patient of mine,ò I added as I exited the truck and headed over 

towards them warily.  

ñJessica Miller?ò the man Iôd treated asked questioningly.  

ñThatôs me,ò I answered with a slight nod.  

His body guard didnôt like my response, but thatôs fine by me. I wondered briefly about the body 

guard that had been with him the other night and realized that the chances of seeing him again 

were very slimï the man had failed to protect his boss, and that is not something that they would 

or could ever forgive.  

ñI wanted to say thank you, for helping me. Had you not happened by when you did...ò  

ñItôs no problem,ò I answered evenly.  

ñMost people would have left me to the services I had paid for...ò  

It was probably true, but then again, Iôm not most people. ñI was just fighting my old enemies,ò I 

told him.  
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He studied me for a moment then nodded. ñThen you are of the old school, you do not do this for 

money.ò  

It wasnôt a question but a statement. I could see the respect in his eyes. The phrase óJess Miller, 

Samurai Medic,ô ran through my mind. I nodded.  

ñIt is good to know that there are those who still fight their enemies wherever they are foundï 

but you face an enemy you cannot defeat, he will always win in the end.ò  

That earned a half smile from me. ñDeath is sometimes my ally against the othersï but Iôll still 

fight him as long as I am able.ò  

He nodded approvingly. ñThen Jessica Miller, I will leave you to your battle. Should you ever 

need anythingï please think of me...ò  

A slight chill went up my spine. From what little I knew of the Yakuza, I knew that accepting his 

offer would meanï becoming theirs? Iôm not really sure of all their codes and traditions, but I 

know that it was nowhere I wanted to be.  

I bowed slightly. ñThere is no need,ò I stated. ñI was merely...ò  

ñFighting your own demons,ò he answered with a nod. ñThank you just the same.ò  

He left me there with a very perplexed look on my face and an awful lot to think about.  

 

Sunday October 1st 2056 - Nothing to do and all day to do it 

Sometimes I hate my life.  

I thought I had everything figured out, all nice and neat. Caseyôs thrown that whole idea out the 

window. All right, Casey, Andrews, the Yakuza... and everybody else in the confusing excuse 

for a city.  

I donôt know if was just the fact that Iôd grown up in Baltimore or what, but I never had the 

problems there Iôve had in here three months. Three months... Its hard to believe...  

Iôve done so much, had so much happenï and still I have nothing on the boys. Needless to say, 

Iôve been thinking a lot about whatôs been happening, or hasnôt been happening. Iôm not getting 

anywhere with my search.  

Iôve cleaned up their apartment, taken care of their catsï but Iôm no closer to what they were 

doing, or even who theyôd become. Its time to try something different.  
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Problem isï I have no idea what I need to do. I only know what hasnôt worked so far. Even the 

case load matched my mood.  

Nothing.  

No calls, no clues, no directionï nothing but a sinking feeling that Iôm fighting my way upstream 

and whatôs waiting on the other side isnôt any better or more helpful than what Iôve already been 

through. Just another case of ñyou canôt win, you canôt break even and you canôt get out of the 

game.ò  

Sure, Iôve made friends. Some of them are probably closer to me that the boys ever were, or 

could beï but thatôs not why Iôm here. Thereôs so much I want, and Iôm beginning to see that Iôm 

not going to get it.  

 

Monday October 2nd 2056 - First Case 

I wasnôt much company when I stopped by the police station, but at least Iôd gotten some sleep. 

Ray knew I wasnôt having a good day, but he knew better than to try and help me. There wasnôt 

all that much he could have done other than annoy me.  

Hell, if I could have, Iôd have avoided me. I was that bad. I was heading for records when 

Andrews stopped me. One look and he knew that I wasnôt doing all that great. Instead of offering 

advice or hollow condolences, he offered me a job.  

Itôs the Mario method of dealing with things you canôt do something about... find something you 

can do something about and do it.  

He introduced me to a woman who was looking for her brother. Heôd only been missing 12 

hours, so he couldnôt do anything about it officially. Unofficially he could put her together with 

me and see what we came up with.  

Hell of a recommendation though. óMs. Philips, this is Jess... she canôt find her own brothers, but 

maybe she can help you find yours...ô  

He didnôt say it, he didnôt mean itï but thatôs the way I felt about whole thing. I paused and then 

nodded. ñYouôll have to excuse me Ms. Philips,ò I apologized. ñIts been a very long night for 

me. Why do you think your brother is missing?ò  

She started to get angry, I could see it in her eyes. Sheôd been to the Star, and told that they 

couldnôt do anything for another 12 hours, and now the detective theyôd recommended to her 

was questioning the matter as well.  

ñI donôt think... I know,ò she snapped.  
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ñFine,ò I sighed. ñHow do you *know* your brother is missing?ò  

She stared at me for a minute then finally told her story. I could tell she was tired of telling it, but 

I held her to it, asking questions when she trailed off. At first she was still angry, but as the 

questions continued, she realized I wasnôt questioning her, but looking for more details.  

Her brother had called her out of the blue after almost six months of no communication. Heôd set 

up a dinner date for Sunday Night, then nothing.  

He never showed at the restaurant. When she stopped by his apartment it was empty. She 

stopped by his office and they claimed he never worked there.  

I took notes then looked at her. ñI canôt make any guarantees,ò I warned her. ñWhat I can do is 

get the groundwork done so that when the police can officially consider him missing, the 

information is already there for them.ò  

She looked at me a moment and then nodded. Iôm not the type to snow somebody, I know how 

hard it can be trying to find someone here, encouragement is one thing, false hopes are another, 

and Iôm not going to bolster them in someone else. Weôve got more than enough to deal with.  

ñOkay,ò I told her, then I retold her story from what Iôd gotten from her story.  

ñYour brother is a molecular biologist for Paren Dee & Nebula Pharmaceuticals. Heôs been 

working there for some eight years on a project he hasnôt been able to talk about. You two used 

to be really close, but with work and everything youôve drifted further and further apart. Three 

days ago he calls without any real explanation asking you to meet him at Trattoria Pagliacciôs for 

dinner last night. Reservations were placed on or around the time he called you.ò  

I paused as I thought about the story, knowing what not knowing was doing to her. I could see 

the tension as I repeated back what sheôd told me. She nodded and I continued. ñWhen you 

showed up, he wasnôt there. You waited...ò I paused as I reviewed the notes Iôd made. ñ... two 

hours, then called his apartment, unsure if youôd made a mistake. There was no answer.ò  

ñNo...ò she corrected softly. ñThere was nothing. I got that annoying tone and recorded voice that 

said that number was not in use.ò  

I nodded, updating my notes and then continuing. ñYou took a cab to his apartment and it was 

empty.... then you waited for records to open here and reported what had happened.ò  

She nodded. ñI just know somethingôs happened. He wouldnôt just not show up...ò  

I nodded. ñIôll see what I can do,ò I promised. ñLet me talk to Andrews.ò  

She waited in the interrogation room weôd commandeered while I tracked him down and got the 

details from him.  
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ñThereôs a good possibility he either had a breakthrough or another job offer. Wanted to share 

the good news with his sister,ò he looked around for a moment. ñHe could have ended up 

working for another company... willingly or otherwise.ò  

ñOr the same company, on a shorter leash,ò I added grimly.  

ñNow youôre thinking like a Seattle detective,ò he told me encouragingly. ñYou taking the job?ò  

I looked at him with óthe look.ô ñYou knew Iôd take it,ò I grumbled. ñThere goes that nap I was 

planning.ò  

He smiled. ñI knew that permit would come in handy.ò  

I sighed. ñCould you at least tell me what the going rate for a gumshoe is?ò  

He looked at me for a moment and then shook his head. ñYou really donôt know do you?ò  

I shook my head. ñMedic rates, sureï those I know and study... Youôre the one that set me up 

with the detective stint.ò  

ñSimple case... go for 200-500/day plus expenses... ñ  

ñAndrews, if thereôs one thing Iôve learned since I got here, thereôs no such thing as a simple 

case,ò I sighed.  

ñWell, there is that,ò he agreed. As I turned to go, he gave me an updated disk, and I once again 

compared it to the last. There had been one case that had been updated with more details, two 

open cases had been closed and seven more had been added.  

That done I finished the formalities with Ms. Philips. We agreed on 350/day with the 

understanding that, unless I came up with anything, would be simply for one dayï to do the 

groundwork for the Star and to make sure that the trail didnôt grow cold while we waited for 

them to take over.  

She went back to her place where her brother could call her in case something had come up, and 

where I could contact her if need be. I waited about 10 minutes after she left then headed out.  

My first stop was the arcade. I needed to talk to PC about the simulator and it gave me the 

perfect reason to be there. I told him some of what I needed and supplied the theory I needed to 

get it.  

Then he took my pocket unit and went over it, muttering under his breath about people working 

with off the shelf units with factory installed tracing chips. He asked me how Iôd lasted as long 

as I had.  
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I reminded him that I was a medic-- that I used the jack for checking e-mail, file transfers and 

filing my reports in a timely fashion. I could tell by the look heôd given me that he hadnôt 

believed me the first time Iôd told him.  

As I was leaving, he told me to come back sometime, and heôd set me up with something a little 

less testosteronally challenged.  

Next I checked the hospitals between his place, his work and Trattoria Pagliacci. I didnôt find 

him, but I did find one of Andrewsô cases. I called it in and then headed over to a restaurant PC 

had suggested. óBlueôsô A place that caters to the matrix set.  

I ódeckedô in, if you can call it decking with the equipment I was using. Lets face it, I wasnôt 

doing anything exciting or intrinsically difficult. I was checking the manôs records. Phone, 

address, employment... simple things that should have been in the book.  

Should have. It was as if Darwin Philips had never existed. Seeing that, I looked up Elaine 

Philips, his sister. At least she checked out  

While I was in the system, I made an appointment to look at his apartment, which according to 

the system has been available for over a month.  

The apartment, as she said was empty. But it looked more like it had been empty for over a 

month, like management said, rather than his sister. It smelled of relatively new paint, but it 

wasnôt fresh. I thought about it and realized that the trail may be older than the 12, now 18 hours, 

weôd thought.  

I took the elevator to my bike, noting the empty space for apartment 124-A. It just wasnôt adding 

up. I reported my findings, or lack thereof. Then took some time to weigh my options. Iôd 

finished the groundwork, except for checking with his employers.  

After doing as much as I could for the time being, I headed over to Elaine Philipôs place. She 

wasnôt happy with the results, I wasnôt happy taking her money. She told me that a deal was a 

deal, and I had done the groundwork that would hopefully speed things up. I stayed with her 

until he was officially missing and then turned the case over to Andrews.  

I just wish I could let it rest. 

 

Tuesday October 3rd 2056 - The way of the decker 

I was still a bit groggy when I got up and headed over to Dr. Chenôs. I figured it wouldnôt hurt 

anything to add the Philipôs case to my search. There was nothing new.  
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I finished up the hospitals and even ran by Renrakuï not that they let me in mind you. There was 

no emergency and no reason for them to let me in. I checked in with Andrews and he told me not 

to worry about it, that Iôd done a good job.  

Iôd done nothing. Well, thatôs not entirely true. Iôd done plenty, I just came up empty. It was too 

much for me. The trail was only twenty-four hours old, officially, probably more like 72 hours. 

Thatôs if we take it from the last time Elaine had talked to him.  

Someone must have seen him, must have known him. I went back to the arcade and took PC up 

on his offer.  

It was indeed an interesting trip. And the man had a simulation of the whole thing setup. I guess 

it was easier for him to program it than to try and find the words to describe it to me. It was like 

nothing Iôve ever experienced. It was real, and unreal at the same time. Once he was sure I 

wouldnôt embarrass him, he showed me around a few of the ólightweightô areas. Places I could 

go with my skill level and equipment. He showed me some of what I needed, then we exited.  

He nodded at me. ñNow... you wanna find out what we can about this?ò  

I looked at him. ñBut weôve checked... everything havenôt we?ò  

ñJess... Jess... ñ He sighed shaking his head. ñWhat we looked at... that was just the tip of the ic-

burg.ò  

I didnôt get his joke at the time, but by the end of his little tour, I understood it all too well. I got 

to watch what he was doing through a hitcher jack. He knew the ins and outs of security like I 

knew my way around an accident scene. No doubt heôd done this before. We bounced around 

through connections until weôd worked our way through to Darwin Philipôs alleged domicile. (I 

always wanted to say that.) He reviewed information for the last week. Records, visits, backups 

and finally security tapes.  

Darwin Philips may not exist on their records now, but he was there a week ago.  

PC warned me that the information heôd gathered wasnôt admissible in court, and for that matter, 

I could be in serious trouble if they even knew I was involved with what heôd just done. He 

didnôt have to tell me that, or the fact that he didnôt do what heôd just done.  

No, it was just proof that somebody was hiding something somewhere. The question was what 

and why. Philipsô buildingôs part of district 43 which gave me an idea.  

I made a few phone calls and traded my way onto tomorrow nightôs shift in District 43. PC may 

be able to go through their computer system, but youôd be surprised where a medic can go.  

 

Wednesday October 4th 2056 - The way of the medic. 
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I didn't have much time to sleep, I had too much else to do. I headed out early since I didn't know 

the people of the 43rd except in passing and I wanted to be sure I was familiar with the area. I 

wasn't officially there. I was a 'ride on', but since I am also a paramedic, I was expected to 

perform when needed.  

I swung by Elaine Philips' place on the way in. Everything seemed nice and peaceful there, but I 

know what she was going through.  

The shift wasn't that hard, and it was only an eight hour shift, but I got to talk to the guys and 

find out more about the area and about Paren Dee & Nebula Pharmaceuticals. Seems they've had 

a series of accidents recently. Citiwide has been called there eight times in the past three weeks. 

By the time they were allowed into the lab, the patient had already been stabilized and ready for 

transport.  

I ended up checking the call load for the past year, and there had been nothing before the batch 

of calls they'd recieved. After the shift was over, I stopped by the hospital where all the patients 

had been taken. It was a little late, but the duty nurse had heard of me. She let me look through 

their John Doe cases and I managed to check a few of the other cases out before it was time for 

me to leave.  

The two cases I did get a look at were both for chemical burns. One had been treated and 

released, the other... cremated before an autopsy could be performed.  

I passed the information on to Andrews, filed a copy in my safety deposit box and went to bed. 

No matter what I come up with from here on out, I still have my real job to do.  
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Week Sixteen ï Life in simulation 

Thursday October 5th 2056 - Look for the union label. 

I checked in with Andrews and Ms. Philips first thing in the morning, of course, my idea of ófirst 

thing in the morning' is 2:00 PM. Andrews understood, he knows my schedule. Ms. Philips on 

the other hand... I think it was a combination of things: not getting anywhere in her search; the 

fact that the one day I was working the case had come and gone without result; the fact that I was 

updating her at 2:00 instead of ófirst thing in the morning.' (Which for her, like most people is 

probably before 8:00.)  

Next I checked with dispatch. There hadn't been any calls from Paren Dee & Nebula 

Pharmaceuticals, but I figured the day was still young. I wondered if their safety record 

imploding on itself had anything to do with Darwin's disappearance but somehow I doubt any 

calls from them will involve him.  

Especially after all the work someone's done to make it seem like he's never been where ever it 

was he's been.  

I stopped by Blue's and got a quick bite and a quick matrix connection. I had never thought to 

use it for the daily news feeds, but it was great for that as well. I also hit the pharmaceutical 

company's main business page and read their public history information, and their white papers 

on ongoing projects.  

Nothing seemed out of the ordinary, but then again- eight accidents in three weeks is anything 

but ordinary.  

Ray knew something was up as soon as he saw me. He rolled his eyes slightly when I told him 

what was happening.  

"Jess," he told me. "You took the job for one day... you did the legwork so that everything was 

ready when he was officially declared missing... that should have been the end of the matter."  

I nodded, started to object when he continued.  

"But a lab having a sudden rash of accidents... maybe what they need is a safety inspection."  

I studied him for a few moments and snorted. "Yeah, but they wouldn't even let the medics in the 

pick the people up... they prepped them and brought them out to the ambulance... you think 

they're going to let us in for an inspection?"  

Ray grinned at me and winked. "Its not a question of them letting us in my dear... but the 

union..."  
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He surprised me with that. That's what I love about Ray. If there's a way.. he'll find it and he'll do 

it with style. Three phone calls to the union and one return call and we have an appointment at 

Paren Dee & Nebula Pharmaceuticals in the morning.  

 

Friday October 6th 2056 - Accident Number 9 op. 11 

I don't know what I was expecting at Paren Dee & Nebula, but I can tell you it wasn't what I 

found. The halls were pristine and the labs they showed us were completely normal. A 

representative from the union greeted us at the gate.  

Needless to say, he knew Ray- and he'd heard of me.  

"So you're Citiwide's new motorcycle medic," he commented as he shook my hand.  

I had to grin. "Nah, I'm the old motorcycle medic... Ray here, he's the new one."  

He chuckled and made a slight joke about old dogs. Once he was sure we were ready he showed 

his credentials and ours, the guard opened the gate for us. He did not look happy to see us. As we 

walked back I stiffened slightly- I swear I heard a low growl come from him, like a large cat.  

He turned slightly, with almost cat-like grace and looked at me from the corner of his eyes. It 

was very unsettling.  

Very quickly we were met by a representative of the company, definitely a PR man by trade. 

Made all the big friendly gestures, the friendly, if slightly sexist joke to ólighten things up.' With 

him was a representative from the local union, one who worked in the labs.  

We asked them about their record, safety devices. They showed us the wash basins, emergency 

shower, the hoods. We tested them out. Ray and I both noting how they PR man and the inside 

union guy were exchanging looks. It was like they were asking how to appear co-operative and 

yet give us nothing.  

Ray and I just went on as if we hadn't seen it, but we didn't let them slip past the lab where the 

accidents occurred. When we reached that door we stopped. "How about this one," Ray asked as 

he nodded towards the door.  

"Oh... that one's closed for renovations. Getting the latest and greatest in safety," the PR man told 

us with all the genuineness and believability of a used car salesman.  

We nodded at each other and started moving towards the door as accident number 9 went into 

full swing. Ray and I were pushed against the far wall by the concussion as the sprinkler system 

kicked on. We stumbled to our feet as the first victim staggered through the doorway.  

The PR man screamed.  
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Saying that chaos reined would have been an understatement. In the next 5 minutes, it was all 

Ray and I could do to remember to breath through our re-breathers. Slipping them on was second 

nature, but relying on them is another.  

The PR man tried to stop us as we headed towards the door. Security was already streaming in to 

ócontain the area.ô  

That would have been fine if their containment meant protecting people, but all they were 

concerned about was securing the areaï keeping us from seeing any propriety production 

methods.  

Without even thinking about it, Ray took over, occupying security, the PR man and his crony by 

ordering them to close off the area and to help with the injured,.while ordering his buddy and me 

into the room to assess the situation and triage the people inside the room.  

We headed in while he was directing traffic. There were five people in the lab, and they did not 

look good. The explosion seemed to be centered along the far wall, dangerously close to the gas 

tanks. Chromatography was off the scale-- that meant our first priority was to cut off the gas 

supply and let the hoods do their job.  

As the gas was vented from the room, security had recovered from Rayôs óattackô and were back 

in control. They ushered us out along with the injured, but not before we saw the project itself.  

Now, Iôm not exactly sure since my bio-chemôs pretty much limited to emergency medicine and 

some minor ówilderness medicineô, but what they were working on sure looked... wrong. Iôll bet 

if I slot a chip on Bio-chem procedures and pharmaceuticals I wonôt find anything like itï 

anywhere.  

As we finished stabilizing the victims for transit, the PR man was talking charges of trespassï we 

were talking about sabotage.  

That at least got him to shut up. He may have jurisdiction of how injured accident victimôs are 

transported out of their facility, but the Star had jurisdiction over violent crimes, and Citiwide 

had jurisdiction over Arson investigations. Looks like everybody is now in on this one.  

He wasnôt too pleased, but I didnôt really care. They had a serious problem and all they cared 

about was their proprietary little process. Security hadnôt secured anything, just kept everything 

quiet, and because of that, seven more people were injured, two seriously.  

That comes under negligence, and I know Rayôs Union friend was taking notes. Once the 

investigators arrived and Ray and I filed our reports, the 43rd had taken over the arson side of the 

investigation. The Star told us theyôd get copies of our report and call us if they had any 

questions.  

I had plenty of questions, but I couldnôt ask them there. I headed over to the hospital to check in 

on our patients. The guard who had waved us in was conspicuously missing. This seemed to 
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confirm in my mind that something was definitely up, and someone a hell of a lot bigger than 

Paren Dee & Nebula.  

I wasnôt able to talk to any of the folks from Paren Dee & Nebula, but I passed the information 

on to Andrews and headed home.  

Six hours later, I was back at the station. I smiled when I saw that the trucks were grimy and 

Walter was sacked out on the couch. Theyôd had a tough day, which boded well for us.  

 

Saturday October 7th 2056 - Jess's special 

It wasnôt as slow a night as Iôd have liked, but it was slow. Just a long series of ñnormalò runs. If 

there is such a thing. After shift I went home for a change and played with the cats before going 

to bed. In the fridge I found another note from Fin.  

Youôd figure by now I was used to it, but no...  

It was a warning about the case, and how it was putting me at risk with Aztechnologies. I think 

itôs a little late to be worrying about that since *he* was the one who got me on their óthis person 

could be troubleô list to begin with.  

At least he confirmed that I wasnôt just being paranoid about that guard. And another bright side, 

I guess, is the fact that I know heôs all right. All right and breaking into the condoï again.  

I donôt know how he does it and Iôm not sure I want to. I mean, Iôve been using the security 

measures the boys built in ever since Casey showed me where they were and how they worked. I 

thought about getting Casey to give the place another going overï but I think Iôve already 

messed that up and I donôt think either of us need to rehash it.  

Oddly enough its not easy to sleep after finding a warning message taped to the milk in your 

fridge, in the middle of your supposedly secure homeï but Iôm learning.  

I woke up around three, gave the apartment a once over with a dust rag, grabbed my bagel from 

the diner and headed in.  

They tell that bagelôs have gotten very popular with the óon the runô crowd.  

I got to the station a little early and checked in with Andrewsï there were some new 

developments with the Darwin Philips case and he briefed me on them. It was nothing concrete, 

but it was looking like industrial espionage and ... recruiting. I told him my suspicions about 

Aztenchonology and he agreed with me, but, as he was quick to point out, suspicion doesnôt get 

you anything in this business.  
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I didnôt get to the finish the call before Ray and I were on a call. As a matter of fact it was 

midnight before I got to my bagel. In the bottom of the bag was a new menu for the diner... 

added to the breakfast list.. ñJessôs specialò  

 

Sunday October 8th 2056 - Pay outs 

Well, there wasnôt a note waiting for me this time when I got home-- Fin was there in person.  

He was looking a little bit different than he did the last time I saw himï before he got mauled 

that is. I couldnôt put my finger on it at first, but as I hugged him, I realized heôd bulked up some. 

I knew that the only way he could have done that so quickly was with some surgical help. I bit 

my lip rather than comment. Some of the enhancements out there can be pretty dangerous, but 

then again, not having enough strength is probably what got him hurt.  

I locked the door, then flopped into the couch and gestured towards one of the seats.  

ñSo...ò I prompted.  

ñSo...ò he sighed as he eased himself into the chair. I could tell by the way he moved, heôd gone 

for enhancement. Iôd learned a few things about the process in our med classes. Fluid 

movements, stronger ligaments were just a few signs that the patient was more than standard 

issue... and that meant some very different treatment procedures when treating damage. 

Cyberwareôs even worse. I keep several chips on that handy, just in case...  

Guess we all do what we have to remain competitive; to stay aliveï thatôs the real key.  

He studied me for a while and then let his breath out slowly. ñJess... you know I wouldnôt have 

involved you if it hadnôt been important... and... I never gave you your payment for what you 

did.ò  

I stared at him in surprise. ñFin,ò I told him. ñWhat I didï I did because you asked me. I know 

you wanted to try and protect me, and all your alibis would have worked in dealing with the Star 

in s standard investigation, but Aztechnologies arenôt people to be trifled with.ò  

Even I know that. I mean, I may be naive, but Iôm not stupid.  

He sighed. ñYeah, but I figured it was worth what we were getting.ò  

I shook my head. ñNothingôs worth what you and the others went through. You could have been 

killed...ò  

He gave me a smile. ñBut we arenôt... and it was worth it,ò he told me.  
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I was so sure he didnôt get it, but it turned out I was the one who didnôt get it. He handed me a 

data chip and told me to take a look.  

It had been worth it. And my payment was specifically designed for me. It was a case file, dated 

7/23/56. A team of seven shadow runners had raided one of their óoff baseô storage facilities. 

Two of the people were very familiar. Their general builds were too familiar to miss-- Matt and 

Alan. I looked at him with a combination of gratitude and surprise.  

He smiled, ñI figured youôd want to see that.ò  

I nodded, too surprised to do much else. It was the best news Iôd received in a very long time. I 

tried to ignore the fact that Andy wasnôt there, but it was still possible that he was working with 

them, safely tucked away somewhereï thatôs the way PC says its usually done.  

I was a jumble of emotions. I was tired, worried, confused, happy, and hopeful.  

Fin just watched me for a few moments, then sighed. ñAnd now youôve got yourself on the 

wrong side of AZT... again.ò  

I shook my head. ñIt wasnôt my fault!ò  

ñJess,ò he sighed. ñIt never is, but they just donôt care. You become a threat to their operations, 

they let you know.ò  

I nodded. ñYou know that better than me,ò I told him.  

ñYeahï at least they didnôt get you.ò  

I nodded, as I remembered the leopard and the whisper in my mind. ñThey almost did,ò I told 

him. ñThey almost did.ò  

His eyes narrowed as he looked at me. ñAw Jess... Iôm sorry... I figured weôd covered your tracks 

well enough.ò  

I shook my head. ñThe guard... he knew my name... knew my curious nature and warned me that 

it was a dangerous thing.ò  

He moved closer then, kneeling beside the couch. ñJess, Iôm sorry. I didnôt want to endanger 

you. I just...ò  

ñWanted to get me information on the boys,ò I finished for him. ñAnd it was worth it.ò  

I could honestly say that. It was worth it for me. I had all but given up hope and now I knew at 

least two of them were alive as late as July. It gave me hope, but according to the file, they were 

still on the run, and building up a whole new list of enemies.  
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I seemed to be inheriting those enemies. I didnôt sleep that much before shift, but we had a quiet 

night. When the morning came, I was ready for some sleep, and another review of the files that 

Fin had given me.  

Hope is alive again. I hadnôt really noticed how much had died inside me, until he gave me a 

glimpse of what I wanted... theyôre out there, and Iôm going to find them.  

 

Monday October 9th 2056 - Will the real Jess Miller, please stand up. 

I tried not to get my hopes up. The fact that Aztechnology had a file on my brothers meant only 

one thingï they were in serious trouble. Iôd known that much but at least now some of the 

trouble had a face.  

Still, no matter how I tried to keep everything bottled up inside, I knew that they were at least 

alive, and still fighting as recently as two months ago.  

As that fact settled in, more questions started filling my mind. Was their original trouble AZT, or 

was it something else? Did this óraidô have something to do with what had tried to take them out, 

or was it just something they did because they didnôt have enough trouble already? And finally, 

were they really missing, or did they not want to be found?  

Iôd been looking for John Doeôsï unidentified people, and for information on them by name. I 

hadnôt even taken into consideration the fact that they might have been hiding under assumed 

names.  

I stopped by records on the way home, doubting even more that missing persons would ever be 

able to help me. As I waited in line I couldnôt help but notice the woman at the front of the line. 

Saunders looked up at me. I could tell by his expression that something was up.  

Where he took it from there surprised the hell out of me. He focused in on the bag (doughnuts) 

and yelled óGun.ô Everybody flattened themselves against the ground as he vaulted the counter 

and hit me with a flying tackle. I have to admit, I was actually more surprised than anybody else 

there.  

He put me into an arm lock, took the bag in one hand and pinned my arms behind me with the 

other. He was marching me out of the room like that before anybody could say óboo.ô  

Once we were out of records, he hauled me into one of the interrogation rooms and closed the 

door. Only then did he relax.  

I waited for him to catch his breath and explain.  

ñSorry Jess,ò he said between breaths. ñDidnôt know how else to get you out of there.ò  
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This piqued my curiosity.  

He shook his head as he took another deep breath and forced himself to let it out slowly. ñThat 

girl in there... head of the line...ò  

I nodded.  

ñSays sheôs from Baltimoreï looking for her brothers... Name she gave... yours...ò  

That caused a double take.  

He nodded again. ñWanted to know how you wanted to handle it.ò  

I thought for a minute. ñWell, my options are limited since you hauled me out of there,ò I sighed.  

I regretted that almost immediately when I saw the expression on his face.  

ñCan you get Andrews in on this?ò I asked.  

He nodded, ñprobably, after all its his case.ò  

I smiled. ñOkay... lets see what information we can get on her...ò  

He sighed. ñSheôs already given me a false address for contact information so I donôt think sheôs 

planning on coming back.ò  

I nodded. ñOkay, let me see where Andrews thinks we should take this... and... thanks.ò  

He nodded. ñSorry bout the tackle... the doughnuts still good?ò  

I rubbed my ribs and chuckled. At least he had his priorities skewed in the normal direction.  

He grinned. ñThereôs a back door out of here... donôt know if she has any accomplices.ò  

I nodded.  

It didnôt take me long to get to Andrews and fill him in on the details. He was almost as intrigued 

as I was. He squirreled me away in the observation room, with a mage to shield me from any 

attempts to spy on me. Then Saunders escorted óJessica Millerô into the room.  

ñMiss Miller,ò he greeted her standing and offering her his hand. She shook it shyly and then sat 

down.  

ñI understand youôre working on my brotherôs case...ò  
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She sounded so sincere. I mean, if I didnôt know she was lying through her teeth, Iôd have almost 

believed her. Almost.  

ñYes Maôam,ò Andrews answered as he poured himself a cup of coffee and offered her one as 

well.  

She took it and sipped it demurely. I really didnôt like the way she was looking at him. Neither 

did the mage.  

ñSheôs up to something,ò he warned me.  

ñTell me something I donôt know,ò I answered sotto voce.  

ñNo, sheôs getting ready to try and run something on him magically,ò he said as he prepared to 

counter it.  

I tensed, knowing that he wouldnôt let anything happen to Andrews. Only problem was we had 

no way of knowing what she was capable of or what she was willing to do. I pulled out a tranq 

patch from my kit. Being a medic does have its advantages.  

Even I could sense the spell as she started it, her eyes meeting his over her steaming cup. ñSgt. 

Andrews,ò she stated hypnotically. ñPlease... tell me everything you know about this case.ò  

I was about to move when the mage placed a hand on my shoulder and shook his head. ñHeôs 

okay... for now...ò he said, splitting his concentration between me and Andrews. Realizing I was 

endangering Andrews calmed me down in a hurry. So I took a deep breath and watched him.  

I could see him stiffen as he began telling her about the case. He sounded as if he was in a trance 

as he told her everything that was in the file, which wasnôt much. I knew. Iôd read it at least 

seven times when I got here and finally met with the man.  

She nodded. ñVery good...ò She told him in the same tone. ñWhen I leave here, you will destroy 

the tapes and forget ever seeing me.ò  

Andrews nodded once and then his gaze fell to his coffee.  

She smiled and turned to leave, looking at herself once in the mirror then putting her hand on the 

door.  

ñArenôt you going to finish your coffee Jess?ò he asked.  

I smiled as she whirled around. There was an audible click as the door was locked and the mage 

opened the side door and entered the room. The womanôs eyes blazed as she stared first at him 

and then at me.  

ñYou...ò she growled. ñYou were in records...ò  
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I nodded. ñCase of mistaken identity,ò I told her as I tilted my head slightly. ñWhatôs your 

excuse?ò  

The woman looked at all three of us as she tried to regain her composure and weasel her way out 

of what weôd seen.  

Finally she flounced into a chair. ñI want my lawyer.ò  

Even as she supposedly surrendered I could feel her preparing for another spell, and I could feel 

the mage preparing for whatever she offered. I sighed, palming the tranq patch and offered my 

hand.  

ñAllow me to introduce myself,ò I offered her my hand. As she shook it reflexively, I placed my 

other hand, the one with the tranq patch in it, over the back of her hand. ñIôm Jess Miller...ò  

Her eyes widened slightly, but even as she prepared to grab me, the patch did its job. She 

slumped forward in her chair and looked at me through glassy eyes.  

Andrews and the mage both looked at me in surprise. I shrugged. It was a childôs dose, not 

enough to knock her out, but enough to keep her from trying anything.  

Questioning was slow, but she forgot about her lawyer so I guess it was a win. She had been 

hired to find out as much about the case as she could. She had very little information on the man 

whoôd hired her other than the name: Mr. Johnson.  

Andrews merely raised his eyes and sighed. I looked at him a minute before realizing he must be 

related to some of my favorite patients, John and Jane Doe.  

óMr. Johnson.ô had hired her to come in and pose as a grief stricken sister to three missing men. 

She had their names and very little else on them. One thing we did realize... this was a very 

recent addition to the puzzle, since her boss didnôt know that I had already been here for quite 

some time.  

I donôt know how co-operative she was going to be once the tranquilizer wore off, but Andrews 

promised me heôd get as much as he could. It wasnôt muchï more like a new turn in the maze 

that probably led to a dead end, but it was something.  

I took my update and headed home, figuring on getting a good morningôs sleep but some road 

construction outside the condo made that impossible. I ended up sacking out at the clinic. I had 

meant to help, but I was just too tired.  

Mario woke me up around 7:00 since I was still asleep and the office was closed. He took me 

home and made me eat spaghetti. After dinner he wanted a full report on everything that had 

happened since Iôd last seen him. It was quite a bit, and we polished off the wine from dinner as I 

told him what was going on. And I finally told him everything, including the raid on AZT. It felt 

good to get it all of my chest.  
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Mario listened to all of it, nodded at the appropriate times... It felt good to have someone know 

everything that was going on. Someone I could talk toï especially since I figure I wonôt be able 

to talk to Casey anymore...  

 

Tuesday October 10th 2056 - Squid Games 

I woke up on the couch in Marioôs apartment. A blanket carefully draped over me, and Mario 

dozing in the chair next to me.  

I yawned and almost rolled over again when I noticed the time. I started to get up and Mario 

sighed as he shifted position. ñJess, youôve got to learn to take things easy,ò he urged. ñHow long 

do you figure you can keep up like this?ò  

I noticed the look in his eyes and figured heôd just been through this same conversation with 

Trina. I looked at him and shrugged.  

ñI donôt know,ò I answered slowly. ñBut I canôt just do nothing.ò  

He nodded kindly, but then his eyes darkened slightly. ñI understand thatï but if you kill yourself 

trying to find themï what good will it do?ò  

His question haunted me all the way to the MEôs office. Dr. Chen was waiting for me. I could 

tell by the way he was showing me around that something was up and told him as much.  

He had a JD that matched Andyôs general description. After the news on the others, it almost 

made everything seem that much worse. I feel sorry for the man it wasï but so grateful it wasnôt 

Andy. I felt guilty, and relieved. With the worst part of the check over, I moved on. I tried not to 

think about Marioôs warning, but it was there all day as I went from hospital to hospital.  

I finished most of it and only had a few more clinics to check when I finally called it quits. Mario 

was right, it wasnôt helping. I decided to go over to the arcade and talk to PC.  

He set me up with a beefed up pocket secretary that would allow me to do limited things in the 

matrix-- mostly checking public records and references. When I offered to pay he waved it off. 

Seems óMotoMedicô is a top seller for them. He said it was the least he could do.  

I was on the way out when a testosterone laden road rocket jockey declared himself master of the 

game. I grinned at PC and he echoed it.  

I beat him hands down. He was shocked until he saw the caduceus on my jacket. I winked at 

him. It is weird seeing your life as a video game... at least the best parts. Thereôs no maintenance, 

no dusting... only the chase.  

Sometimes, thatôs what its all about.  
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Wednesday October 11th 2056 - 24 / 7 

Under the orders of Dr. Mario I have been forced to take the day off and do nothing except take 

long walks in the park with him and Trina. It reminded me of the first time he took the two of us 

out. It was when weôd met Doc Rivers.  

One look at Trina and I could see sheôd thought about the same thing. Maybe going out wasnôt 

the best of ideas.  

Trina spent most of the afternoon reviewing cases as Mario and I skipped stones along the water. 

When Mario tried to pull her away from her work, she shook her head. Then Mario did 

something I never thought Iôd see him do.  

He took her pocket secretary and threw it into the water. She all but screamed at him and he just 

stared at her. ñTrina,ò he said. ñThis trip is for you, a change of scenery, a chance to recharge 

your batteries...ò  

ñHow can I when youôve just destroyed everything!?ò she demanded.  

He handed her a rock and an ear of corn on the cob. ñThere is nothing to be done about it now,ò 

he told her. ñNow... toss stones.ò  

Trina continued to glare at him until he showed her that he had palmed the secretary and told her 

that she would get it back when, and only when she had taken at least an hour and done nothing 

with it.  

I think they would have stayed that way if someone hadnôt screamed. She was crying about her 

baby being in the water. She kept crying, ñMy baby, my baby.ò  

I was already halfway there as Trina started over. I was in the water when she reached the 

woman and began asking her questions. I think we found out at the same time that her óbabyô 

was a Terrier and it was perfectly happy in the water.  

I swam back ashore and flopped onto the grass, still trying to catch my breath.  

The woman came over and started yelling at me about leaving her baby and óWhat kind of 

rescuer are you?ò  

Just my luckï Iôm still getting Cat in tree calls on my day off. After that Mario gave Trina back 

her unit. I mean, with our profession, we never really are off duty. Still, we did stay and skip 

stones and enjoy the picnic heôd prepared for us. We may not have been completely óoff dutyô, 

but we did have fun.  
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Week Seventeen ï Reality crash 

Thursday October 12th 2056 - Hazards of the job 

It wasn't until I'd reported for duty that I realized I hadn't heard anything on the Philip's case, or 

on my evil twin for that matter. I gave Andrews a call, but got his voice mail. Curiouser, when I 

reviewed my new disk, Philip's wasn't on it.  

I didn't have all that much time to ponder it though, our clientele had other plans for us. It wasn't 

quite as stressful with Ray splitting the motorcycle calls with me. The sad part about that is the 

fact that soon we'll be switching to different shifts. Soon we'll be training new moto medics. And 

it looks like the simulator is going to be an approved part of the training.  

When I finished cleaning up and briefing Walter, I called Andrews at the station I got his voice 

mail again. It was still a little early so I drove over to the station, planning on waiting for him.  

I was surprised when the desk sergeant signaled me over to the side when I asked to see 

Andrews.  

"You haven't heard have you?" he asked me softly.  

If that wasn't enough to set me on edge, his expression was. I waited, all the while my stomach 

sinking.  

"Pete got shot the other day."  

Just like that. 'Pete got shot the other day.' I nodded numbly, wanting to know how it happened., 

knowing it was probably better I didn't know, but still wanting to know.  

"Is he ... all right?" I finally managed to ask.  

The sergeant nodded. "They say he's going to be fine, but they're keeping him under observation 

for a few more days."  

I took a deep breath and nodded. "Where?"  

He looked at me for a moment as he tried to figure out what I meant. "Turner Clinic," he 

answered finally.  

"Turner?" I asked in surprise. The Turner Clinic was not the sort of place you went if you had a 

choice in the matter. At least I'd learned that much in my travels. It was also in Snohomish, 

which is kinda out of his way.  

"Do you know what case he was working on?" I asked.  
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The sergeant studied me for a few minutes and shook his head. "You'll have to ask him," he told 

me, knowing full well that I was already on figuring on heading over there.  

I nodded. "Thanks."  

He smiled and told me he'd see me Monday.  

Snohomish was sort of on my way home, in a general sense at least. When I got there I was just 

in time for visiting hours. It took me a little while to find Andrews, but when I did, I understood 

why he'd ended up here.  

Judging by his chart, he'd have been dead if they'd tried to take him anywhere else. As it was he 

was in serious, but stable condition. He was still pretty out of it, but I stayed there until visiting 

hours were over, dozing in the chair.  

Then it was time to head back to work. 

 

Friday October 13th 2056 - Things don't always go the way you plan 

The night started out slowly, giving me way too much time to think. I began wondering if 

Andrews getting shot had anything to do with my cases. I'm like that. Somebody I know gets 

hurt and my first thoughts are: 'What happened?',' Could I have done anything to prevent it?', and 

after what's been happening lately: 'Was it because of something I'd done?'  

I spent a lot of time wondering if it was my fault. I mean, lets face it, I've made some really 

wonderful friends and some rather terrifying enemies. The Philips case had AZT written all over 

it, although shooting someone lacked a certain grace and the element of terror I'd come to expect 

from them.  

I knew it could be something else, and that the Philips case was now his, but I'd done the ground 

work, I'd gotten people into Paren Dee...  

Fortunately things picked up as the night progressed and I had less and less time to worry about 

it. Sometimes I think that's why I stick with the job. Its not the adrenalin, it's the total 

concentration and focus required to get the job done.  

When you're working on a victim with multiply stab wounds, you can't be thinking about 

anything except keeping them together, getting them stabilized and getting them out of there 

ASAFP. It demands your concentration and dedication, nothing else matters until the call is over.  

Almost nothing, its not an unhealthy thing to worry about the person who stabbed your patient, 

and whether or not they're going to play a roll in you getting him where he's going. The key is to 

be prepared, but focused on the situation as it unfolds.  
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Everything is in flux. Your patient may be stable and everything may look fine right before they 

go into cardiac arrest- it happens.  

I had a lot to think about, but I had a lot of things to nicely put it on a back burner where it could 

be viewed objectively. To think that Andrews got shot as a direct result of something I'd done 

was... egotistical? The world does not revolve around Jess Miller. (If anything it flows past me 

on its way somewhere else.)  

I was planning on heading over to the hospital when I got a call from Saunders. Andrews had 

stabilized enough that they were taking him into surgery. He promised he'd call when he knew 

anything.  

I asked him about the shooting and he told me it was still under investigation, but as soon as he 

could, he'd tell me about it. I didn't like the sound of that, but I could tell that Saunders didn't like 

not being able to tell me about it either.  

I decided the best thing for me, (aren't you proud Mario?) was to relax and take my mind off of 

things for a little while. And for me, that meant Saturday morning trid with Michael.  

When I tried to get on the island, I learned something else that can take your mind off of things- 

bureaucracy. Unfortunately it can also cause a lot of undo stress.  

When I got there the border guards were busy and seemed to have imported some new help to 

deal with the deluge. One of the guards I didn't recognize asked me for my blue card, and 

whether I had an appointment or not.  

I've never had a blue card, just a standing invitation. That had always been find before, but now- 

before I could answer any of his questions, he decided I looked 'suspicious' and signaled another 

newbie over to help him deal with this possible threat.  

As one of them started going over my bike, the other continued questioning me. "Who are you?", 

"What is the purpose of your visit?"  

All in too fast a succession for me to answer, and of course my not answering just added to their 

suspicions, and the number of guards that were surrounding me.  

My luck, running true to form, left me surrounded by complete strangers who only knew that I 

was a possible threat. Finally one of them realized that the questions were coming too fast for me 

to answer. He took it slower, and got really confused by the answers.  

I mean how do you deal with some chick on a bike that's trying to get through security to watch 

Saturday morning trid? Finally it escalated to the point that one of the older guards arrived. I was 

never so relieved to have someone call me by name. You should have seen the expression on the 

mob of guard's faces when he walked up and asked me what the problem was.  
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"Jess," he called. "What are you still doing here? Michael's probably figured you aren't coming 

by now."  

I gave him a relieved smile, he gave me a wink and told me to go on. I could see the surprise and 

confusion on the faces of the assembled group of guards as he waved me through.  

After that, I vegged in front of the trid with Michael.  

 

Saturday October 14th 2056 - Keep moving 

Once again I ended up sleeping over at the Walkers. I got to talk to Jonathan before I left. I could 

tell he knew a lot more than he was telling me.  

I gave him a rather hard questioning look and he shrugged.  

"Its all I can tell you Jess," he sighed. "There is more and I'll tell it to you as soon as I can, I 

promise."  

I nodded, but I was beginning to feel like a little kid where all the adults are talking over your 

head. On the intellectual level I knew that it was a police matter, but emotionally- they were 

keeping something from me and I wanted to know what it was.  

I had a few hours before I was due at work so I decided to take a swing around Turner and see 

how Andrews was doing. When I got there, Casey was waiting for me.  

Just as simple as that. He wasn't there to see Andrews, he was there because he knew I would be.  

"Jess," he said with a slight nod.  

"Case," I answered with a slight smile. "Good to see you're looking better."  

He smiled. "I'd be doing a lot better if I didn't have to be here."  

I nodded. That was something I could completely understand. I wanted so much to ask him what 

had happened, but I knew that even if he did know, he wouldn't tell me- not until he'd been given 

the go ahead.  

We had a long talk about other things. Life, my search- the trouble I'd been having with AZT. 

We very nicely avoided any talk of his wife, relationships or anything like that. I really wish I 

understood where I stood with the man, but right now we've got a lot more important things to 

deal with.  

I was mulling that over all the way to the station. Once I got there though, I didn't have too long 

to stew over it though. Work was hectic and chaotic- in other words, everything I love. By the 
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time was over, we'd treated some 30 odd people... Attended three fires, I say attended because 

there wasn't all that much for us to do aside from treat smoke inhalation. We helped go through 

the building and search for people, but there was no one to be found, the fires weren't really all 

that dangerous. That in itself can be a hazzard.  

I've seen more firefighters get hurt fighting a simple blaze. Its easy, and they get careless. Guess 

its true for everyone.  

 

Sunday October 15th 2056 - False trails 

I stopped by Turner again on the way home. Andrews was looking better. He was still pretty 

much out of it, but his chart indicated that he was doing better. I stayed there for an hour before 

heading on into work.  

We were monitoring the police calls when I heard a traffic stop call for one Alan E. Miller. I 

stood up looking around. Something told me it couldn't be, but the SIN they relayed was his. I 

ran into the Chief's office.  

"Chief," I called anxiously. I didn't know where to start. I had to go and check it out, I just had 

to, but I was on duty.  

He looked at me a minute, and as I waited, I could hear the scanner call continuing in his office. 

He'd heard it too.  

"Miller" he sighed. "I think somebody did something to the bike- why don't you take it out on a 

test run."  

I smiled at him and then headed out, it was too good to be true, and that was exactly the case. As 

I got there, I saw a muzzle flash. I turned towards it, my headlights illuminating the area as the 

police officer fell to the ground.  

I don't know who the shooter was, but it wasn't my brother. He fired three shots at me, taking out 

the headlight with the second shot, me with the third. Once again I was very thankful for my 

vest, and Mrs. Walker's enhancements on it. My chest hurt like a mad dog, and I was flat on my 

back, but I was suffering from impact damage not penetration.  

It took me a while to force myself upright and call it in. Then I was concentrating on the officer. 

I shook my head as the APB went off on Alan. 'It wasn't him,' I wanted to scream at them, but it 

had to wait. The officer was my first concern. I got him stabilized, but it took a while. It took 

even longer for an ambulance to show up, and even longer for the Star to release the officer to 

their care.  

They wanted as much information as they could from him, and when they saw my name tag, 

they didn't want to listen to anything I wanted to say.  
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It was a very frustrating call. I couldn't help the man I was supposed to help and I couldn't defend 

the man who hadn't shot him. They had his name, everyone had heard the police call- open and 

shut case.  

I could have talked to Andrews about it, but he was still at Turner. As I turned to get on the truck 

I was detained. The investigating officer held me back. They'd gone from thinking I was 

covering for my brother to thinking I'd somehow been involved.  

That went away when one of them started to pat me down and little too hard. The officer felt the 

vest about the same time as she hit one of the slugs. I winced. She looked at me questioningly as 

I pulled up my shirt. It was the first time I noticed where the bullet had hit- if it wasn't for the 

vest, I'd probably have been killed. She reported this to the chief investigator as he waited for his 

team to collect the tapes from the officer's onboard cameras.  

They had two, the more obvious one on the dash and one mounted in the grill work. The dash 

mounted camera had been destroyed, but the grill one was still functioning. They never got a 

good view of the shooter like I had, but there was one thing we could agree on, the shooter had 

been left handed- Alan is right handed.  

It wasn't much, but it put enough question into the matter that they changed the call to 'wanted 

for questioning in the shooting of an officer.' At least there was that.  

I wasn't up for too much more, and was forced to get checked out before I headed back to the fire 

house. A flatbed had already returned my bike by the time an officer from Lone Star had dropped 

me off.  

I was feeling pretty bad about the whole thing, but now more than ever I needed to talk to 

Andrews. I knew that would have to wait till morning so I went to work replacing the headlight. 

It was no use- the bullet had it dead center taking out the light and some of the wiring. It's a 

wonder that bullet didn't go through the rest of the bike and kill me.  

Yet another thing to think about, and yet another mystery to deal with.  

 

Monday October 16th 2056 - The wrong door 

When I got off work I headed over to the station. It was not a good day for Lone Star. I knew that 

when I saw the flag flying at half mast. I knew they'd lost someone over night. I was afraid it was 

the officer from last night's shooting.  

Almost as soon as I got in, I found out that wasn't the case. He was still unconscious in ICU- I 

should have been relieved about that, but when I found Jonathan and Casey waiting for me, I 

knew it was a lot worse.  
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Andrews had died of complications following his last surgery. I know better than most that it can 

happen. Patient's doing well, goes in for surgery and doesn't come back. It happens- It happened.  

They'd come to console me, to tell me what had happened. I was only half listening. Andrews 

had become a part of my life, my search. He was an anchor in this insanity and losing him, just 

as I was maybe getting somewhere, was too much.  

Jonathan was the one who suggested getting me out of the station, away from the chaos. They 

were both upset by the loss as well, I realize that now, but- I was still in shock.  

We ended up at a pub near the station. It was the local 'police bar' and it seemed to have its share 

of mourners. People drinking to the memory of lost comrades, to Andrews- and to Martinez, the 

officer who'd been shot last night.  

I got more than a few stares from those toasting Martinez. Seems a lot of people had heard of me 

at the station, me and my quest. Now I was involved with the death of one police officer and 

possibly a second.  

It didn't matter that I had treated Martinez, that Andrews was a friend of sorts. All that mattered 

was the name Miller and the fact that Martinez had just called in my brother's name. Only it 

wasn't my brother- or was it? Was I so sure of that that I was blinding myself to what I had really 

seen?  

I stared woodenly at the beer Jonathan had placed in front of me. I was numb. Finally I looked 

up at him and then at Casey. "What happened? How did it happen?"  

They knew I meant Andrews and that I didn't mean how did he die, that I understood too well. I 

needed to know how he'd gotten shot in the first place. They didn't have all the details, but they 

had enough.  

He'd gone to Shonomish investigating one of his cases. They had no idea which, but as I scanned 

the list I figured out which was most probable: a woman who had just vanished. Her husband had 

gone to work one day, and when he got home she was gone. I shared that information with them 

and they nodded.  

Turns out he'd had a lead on her and was going to talk to her sister, when he knocked on the 

wrong door. Instead of a worried sister, he'd found an illegal chem lab.  

That was it, with all the dangers he'd faced every day, he'd ended up being killed because he'd 

ended up at the wrong place at the wrong time. I took a healthy drink from the glass in front of 

me as I let it all sink in.  

I'd like to think that if it had just been Andrews or Martinez I'd have been able to deal with it, but 

it was just too much. I could feel myself shutting down. I was numb. I wanted to just have it all 

go away, but I knew that wouldn't happen. There was too much else going on.  
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I was practically oblivious when an officer came over and demanded to know what 'SHE' was 

doing here. He was drunk, upset and I was the best scapegoat he could fine. Only problem was 

he meant it, and a lot of the others watched in silent agreement. I think that's what sent me over 

the edge.  

I'm not sure what happened, but I do know that Casey took me home while Jonathan kept the 

other officers from following.  

When I woke up, it was all over the news: one cop dead, another in critical condition. Two 

different shootings in less than a week. Again, the newscasters were giving 'in depth' coverage of 

the situations. For Andrews they told the story of how he died, for Martinez, how desperately he 

clung to life- and how he'd been shot by some scummy low-life shady character. I turned it off as 

they displayed a driver's licence picture of Alan.  

Who ever had ended up with the case had decided my brother's fate with that. He'd gone from 

suspect, to possible suspect, to public enemy number one, and there was nothing I could do about 

it. I'd become persona non grata at the police station, and something tells me its going to get a lot 

worse.  

 

Tuesday October 17th 2056 - Good-Byes 

Now I know its going to get a lot worse before it even thinks of getting better. Jonathan broke the 

news to me that I had been asked not to attend Andrew's funeral. It was suggested that it might 

cause trouble. He offered to stay with me, but I knew he needed to say good bye as much as I 

did, Case too.  

I've never felt so defeated in entire life. It wasn't Alan, it couldn't have been. Part of me 

wondered if I was deluding myself, but the primal level, the one that had brought me out her in 

the first place, told me it couldn't be Alan. Alan was a healer, not a killer. I knew that, and I 

knew he hadn't been the one who'd shot Officer Martinez, but in staying home, it was almost as 

if I was admitting that my brother had something to do with his shooting, and that I was 

somehow involved, even if it was just giving him an alibi.  

Jonathan gave be a quick hug, told me that Pete would understand, then left with Case. Casey 

had no idea how to treat me, but finally opted for a hug. "We'll tell him you wanted to be there," 

he said softy, then they were gone.  

I wasn't alone for too long though, Mario saw to that. When I told him what had happened, he 

smiled at me. "I'll take you."  

I shook my head. "What about the police, the request, the..."  

He cut off my questions with a simple indulgent smile. "Jess," he told me in a patient voice. 

"They won't see you."  
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And so, I attended the funeral with Mario. We stood away from the others, I was constantly 

afraid that the spell would dissipate, or that someone would walk into us, but nothing happened.  

Listening to the priest I realized once again, that the services are for the living... and I was glad I 

got to hear the words, to see his friends even if they couldn't see me.  

At least I was there.  

 

Wednesday October 18th 2056 -The third degree 

Just when I thought things couldn't get any worse, they did. It was bad enough that I had been 

practically banned from the station, then, instead of asking me in to answer a few questions, I 

was brought in-- in handcuffs. (at least I did get a good look at their IDs before they got in.)  

I could tell the officers were hoping that Alan would be there. They did a good job of looking 

around, but the only people that had been there were me and the cats, who were hiding again.  

I was hustled into an interrogation room where I got to sit and wait while they watched me. 

When they decided they'd waited long enough, the chief investigator came in.  

"Sorry to keep you waiting Miss Miller." His tone was even, but I could tell he'd already made 

up his mind about me.  

"No problem," I answered. "But it would be nice if I were un-cuffed."  

He gave me some song and dance about procedure. I pointed out that you cuff suspects, not 

witnesses. He told me that my status was still under investigation.  

"Miss Miller," he explained. "You have to understand my position on this. Your brother is 

wanted for shooting one of my officers."  

"I thought we operated on the assumption of innocence until proven guilty," I finally answered. 

"My brother is wanted as a *suspect* not the shooter."  

He sighed. "It would be so much easier if he turned himself in," he said as if I knew where Alan 

was and could make him materialize with a simple happy thought.  

I started laughing a very bitter, almost hysterical, laugh. "He's been a missing person's case for 

over 6 months! I think if he were available, he'd have shown up a lot sooner..."  

I didn't mean to be sarcastic, but in trying to intimidate me, all he was succeeding in doing was 

annoying me.  

"Miss Miller, I'm not the enemy here," he told me.  
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"Neither am I," I answered in as even and controlled a tone as I could manage. "You seem to 

forget... I got shot last night too..."  

He glared at me and pointed out that I wasn't in the hospital. "It seems you were very lucky Miss 

Miller."  

This time he emphasized my name as if by some odd association I was as guilty as he'd assumed 

Alan was.  

"I was wearing my vest," I answered. "And for once, I wasn't moving on the bike."  

He looked at me after that comment. "You were expecting trouble?"  

I let out a sigh. "I've had a lot of people shooting at me lately."  

"Look, even if I was to buy the fact that your vest saved you, there's still the whole matter of you 

being there in the first place."  

I looked at him. "I've been here just shy of four months looking for my brothers, I hear a scanner 

call where someone is doing a wants and warrants check on one of them... Of course I'm going to 

try and find out what's going on."  

"So it was your brother," he said as if he'd caught me in something.  

"The call was for my brother, right down to the SIN, but the man that shot your officer wasn't my 

brother."  

"Are you sure?" he asked.  

I nodded. "Shooter was left handed, fast, very fast...I focused my headlight on him right after the 

muzzle flash. He turned, took out my headlight, then me-- if I hadn't been wearing my vest, we 

wouldn't be having this conversation."  

He studied me for a very long time, then sighed. "Miss Miller, as I see it, either you're giving 

your brother an alibi, or you're in denial.. either way, you can't be trusted in this. Best case you're 

a nuisance, worst case an accessory... so I wouldn't be planning any long trips anywhere."  

I looked at him and sighed. "I've told you everything, and right now I'm not going anywhere."  

"I also want your gun."  

I looked at him and shook my head. "You suspect my brother of shooting a police officer so 

you're going to confiscate my gun. That makes a lot of sense."  

"Look, Miss Miller," his tone was a step lower. "We're going to catch your brother, and if I find 

out you knew where to find him and you didn't tell me, we'll be coming for you. And if we have 
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your gun, there's a lesser likelihood of something bad happening to you when we come and get 

you."  

It was insane. Not only did he want my gun, he wanted me to cease and desist on my search for 

the boys, any active cases I might have and to relinquish all proprietary police information-- the 

missing persons case files Andrews had given me. I was surprised he didn't take my vest as 

'evidence.'  

He hounded me for an hour more with threats about being an accessory and how he wouldn't 

show his face around here if he were me, then finally cut me lose.  

Of course, there was no offer to take me home and no way for me to get there without my ID 

short of walking. I ended up walking to the station. Casey caught up to me there and took me 

home.  

I'm afraid I wasn't much company.  
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Week Eighteen ï Downhill slide 

Thursday October 19th 2056 - Coming undone 

Casey stayed over at the condo. We had a long talk, most of it about Andrews. Case had known 

him from when they'd first gone through training together. A lot of history, a lot of good times 

and now they're all memories.  

I mean, Andrews helped give me focus, he knew what I was going through and he turned it from 

an obsession into a business for me. He knew people, and he did what he could to help them. 

Casey was the same way. I wouldn't call either of them Boy Scouts, but they did care and they 

did what they could.  

Now that Casey wasn't my guardian angel I could see that. I think neither of us really wanted to 

be alone. So we talked.  

Finally the conversation turned to my current situation. I wanted and needed to prove Alan's 

innocence, but anything I tried would be misconstrued. Darringer, the primary on the case, had 

already declared Alan guilty and had pegged me as his accomplice. With Andrews gone, the only 

friend I even came close to having was Saunders. I didn't even know the man who'd be taking 

over his cases.  

I had to sit down when I thought about that. It drove home the fact that Andrews was gone. 

Casey gave me a worried look as I finally broke. He held me, I don't know how long, but he just 

patiently held me until I'd gotten enough out of my system that I could function again.  

I almost felt like I was drowning. I think I was. Case suggested I call in sick, but I think dwelling 

on things would only make them worse.  

"Besides," I told him. "By now there's a team of officers on surveillance detail, just waiting for 

me to change my routine... to prove that I'm in on this."  

He smiled, but we both knew it was a case of 'Ha Ha, only serious.'  

It was too. They were better than the others, taking turns with who was in the lead. Would have 

worked too, but I'm too paranoid not to expect them.  

Casey tells me I'll get through this, but I don't know anymore. Everything I thought I knew, 

thought I had nailed down is coming undone and once again, I'm in the middle of it.  

 

Friday October 20th 2056 - Its good to be a medic 
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As if I didn't have enough problems, Darringer and his people decided that if they couldn't find 

Alan, harassing me was the next best thing. They pulled me over on my way to work and said 

they needed to take me to the station to answer a few more questions.  

Following them wasn't good enough, no... I was to leave my bike there and get into the back of 

the patrol car and they would take me there. When I objected about leaving my kit, I was 

handcuffed and thrown into the back of a squad car.  

They of course waited to pull me over until I was in a strange part of town, one of the more run 

down ones I drive through. They could have stopped me in Lynwood, but no... they wanted to 

make things as difficult for me as possible.  

Of course, that was only the beginning. They said that since I wasn't being arrested, I didn't get 

my phone call. I told them to either arrest me or let me go-- it denigrated from there.  

They continued to question me, everything they asked the last time. Over and over again until I 

wanted to scream. When I asked how long it was going to take, Darringer slammed his fist down 

on the table and glared at me.  

"Its going to take how ever long it takes to get to the truth."  

I lost it then. "I've told you everything, you're just too hard headed to accept that. You think 

there's some kind of conspiracy and since you can't find my brother, who's been MISSING since 

the beginning of THIS YEAR that I'm the next best thing... So you have your people follow me, 

watch everything I do and then instead of asking me here from home... or the parking lot- they 

wait until I'm in the worst part of town and I have to leave my first aid kit there." I was seething.  

"And now you're going to play your game where you keep me from work so- What?... They'll 

fire me? I got news for you Bucko, you want to play your games with me fine... but you keep 

them to times when I'm not on duty... You keep me from MY WORK and PEOPLE DIE! And 

you don't want the trouble that will cause..." I glared at him.  

"Gee, Mrs. McMurphy... Sorry your husband died, but the medic who could have gotten to him 

in time was down at the police station. Why? Oh, because they think her brother's involved in a 

police shooting and since they can't get to him, they're harassing her... instead of looking for the 

real shooter."  

My eyes were blazing by the time I finished. I was in no mood for any of this and they were 

seriously overstepping their bounds now.  

"MS. Miller," Darringer growled. "We are trying to get to the bottom of this. I'm sorry your job 

is too important to answer a few questions, but if you feel so strongly about it, tell me what I 

want to know and I'll let you out of here."  

"I've told you the truth," I answered with an exasperated sigh. "What you want to hear... I don't 

have that information and to be honest... what you want to hear is a load of lies that will make 
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your job easier. You're too blind to believe the truth and therefore you'll never find what you 

want."  

They held me for another hour before Citywide finally tracked me down through my pager. And 

when they did come they arrived like the wrath of God himself. Lawyers, officials, they even 

dragged the Mayor into it.  

I had warned him, but Darringer in his infinite bullheadedness believed that this was another case 

of a criminal hiding behind power. I just know I'm going to be hearing more from him.  

I got a ride back to my bike. The officers seemed let down that the bike and the kit were still 

there. I waved good-bye to them and then looked at the tokens and smiled. Safe passage had its 

advantages.  

I bowed slightly to one of the kids hanging out near the corner. He winked at me. Sometimes... 

its very good to be a medic!  

 

Saturday October 21th 2056 - Victim of cir cumstial evidence 

Well, Darringer and his cronies have been following me around for a few days now. I can tell 

they've been in the condo when I've been at work going through everything. I'm thinking of 

leaving my journal out so they can see what clandestine things I've been up to.  

I didn't go to Council Island after shift. Figured they'd construe that as 'leaving town,' especially 

since Darringer wants to construe anything I do as a threat or an admission of guilt. My refusal to 

tell him the truth as he sees it, means I'm guilty. The fact that I'm still breathing means I'm guilty. 

But somehow, if I were to die tonight, he'd take it to mean I was guilty.  

They'd been all through my apartment though and that was enough to creep me out a bit. Unlike 

Fin through, I did catch them on tape. Of course they were planting bugs and cameras, he just 

raids my fridge without triggering anything.  

Its really hard not to act self conscious when you know they're watching, up close a personal- 

and its very hard not to make faces at the hidden cameras when you know they're there. I tried 

taking a shower and getting some sleep, but it was a lot harder than it is when Fin does it.  

Fin at least leaves his message leaving to the fridge and kitchen area. This was a whole new level 

of invasion. At least they left the bathroom alone. I woke up two hours later when the phone 

rang. More good news. Aaron managed to con his way out of the mental ward. They'd released 

him without a trial, without a victim impact statement.  

According to my friend on the force back home, they'd subpoenaed me, but the police here had 

told them that I didn't have anything to say in the matter. So now I've got a whole new mess of 
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trouble to worry about. Maybe Aaron's learned, maybe he'll stay put. Maybe he'll take up 

origami, but somehow- that's not his style.  

I am not going to go to pieces. That's his power trip and Darringer is trying to do the same thing 

to me. He can call it whatever he wants, but he's as much a stalker as Aaron is.  

I tried to get some sleep, but it wasn't working. Figured some warm milk and honey would help. 

That's when I found Fin's contribution to the chaos. Just a friendly warning from him that I'm 

being watched.  

I remember thinking, 'thanks Fin! Should I wave at the cameras?'  

I finally got to sleep but it wasn't restful. Needless to say I was looking and feeling my all 

UCASian best when I got there. Ray noticed it immediately, he said I had my 'Aaron' face on. I 

hadn't told him too much about Aaron, but I gave him an earful tonight.  

He'd started off seeming nice and normal. We drifted apart like I tend to do when the guy I'm 

dating and I realize we have more in common as friends than we do as anything else. Except 

with Aaron I became a combination of evil succubus and unobtainable angel; something to be 

possessed, controlled- destroyed. He just kind of stepped over the edge and became my all 

encompassing nightmare.  

And now he was on the loose again, because some cop had it in for Alan and through some 

abstract guilt by association, me too.  

I was in rare form on call though. The only time things like this don't bother me is when I'm on a 

call. With my luck it figures it would be an officer down call.  

I got there first. Talk about cold shoulder. I think the only one there that was glad to see me was 

the officer and even he wasn't all too keen on the idea. I didn't care. They didn't matter, their 

opinions didn't matter. All that mattered was the man and his injuries- and my old battle with my 

old enemies: Pain, Suffering and Death.  

Them at least I understand. They're indiscriminate, they don't hold grudges, they're just a fact of 

life, and I can fight them with the best of them. It was a good call sending me. Good at least for 

the officer, but at the hospital, Darringer was waiting for me.  

Somehow he blamed this on me too. Another good officer lay there bleeding because of me. 

Technically I guess he's right. Martinez and now Corveli were in the hospital because of me and 

my work. What he didn't seem to get was if it weren't for me, they'd be in the morgue.  

I really need to talk to Case, or Jonathan. What I really want is to talk to Andrews- or Alan. But 

that's just not going to happen.  
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Sunday October 22nd 2056 - Its not paranoia when they are out to get you. 

Casey was waiting for me at the condo. Judging by his expression, Ray had told him everything 

that's been happening. Especially about Aaron. I really wanted to talk to him, but not in the 

condo. Not with all the tapes and bugs. I didn't want Darringer to know he was getting to me, and 

I definitely didn't want him thinking that Case was somehow involved in this.  

Casey just shook his head and led me to his car- Therese's car. "You're coming with me Jess," he 

informed me. "You need to get out of here."  

He was right of course, but I felt like I was being a lot more of a burden than I should. I mean the 

last thing he needs is for Darringer to come down on him like he's been on me.  

Case just smiled. "Jess- I've met a dozen Darringer's in my time. Had them try and pull a number 

on me, and after everything they did, when they found out they were wrong, you know what 

happened?"  

I shook my head.  

"Absolutely nothing. My life didn't change, they never apologized. Life just went on. What 

matters right now is he's pushing all the right buttons. He's endangering you, and he's keeping 

you from resting and that's even worse because if you get punchy, some one's going to get hurt, 

and its probably going to be the kid on the bike."  

I thought about that as we drove back to his place. He already had the couch in his office setup 

for me. "Get some rest. We'll talk after," he told me.  

I thought it would be hard getting to sleep, but with Case there, I slept like a baby. Good thing 

too, cause work was one of those days.  

We had a psychiatric case, just transporting him. Paranoid Schizophrenic, thought everyone was 

out to get him, people following him everywhere. Kinda know how he feels.  

Casey picked me up and took me home again. I can tell he's been working on this for me, but 

how much can he take?  

How much more can I take?  

 

Monday October 23rd 2056 - Pariah 

I wanted to go to the station this morning, try and take back my life. But it wasn't to be. Casey 

had already tested the waters and told me I wouldn't be welcomed. Martinez was still comatose 

and unless he regained consciousness I was probably going to remain a pariah.  
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Casey did his best to help me through this, but I just couldn't get him to understand. My 

'crusade', as Fin had labeled it, was the only thing that kept me going. Having that taken away 

from me, losing Andrews- it was too much.  

And then, as if that wasn't enough, there's the fact that Aaron is on the loose again. I really need 

something to concentrate on otherwise its going send me right over the edge.  

I haven't done anything wrong, but that means nothing. It isn't fair, but then life isn't fair. At least 

there's balance.  

I felt confused, betrayed. I was drowning in all the loss and all the doubt. Casey was there for 

me, if I'd have let him he could have helped me-- but instead he bore the brunt of my anger and 

hurt.  

I ended up trying to walking out on him. I knew if I stayed there I'd regret everything I said and 

did. Like I said, I tried-- he wasn't cooperating. With all the police following me it wasn't like I 

could really go anywhere anyway.  

Case was a blessing, but at the time I was so ticked off about everything, and he was unfortunate 

enough to be the one telling me just how bad it was. When I finished he just smiled and handed 

me a deck of cards.  

Just like that. He didn't take it personally. He just let me vent my spleen, get everything out of 

my system. It helped. I still don't know what I'm going to do about my situation, but I'm pretty 

sure its not going to be roll over and let them win.  

 

Tuesday October 24th 2056 - Maybe not everybody 

Today we got a visit from Daniels and Cummings. This time they didn't opt for good cop/bad 

cop, they just asked to come in and told things to us straight and expected the same in return.  

It was refreshing because, unlike Darringer, they actually listened. I was surprised to say the 

least. They told me that everything Darringer had to date on Alan was purely circumstantial, but 

very strong.  

They had Martinez's call, the wants and warrants check on Alan and his licence which was left at 

the scene. The film that had survived was to grainy and shadowy to really give them information 

one way or the other. There was nothing, except that the shooter was left handed and his 

movements were fast, smooth and sure.  

They didn't have to tell me a thing on that. He'd taken out my headlight and me in very fast 

succession. If it hadn't been for my vest, and I'm pretty sure Mrs. Walker's enhancements, I'd be 

lucky to be where Martinez is.  
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When they finished, I got to tell my side of the story. Daniels and Cummings knew about my 

brothers' case, knew that was why I was there, so I didn't get the repetitive "awfully convenient 

you being there" line of questioning.  

I filled them in on the dirty pool Darringer'd been playing and they nodded.  

"Thought there had to be a good reason for you not being at Andrew's funeral," Daniels said 

gruffly. "Glad that feeling was right."  

I nodded then admitted to being there, just not being seen. That surprised them and Casey. He 

gave me an "You did what?" look, but I could see the understanding there too. He'd seen what all 

of this had done, was doing, to me.  

I also filled Daniels and Cummings in on Darringer's campaign against me, trying to get me to 

lead him to Alan- or to force Alan out of hiding. I also told him about Darring's warning that 

Alan's not being available for questioning was only going to make things worse.  

They got a chuckle out of that. Like I said, they were familiar with the case. They were none too 

happy when I told them about my own personal hell being released because 'some one' at the 

local star had decided that I didn't have anything to say and that *I* had said as much.  

One thing about Daniels and Cummings, they may be two of the biggest self righteous jerks I've 

ever had the displeasure of meeting-- they definitely believe that the ends justifies the means, but 

when they see injustices from their own department, they act.  

They told me there wasn't much they could do about my general status, not until Martinez woke 

up. They tried to convince me it was a question of when, but we all knew that wasn't the way 

things were probably going to go- not after this long.  

Still it was nice to know they were on my side on this. I could tell that the jury was still out on 

Alan, but they believed I was innocent and that my involvement was purely professional. That 

and the fact that they knew I wasn't trying to protect Alan.  

I wish I could be so sure now. Its been long enough that the doubt has gotten rooted rather well. I 

don't know anymore, but at least everybody's not out to get me.  

 

Wednesday October 25th 2056 - My lawyer can beat up your lawyer 

Casey had to go to work today so I had him drop me off at my place. I don't mind hanging out at 

his place, especially when he's around, but if I have to be by myself, I feel a lot safer in my own 

home. Or at least I did until I remembered all the cameras and bugs.  
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That made me change my mind. I decided to do the John Doe check at the hospitals. I mean, the 

Star has no jurisdiction there, and as far as I knew, they weren't mad at me. I figured I'd find out 

if the Star's suspicion had been passed on to them.  

It didn't matter though, before I could get out of the neighborhood I was pulled over on a "routine 

traffic stop." Routine if you're an axe murderess with bad hair.  

They went through every compartment of my first aid kit, scattering the contents, opening the 

sterile bandages to make sure I wasn't hiding anything- basically rendering it useless. Then they 

decided to search for hidden pockets.  

When they finished the told me to 'have a nice day,' and 'sorry for the inconvenience.'  

Yeah, right. I told them I understood, then went to the company supplied lawyer and filled him in 

on it. He dutifully took notes and asked me if there had been any other peculiarities, signs of 

harassment.  

He already knew about the wrongful detention and the interfering with a medic performing her 

duty. I filled him in on the bugs and cameras, and Aaron. The cameras I could almost deal with, 

but Aaron was another story.  

He took notes about the invasion of my home. Asked for details on Aaron, the case- why that 

constituted reckless endangerment. I didn't want to start a protracted legal battle but this has to 

stop.  

He also asked for an estimate of the damage done with the first aid kit. He was surprised at the 

cost of replacement, until I pointed out that it was highly specialized and comparable to the kit I 

used at work.  

On the way home I was once again 'invited' to come downtown. This time I knew my rights, as 

briefed by the company lawyer. Of course, when I demanded to have my lawyer present 

Darringer tried to scare me out of it by telling him that I didn't need a lawyer if I had nothing to 

hide.  

I told him that might be the case if he would actually believe me when I talked to him, but in his 

book I was guilty and therefore everything I did regardless of what it was, only confirmed my 

guilt to him.  

He tried to tell me how he wasn't letting his personal feelings get in the way of doing his job. I 

told him I needed my lawyer. He told me how much easier it would be if I just told him the truth. 

I told him I needed my lawyer. I swear it pretty much denigrated into him trying to yell at me 

and instead of me sticking my fingers in my ears and going "LaLaLaLALA" I just kept saying "I 

think I need my lawyer."  

I finally got my lawyer, he told Darringer that unless he had something new to discuss with me, 

he was to leave me alone, and he promised that I'd be seeing him again.  
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Darling man. He was dangling his handcuffs from one finger as he said it.  

I had the urge to yell something like "My lawyer can beat up your lawyer," but at least this bout 

was over and depending on who you listened to, the good guys won.  

But, my lawyer wasn't finished. He took me back to my apartment, knowing the place was 

bugged and camera-ed. That's when I really began to appreciate his deviousness.  

He went over everything I'd told him at his office over nice soothing cups of tea. He told me that 

I had nothing to fear and this harassment was just that. He told me to not let it get to me. I 

noticed he very carefully avoided discussing Aaron. Probably trying to find out who had 

informed the Baltimore Division that I didn't want to file a victim impact statement on him.  

That was the most damaging and damning thing. That was the one that could very well get me 

killed. I'm hoping it was Darringer and somebody is stoking up the fire.  
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WeekNineteen ï Always darkest 

Thursday October 26th 2056 - Getting closer 

I got a phone call early this morning. Well it was noon, but for me that's the middle of the night. 

Especially when I'm getting ready to start my work week.  

There was no one on the other end, no voice and only a shadowy image. "Yeah, right," I said 

when he didn't say anything and hung up. The Caller ID system identified it as a pay phone 

somewhere in Chicago.  

I tried not to think about it knowing it could have been a wrong number- or something I really 

didn't want to have to think about. This is how Aaron started the last time. A series of phone calls 

as he got closer and closer to home.  

Two hours later I got another call. Same thing, only this time, the shadowy figure held out a 

newspaper clipping out. The headline read "Paramedic Murdered."  

I could feel the adrenalin starting to kick in, but I wasn't going to let my caller see it. That was 

what this was all about- a game of cat and mouse, with the cat toying with his prey. Wonder if he 

knows that mice have teeth too?  

Whoever it was, they were still calling from Chicago. After the second call I picked up the 

receiver. There should have been someone on the other line. Then I remembered Darringer. He'd 

probably canceled the tap there. The one that would have protected me. I pulled out my incident 

folder. Noted the times and locations of the calls. Included a recording from the phone.  

It would have been nice if I could have called the police. After thinking about it, I made two 

phone calls. The message was the same on each. "Aaron is out."  

The first call was to Nick, the man who'd taught me a thing or two about self defense and 

demolitions. We dated once, then went the long, well worn trail of just being friends. Seems to 

be the story of my life. The good part is, its usually good friends. Nick's another brother in a long 

line of relationships that didn't quite work out.  

After Aaron, the first time, I'd looked him up. He told me what to do, how to protect myself as 

much as possible, and to call him if Aaron every started again. There hadn't been time or need 

the last time, but now I was calling.  

The second call was to my lawyer/case worker back in Baltimore. I logged the calls with her, but 

according to her records, and those of the courts, I had been informed of his impending release 

and I had decided not to pursue the case. In other words, I was on my own.  
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It was about then I remembered that Darringer had confiscated my gun. I called the company 

lawyer, told him about the phone calls. He tried to act nonchalant, but I could see the worry in 

his eyes. Nice to know he's not only devious, but cares too.  

Now its even more important that I get myself cleared of these allegations, otherwise I'm going 

to be out on a pier all by myself... again.  

Definitely not the frame of mind I wanted to be going to work with, but it was there all night. 

Ray understood, recognized it almost immediately, but also recognized the fact that I did not 

want to talk about it.  

Work kept be busy enough, but by the time I'd gotten home, there'd been three more calls. The 

latest- Denver. He's getting closer.  

 

Friday October 27th 2056 - Protection in numbers. 

I didn't sleep all that well, big surprise there. The phone rang at noon and then again at three. I let 

the machine pick up and simply covered my head and pretended they didn't exist.  

With Casey still at work and Jonathan doing whatever it is he does, I realized I was pretty much 

on my own for now. I got up around three thirty, unable to sleep any more. I checked the tape.  

He's made it to LA.  

I filed the messages, copied the folder. One for me, one for the box and one for the police- if and 

when they'll take it.  

They followed me to the bank, figure they'll see about getting a search warrant for the box. 

Which means they'll get a copy of this journal. Maybe somebody will figure it out before Aaron 

gets here. Before I end up another statistic. I mean, the man's got to get it right one of these 

times.  

When I got to work, Ray was waiting for me. He handed me his backup pistol. "You know what 

to do with that."  

I smiled and nodded. It wasn't registered, but I did have a license to carry. That hadn't been 

revoked, that I know of.  

I was jumpy enough that I think Ray was regretting lending me the gun. Nothing worse than a 

nervous wreck than an armed nervous wreck, with reason to be nervous. I knew Aaron wouldn't 

try anything while I was with people. He liked to corner me when I was alone. Still its possible 

he could have changed his MO.  
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When I got off work, there was a shadowy figure who loomed under a street lamp just long 

enough for me to see him. I pretended not to see him as I reviewed my options. I could pretend to 

forget something, go back inside. I could get on the bike and go to the police (yeah, right). I 

could get on my bike and just ride out, get away.  

None of the really did anything about the problem and for all I know the figure was someone 

other than Aaron. It all boiled down to one little nervous breakdown just waiting to happen. I 

sighed, looked at my bike and headed back inside.  

Figure I'll just stay right here, with a lot of people.  

 

Saturday October 28th 2056 - In the Nick of time. 

I finally fell asleep, but as I drifted I had the feeling that someone was in the room. It was one of 

those times when I was half asleep and everything seemed to move in odd jumps. I was 

exhausted and yet I wanted to move.  

I couldn't.  

For a few moments I wasn't sure if it was a dream, or there was actually someone there... then I 

felt them draw closer. I tried to scream, but all that came out was a low moan as I forced myself 

to move.  

I brought Ray's gun up forcing myself to focus on the man looming over me- it was Nick.  

I shuddered with a combination of relief and tension as I lowered the gun and flicked the safety 

back on.  

"Jess," he said. His voice was slow and even as he held out his hand for the gun. I gave it to him, 

as I started to shake in earnest. He held me until the worst of it had passed.  

"Sorry hon," he said softly into my hair. "Didn't mean to scare you- but I didn't want anybody to 

see either."  

I nodded, not trusting myself to say more. I could do that with Nick-- let him see the worst of it 

without him taking over. He knew; he understood that I didn't want him to fight my battles for 

me, just hold me through the worst of it, then help me plan my strategy .  

He waited there patiently and then when I finally stopped shaking he said, "tell me about it."  

So I did. I told him everything: the criminal case against me for dereliction of duty; the police 

case against Alan and therefore me; the circumstances of Aaron's release; the phone calls 

tracking their way westward.  
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I had all the information on file, but without my case against Aaron still active, I would have to 

go through the whole process again. Then I realized that the restraining order had been issued in 

Baltimore. I didn't even know it if was still valid here- and to find out would mean a trip to the 

station where I was less than welcomed.  

Part of me wondered if Aaron had anything to do with this, but it was too complicated for him to 

have worked out- only life could come up with a situation this complicated. It's like I said, if 

everybody with a grudge against me got together, I'd be toast.  

I mulled over that a bit as Nick thought about what I'd told him. He asked if I had anything on 

the boys and I told him everything I had, which wasn't much. At least he agreed that the police 

shooting case was based purely on circumstantial evidence. We both knew that it didn't really 

matter though. Dead suspects don't need evidence or trials.  

I looked up at Nick. I've been dealing with the whole thing in my usual fashion, just bullheadedly 

continuing enduring. That might work with the case against Alan, but not with Aaron. He would 

keep on tracking me, keep toying with me until one of us was dead.  

Nick knew that too. Thing was, he had only managed to get a weekend pass, so if Aaron didn't 

do anything this weekend, I'd be on my own again come Sunday night.  

Nick gave my arm a gentle squeeze then looked around. "Lets get you covered," he said with a 

slight nod.  

That was it. Straight forward and to the point, just what I needed. He let me get everything out of 

my system and then got me back on track. No nonsense, no macho bull, just down to business.  

Since my apartment was bugged, he told me to meet him at his hotel room in an hour. It meant 

less sleep tonight, but a lot better sleep in the future. I nodded and did as he told me to do.  

His hotel room was sparse, but that was fine. We weren't there to rest, or have a romantic 

interlude, we were there to review my defenses, my weaknesses and where Aaron would be most 

likely to attack.  

We were finishing up when Casey busted the door down. I looked up in surprise as Nick and 

Case faced off, guns drawn, both convinced they were defending me. I would have laughed it 

weren't so serious.  

After I introduced them they both settled down, sort of. Its funny, I'm not dating either one of 

them, but they both had appointed themselves my protectors. It took them a few minutes to 

realize the same thing. Then the three of us continued.  

Nick and Casey both told me what they saw, and each view was a little different. One military, 

one civil, both priceless. Still no matter how much we planned, it came down to me controlling 

the situation.  
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I know Nick and Casey worked out more on their own, but it was going to be hard to control the 

situation once I was on duty. Then I was at the mercy of dispatch, and the evening's citizens in 

need.  

My vest was starting to smell a little funky, but I have no intention of going anywhere without it 

right now. There are too many cross hairs that seem intent on focusing in on me.  

Then a thought hit me- I'd been so busy remembering and trying to convince myself that the 

shooter wasn't Alan, that I wasn't thinking about who he really was. I looked at Casey and asked 

him if he knew a sketch artist. He did me one better and pulled out the latest version of 

InterQuest's Faces (tm) , a composite picture program that would do the job. I went through the 

images concentrating on one feature at a time until we finally gave a face to the man I 

remembered from the shooting.  

There was no way the man could be mistaken for Alan-- not once I got the image rendered in 3D. 

I wondered why Darringer hadn't thought of it, and then realized why. To him Alan was the 

shooter, anything I said would be a lie to protect him, so any leads I gave them were to be 

ignored.  

Casey took the picture and promised to run it through NCIC and see what he could get. It wasn't 

much, but it was at least something. Nick kissed the top of my head, promised me that he'd be 

watching over me then just faded into the background. Now at least one of the people following 

me cares about me. Again- its something.  

 

Sunday October 29th 2056 - Double or nothing 

Saturday's runs were normal, smooth, almost text book perfect. Enough to put any medic worth 

his salt on edge. It was enough to give me hives.  

I knew Nick was out there covering me, but it doesn't mean I relaxed. No, I've been at this game 

long enough to know better. After shift, Casey came to pick me up and take me back to his place. 

He'd gotten something on the picture and I could tell it wasn't good.  

Nick met us there. Well, actually he followed us there without either of us really noticing, but 

that's what he does.  

Casey waited until we were all inside and situated before reviewing his results. It seems the man 

I'd identified made his living impersonating other people. Word on the streets was that if you 

needed to have alibi, he was your man.  

I thought about it and got a slight chill as I remembered my doppleganger. Casey looked at me, I 

guess Andrews hadn't had the chance to tell him about it.  

http://www.facesinterquest.com/
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"The week right before Andrews..." I couldn't say 'died'. I just froze. Finally I just nodded and 

continued. "There was a woman claiming to be me- claiming to be looking for the boys. 

Saunders intercepted me and we set her up. She said she'd been hired to find out the status on the 

case.  

I hadn't really thought about it then or since. She was obviously new to the whole thing, but now, 

from the looks of things, she was a part of this latest mess. Even if only on the periphery.  

Funny how those concentric circles seem to constrict at times.  

Still, none of us were laughing.  

It was hard to tell how many threads were involved in this little knot that was intent on tangling 

me up. How much of it was just circumstance, how much of it wasn't? How much of it was me 

just being paranoid? How much of it was me not being paranoid enough?  

The Philips' case, the fake me, Andrews getting shot- getting killed, the fake Alan, Darringer, 

Martinez - Aaron, it was enough to drive anyone over the edge and none of it really fit together.  

Nick told me to try and get some sleep, but it was a long time in coming. As I tossed fitfully I 

could hear him and Casey talking in the other room. I couldn't make out the words, but the 

sounds helped me doze off once or twice.  

When I woke it was time for Nick to be heading back to base. "I'll be back next weekend," he 

promised. "You keep your head low and pay attention."  

I nodded. It was easy to say, a lot harder when you're supposed to be paying attention to the 

patient, not the psycho in the bushes.  

I could tell by his smile he knew what I was thinking. I winked at him. "You do the same."  

He winked back, gave me a brotherly kiss and was gone. After a few minutes I headed over to 

Casey who was waiting in Therese's car and got in.  

"So," I asked. "you baby sitting, or doing real work tonight?"  

He smiled at me and winked. "A little of both I think."  

Shift was insanity incarnate, but nothing out of the ordinary happened. Of course I consider a 

seven car pile up with an overturned bus a normal day so who am I to speak?  

 

Monday October 30th 2056 - To protect and serve? 
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Casey took me home last night- back to the condo. The place was a mess. Someone had forced 

entry into the apartment. Ripped everything apart. It was almost like it had been when I arrived 

with several notable differences.  

There was no police tape, and my stuff had been ruined. My guitar lay in several pieces, all held 

together by the strings- my clothes had been torn to shreds.  

When Casey couldn't get the star to respond, he called in the Agency. They weren't going to 

accept the case originally-- it wasn't really their jurisdiction. At least it wasn't until Casey pointed 

out the police cameras and monitors that had been installed, and left untouched.  

We were taken away for questioning, after I rounded up the cats.  

Several hours later the questioning over, the investigators asked me to explain some of the 

graffiti I'd happily missed. It had Aaron written all over it. My guitar had been clubbed. My 

spare helmet, now labeled 'Dead Meat', had been smashed into the wall, every mirror and picture 

on the wall.  

The bathroom had been the worst. Something red, goat's blood it turns out, had been smeared all 

over the walls. With a warning "Next time" cleaned out of it. On the other wall, three dates: 

02/08/52, 06/21/56 and 02/07/57 all written in blood.  

The warning was obvious enough, but the dates...  

I saw them and felt a fresh chill as the significance of the first two dates hit home. They were the 

dates of Aaron's attacks. Those I could explain. The third, I understood all too well.  

I could tell the investigator wanted to ask about it- but he wasn't sure how to begin. Casey was 

trying to be supportive  

He'd seen this sort of thing before, but somehow, this was a lot more personal. They both waited 

for me to explain.  

"Its my next birthday," I told them. My voice sounded small and wooden even to me.  

The investigator nodded, then looked at me. "We'll get him." he assured me.  

I tried to smile, but it was a bit much. Casey handed me a fresh cup of coffee and then gave the 

investigator a full rundown on what was happening with Darringer and the Martinez case. He 

also told him how someone on the Star had told the people in Baltimore that I didn't have 

anything to say about Aaron's release.  

As he was talking I realized something I hadn't seen. "My folder!"  

They both looked at me in worry and surprise.  
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"I have a case folder. I keep everything Aaron's ever done on hard copy... Its not in any of the 

pictures- I'd left it on the kitchen counter..."  

Casey looked at me for a minute. "You do have copies don't you?" he asked.  

I nodded, still a bit mechanically. "In my safety deposit box."  

Those words got all three of us moving. It was now my only copy.  

Sure enough- someone had obtained a search warrant for my safety deposit box. It had been 

drilled and all the paperwork inside was gone. I could feel something cold and very dark forming 

in the pit of my stomach.  

"Don't worry Jess, we'll find it."  

I almost couldn't hear Casey's promise. This was just too much.  

Needless to say, I didn't go home.  

 

Tuesday October 31th 2056 - Trick or treat  

Halloween-- All hallow's eve. Trick or treat. I think I've had enough of both right now. I'm sitting 

here dictating my journal entry with a gun aimed at nothing. I'm watching the shadows as the 

grow longer and longer and wondering which corner the trouble will come from first. I'm hiding 

from kids.  

I'm hiding from my past, my present and probably my future. I hate living like this, but I have to 

admit-- I'm kind of fond of living. The cats seem to have taken things in stride. I wish I could. 

I'm just too numb to really feel anything right now. Anything but terror.  

You know, I think I'd actually feel better if this were the result of some delusional paranoid 

breakdown and not reality. Then at least there would be the possibility of it ending.  

I really wish Aaron had come with some sort of warning label. Or if he had, that I'd seen them-- 

recognized them, done something with him. Now I'm holed up in a virtual stranger's house, with 

my back to the wall wondering what ghosts and goblins will be visiting me tonight. I can tell 

you, this is not how I imagined my life.  

Case left early this morning, promising to be back before nightfall. He's cutting it too damn close 

for my tastes. Half an hour before sunset, he hasn't called, no one has called. Its almost like I'm 

here all alone with my demons, and the demons, ghosts and goblins that are due to arrive any 

time now.  

PM - Late  
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Its so weird, pretending like nothing's happening; pretending that you're enjoying all the people 

trying to scare you. Casey tried to cheer me up, he really did. He even invited some of my friends 

over... tried to turn it into an impromptu Halloween party.  

It was actually fun for the most part. I mean how often do you get to see dignitaries dressed up 

like Urban Brawlers? I think that's what made things all that much worse.  

I was lost in the crowd of my friends, when I headed for the bathroom. As I used the roll of toilet 

papaer, I found a date written in red ink....today's date.  

I ran. I didn't say anything, I didn't even look for Casey-- I just ran.  

Now I'm watching the sun come up from the relative safety of a hotel room. It's a nice 

nondescript room, in a nameless part of town. Even I don't have a name here.  

Maybe it'll give me the protection I need. Somehow though-- I doubt it.  

 

Wednesday November 1st 2056 - All Saint's Day 

I know I should check in with Case, let him know I'm all right. Explain what happened-- why I 

left, but every time I pick up the phone I remember that if I call him, I'll be telling everyone in 

the world exactly where I am. Somehow, someone had found their way to the party. I could have 

been Aaron, or it could have been somebody else. I can't take that chance any more.  

If I call him, I'm going to be running again. I really don't know where this is going to end. All I 

do know is that it has to end. I can't go on like this. I tried to slip out for something to eat, but it 

seemed that everyone was interested in my business.  

The concierge, the bellhops, the lady with the hat boxes-- everyone. I caught site of the police as 

they patrolled the parking lot and tried to slip back into the building. Instead I ended up diving 

from car to car, trying to stay two cars away from its twin.  

The police want me, Aaron wants me. No place is safe. I just want to hide, I want to fade into 

nothingness-- I want to scream.  

I really need a friend, and there aren't any I can call on without giving myself away.  

Like it or not-- I'm on my own. Hopefully they'll understand...  
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WeekTwenty ï Going pitch black 

Thursday November 2nd 2056 - Off the air  

 

WAITING FOR INPUT...  

... ... ... ... ... ... ... 

CONNECTION TIMED OUT  

 

Friday November 3rd 2056 - Nobody's there. 

I've played over this thing too many times... Still no sign of Jess...  

Ah Jess-- you should have told me...  

Where are you?  

DELETE (Y/N)  

 

Saturday November 4th 2056 - No reply at all - Part 1 

 

Sunday November 4th 2056 - No reply at all - Part 2 

Testing... testing... 

Sounds good... Looks like it should work for her...  

When she comes round. 

If she comes round. 

Don't talk like that 

Just being realistic 
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Will you two just take it easy? 

 

Monday November 6th 2056 - Back on the air. 

Score one for our side, the good guys won. Well, at least we survived.  

I'm tired, I ache- the only good thing I can say right now is: "I'm alive."  

PC patched this thing in so that I can connect it to my pocket secretary. Then its just a question 

of dictating things through the datajack. It's a bit odd, and slow. I have to watch the tendency for 

words to run together, like thoughts. Still, its easier than typing or talking would be right now.  

Forgive me if my thoughts do run together. The pain killers are a little... confusing?  

When I woke up my arm was no longer chained to a pipe and someone had pumped enough 

fluids into me that sound didn't hurt anymore-  

Wait... no... that's really getting ahead of myself (I'll need to edit this later)  

....  

Sorry... just flipped back through the last entries. Casey sounded so worried... I wonder what it 

was like for him. Maybe I should wait... or ask him to tell it from his side... or Nick... Nick tells a 

good story.  

Maybe...  

Maybe I'll just sleep... Tell it later- when I'm awake...  

PM  

Its late now. The nurses just kicked Casey and Nick out. They haven't left me since... since they 

found me.  

That's a sobering thought.  

Let me start back with the beginning...  

I spent most of Wednesday jumping at shadows. After trying to get out I just ended up slinking 

back to my room and ordering room service. I kept looking out the peephole whenever I heard 

any movement in the hallway.  

I was generally, a nervous wreck- with reason.  
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I slept fitfully through the night, every sound seemingly magnified. Around 7:00 Thursday 

morning I finally took a shower and was getting ready to make a new entry here when I heard a 

noise down the hall.  

I looked out the peephole. Its not like you can really recognize anybody through the thing- unless 

you have fisheyes- But I could recognize the lumbering stride of the man approaching my door.  

My pulse skyrocketed and I did the only thing I could do. I ran.  

I had no way of knowing how he'd found me, no way of knowing that the police could have 

called on any one of ten mages to find me any time they wanted. Then again- if they could do 

that, why are there still so many missing people?"  

...  

Sorry- the nurse again-- gave me some pills, said I needed to....  

.....  

NO SIGNAL... DISCONNECT? (Y/N)  

 

Tuesday November 7th 2056 - Disconnected. 

Well, according to the nurses I'm being a pain, so I must be getting better. I actually talked a 

little bit, but they keep telling me to take it easy.  

Nick and Casey are a trip to watch. I still get tired really easy, and my shoulder-- well, lets just 

say I'm glad they're keeping the pain killers flowing.  

Visiting hours were a slow steady stream of people lying about how 'good' I was looking. 

Michael at least told me the truth.  

Mrs. Walker told me that at first he didn't want to come, not that I blame him. I think hospitals 

hold too many memories for him. Seeing me like this must have been pretty hard on him.  

"Jess," he told me. "You look terrible."  

I laughed-- as much as I could before it turned into more of a cough than anything. Mrs. Walker 

was mortified by his lack of tact. Jonathan took it in stride and pointed out to her that he was 

right.  

I smiled and held out my hand for him. It felt good to see all my friends and to know that it's 

finally over. I never have to look over my shoulder for Aaron again.  
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Its after hours now.  

Still not to crazy about being alone. Not after the last few days. Casey and Nick are trying to 

convince the Doc to let one or both of them stay with me. I hope they can convince him, I don't 

want to be alone-- that's when it's the worst.  

...  

It comes to me in images. I don't really remember what she said, or did.  

I'd managed to give Aaron the slip and was getting ready to get out of the hotel when she stepped 

in front of me, Officer Raz. I'd seen her before with Darringer, knew she was one of his squad. 

When she'd cuffed me and started to read me my rights, ever thing seemed normal.  

It wasn't until she led me to the freight elevator that I knew something was really wrong. Even 

then she'd managed to pass it off as "Hotel relations"-- not wanting to cause problems for the 

hotel. She took me into one of the sub levels.  

When the door opened I was greeted with a dose of curare. I couldn't move, I couldn't see unless 

they opened my eyelids for me... but I could hear and feel everything. They spoke a combination 

of Spanish and Azteca.  

I couldn't really tell what they were planning, but I knew all too well what they thought of me-- 

and my brothers.  

"Los hermanos Miller." It was one the one phrase that I remembered from the whole nightmare: 

"the Brothers (and sister) Miller."  

At one point Raz opened my eyes so I could see, so she could gloat. She whispered in my ear, 

something about her son, and my brothers-- and retribution.  

There was an altar laid out, complete with implements of destruction. Obsidian. Such a beautiful 

stone... usually-- not then and probably not ever again.  

....  

That did it... got the nurse with that one. She's not taking any chances... right to the IV...  

....  

NO SIGNAL... DISCONNECT? (Y/N)  

 

Wednesday November 8th 2056 - The whole story. 
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The nurses are optimistic, the doctor says the worst is over and I can go home soon. I think that's 

what they're hoping. I know I am.  

Today the police were finally allowed to come in and question me as to what happened. But only 

with Casey and Nick and my lawyer present.  

Darringer was at least human this time. He was listening to what I said, he wasn't accusatory in 

his questions. That probably has more to do with the fact that Martinez came too a few days ago 

and ID'd the shooter.  

It wasn't Alan. It never was.  

He'd already finished questioning Casey and Nick since they were the reason I was still alive. 

They knew how it ended... I knew how it began.  

The fact that Officer Raz was working for AZT first and Lone Star as a means to an end didn't sit 

well with Darringer. Seems the thing he hates more than suspected cop shooters and their sisters 

is a dirty cop. I'm sure as AZT is concerned she was as righteous as they come.  

It's over now. I have to keep reminding myself of that, remind myself and move on.  

I told him about her. About her 'arresting' me and then taking me downstairs. I told him as much 

of what happened as I could remember, but it was fractured. After they'd finished with me, she'd 

taken me deeper into the steam tunnels.  

Then she handcuffed me to one of the pipes running along the wall and left. It was high enough 

that I could almost kneel. With a little bit of work I found I could reach a rock or two... but I was 

there for quite a while before I was coherent enough to try.  

Darring asked me how long I'd been there, but I had no idea. I had no idea how long Raz and her 

friends kept me there, and no idea of how they planned on disposing of me.  

That was where Aaron came in.  

I'd tried everything I could think of-- Climbing onto the pipe, trying to brake it, trying to smash 

the cuffs with a rock... everything. I tried grease, spit, praying-- screaming.  

The rest of it was pretty much a blur until Aaron showed up. I remembered hearing him call my 

name  

He smiled at me, said something about "You've been avoiding me again... Jess... you always do 

that."  

He even had a lead pipe in his hands the for occasion.  
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That was it, I knew I was dead, knew that it wasn't going to be fun, and that by the time he 

finished with me, if they every found me, nobody would know that Raz and I had spend anytime 

together. It would have just been Aaron. Just a psycho ex-boyfriend killing his estranged 

girlfriend. Case closed. Tragic, but not uncommon.  

As he neared me, I heard the jaguar... Aaron heard it too and was looking up as two shots rang 

out. That was pretty much all I remembered.  

I could see Casey and Nick as they listened to what had happened while I was missing. I knew 

they were worried about me and somehow I think knowing what had happened made it worse.  

Darringer thanked me for my time and left. No well wishes, no apologies, just like Case had 

warned me.  

.....  

PM.  

I have to stop falling asleep in the middle of this thing.  

This afternoon I got the whole story from Casey and Nick. It was funny, I felt so ... disassociated 

from the whole thing. It was almost like watching a trid...  

Casey started the story.  

"I was worried about you. I didn't even know you'd left the party, until someone asked about the 

date in the bathroom..."  

He shook his head as he looked at me apologetically. "I think I kinda lost it then..."  

Knowing Casey, I knew "kinda losing it" was probably one of the biggest understatements of the 

year. Someone had slipped into his house, quite possibly a friend and done this. No "Kinda 

losing it" was not the optimal phrase.  

"That's when I called in a few favors," he smiled at me and I nodded.  

He'd contacted the police and got my latest whereabouts. So I was 'hiding' and everybody in the 

world knew where I was. Should have known.  

He figured he'd give me a few days of peace-- let me come in on my own. He didn't realize how 

bad it had gotten until I was gone. Until he'd read my journal entries, but by then-- it was too 

late.  

Then he'd contacted the Walkers, Nick, even Mario- no one had heard from me, and none of 

them could find me. Even the police mages couldn't locate me.  
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Of course, by then Raz and her friends had me and were cooking up something, so it wasn't 

really surprising that they couldn't find me.  

Nick went off on his own search. He said he'd tried everything and then finally gave up looking 

for me and went looking for Aaron. Guess he figured that Aaron would lead him to me-- if he 

knew where I was.  

He said Aaron was playing things really cool- going from party scene to party scene, mingling, 

making sure he was seen. He was afraid that he was too late.  

It was about then that he realized that I hadn't given the police the slip. It was quite possible that 

I had never left the hotel. At least not thought the front door.  

Casey nodded-- that's where he started looking for me. The path had finally led downstairs. He 

actually heard me pounding on the pipes-- before I'd slipped and ended up dislocating my 

shoulder among other things.  

Nick for his part continued to follow Aaron, hoping he wasn't too late, but all the time figuring 

that he probably was. Aaron for his part continued club hopping, and Nick continued trying to 

blend in.  

I had to laugh at that- Nick is not the type to go clubbing. Rock climbing, hiking, white water 

rafting, sure- that was Nick, but clubs were right out.  

Nick talked about how women seemed drawn to Aaron. I had to nod. He had an innate charm 

that drew you to him. He just didn't have what it took for a stable relationship-- like stability.  

So he watched as Aaron played it cool. After several pick up attempts one woman-- Raz again- 

sauntered over. The way Nick described it, he knew it wasn't a normal pick up scene. She had a 

sense of purpose about her. She was on the hunt.  

According to Nick, she slipped up to him and handed him a piece of paper. He smiled at her-- 

offered her a drink and she politely declined. Nick wanted to follow her, but stuck with Aaron--  

That's what led him to me. Aaron followed the map, Nick followed him.  

I asked about the gunshots, and Nick shrugged them off. "I killed Aaron," he told me gently.  

"And I killed Raz," Casey added.  

I looked at him for a moment. "The Jaguar," I finally said wearily.  

He nodded. "The Jaguar," he agreed. "Funny thing was... Martinez woke up about the same 

time."  

I nodded. Somehow that didn't surprise me either.  
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Anyway-- its almost time for "Nurse Ratched" to come by with my evening meds. Lets try 

signing off on this for a change.  
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WeekTwenty-one ï Getting better 

Thursday November 9th 2056 - Getting Better  

I finally realized two things about the whole mess. First, and most embarrassing, was the fact 

that Casey had read my journal. I talked to him about that. He swears up and down that he only 

read the last few entries- trying to get a feel for where I might be, what I might of done.  

I really hope he didn't read the mindless prattle and ramblings about him. I really do. He's acting 

like he hasn't- but I don't know. (Reminder- delete prattle.)  

Second, and more important, was the Philips case. We had gotten some information on it, but 

then it wasn't on my update disk from Andrews. Now I had no reports from the police, no idea 

who had taken over that case, or my brother's cases.  

When I talked to Casey about it he just chuckled and shook his head.  

"What?" I asked.  

He finally got his laughter under control. "Jess-" he said, with a slight laugh in his voice. "You're 

too much."  

"What?" I asked again, this time a little more insistently.  

"Jess- most people, after what you've been through would be thinking of something like... 

Tahiti... you-" He shook his head. "Right back into the middle of it."  

I shrugged. It's the way I am. Besides, working on something might take my mind off of my arm.  

I started therapy today. Seems I did some damage to the tendons and ligaments. If I want to be 

able to have full use of my arm and hand- its therapy time.  

Let me tell you something I learned today. Squeezing a tennis ball doesn't sound like much work, 

but it can be. My fingers are still stiff, they're cutting back on the pain killers, which means I'm 

not quite as loopy, but it also means I feel it a little bit more. (A lot more after therapy)  

Nick said his good-byes and headed back to base. Now that the emergency was over, he had to 

report back in. Sometimes I really wish things had worked out with him- but at least I still have a 

very dear friend, who'll drop everything and save my hide before riding back out into the sunset.  

I overheard what he said to Case: "You take good care of her!"  

It kinda felt good to hear that.  

More tomorrow- time for good little Jesses to be in bed.  
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Friday November 10th 2056 - Just desserts. 

Darringer stopped by again, this time for me to identify a few things they found in Aaron's hotel 

room. Again, he wasn't allowed to see me without Casey and a lawyer present.  

It was an odd collection of things he'd taken from the condo. The folder, some private items- the 

spare key to my bike. I nodded woodenly as he showed me each item. Then he showed me a few 

more items. They weren't mine.  

He also showed me a picture of a woman it was labeled "Chloe"  

That was news to me. Was she a future target, or my predecessor? No one had any idea.  

When he finished, he looked at the lawyer and Case, then me.  

"Look, Miller," he said. "No hard feelings."  

I knew what I was supposed to say, which was nothing- but it was just too much. "I understand 

your position," I told him.  

I waited until he started to relax before I continued. "The surveillance, the wiretap... they were 

understandable. As for hindering from doing my job, jeopardizing the citizenry- that's something 

you have to take up with Citywide. And your people owe me a new kit, stocked to my 

specifications."  

It took him a few minutes to calm down about that and finally he nodded. "I can understand that. 

Glad you understand."  

I shook my head. "I'm not done," I told him. I could tell Casey was trying to suppress a smile and 

was having a hard time of it.  

"What else?" he asked. He was preparing to stand his ground when I pulled the rug out from 

under him.  

"Your resignation."  

His eyes bulged at that one. "My resignation!? Now you've gone too far..."  

I shook my head slowly. "No- you went too far. I can deal with the wire tap, the bugs, the 

surveillance, the harassment . I can even deal with some of the scare tactics you used- but when 

you failed to contact me about the Mistopholes case- when you lied and said I had no 

complaints.. you perjured yourself and more to the point released my little serial killer. That I 

believe, is called Criminal Endangerment and is a felony."  



 

A Year in Seattle  217  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

"I didn't.."  

"Contact me?" I asked filling in the blanks. "You have a choice- resign, and stay resigned- or 

face the charges."  

He stormed out, leaving the things from Aaron's place in his wake.  

Casey let out a 'whoop' once Darringer's elevator headed down.  

The lawyer merely shook his head and told me if I ever considered going into trial law to look 

him up.  

I was surprised by how much the whole confrontation took out of me, but I felt oddly free.  

Therapy was hell, but that's to be expected. The doctors say I may be able to start out patient 

therapy Monday, meaning I'm stuck here over the weekend.  

I'm sure the nursing staff is overjoyed.  

 

Saturday November 11th 2056 - Reflections. 

Casey had to report in to work today. I kinda wish he was still here. I really don't like being 

alone. I feel-- vulnerable, scared.  

I guess when I'm alone, I have too much time to think about what happened, about Aaron, about 

Raz- about mortality.  

If there was any doubt in my mind that the boys had gotten on AZT's bad side, my experience 

with Raz and her friends had erased it. Whenever I think about her, about the ritual she 

performed, about the whole incident, I find myself rocking back and forth in an almost autistic 

manner. Guess the experience hit me harder than I thought.  

Whatever it was they did, whatever the purpose- I knew it wasn't designed to directly effect me. 

No, if that were they case there would be no point in killing me afterwards. As a matter of fact, it 

probably would have defeated the purpose. No, it was definitely something for the boys, 

otherwise what she did afterwards made no sense.  

She wanted to do something, something to hurt the boys. On the bright side it meant the boys 

were alive, somewhere-- so I guess even that makes it tolerable.  

With nothing else to focus on, I turned my attention to the folder. A summary to my final 

relationship with Aaron. Every phone call, every threat, every attack, all nicely categorized and 

filed. It was over now-- a memory. Something best forgotten.  
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Then there was the picture: the mysterious Chloe. Was she like me- Aaron's victim? Past? 

Present? Future? Had he finished with her, or just begun? Her eyes haunted me as I worked my 

hand and arm. It helped to think of anything other than the action, and the resulting twinges of 

pain.  

The therapist told me I'd been lucky. I'd done a lot more than just dislocated my shoulder. He 

joked that it looked like I'd tried to relocated it-- to another state.  

I tried napping after the afternoon's torture session with the therapist, but I really didn't want to 

take more pain killers and it was too much without them. One of the nurses tried to get me to 

take them.  

"Maybe later," I told her. How can I tell her that when I take them, I can't control my dreams, 

and I end up somewhere I really don't want to be?  

What I really want is to sleep in my own bed-- safe in my own home. But do I really have a 

home. I've got the boy's condo-- Matt's bed... Its where I live, but is it really home? I don't know 

any more.  

 

Sunday November 12th 2056 - Therapy 

Well-- add another therapist to the list of people I'm seeing now. This one's a psych. He keeps 

telling me its normal to feel this way after what I've been through. Normal. Yeah-- normal 

people don't wake up with an orderly struggling to finish restraining them before they hurt 

*another* nurse.  

I swear, it almost felt like I was floating above it all, watching myself as I lost it. It wasn't really 

me. Again that 'disconnected' feeling.  

If I thought I was bored and starting in with cabin fever before, I know it now. You think laying 

in a hospital bed is boring, try staring at the ceiling 'cause you're tied to the bed and all you have 

to watch is the IV drip. Oh, that's fun.  

Of course now the nurses talk to the doctors about me like I can't understand what they're saying. 

People, I went off the deep end-- I did not drop my language skills.  

At least I'm still hooked into this getup enough that I can read through old entries and make new 

ones.  

They say its post traumatic stress-- I'm beginning to think it's the drugs, but trying to get them to 

listen is another thing entirely. Even when one of the nurses does listen to me, she just nods and 

pats my hand condescendingly.  
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I think this is the real reason medics and doctors make lousy patients- they come with a built in 

second opinion and nobody takes it seriously. And when you know something's wrong and they 

don't listen-- it gets frustrating.  

Of course, they attribute that to post traumatic stress as well. How about plain old fashioned 

frustration-- it works for me. Still they know better and I'm just having trouble adjusting.  

So now I'm considered a hazard and I have to go for counseling and therapy until they figure out 

what the real problem is. Man I just want to get out of here before they kill me.  

For my own good mind you...  

 

Monday November 13th 2056 - Going Home 

After another night of very vivid nightmares- somebody's finally listening to me. Although after 

last night, I'm not sure they're going to want to let me out of here until they're sure I'm all right. 

Casey's working on that.  

It seems I have an allergy to some of the painkillers they've been using.  

Didn't I say that before? Didn't I try and tell them that? 'Course, I'm just the patient with just a 

little bit of medical knowledge... a hypochondriac don't you know?  

Okay- being sarcastic isn't going to get me anywhere, but I'm not really at my best right now. 

Lack of real sleep does that to me.  

I got violent again. They matched that up with yesterday's chart and noticed that about 20 

minutes after they gave me the pain killers my blood pressure would skyrocket and then the 'odd 

behavior would start. Seems the med, a cocaine derivative, can cause violent episodes and 

hallucinations of nightmarish intensity.  

But that's only a mild possibility- less than 1/100 of a percent. Lucky me.  

My doctor found it fascinating. I found it annoying.  

They want to keep me in for observation, I want to go home. Casey agrees with me. Going to 

take sometime to see who wins this one.  

...  

Its now a little after 11:00. Casey's been arguing with the Doc for almost 10 minutes straight. 

The doctor warning him that I was still in need of medical attention- him countering with how, 

"if she gets any more medical attention, it could kill her."  
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I had never heard that tone in his voice before. He was worried.  

When he came back in he smiled at me and gave my shoulder a gentle pat. "We'll get you out 

here," he promised.  

"Thank you," I said, unable to say more.  

He understood.  

...  

It took another few hours to get all the paperwork together and signed. There were release forms, 

warnings, instructions, things to look for, my schedule for PT- more doctor's warnings; 

prescriptions, payment agreements. On and on for the next hour and half. When it was over I 

looked at the prescriptions. Painkillers- all of them: one for the day, one for nighttime.  

Somehow- I don't think I want to take any more drugs. At least not the ones they're offering here.  

Finally everything was signed and I was officially released.  

Casey wheeled me out to the car and smiled. "Where do you want to go?"  

I thought about it for a little while and realized that the choices were rather limited. The condo 

was still a mess and the cats were at his place.  

"We're going to have clean up the condo before anybody can stay there," I sighed. I really kind 

of wanted to stay there. At least the surroundings were familiar.  

"Jess," he told me gently. "The condo is clean... Mario and a few people got together- 

straightened it up for you. New door even."  

I can't really describe how I felt- relieved? Touched? Happy?  

Turns out he'd spent the better part of Sunday straightening the place with Mario and the others. 

Fixing and replacing the broken things, and making sure the bugs were gone. I'm beginning to 

think he read more than he admitted.  

I just smiled and said. "Then lets go home."  

I guess home is really where your friends are.  

 

Tuesday November 14th 2056 - Recovering 
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I had a lot of trouble sleeping last night. Without the IV loaded with painkillers-- there was 

nothing to override the pain, and whenever I'd get comfortable, my shoulder would cramp up.  

I can see why the doctors were worried, but after what happened yesterday... I really don't want 

the pain killers-- any of them.  

Casey's been wonderful. He had planed to sleep on the couch and be there if I needed him. Turns 

out I needed him enough that he ended up moving a chair into Matt's room.  

I finally fell asleep around 5 AM. But it was more of and exhaustion thing than a rest thing. I 

guess sometimes you take what you can get.  

Its around 2 now, and Casey's fixing me something to eat. From the looks of things I'm at least 2 

weeks out from being able to ride-- let alone do my job. I checked with the main office. I start 

working night dispatch Next Monday, after the doctor's have cleared me for very limited duty.  

PM  

Well, Daniels and Cummings dropped by-- Darringer has decided to retire from law 

enforcement. Glad to see some things going my way. They stayed until I started to nod off, then 

made their good-byes and left.  

Casey herded me off to bed and is making warm milk and honey for me. I'm really beginning to 

wonder how much of my journal he *actually* read.  

 

Wednesday November 15th 2056 - Putting my demons to rest 

I woke up in the middle of the night last night. I was curled up in a small fetal ball, my shoulder 

was killing me, and Casey was holding me, trying to wake me up, reassure me.  

Definitely not the way I imagined what it would be like to wake up in his arms. He looked 

almost as panicked as I felt.  

Even now I'm not sure what happened or where I was in my nightmare, but we figured out what 

had caused it. My arm had gotten wrapped up in the sheets and when I rolled over, my arm 

stayed. It was a combination of that and the resulting pain in my shoulder that did it, and I was 

too tired to wake up.  

It became a part of my dream- taking me back to the steam tunnels... to Raz and then to Aaron. 

Only this time...  

Only this time it was just a dream.  
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I have to keep telling myself that. Even as I retell it I find myself shivering. They're both gone, 

and yet somehow, I'm still their captive... and Aaron is still stalking me.  

Casey asked me about it. All I could do was shake my head. It wasn't like I didn't want to tell 

him, it was more like there wasn't really anything to tell. There aren't any words that describe the 

feeling- the memories. And if there are- they're too broad and general to really convey what I'm 

feeling.  

At least in trying to explain it to him- I found some of the words I needed here. I am still his 

prisoner. In my mind I know he's gone- that its over, but emotionally, he's still there.  

He's right behind me where I can't see him, but I know he's there. I thought about that a lot today. 

Our 'history' nicely enshrined in a manilla folder- a record of everything that went wrong 

between us.  

Casey was worried about me, especially when I took the folder and headed for the fireplace. I sat 

on the hearth for a while, before lighting the synth-logs. As the flames settled down I opened the 

folder, reading it by the fire light.  

The first page was the first police report I'd filed: an assault charge. It wasn't exactly an 'assault' 

it was more of accosting me- trying to restrain me. We had just broken up and he 'needed to talk 

to me.'  

I took the sheet, rolled it up and tossed it into the fire-- watching it light up the room and then 

vanish from my life in a puff of smoke and ash. I smiled and looked at Casey.  

I could see his smile grow as he realized what I was doing. I was finally putting my demon to 

rest.  

One by one the records of our post-relationship relationship were added to the pyre. The stalking 

charges, the restraining orders, the phone calls... everything until all that was left was the folder 

and the picture of Chloe. The folder was the last to go.  

"Good-bye Aaron- I hope you find the peace you never could find here."  

I watched the fire for a very long time, letting its warmth fill me; letting the memories fade to 

ashes like the fire. Finally I turned back to Casey and smiled. It was over for me- except for 

finding Chloe and telling her what had happened.  

Hopefully she'll find her peace as well.  
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WeekTwenty-two ï Roll with it  

Thursday November 16th 2056 - Chloe 

I didn't need to find Chloe, she found me. After everything that had happened, the story did make 

the papers. Something about a Paramedic being held captive underground. The spookiness of it, 

the timing- it was the perfect end of Halloween story.  

She waited until the reporters were gone and things had once again settled down. I'm not sure 

who she was trying to protect, me or her, but it didn't really matter. We finally met and she was 

all right.  

She was more than all right- she was me. She was an EMT from the Motor City. That sent chills 

down my spine. I thought about her and then I thought about the headline he'd shown me on the 

phone.  

I told her to hold on a minute and then went back, hoping that it was still on the phone- hoping I 

hadn't destroyed it last night in my little ceremony. I rewound the tape and found it- and the 

masthead. It was an Boston paper.  

Casey was worried about me as I sat back down, but something in Chloe's eyes told me that she 

understood. She'd been there after all.  

We talked for quite a while and after a bit Casey left us alone, figuring it would be easier if he 

wasn't there. That still makes me smile.  

Chloe's story was like mine- enough to realize that Aaron wasn't just a fluke... he was hunting 

from the start. He'd met her at a bar after a particularly harsh shift- swept her off her feet; made 

her forget everything else.  

Then the relationship drifted apart. He was changing- getting more possessive. Then the phone 

calls started.  

I nodded shivering as she told me the story. It was our story- Aaron and me- only it had 

happened two years before Aaron and me.  

Chloe' had run, hidden, changed her profession. He found her a couple of times before she'd 

learned to really hide. She became as much a chameleon as he had. It was hard, but somehow, 

having someone who understood without having to say a thing- it helped both of us.  

She gave me her address, told me she was moving back to Detroit. I nodded- relishing her 

freedom almost as much as I did mine. I chuckled and looked at her.  

"We're free..." I sighed. "We're finally free."  
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She nodded in silent agreement.  

We went to the park, with Casey watching us worriedly. We watched the sunset, each in silent 

reflection and joy.  

It is indeed over.  

 

Friday November 17th 2056 Dinner and a surveillance 

For the first time since I came here-- I slept soundly. I was safe-- and I was home. I think it was 

the first time I really believed it. Somehow I had let my search for my brothers interfere with 

something very important, and I hadn't realized until it was almost taken away from me.  

When I rolled over with my new-found wisdom Case sat up straight in his chair and smiled.  

"You're looking a lot better," he said. His voice had a slight gruffness to it, like he hadn't had 

enough sleep lately.  

I can understand that.  

"I'm feeling a lot better," I told him.  

It wasn't necessary-- he could see the change in me, the change in my search.  

I'm still going to look for my brothers, and I'm not going to give up until I find something out-- 

but its not going to be my life. I think the boy's would want it that way.  

Physical Therapy was tough, but it looks like I'll be able to return to full duty in about 2 weeks. 

Until then-- and until Citywide clears me for duty, I'll be manning the phones at dispatch. Its not 

too bad.  

It means I'll get to spend some time with Casey... and Michael, and - everybody. I went down to 

the clinic when Case had 'a few things to do downtown.'  

Trina didn't mom me for once, and I was glad. I didn't really need that right now. I don't think 

either of us did. I did talk to her about Casey. She told me that considering her track record with 

men that she probably wasn't the best source to consult.  

Then again, with mine, neither am I. I think I'll stick to triage and emergency medical 

procedures-- those I understand... It's the whole wondering about relationships that drives you 

mad. I think we've both had enough madness for right now.  

Of course that decision went straight out the window when Casey showed up with Jonathan and 

they took the two of us out to dinner. It was confusing, but nice.  
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Sometimes I wish men came with instruction booklets. Looking at Trina last night, I think she 

feels about the same. I think we both felt a bit awkward-- until we noticed that they were paying 

a lot more attention to the man two tables down from us than they were to their food, or us.  

And here I was starting to worry that he was letting his work slip 'cause of me. Ego... do it to you 

every time.  

 

Saturday November 18th 2056 - A good laugh 

Oh man... I had to laugh this morning. I told Case I wanted to go to council Island and see the 

folks there-- I figure Michael and I have some serious catch-up to do on cartoons-- and life.  

Anyway-- Case got this worried kind of expression. I had to do some major prodding to find 

anything out, but when I did... I was rolling on the floor.  

He was worried that I was upset about him using me and Trina as cover on a stake out. The look 

on his face as I was trying, and failing, to get it under control only made it worse.  

I shook my head and finally gasped, "next time, you may want to give us some warning." I was 

still chuckling when I explained . "I mean... if one of them started choking.. your 'dates' would 

have been all over them -- hardly what you'd call inconspicuous."  

He chuckled in spite of himself. You know-- he's almost as much of a work-a-holic as I am.  

It was a good day. I even managed to have a nice long talk with Mrs. Walker about Raz and 

Aaron, the ritual. She nodded knowingly... and then took hair, blood and tissue samples-- just in 

case.  

She said that this way she could find me if anything like this happened again. With the way I live 

my life-- its probably a good idea.  

 

Sunday November 19th 2056 - Letting go 

I ended up going to church this morning- something I haven't done in ages. It felt good though- 

like being home- like I've finally decided that this is my home.  

The sermon was on forgiveness- how anger and grudges could make you a prisoner.  

I can vouch for that one.  
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After services Case took me to a decent restaurant for a brunch buffet. I spent most of the time 

plowing into the food, he spent most of the time giving me an almost shocked look. I think I was 

on my third plate when I noticed and looked up at him.  

"What?" I asked innocently.  

He just shook his head and poured some syrup on my pancakes. "Nothing," he said in an amused 

tone of voice. "Nothing at all."  

By my fifth serving the manager came over to ask if everything was alright. I probably should 

have stopped there, but it was just too comical watching the manager... watching Case. As I 

stood and headed for the buffet line Case just shook his head-- the manager was reaching for his 

calculator.  

I had a hard time keeping a straight face. Its good to see Casey smiling though.  

It was a rather lazy afternoon-- we spend the day reading the papers, downloading the latest info. 

Then I decided to search the Boston papers- looking for that article.  

I found it.  

Her name was JoAnn Johanson-- Jo to her close friends, Hanna to most others. She had been 

found bludgeoned to death in the entrance to her apartment. It was still an unsolved case, but 

they were still looking for her estranged boy friend in the hopes he could shed some light on the 

subject- Aaron.  

I showed the article to Case, who just shook his head.  

"You just aren't happy with the idea of smooth sailing are you?"  

I grinned. "More like I don't like mysteries niggling at me."  

"You could ignore them," he suggested.  

I know it would make life easier-- but its not my style. I can't ignore something that's wrong-- not 

until it's been dealt with.  

I'm not sure what possessed me, but I suggested something about him distracting me.  

He took me up on the offer... I think we surprised each other. 

 

Monday November 20th 2056 - I'll pass you on to my supervisor. 

Have I mentioned that dispatch is BORING?  
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"Hello Citywide, may I help you?"  

"No ma'am, I don't think its against the law for a troll to be out walking his dog."  

"No, if the dog is making a mess, his owner should clean it up."  

"Well ma'am- that isn't a medical emergency- you really should call the Star or sanitation."  

"Hello Citywide, may I help you?"  

"Ma'am, I told you... this line is for fire and rescue. A dog pooping on the street does not 

constitute... Yes ma'am, I'll pass you on to my supervisor."  

I have to admit there were a few interesting calls- but from the dispatch end, even those were 

boring. You take the calls, you track the people taking the call. Its paperwork without the paper. I 

was so bored it wasn't even funny.  

I had to keep from taking it out on the callers.  

"Hello Citywide, may I help you?  

"Ma'am... I don't understand. You need to call out 17 men, three trucks and an ambulance 

because your cat is stuck in a tree. He'll come down you know... they do that."  

"Ma'am- have you ever seen a cat's skeleton in a tree?... Believe me- they come down."  

"Yes ma'am, I'll pass you on to my supervisor..."  

All day like this.  

"Hello Citywide, may I help you?"  

"Sir, slow down please, I can't understand you..."  

"Yes sir, I speak English-- do you?"  

"No sir, I'm not making fun of you... "  

"Yes sir, I'll pass you on to my supervisor."  

I was actually relieved when the supervisor called me into his office and gave me a "talking to!".  

"Miller," he told me. "I know these calls are... not our jurisdiction... but you have to make it 

sound like you understand and that'll you see to it that the appropriate authority is notified. 

Telling the woman that her can will come down when its ready may be true, but- its not what 

they want to hear."  
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I nodded, but he could tell my sentiments on it.  

"Look Miller, we take the calls and pass them on to be handled accordingly. If its not our 

jurisdiction, we pass it on. No discussion, no attempts to correct the world. I know its not what 

you're used to- but this is what we do and since we need a medic here to figure things out, and 

you can't ride- we're stuck together."  

I nodded. "But I need to play nice with others."  

He nodded. "You got it."  

I tried to be pleasant, but it's a lot easier to figure out what you need to do when you're there. On 

the phone its mostly tone of voice and you usually aren't talking to the person in trouble. Guess I 

need to work on my phone side manner.  

What I really need is to get back out on the streets.  

 

Tuesday November 21st 2056 - More exciting than watching paint dry 

After work last night Casey picked me up and took me out to dinner. It was a nice ending to an 

otherwise boring day. This morning I had a hard time getting up for another one. The second day 

was a little easier than the first one.  

I think I learned early just how mind numbingly boring some of the calls can get. I had managed 

to convince myself that they couldn't get any more boring and I was for the most part right. I did 

get a few "live" calls- calls that required me to talk people through what to do until the medics 

arrived.  

Those calls were few and far between. The rest of the time it was just taking calls and passing on 

the information.  

Still, I guess, it beats staring at an IV drip. 

 

Wednesday November 22nd 2056 - Rider down 

Sometimes-- when you least expect, everything turns upside down. It takes everything you have 

to get things back where they belong. Then when you think everything is fine and order has been 

restored... you find out the chaos has just begun.  

Tonight I learned another reason I'm really bad at this job. Its one thing to take the calls, keep 

track of the people doing their job: monitoring; waiting; watching...  
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Its quite another thing when you dispatch a friend to a call-- and they never make it there. It was 

a chest pain call. Something simple, yet something we flag 'cause it could be bad... a motormedic 

call. Ray...  

He's in surgery now... I took a cab over to his place and told Gwen. Needless to say, she didn't 

take the news all that well.  

"Why?"  

Her question hit me kind of hard. "Why?"  

Why do we risk our lives like this?  

Why do these things seem to happen when you're least prepared to cope with it?  

Why Ray?  

It takes a while to realize the fact that there is no reason-- just something that happens. She 

nearly slapped me when I told her that, not that I really blame her. Still, Ray's my partner and-- 

in some odd sort of way I guess she's my sister-in-law.  

I got her down to the cab alright, but then she started having second thoughts. Second thoughts 

about going, second thoughts about Ray. I took a deep breath and smiled at her.  

"He needs you," I told her.  

She gave me a look that could have frozen me to my seat if I'd let it-- if I hadn't seen it dozens of 

times when I'm working on a patient.  

I nodded. "Look, I'm not going to candy coat this. Anytime a bike goes down, it's serious. But-- 

its part of who he is. And if you're having doubts now, that's fine. But this is the reality we face 

everyday, and another part of it, is him knowing that you're there for him."  

"... I don't think I can..." she said softly.  

I wasn't sure if she meant then, or-- long term. Like I said, the job is hard on relationships.  

I nodded and offered her my hand. "I'll stay with you if you'd like."  

She sat there for a long time then nodded. I'm not sure if she'll stay for the long haul... but it's a 

big step in a relationship. Its when you realize there's a lot more than just being with them-- like 

being there for them.  

Case was at the hospital when we got there. He'd heard Ray'd gone down, knew I'd be there. 

Ray's pretty messed up right now, but he's going to be all right. I just don't think I can take any 

more dispatching. I'm better at doing then telling someone else how or what to do.  
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WeekTwenty-three ï A week in the country 

Thursday November 23rd 2056 - Packing up. 

I reported into work and was immediately reassigned. Citywide can be a lot of things, but they 

do know their people and they know how to keep them healthy, happy and on the job. Dispatch 

was not the way to do it for me.  

Fortunately, the Star had worked something out with them. They're heading up into the 

mountains for a week long training course in search and rescue- and they need a medic.  

I'm pretty sure Casey had something to do getting me the job. He knows all too well what this is 

doing to me.  

Now instead of dwelling on things, I have something to focus on. I have today and tomorrow 

morning to get all my gear together and report in. I'll be traveling with them to their base camp, 

where I'll stay.  

If anything happens to them- they come to me. Sounds like its more of a sick call and first aid 

station than true paramedic work, but this way at least- I don't have to answer the phone and I 

don't have to spend my time worrying about the people I've dispatched.  

I stopped by to see the physical therapist and he gave me a few exercises and some goals. He told 

me not to push to hard, but to push. Then he took me through a grueling routine.  

"If you don't feel like that by the end of the session, you're doing something wrong," he told me.  

I nodded, too tired to say anything.  

"I'll see you in a week," he added.  

I know I'm going to hate the routine, but I know I'll hate not riding even more. Case spent the 

day driving me around.  

"Don't you have something more important to do?" I finally asked.  

He smiled at me and shook his head. "Nothing more important than making sure our medic's 

good to go."  

I looked at him for a minute and smiled. He had arranged this. "Our medic?"  

He nodded, his smile broadening. "Yeah. We needed a medic for the exercises and I knew this 

great medic that was going bonkers in dispatch."  

He knows me too well.  
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Friday November 24th 2056 - A field trip  

I stopped by the hospital and talked to Ray a little bit, looks like when he gets out he's going to 

be the one at dispatch. He and Gwen had a long talk-- she wants him to do something 'safer'.  

I don't think he's in any condition to argue about it right now, but somehow I think when it 

comes time, they're going to be having another talk.  

I could be wrong, but I just can't see Ray giving up being a medic-- even for Gwen. And even if 

he does, he's not going to be happy about it.  

We talked a while- about life, about what happened- about the fact that life has a tendency to 

happen in a major way around us. 'Just the way things are I guess (At least it is for me, but then 

again- I could be wrong)  

Case picked me up from the hospital around eleven. He took me to the condo where I loaded up 

my gear- then we went to his place. I was a bit surprised when he had several bags packed and 

waiting by the door.  

I think it really hadn't hit that he was going too until I saw his bags and mine together.  

"What?" he asked. "You think I'm going to let you have all the fun?"  

I think I was grinning like an idiot, but it was great. We're going to the mountains together for a 

week. Just Case, Me -- and 200 of his closest Star buddies.  

 

Saturday November 25th 2056 - Roughing it easy 

Now this is 'roughing' it in style. The Star guys might not be having fun, but I sure am.  

I've got first class accommodations and a trid; a thoroughly stocked station with everything I 

could possibly need to treat the kind of injuries we're expecting and 7 beds just in case.  

Of course this just screams 'something is going to go wrong.' But after everything I've been 

through- I think I can handle it.  

I almost feel sorry for Case, I'd feel more sorry for him if he was actually staying in his assigned 

tent with his assigned roommate. The man, Sgt McGruder, snores so loudly that everybody in the 

camp has complained.  

They were kindly told that this is "supposed to be a realistic reproduction of what they'd be going 

through in a real search operation- so deal with it."  
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Case just opted to visit me. I mean with 6 open beds, a fridge and a trid, I had a lot more to offer 

than a cot next to the loudest snorer in camp.  

I spent most of the day stowing my gear and checking out the facilities. The Star spent theirs 

setting up camp and getting familiar with the area.  

Today was mostly orientation, which they didn't expect me to attend. I did anyway- I wanted to 

see exactly what they were planning for the week.  

Looks like I can expect to see lots of muscle pulls and twisted ankles. I'm beginning to think 

some of these guys have never been anywhere that hadn't been paved. Should prove interesting.  

 

Sunday November 26th 2056 - Searching revelations 

Things were rather boring in the morning. I went through my stock and supplies, making sure I 

had everything I could need. By the time I finished everybody was at the main briefing/lecture.  

I headed over to the big open grassy area to listen in. Then I saw Case. I felt like a kid in grade 

school-- He'd saved a spot for me.  

They were discussing search procedures and as I watched I tried to figure out what was wrong. It 

took me a while, but then I realized why: the techniques they were teaching were based on 

searching for a fugitive-- someone who doesn't wan to be found.  

I shook my head when they finished and one of the instructors glared at me. "Do you have a 

problem?"  

I stood and took a deep breath. "Well sir... everything you've covered is designed to ... flush 

someone from cover... that's fine for doing a felon search... but search and rescue is different... 

Usually the people you're looking for want to be found... They're either trying to contact you... or 

they're in no shape to contact you... Either way, the search pattern is different.  

They thought about what I said for a moment and then nodded. "How do the searches differ?"  

I took a deep breath. "In one you're looking for hiding places. Trying to identify where the 

subject would go by the cover. The other... you're trying to find where they were going or trying 

to go...Tracking what could have happened along the way... "  

The instructor nodded. "Still the procedures are the same..."  

I shook my head and shrugged. "Different mind set I guess."  

After I sat back down, I realized I'd based on my search for the boys on the assumption that they 

wanted to be found. I'd forgotten all about the fact that they were hiding.  
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The more I thought about it the more I realized that the whole thing with Raz had been an 

attempt to flush them out.  

Since I opened up my big mouth, I got to teach the afternoon's classes on wilderness first aid. I 

took them through the basic procedures then added some key tricks in mprovising equipment. 

Then at the end I gave them an overview of 'survival medicine.'  

There were a lot of people who were surprised that you could find medicines in nature-- I'd 

forgotten- just about everybody there got their meds from a bottle. It was an interesting day.  

Case and I talked about it some over coffee in the station after lights out. We had a good chuckle 

over my assumption. It was a little bit late-- but at least I figured it out.  

 

Monday November 27th 2056 - Nature doesn't come with a warning label. 

Today's classes ended up breaking down into smaller teams. Each team was taken out and 

allowed to practice what they'd learned. That's where I started having people to work on.  

One case of poison ivy, two sprained ankles and one broken arm from an officer climbing a tree.  

When they brought him in he was enraged. There should have been a warning if the tree wasn't 

able to support him. He'd picked a rotten branch, it broke while he was trying to hoist himself up.  

I'm beginning to think they should teach 'remedial outdoorsmanship.'  

"This is not the city... unlike the city... there's a lot of nature around. Nature is chaotic..."  

The day started out nice enough but by two it was raining like a mad-dog. There were a lot of 

people complaining about the weather.  

(See the above lecture.)  

The afternoon brought more rain, and more injuries... another pair of sprained ankles and some 

scratches where someone had been trying to climb some of the steeper areas in the rain.  

I know that they want realistic conditions, but they're going to take out half their people if this 

keeps up... and then they're going to learn how quickly the rescuers can become those in need of 

rescue.  

Case spend the evening at the station, but two of the beds were taken and the trid was occupied. 

We talked until it was too late for him to go anywhere, so he finally opted to stay. 
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Tuesday November 28th 2056 - Cross Training? 

More rain, more minor injuries.  

I sat in on the rescue techniques section. I could see the instructors sag slightly when I showed 

up. Seems medics also make lousy students in basic rescue classes- at least that's what they 

thought.  

After they finished and people were getting to break up into teams to practice the instructor 

looked at me. "Miller- got anything you want to add?"  

I shook my head. "Not really- the key is to keep yourself as safe/secure as possible... if you don't, 

then you're buddies are going to have to rescue you as well."  

He seemed relieved when that was all I said. I was about to leave when he came over to talk to 

me. We watched as the students prepared for the exercises.  

"So, what do you think about the camp so far?"  

I smiled. "Its nice- got a lot to cover in one week..."  

He nodded. "Unfortunately, that's about all the time the various departments can spare."  

I nodded. "I hear ya on that one," I answered. That is a common problem, not only do you have 

to deal with the training budget, you have to deal with scheduling issues. I know with us a week 

is a long time to have a medic out training. "Ever think of cross training?"  

I don't know why it hadn't crossed my mind before, or why it chose now to show up, but it was 

an idea. Folks at the Star tend to need medics on a regular basis... and rescue is part of our 

business.  

He looked at me for a minute, then grinned. "Nah... never get it to fly- makes too much sense."  

I nodded. Citywide and the Star are uneasy allies- it would take a merger for them to work 

together, and even then...  

It was a good idea though.  

After that it was sprains and pulls for the rest of the afternoon. I was almost out of ice by the time 

they called it an evening.  

I wonder what chaos mother nature will throw our way tomorrow...  

 

Wednesday November 29th 2056 - Flash Flood 
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Ya know.. Sometimes I really wish I could keep my mouth shut!  

The morning started out simply enough, bright clear day. If I'd been paying attention I'd have 

noticed how the birds weren't there-- how the search dogs seemed on edge. But no- I was busy 

going through the standard protocols. Sick call for the folks searching and then an inventory. I 

was packing things into kits for the expected types of injuries- and making sure what I'd need for 

anything else was stowed in my kit.  

Good thing I did too, last opportunity I had to do it before all hell broke lose.  

This outing may have started out mountain search and rescue, but it very quickly became "white 

water rescue."  

I really wanted to talk to the person who put the base camp in the middle of a flood plane in the 

middle of Cascade Crow Territory in the middle of November. Of course, I probably should have 

seen it coming.  

It had been warm- Indian summer. A combination of rain and melting snow up on the mountains 

spelled disaster for those of us below.  

On the bright side, most of the people in camp were on higher ground practicing some of the 

techniques they were learning. I on the other hand was in the first aid station. I heard the water as 

a roar coming towards me with all the subtlety of a herd of rampaging elephants.  

I didn't have time to do more than grab my kit and pray.  

The water was fast and numbingly cold. Luckily the station was on higher ground than the rest of 

the camp, but that didn't give us much to work with.  

By the end of the day, between my own escape and rescue work, we ended up with seven 

seriously injured and the rest of us were pretty much soaked. They medivac-ed out the worst 

cases but the rest of us were stuck there, at least for the night. The roads below were washed out 

and it was getting too dark to safely pick us up.  

By evening our search and rescue training had become survival. I wish I could say that I was a 

help there, but by the time we realized it, I was exhausted and freezing. Case had taken over as 

medic, at least as far I was concerned.  

I know they were talking about putting me with the women officers, and I can remember Case 

telling them that I wouldn't deal well with waking up with a bunch of strangers, even if they were 

all women.  

I woke up around ten that night, Case was curled around me protectively trying to keep me 

warm. It felt nice.  
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WeekTwenty-four  - Trust  

Thursday November 30th 2056 - Real life exercises. 

Well, this morning we were supposed to be airlifted out of the training area, but one of the towns 

down the valley from us was still having problems finding all their people.  

And so our little adventure became a real life application of what we'd been covering in training. 

Case tried to get me to go home, but there was work to do... and I can search with the best of 

them, I'm just not in much shape for rescuing.  

On the bright side, I got my workout yesterday without doing the assigned exercises. We found 

four out of the seven missing today and the director is figuring we'll find the other three in the 

morning.  

I was able to treat two of the people we found, the other two were beyond anything I could do 

save pray. Considering how bad it was, I think we got off rather easy.  

Its going to take some time to rebuild the damage done here, but every one seems intent on 

building right back where they'd been hit in the first place.  

Red Cross and the Crow rescue units arrived by mid day, and by five we were all headed back to 

the city.  

So much for a week in the country. I think I'll stick with the city.  

 

Friday December 1st 2056 - Not adjusting well. 

Since I have proven myself unsuitable for dispatch and unable to even keep a simple assignment 

simple, Citywide has placed me on administrative leave for the duration.  

Basically it's a paid vacation. Case tells me I should take it as such, but - you know me, I need to 

be doing something. I ended up stopping by the Star to try and get back to the way things were, 

but it wasn't the same. Andrews was gone, and there was no getting around that. At least the 

other officers aren't looking at me like I crawled out from under a rock.  

Then again, they aren't going out of their way to apologize either. Some of these people 

considered Darringer a friend and a boon to the department. I proved him a menace. He may 

have been good, but he forgot two little rules- 'innocent until proven guilty' and something about 

protecting and serving.  

Other than that, the man was a saint.  
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Case came with me- I'm really glad he did. I don't think I could have taken everything without 

him being there. I can deal with glares, I get them often enough, but that and seeing the empty 

desk where Andrews always sat-- it would have been too much.  

Case introduced me to the detective taking over the boy's case. Saying the man was brusque 

would be like saying I seem to attract trouble. He felt that civilians involved in police cases were 

either a simple pain, or they were trying to confuse the matter. He even went as far as to 

insinuate that I may have had something to do with my brothers' disappearance.  

I almost said something, I almost said several somethings, none of which would have been 

charitable- but Case knew it was time to take me out of there and see about finding me 

something less stressful to do in my new found free time.  

He ended up taking me to the clinic and leaving me in Trina's care while he took care of a few 

things. Yeah, great- my friends are babysitting me.  

Ah well, there's always tomorrow.  

 

Saturday December 2nd 2056 - Accepting help. 

Today I ended up helping out at the clinic until around 2:00, when Casey came and picked me 

up. I have to admit, I was being a bit peevish.  

I'm really not used to having people take care of me- shuttling me everywhere. I'm the one who's 

supposed to be taking care of people. I would be a lot better if I were cleared for riding, but the 

therapist says that my attempts at white water body surfing have set my progress back at least a 

week.  

It didn't help that my shoulder was killing me.  

Case almost just dropped me off at the condo and said forget it, not that I'd have blamed him. 

Still he finally said something.  

"Look Jess- I'm not the enemy here. I care about you a lot, but you keep pushing people away. Its 

okay to need help from time to time... you might even find that people like taking care of you."  

There was something in his tone that got through to me. I looked at him for a long time and I 

realized how much I liked having him there for me- and that maybe... maybe there was a lot 

more to it than just taking care of a friend.  

Yeah, after all we've been through I realize it now. What can I say... I'm a little slow on the 

uptake.  

"Do you think we can make this work?" I finally asked.  
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He looked away from me for a minute. I think he was preparing the infamous 'my job is very 

dangerous and stressful' speech, but he stopped. I mean- he's talking to a paramedic - a motor-

medic at that.  

"I'd like to try," he said.  

He ended up having to go down to the station around 7:00, but at least we got a few things 

straightened out.  

 

Sunday December 3rd 2056 - Where do you draw the line? 

Casey dropped me off at the condo this morning so I could spend some time with the cats before 

they forgot what I looked like. Found a note in the fridge.  

I hope Fin hasn't been waiting long- I haven't been home much lately.  

I took a walk over to the diner and had breakfast there, caught up on the neighborhood gossip. It 

seems Case and I are quite an item.  

Sheesh! They figured it out before I did.  

I wanted to tell them he was just a friend helping me over a rough spot, but I couldn't even kid 

myself about it anymore.  

Fin caught up with me on the way home. True to form instead of telling me anything, he handed 

me a piece of paper and then walked on by. Sometimes I think the boy's way too freaky for the 

rest of the world- but I'm beginning to realize that he fits right in- in Seattle.  

It was a node address. Guess he's figured that it beats leaving information in the fridge- one can 

always hope.  

I didn't get to check it out until after Case got back. He took me over to Blue's so I could find out 

what Fin was getting at. The information was vague, but at least it was something about the boys. 

Nothing specific, just a list of a few job's they'd done for a local fixer... and his name.  

Case told me what he knew about the man on the way back to his place. It wasn't much, but it 

confirmed that he was probably somebody I wanted to get to know if I ever wanted a lead on 

what the boy's had been up to. If anybody knew, it was probably this man.  

He went by the name "Felix Leiter." Case explained that it was the code-name of a CIA agent in 

a series of old flat screen movies. The man worked in the 'gray' market, brokering services that 

weren't exactly legal but weren't exactly illegal either- shadow work. According to Fin's files, 

he'd hired the boys on more than one occasion.  
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I finally took a deep breath and met Casey's eyes. "You knew the boys didn't you?"  

He froze for a minute and I could see it in his eyes. He knew them alright, and he didn't like my 

use of the past tense. "They're fine," he finally told me. "You have to believe they are..."  

I could tell that part of that was hopeful thinking on his part and trying to keep my spirits up.  

"Felix Leiter, I presume."  

I could tell by the way he winced, I'd hit the mark. He knew them all right, and he knew that they 

were in some pretty serious trouble.  

I waited patiently until he finally told me... most... of the story.  

He and two other agents worked as 'Felix.' They'd hired the boys on several occasions to handle 

cases they couldn't 'officially' be involved in. The boys, for their part, would feed information to 

Case and the others when they came across something too important not to handle.  

That was the official part at least. He couldn't tell me how they got started, only that they were 

good, well polished and they came highly recommended. They'd sent him some information on 

AZT and Atzlan recently... about a month before they vanished.  

He had no idea what they were working on, but the information they'd sent hadn't been good. 

Something was brewing down south, and it looked like it was about to erupt here as well.  

It was a lot to digest... all this time he'd known. He knew I was searching- knew what it was 

doing to me.  

I wanted to be angry at him, to walk out- but it was also the last thing I wanted to do. I felt 

betrayed-- and yet I knew Case- at least I thought I did. I didn't know what to think anymore.  

He could see that too, and I could see the self recrimination in his eyes. It took me a long time to 

calm down... to.. accept what he'd told me, and what he hadn't told me.  

I asked him to take me home.  

 

Monday December 4th 2056 - A quest for Fin 

I grabbed a cab to Blue's in the morning. I needed to be alone, get away from everyone, 

especially Case. So much has changed, and so much is unknown.  

I needed more information, I needed Fin.  
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It took him almost two hours to respond to my note. He finally agreed to meet me in person. 

Talking, what a novel concept. I wasn't in any shape to ride anywhere, so he picked me up and 

took me home.  

I started with the hardest thing I needed first. I needed a blood mage. More to the point, I needed 

a blood mage I could trust.  

"Jess," Fin told me shaking his head. "That's what we in the business call an oxymoron. Can't 

you talk to Mario... or to Mrs. Walker?"  

I shook my head. "They've already done what they can," I explained. I needed someone who 

could explain what Raz and her people did to me.  

"I'll see what I can find, but..."  

I could tell he was trying to prepare me for the worst possibility. "Just do what you can," I told 

him. I knew it was a long shot, but if I knew what I was up against... or maybe... could undo 

what was done.  

I stopped. That was getting ahead of myself. We hadn't even found someone we could trust, and 

trusting doesn't mean they can help. It's a longshot, but- I'd feel a lot better knowing what we're 

up against.  

There were a few other things we discussed, but that was the important one. After he dropped me 

off at the condo, Fin headed out. Thankfully he didn't ask me about Case.  

Once inside I checked the machine. Case had called me 5 times.  

I don't know what I'm going to do.  

 

Tuesday December 5th 2056 - The real problem. 

Trina stopped by this morning. She told me that Case had called her, tried to explain what was 

going on. He was probably counting on her to talk some sense into me. Bet he was surprised 

when Trina told I had every right to be angry with him-- You don't keep something like that 

secret especially when its somebody you care about.  

There's something to be said for trust, and right now... I can't trust him.  

It didn't take Trina long to figure out that there was a lot more than Case bothering me. I finally 

confided in her what's really been bothering me- I'm not getting any better.  
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It's taken me this long to admit it, even to myself. Its like I hit a plateau and everything just 

stopped. I'm still exhausted and I' still having nightmares. For the most part it isn't even images... 

just - feelings.  

Terror, pain- hopelessness... despair - mostly but there's also a very unclean feeling to the 

nightmares. They healed the wounds they'd made, but it's almost as if they're still there on some 

level.  

That wasn't the end of it either. My energy levels were still way too low. I admit, it could be that 

I'm just not sleeping right because of the nightmares but the nightmares have Raz written all over 

them and maybe my subconscious is screaming at me that something is still very wrong.  

Trina checked me out and said I looked fine, asked me if I wanted Mario to take a look at me. I 

took a deep breath and finally nodded. If it is what I think it is, he's not going to be able to help 

me... Mrs. Walker either- what was done is definitely not their style.  

He looked at me and patted my shoulder. He couldn't see anything really, but he could see the 

effect things were having on me. He made me go to bed and stay there. I slept, but again I may as 

well have been out playing squash for all the good it did.  

 

Wednesday December 6th 2056 - No good 

Last night Trina stopped by and brought some sleeping pills for me. I'm not sure what she gave 

me, but it definitely knocked me out. Go directly past sleep and immediately into comatose.  

I was still tired when I woke up around 3:00 but at least I hadn't had any nightmares. Mario and 

Trina had been taking turns checking on me. When I finally woke up, they both wanted an 

explanation.  

Mario was definitely unhappy with my prognosis, and even less pleased that I was looking for a 

blood mage to deal with it.  

"No good can come of blood magic," he warned me. "Not that kind anyway."  

I looked at him for a moment, but he wasn't telling me anymore.  

I looked at Trina questioningly.  

She shrugged; there were times even she couldn't fathom her father.  

It was very quite, and I could feel a chill in the area as Mario stood and glared at me. "No good 

can come from blood magic," he told me again. "None! If you choose this path... there is nothing 

I can do for you... Nothing any of us can do for you."  
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He walked out after that. How can I tell him its already too late, that Raz and her friends have 

already put me in the middle of something and the only way out- is to go deeper in.  

Still, there isn't even a guarantee that Fin will find anything. Its like he said, trustworthy and 

blood mage don't seem to be things that are used in the same sentence.  
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WeekTwenty-Five ï Rock Bottom 

Thursday December 7th 2056 - A phone call 

The following entry is a collaboration between myself and Denise "Nitro" Lee . 

I needed a blood mage Jess could trust and the only one I knew of was from Nitro's "Two As One" Instead of 

just letting me use Diaz, Nitro agreed to play out the scene with me.  

Thanks Nitro! 

Another dreamless night thanks to Trina's pills. I'm really hoping that Fin comes through with 

something, and soon- I'm not going to last long at this rate.  

Mario still won't speak to me. Case has given up trying to call.  

Every time I think I've got a handle on things it just seems to fall apart in my hands. Its probably 

better this way. Probably better that Case isn't here to talk me out of this, that Mario isn't here 

telling me what I already know.  

I know how bad it is- I'm in the middle of it, and there's no other way I can think of to free 

myself.  

Trina didn't come back in the morning, but she called from the clinic around 1:00. She promised 

me that she'd stop by after shift, but I could tell that Mario had been lecturing her about what I 

was getting into and the consequences I faced, and that she faced if she associated with me.  

When the phone rang around 7:00 I thought it was Trina. It was anything but. Looks like Fin 

found a blood mage he felt he could trust- but of course, at the time I didn't know what was 

going on.  

"Miller," I answered.  

"This Jess I assume?" the man on the other end asked.. His voice was gruff, and his image wasn't 

much better.  

I looked at the screen warily, I did not need another cloak and dagger game right now. "Yes... 

this is Jess."  

He seemed to be sizing me up- I guess I was doing the same. The man's face was half hidden in 

the shadow of his hat. I was contemplating hanging up when he told me that Fin had asked him 

to call.  

Actually he said something about "talking to a friend of mine... one who seems like he has 2 

brain cells an' they're both wrestling."  

http://www.geocities.com/Area51/Corridor/1076/san1.html
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I had to chuckle at that. I've never heard anybody describe Fin like that, but sometimes- its 

appropriate. The laugh died when he finished his explanation of why he was calling.  

"But, he figgered' out to come to me about somehin' nasty involving Aztech and you."  

I froze. It was all I could do to nod.  

I could see him finish off his drink before he continued. It felt... like he'd dealt with them a lot 

more than he wanted to- I wouldn't have blamed him if he'd told me to give up, but instead he 

told me that if my problem involved what Fin was hinting at, that he might be able to help me.  

I could almost feel the world closing in on me, like I was drowning and he was the only one with 

a life preserver. I was shaking as I braced myself against the counter. "Thank ...you."  

I waited tensely as he took another drag off his cigarette. Then he spoke again. ""Anyways, don't 

worry 'bout it. I've sorta got a little burr up my ass about the Big A and another one 'bout them 

fucking with people like you. Can ya give me any details on what happened, or am I gonna need 

to meet you in the meat right off the bat?"  

The man was rude and crass, and probably just what I needed to break through what had 

happened. I wish I could have had something to tell him, but it was so vague- I told him as much.  

He seemed unsurprised, told me that they'd probably messed with my memories. Still he was 

confident that he could help. Again, just what I needed. When he asked if I had any idea what 

they'd done I felt a little better- that I could tell him. The funny thing was, as I tried to describe 

it- to move through the nightmare, to the clinical side of it... it helped.  

"I ... don't consciously remember," I said softly. "Nightmares mostly... Obsidian.."  

I felt another tremor in my hands as the memories came back to me. I took a deep breath and 

forced myself to continue... it was almost as if I was in a trance as I described what had 

happened.  

"They handcuffed me to what looked like an altar... I remember them cutting me, small cuts, but 

lots of them. I couldn't move... couldn't see... the wounds looked more like scrapes... the sort of 

thing I'd get poking around in the steam tunnels..."  

I could tell by his expression he was not comfortable with what I was describing. Finally he 

asked, "what interest do the bastards have in you?" He explained that he had a good idea of what 

they were doing, but if he knew why... it would help him narrow things down.  

Nervously I told him about my... experiences with AZT about the fiasco that Fin had arranged, 

and the pay data he'd giving me- the video tapes of the boys. I didn't think they wanted me, if 

they had, they went to a lot of trouble to just leave me for Aaron to finish off.  
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It had to be the boys. The man agreed with me. I lost it then, forgot a few basic rules of physics- 

Rock beats fist.  

I told him about Raz and her comment about vengence. He took it almost as well as I did, 

throwing his shot glass somewhere. I was treated to some of the choicest Atzlaner-Spanish 

curses. Finally I learned that he not only knew the curse, he'd performed the ceremony before.  

Its odd, his anger- outrage... somehow... it was calming. His next words were like... that life 

preserver. "I think I can fix what they fucked up- unless they've gotten creative."  

Next thing I know, I'm on my way to O'Hare.  

 

Friday December 8th 2056 - Chicago 

The collaboration continues between myself and Denise "Nitro" Lee. 

Arias Diaz knew what Jess needed, but Jess learned the cost of to the cure. Again, if you haven't, please check 

out Nitro's "Two As One"  

Thanks again Nitro, it was a lof of fun playing this out.  

I don't know what I was thinking- I guess that's the real problem. Arias Diaz, the blood mage Fin had 

found was gruff, but understanding. He kept my mind off of what was happening- until it was too late.  

Mario was right. No good can come from that sort of thing. I don't... I don't even want to think 

about it.  

What little of it I did see.  

He took me to a warehouse he'd prepared. When I saw the circle I froze... it was spider-webbed 

with crimson lines... like veins. Suddenly I was back in the steam tunnels- the unknowing victim. 

I had come there, knowing blood would be shed... but I'd assumed it was to be mine.  

I mean, I was the one who's blood had been used... it should have been mine to undo it... and it 

was- but.. There were other needs... I didn't know... I couldn't have known... I should have 

known.  

I tried to get him to stop, it was just too much. I could deal with the possibility of this killing me, 

that was my decision to make... but...  

The next thing I know he's apologizing- not for what he tried to make me do, but for what he was 

about to do... Next thing I know, I'm waking up on his couch. I could feel the change.. The 

strength returning, but the cost- the cost was too much for me to take.  

http://www.geocities.com/Area51/Corridor/1076/san1.html
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Mario's words rang in my ears as I got my bearings. "No good can come from this... No good."  

He was right, and I will have to live with the consequences. Diaz was helping me- the guilt is 

mine.  

I don't know if I can live with myself over this. How can I... There's no way I can go home, not 

after this.  

 

Saturday December 9th 2056 - A new improved nightmare 

I got myself a cheap hotel room. I keep staring at the walls, trying not to see the ganger begging 

for his live and Diaz ... his eyes black... heartless. One worthless life for my brothers', that's what 

he'd said - One worthless life.  

One worthless life... There is no such thing... you start thinking like that everything falls apart. 

Everything has fallen apart- I'm falling apart.  

I tried- tried to find a way out, and now, I guess I'm still trying, but I can't undo what's been 

done. That's what got me into this mess in the first place.  

I can feel a knot forming in my stomach. There is nothing I can do- nothing I could have done, 

but I should have been able to do something- or do nothing, stay at home... at least then... Then I 

wouldn't have that man's eyes staring at me- pleading.  

Or the dark heartless eyes Diaz showed when the time came.  

Not heartless... not to me- that's what makes it worse. He felt I was worth it, me and the boys. He 

even knocked me out... tried to take away the guilt maybe, I don't know. When I finally came to, 

he didn't want to talk about it and lord knows I didn't either.  

I thanked him for what he'd done- it was... the only thing I could do... but... morally, legally- I'm 

the one who's responsible... I'd asked him to help, not thinking of the consequences.  

The thing is- if the man had tried to hurt me... or someone I was protecting, I wouldn't have 

hesitated a moment- that would have been his decision, but this... this was different  

What have I become?  

 

Sunday December 10th 2056 - Lost 
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I stayed inside again today. I have no idea what I'm going to do, but I'm fairly certain I can't go 

back, not to Seattle, not to what I was.  

That would be a sham- the healer, with innocent blood on her hands.  

I really wish I could get Mario's voice out of my head. Every where I turn I hear him. Why did 

he have to be so right?  

I've tried everything I can think of to get him out of my mind, drowning his voice in Whiskey, in 

sorrow, guilt, pain- but it just grows more insistent.  

Its as if I really did die in those tunnels, it's just taken me this long to realize it.  

 

Monday December 11th 2056 - Self Destruct 

First thing I really remember was hearing was Fin pleading with me. He wasn't about to let me 

go without a fight. I tried to get him to go away, leave me alone, but he refused.  

I really wasn't in any shape to argue with him. I don't think I'd consciously tried to kill myself, 

but from what I can gather I had enough alcohol in my blood stream to do the trick. I felt like 

hell.  

Fin was so scared I was going to die- I was scared I wasn't. Tons of coffee, doses of stimulants- 

all the street techniques he knew to get me over the 'hump'. I was a mess and he didn't seem to 

understand: I wanted to be alone. Maybe he understood all too well.  

Next thing I know, I'm on a flight back to SeaTac, the last place I wanted to go.  

Waiting for me, was the last person I wanted to see, wanted to see me.  

Casey was there waiting, a very worried expression on his face. When I saw him I just wanted to 

run and hide.  

He represented everything I was, everything I thought I wanted., everything I felt I no longer 

deserved. I wanted to run away, from him, from me, from everything  

He didn't let me run away, didn't let me hide- he just held me. And I promptly lost it.  

 

Tuesday December 12th 2056 - Friends 
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I woke up at Case's place. He told me the only thing he could get out of me was how I couldn't 

go home. So he'd taken me here instead.  

I'm not sure how much Fin told him, I'm not even really sure how much Fin knows. How do you 

tell someone- anyone, let alone someone you care about when you've done something like that?  

There is so much I don't know- don't understand, and I seem intent on learning it the hard way. 

I've traded the nightmare of what Raz did to me for one of my own creation. Only now the 

nameless ganger's face keeps changing... Fin... the boys... the folks in the local gang...  

I can't undo what's done and I don't know how to come to terms with it.  

Case brought me lunch, something light- which was what I needed with the way my head and 

stomach were feeling. He just took care of me, waiting until I was ready to talk.  

Only thing is.. I don't know how to talk about it. I mean, it sounds so simple... I went to see a 

mage about the things Raz did to me. Three spells, one for each brother... and then one spell to 

undo it, but the spell... it was worse because of the cost.  

At least with Raz, they were doing it to me... Diaz did what he did for me. Now, now that its too 

late I understand. I wish Mario had explained more- I wish I could talk to him, but now... now I 

don't think he'll ever talk to me again.  

Another fine mess- only this one doesn't have a happy ending. I'm a ghost of myself and I have 

no idea how to redeem myself- how to get myself back.  

I want to talk to Casey, but I just can't- I can't stand the thought of him looking at me like Mario 

did. I really don't know what to say- or who to say it to.  

 

Wednesday December 13th 2056 - The whole story 

I woke up this morning with Casey holding me. I must have been having more nightmares. When 

I moved he looked down at me. His voice was still soft, gentle- almost like he was afraid I'd 

break... or run away.  

I've been doing a lot of that lately.  

He all but begged me to tell him what was wrong.  

I looked at him and finally found my voice, at least a little. "I... screwed up- big time," I told him 

softly.  

"I kinda figured that much," he told me.  
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"I guess it's a good thing I don't play poker," I told him.  

He laughed but we both knew I was still miserable. "Jessica," he said softly. "No matter what it 

is, not matter how bad- I'm here for you."  

Looking in his eyes I winced. There was nothing but love and acceptance there- how could I 

have missed it. And now, now I'm trying not to lose him.  

"Chicago..." I said softly.  

He nodded waiting for me to unravel the mess I'd made of my life- unravel it and finally put the 

guilt into words.  

"Raz and her people... they... did something to me," I told him.  

His grip on me tightened, protective, loving- how could I have missed that?  

"I needed information- something Mario and Mrs. Walker couldn't give me..."  

"Blood Magic..." He stated knowingly.  

I looked at him a moment, surprised.  

"Jess," he said softly. "It doesn't take a genius to figure it out. What you remembered from the 

tunnels, the Jaguar- it all spells big Aztechnology trouble. And, more often than not, that means 

blood magic."  

I shook my head. "I wish I'd known... that I'd figured it out sooner, or that I understood more 

about what was involved."  

The bitterness was obvious even to me.  

He watched me worriedly and finally I managed to get the rest out. I was crying again. He held 

me.  

"Ah Jess," he sighed. "I wish you had told me..."  

I looked up at him. "I... didn't really know... not until after... after I had you take me home... and 

by then..."  

"And by then you weren't talking to me."  

I nodded. "And all Mario would tell me was that... no good would come of it."  

He nodded again. "Jess- you're right it can't be undone, and destroying yourself over it... that's 

not going to help..."  
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"I know that- but I don't even know where to begin..."  

He answered with a gentle kiss on the top of my head. "You just did..."  
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WeekTwenty-Six - Salvation 

Thursday December 14th 2056 -Therapy 

I'm still not at my best, but I'm getting there, thanks to Casey. He took me to my therapy session, 

made sure I talked to one of the councilors.  

I didn't go into detail with them, but I talked about the first ritual, and about the nightmares and 

finding out what was involved in such things. The councilor nodded knowingly and patted my 

shoulder.  

"Blood magic can be a very disconcerting thing," she told me.  

My eyes widened. Does everybody else know what I had to learn so... graphically?  

She just smiled. "I council a lot of people," she told me gently. "And I've heard of a lot of things- 

what you've been through can be one of the most traumatic..."  

"That's putting it mildly," I sighed.  

"Honey... what happened to you, that wasn't your doing," She reminded me.  

'At least not the first time,' I thought bitterly.  

I nodded, and she smiled like, 'There... all better now.'  

Yeah, right.  

Casey was waiting for me, I could tell by his expression he was hoping the session had helped. It 

hadn't, not really. It probably would have helped before I went to Chicago- if only I'd known.  

I think that's becoming my new catch phrase. Once again- I should have asked more questions.  

Only now someone's dead because I didn't- maybe several someones.  

Casey tried to get me to talk more about it, but what can I say? Anything I do won't be enough. 

Diaz freed me from one hell and delivered me to one of my own creation. And if I ever forget 

about it, Mario will be there to remind me.  

I could tell that much by the look he gave me when we got back to the condo. Was it just a week 

ago that I had gotten the call, dropped everything- so full of hope and relief that I didn't think 

about the consequences.  

And how would I be now if I hadn't gone? The reality is, no matter how bad things are, no matter 

what happened- I'm better because of it.  
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And that's the hell of it, I'm alive because of the spell- and... someone's dead. I wish I could take 

Diaz's point of view, it would be so much easier if I could- but then, I wouldn't be me anymore. 

So I live with the guilt.  

I guess the key is that I live. If I self-destruct now, it was for nothing.  

I just don't know anymore. Life is so much easier when I'm being the life line- everything is 

clearer then. There's no thought of the repercussions, only me, the docs and someone in need.  

I just wish I could look Mario in the eyes. I don't think I ever will. I'm going to miss him.  

 

Friday December 15th 2056 -Mea Culpa 

Another day of physical and mental therapy- another day of wondering if I still have what it 

takes. The shrink says that being gun shy isn't unusual- but that I'll never know unless I try.  

I say I screwed up- that this whole mess is somehow my fault and I better find a way to make it 

right. Thing is I can't, not for the people involved. They are beyond help- beyond caring. If I had 

lost them on my bus, that'd be one thing- but this...  

I tried. I tried to stop it when I realized what was happening, but it was too late. It was too late 

when I boarded the plane. How many times can I say I'm sorry?  

It doesn't matter, the people I need forgiveness from are out of reach and ... and I have to move 

on. Live with it, learn from it-  

When Case picked me up I pretty much decided- I had to talk to Mario. I was terrified, but I was 

more scared about not talking to him. Even if he doesn't understand, even if he says he never 

wants to talk to me again- I need to know and I need to let him know.  

Making up my mind to see him was harder than getting him to agree to see me. He knew- knew 

I'd gone against his advice, that I'd seen someone about what was done- that he'd done something 

about it.  

Case has been beside me all the way- ever since I got back, but this- this is something I needed to 

do alone. I could see the look in his eyes, the one that said he wanted to handle this for me.  

I wish I could. But then- I'd be taking the easy way out again. And that's not what's best- not in 

the long run.  

In the end it took Case and Trina both to get him to agree to see me- and he insisted that Trina 

stay. That I confess my sins before both of them. He's determined to make me pay for what 

happened- I guess that's fine with me- I kinda feel the same way.  
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He yelled, he screamed- he all but cursed me when I told him what had happened. "I told you!" 

he growled. "I told you and you went anyway!"  

"Told me..." I half sobbed. "You didn't really tell me anything! You said no good would come of 

it. That's it- no explanation, no how or why- I wanted information- anything and you walked 

out!"  

"So now its my fault?" he demanded.  

I shook my head. "No... I just... " I looked at him, wanting more than anything for him to 

understand. "I just wish... you'd told me... or that I'd known."  

If I had known what was involved, I wouldn't have gone, but I went- like a lamb to the slaughter. 

I went so full of hope and found... the cure and the curse in one breath.  

"What do you want from me?" he snarled.  

"I don't know... forgiveness? Help?"  

"Forgiveness is not mine to give," he finally said. "And- you are beyond my help now... "  

His voice was cold- harsh. But the look in his eyes were the worst. They were tearing over... he 

knew he'd lost me... and I knew it too.  

"I just... wanted you to know..." I finally told him and turned to go.  

"No," Trina objected as if she'd finally found her voice. "You know she didn't know- you know 

she tried to stop it- Jess... "  

I looked at her, surprised by the tears in her eyes. "Trina... it doesn't change the fact that... blood 

was shed... lives were lost... to make me whole... I can't bring them back... I can't- undo what was 

done... "  

"But..." Trina's voice was soft yet determined.  

"Let her go Trina- " Mario's voice was dead. "She is not... welcomed here."  

It was one of the hardest things I've ever had to do- but I had to do it. I can't undo what was done, 

but I can take responsibility for it.  

Maybe then... I can learn to live with myself again.  

 

Saturday December 16th 2056 - The Walker's 
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I spent most of last night in Case's arms- just... being held. At least now I don't feel like I'm 

living a lie. He was a bit surprised when I asked him to take me to Council Island.  

"I need to tell the Walkers," I said softly.  

He was worried that I'm burning my bridges- but I've realized that if they are to last- I have to be 

honest with the people I care about. They need to know. The Walkers, Mario- they opened their 

lives and hearts to me- they deserve nothing less than the truth.  

Mike was so happy to see me, but when he looked in my eyes, he knew I wasn't there to watch 

cartoons. He was the last one I ever wanted to hurt and I didn't want him to - think less of me. 

I've gotten so used to having him as my little brother- the Walker's as my family.  

That's why it hurts so much- and why I have to do it. Maybe- maybe I'm trying to purge myself 

by isolating myself- giving up all that I love and enjoy... to suffer, punish myself for what has 

happened.  

But the Walkers wouldn't turn their backs on me. Mike hugged me... and remembered all the 

guilt he felt over his sister's death. It hadn't been his fault, I'd told him that- now he was telling 

me the same thing.  

Mrs. Walker, bless her took me aside and told me to come back tomorrow- that she would have 

something prepared for me- an act of atonement. She warned me that it would not be easy, not be 

pleasant- but it was just what I needed.  

I could see the love in her eyes- she's not letting me go without a fight. "None of us are perfect," 

she said softly. "And we all lose our ways- the key to is to find it again, and to continue on- wise 

for the knowledge we have gained."  

It gave me something to think about when Casey took me home, and I saw the closed door down 

the hall. 'We all lose our ways...' I sighed to myself. 'Someday- I will find my way back Mario... 

I promise.'  

 

Sunday December 17th 2056 - Atonement 

I woke up early and watched the sunrise from the balcony. Casey was still asleep, so I made him 

breakfast. It wasn't as nice as the ones he cooked for me- but it smelled good. I brought it to him 

in bed.  

"What's this?" he asked teasingly. "Breakfast in bed?"  

I smiled. "I guess so..."  

He held out an arm for me and I snuggled next to him as he attacked the plate.  
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"Nothing for you?"  

"Fasting," I answered. "Mrs. Walkers' orders."  

He nodded and proceeded to polish off the plate. "I'm glad..." he said softly. He could see the 

change in me- I think that's when it hit me too- I was living again.  

Life does go on- if we're lucky.  

Once he'd eaten and showered, Case took me back over to the Walkers. I didn't know what to 

expect, but it definitely wasn't what waited for me. The Walkers were dressed rather somberly- 

like they were for the funeral.  

It's what it was too- for me. I was lost, and they were mourning. Jonathan acted as my guide, 

showing me where I was to go- translating the elders' instructions. They had taken things from 

many different cultures and used them to create- a road for me to follow- to purge myself of my 

sins, to find my way back to where I belonged, and to atone for what I had done.  

I can't really describe it- I mean, what I actually did wasn't that physically challenging but... 

emotionally it was the hardest thing I have ever endured. I faced that night- Diaz, the ganger- 

Raz...Mario  

They were all there in my mind, every step of the way. In the sweat lodge they were my constant 

tormentors. Raz's hatred, Mario's recrimination- the ganger.. His eyes pierced me to the core. But 

then there were others- lifting me up, bringing me home.  

When I was finally aware of my surroundings again, I was laid out in the middle of the Walkers' 

people. They were there with Case and Trina, but there was no sign of Mario. I bowed my head- 

but this wasn't about him it was about me- about my path.. About my atonement.  

Again, it is not the end, it never is- it's the beginning and I promised myself, and the image of the 

ganger that I would do my best to make it worth while.  

I like to think he understood- that perhaps my salvation is his as well.  

 

Monday December 18th 2056 - Cycles 

I may not be back all the way yet, but I'm getting there. The gangers were never found, or if they 

were, nobody thought anything of it.  

Casey asked me about Diaz- but there was nothing I could tell him. He nodded. He understood 

for the most part, but I could see- he wanted to do something to Diaz for what I'd gone through- 

but Diaz'd tried to protect me from it he wasn't the one who'd put me in the position in the first 
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place, and he didn't force me onto the plane. That was my own doing. Diaz had taken it from 

there.  

He knew what I needed even though I wasn't willing to go through with it. He did what he had to 

do to protect me- to save me. For him it was simple mathematics, for me...  

For me it was a long road back and I'm still trying to get there. With my friends, and 

determination- I will make it.  

We were on our way down to the car when we found Mario- he was confrontational... it took me 

a minute, but I noticed the way he was holding himself... he was leaning to his left, trying to 

support himself.  

I tried to call to him but all he could remember was that he was angry at me.  

"Don't need you!" he growled as I helped him to the ground. Case recognized his symptoms the 

same time I did. Together we tried to keep him calm.  

"Leave me alone!" he growled as he tried to fight his way free of the both of us.  

I looked at Case, but he was already calling an ambulance, that left me to work on Mario.  

"Mario," I called, but again he was pushing me aside.  

"Go ... away!" his speech slurred as he tried once again to get away from me.  

I told him that he needed me, and he told me that he'd rather be dead.  

It was like me with Diaz, he knew what I needed and I would have chosen death before that- now 

Mario was faced with the same thing, and I wasn't going to let him die.  

I was grateful when he passed out. He may have refused our help when he was conscious, but as 

soon as he wasn't, I was allowed to do everything possible to save him. And that's exactly what 

Case and I did.  

I don't know if he'll ever forgive me for what's happened, but at least he'll have a long time to 

hate me for what I've done.  

 

Tuesday December 19th 2056 -Symmetry 

The doctors say that Mario is going to be all right, that we'd gotten him in in time. They've got a 

healer with him now- trying to undo the damage time and poor care have done to his heart. I tried 

to comfort Trina, but she glowered at me.  
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I backed away, surprised. I'd thought she'd understood, maybe she understood too well. I'd saved 

Mario's life, but- but he wasn't fighting because I'd been the one to do it.  

"Do you know what you've done?" She demanded.  

"Would you rather I had let him die?" I asked finally. "You know I couldn't do that... not now, 

not ever!"  

She shook her head, but I could see the conflict: I'd saved him, but because I had- he didn't want 

to live. It was me and Diaz again.  

Mario hated me for what I'd done- and now, I'd saved his life, something I wouldn't have been 

able to do if I hadn't gone to Chicago. Still, I know how he feels- and I know there's nothing I 

can say or do that will help him. He's going to have to figure that out on his own.  

Life, ain't it grand?  

Case says its poetic, I think its just vindictive.  

 

Wednesday December 20th 2056 - Shadowland 

I've been cleared to start back to work on Monday, which is just as well, since Casey's just about 

out of personal time. Part of me feels really bad that he's spending all his free time with me, but 

another part is very pleased.  

Besides, once I'm working- neither of us are going to have much time to do much more than 

collapse.  

Since Casey had to report into work, I had him drop me off that the arcade. I figure that since I'm 

only cleared for 'normal' work that I still have a few weeks before they'll let me back out on the 

motorcycle. That means I need some sort of practice, and they still have the simulator setup 

there.  

'Motomedic!' is still doing really well at the arcade.  

I was glad to see that. PC came over to see me and asked if I had anything new for him to 

simulate.  

"Not unless you want to do a stalker game," I sighed.  

He chuckled until he realized I was serious. "Wanna tell me 'bout it?" he asked.  

"Not too much to tell," I said softly. I gave him the news feed version and he nodded.  
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"So... tell me the rest of it," he said with a wry smile.  

That took me by surprise. I stared at him, but he just chuckled and handed me a datajack.  

"Jess," he told me. "If you're going to keep on like this... at least let me show you where to go for 

information..."  

He proceeded to introduce me to Shadowland, a great reference for information on everything I'd 

come up against and what I could expect. It had been there all the time, if I'd know where to 

look.  

The information was biased, sometimes contradictory, irreverent even. But, it was there. Some of 

it had a definite slant to it, but all told it was everything I wished I'd known before it had 

clobbered me. And it was sitting there in annotated black and white.  

PC had to take me into the section I really needed- the one on Atzlan. What I read made my 

blood chill. It was all too close to home. I downloaded the information so I could read it- and 

learn.  

First rule of combat- know your enemy.  
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WeekTwenty-Seven - Miracles 

Thursday December 21st 2056 - Point of view 

Case was back at work today, so I spent most of the morning reading. Reading about ATZ, about 

Atzlan, about blood magicï about everything I wish Iôd known six months ago.  

If the boys ended up on the wrong side of Aztechnology, I can see why theyôve been hiding. Its 

kind of odd realizing just how different PR images are from reality. Then again, thatôs if the 

information on Shadowland is to be believed.  

The truth is probably somewhere in the middle, but with everything Iôve been throughï Iôm 

beginning to think that Shadowland is closer to reality than the nice pristine image the marketing 

types sling our way.  

Thereôs so much more going on behind the scenes than I ever thought possible. Of course, I only 

see things when they go horribly wrong. Case has stopped trying to óprotectô me from the reality 

of the city, and the shadows.  

Lord knows Iôve seen the dark side of things. I never saw them at home, but I know they were 

thereï its just somehowï different here. Baltimore is home, I grew up there, knew the rules.  

Seattleï Seattleôs different, somehow. Again, its probably me and my perceptions. I know what 

to ignore in Baltimore, but hereï here its new and I see it all. I have a feeling if I went home 

today, Iôd see it there too, now that I know what to look for.  

I ended up taking a cab over to the hospitalï Mario still didnôt want to see me. I think my helping 

him has only made things worse between us, but its like I told Trinaï what else could I do?  

He still canôt forgive me for what I did, and nowï now heôs somehow tied to it too. Sometimes, 

you just canôt win... but...  

At least from the looks of things, itôll be a good long condemnation.  

 

Friday December 22nd 2056 - Balance 

I actually cooked Case dinner last night. Not only that, he ate itï and lived.  

One thing I learned early on in my career with Citywide, if you know how to cook, you do a lot 

of it, if you donôt, or worse donôt do it wellï they leave you alone.  

Thereôs only one thing I learned how to make and thatôs firehouse chili. It doesnôt matter what 

you put into it, just as long as it burns like a four alarm fire. I think I outdid myself.  
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We spent a lot of the evening talking about what weôd do if we were trying to hide out in Seattle, 

the places to go, things to doï laying low for short time vs. laying low for a long time. Iôm 

beginning to think that the boys are long gone from the Seattle scene.  

I know I would be with Aztechnology after me. Yeah rightï thatôs why Iôm still here and getting 

ready to go back to work. Guess Iôm too stubborn to change.  

Case dropped me off at the condo on his way to work and I began the task of getting my life 

back into some semblance of order.  

Iôve realized that it doesnôt really matter what the boys were working on anymore, whatever it 

was is irrelevant. Case is getting me the files and weôre going to go over them this weekend. In 

the meantimeï I have cats that need petting and a condo that needs dusting. Might as well do it 

while I have the time.  

PM  

I managed to get some cleaning done before Trina saved me from more. She needed to talk to 

me. We met down at the clinic and she filled me in on what was happening with Mario.  

Physically he was fineï theyôd been able to undo most of the damage to his heart, but mentally... 

Mentally he was a mess and it was effecting his recovery.  

ñIts not easy,ò I told her softly. ñBut I know how he feels.ò  

ñTell me,ò she asked softly. ñExplain itï I donôt understand.ò  

I bowed my head. ñWhen I got to Chicagoï when I found out what it would take to undo what 

Raz and her people had done to me...ò I shook my head. ñI didnôt want to go through with itï I 

was willing to die, but the mage wasnôt willing to let me pay the priceï in the end, he gave me no 

choice and I had to live with the fact that I was alive becauseï because he took over... did what 

was best for me...ò  

Trina nodded. ñAnd you did the same with Mario.ò  

I nodded sadly. ñHe wanted nothing to do with meï to what Iôd been part of in Chicago, but if I 

hadnôt, then I wouldnôt have been there to save him. On one handï heôs alive but on the other...ò  

ñOn the other, it means heôs a part of something completely against his beliefs and values.ò  

That was the sum of it. He condemned me for what happened in Chicago and now... Now heôs 

caught in the same web I was. Itôs not quite the sameï his redemption didnôt cost anybody their 

life. It just goes against his sensibilities I guessï being saved by someone ótaintedô by blood 

magic.  

I was lost in the thought and almost didnôt catch Trinaôs next question.  
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ñHow are you ... dealing with it?ò  

ñNot too well,ò I told her finally. ñItôs... hard. I realized thatï that I canôt undo it and that if I quit 

thenï then it was for nothing. I keep up my fight, I fight harder. I fight the battles I can and hope 

that somedayï in some way the balance is restored, the debt will be paid. But we both know it 

never can be repaid. So I keep trying.ò  

She thought about that for long while, and then finally sighed. ñWhat do I tell him? What can I 

do?ò  

I thought about that and finally took a deep breath. ñThereôs nothing you can tell himï he has to 

find the answers himself. All you can do is be there for him and let him know that you love him.ò  

ñAnd you?ò She asked.  

I shrugged. ñIôm afraid, I donôt matter anymore.ò  

It hurt to say it, but it was true. Where I stood in Marioôs world was entirely up to him. I never 

stopped caring about himï I never will, but heôs the one who has to decide where and if I fit in.  

ñBut...ò  

I looked at her and shook my head. ñNo Trina, there is no but. Iôm as guilty or as innocent as I 

feel I am and Iôm the one who has to deal with that. Iôve found my answers. Your father has to 

find his. If you need meï either of you... Iôm here.ò  

I could tell it wasnôt easy for her, but none of this has been easy on any of us.  

Its just life.  

 

Saturday December 23rd 2056 -Case files 

We got an early start today. Case brought the files over to the condo and we started going over 

them. The paydata on Aztechnology was vague at least at first glance, but the more I looked at 

them, the more trouble it seemed to spell.  

There were photos and data on transactions that were less than kosher and hand written notes 

mostly in Alanôs handwriting. I read through them several times, but it still didnôt make any 

sense.  

Case waited until Iôd gone through it a few times before he started telling me what theyôd been 

able to figure out.  



 

A Year in Seattle  262  M.T. Decker 
 © Copyright 1999-2000 
 

Several experimental weapons had been shipped to AZT in Seattle. From the looks of things the 

shipment the boys had found wasnôt the first, and definitely not the last. Someone had arranged 

for the shipments to disappear from the records and to reroute them.  

The pictures in the file, were of weapons that, according to all the records, did not exist. Where 

theyôd gone after the boys had logged them was even more interesting-- and confusing. From the 

looks of things, the werenôt going to Atzlan proper but to the rebels.  

That was theï secondary official version. But it was as false a trail as the first one and we both 

knew it.  

As he finished filling me in on what he knew, I nodded, then began shaking my head. ñMaybe 

they werenôt really ï running away. Maybeï what if theyôd put something in the case, like a 

transceiver.ò  

ñAnd follow it where it was actually going?ò  

I shrugged. ñItôs a possibility. Something dangerous that has trouble written all over itï you turn 

your back on it, it will come back to haunt you.ò  

ñIt could be something else they were working on,ò he reminded me.  

I nodded, ñbut we still have no idea what that was... or what they were doing in an AZT 

warehouse in the first place.ò  

Case nodded as he once again went over the information and the notes weôd made. Thatôs about 

when the 3x5 index cards came out and I began transcribing the notes to them. Actual 

information was written in black, Alanôs notes in blue, Andyôs in green and Mattôs in purple. 

Caseôs comments and mine were added in red ink.  

Slowly a picture began to emerge. My hands trembled as I pinned the last note to the wall and 

stepped back from it. It didnôt make sense and yet it made perfect sense.  

Weapons and supplies coming into Aztechnologoies and going back out, not to Tecochtitlan and 

Aztechôs main headquarters, but to the Yucatan and rebel held territoriesï shadowrunners 

learning this and disappearing. An audit trail a mile wide, and only the slightest attempt to 

conceal the transaction.  

It was as if the boys had found something they were supposed to find, only theyôd found it too 

earlyï before the real transaction had occurred, theyôd become more of a liability.  

The million nuyen question : what is really happening?  

 

Sunday December 24th 2056 - Christmas eve 
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Christmas eve and I'm getting ready to go back to work. Kinda figures I'd start back to work 

Christmas day. Ah well-- people get hurt every day of the year, no reason Christmas should be 

any different.  

Case and I celebrated today since he's on duty tomorrow too. Case bought catnip filled toy mice 

for the cats and Maxwell knocked everything off the coffee table as he sprawled across it. He 

looked up with his pupils practically filling his eyes, mewed and proceeded to fall asleep.  

Taco on the other hand was doing kitty wind-sprints down the hallway chasing imaginary mice.  

It felt so good to laugh again, but I still couldn't shake the numb feeling that's been with me since 

Chicago. I don't know if I ever will...  

The Walkers stopped by to see how I was doing as did Trina. She got really shy when Jonathan 

pointed out the misletoe, but she didn't seem to mind either.  

Mario's still in the hospital, still not responding to therapy. Mrs. Walker promised Trina that 

she'd stop by and see him. It was nice to have most of my extended family over-- the big 

absenses were Mario and Andrews. Case felt it too-- I think we all did.  

Case and Jonathan ended up in a corner for a while and then I noticed that Case was showing 

him the 3x5's. It wasn't really a surprise, finding out that Jonathan is in on this merry little 

escapade.  

I wonder if anybody in Seattle has a normal life?  

 

Monday December 25th 2056 - Winning through  

Sometimes you wouldn't think this is supposed to be a celebration of lifeï the arrival of a 

promised salvation... For all too many people it was business as usual. The morning was rather 

slow and I finally got to watch some trid and catch up on the world events I'd been missing.  

You know little things like... a dragon running for President. At first it sounded so ludicrous, but 

after two stabbings, one over who got to cut the turkey, it was starting to make a lot more sense.  

Couldn't be worse than what we've had. Besides, I don't know anybody rich enough to buy off 

the likes of Dunkelzahn. I'm sure he has his own agenda, but at least it won't be greed-- power 

maybe, but definitely not greed. Something tells me he could be just what we need.  

I had a lot of time to think about it-- Citywide ended up stationing me in a 'less active' area. 

Guess they're trying to ease me back into the job. Have me work without undoing all the work 

I've been doing in therapy. It has its trade offs though. Instead of four twelve hour shifts a week, 

I'm running three days on, three days off.  
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Still, it feels good to be back-- to be useful.  

PM  

Case stopped by with dinner. It was a relief-- the folks here cook worse than I do.  

Got a really disturbing call-- man beat his son half to death because he broke his new toy. Love 

that holiday spirit. On the bright side-- maybe the boy and his mom can have a normal life now 

that his father's gonna have a new home.  

Man I wanted to hurt him. The shape the boy was in, the look in the mother's eyes-- I nearly took 

him out myself. Fortunately the boy needed me more than I needed to avenge him. In the 

ambulance he looked up at me with these big angelic eyes and just whispered, "Thanks."  

I did lose it then. I was crying as I checked on him, and he just slipped his hand into mine and 

said. "It's okay... its not your fault..."  

Out of the mouths of babes...  

I stayed with him until the police arrived with his mom. His eyes lost a little of their innocence 

when she hugged him. They took on a moreï protective quality. No kid should have to go 

through that and to watch him with his mom, acting older than he was-- that's one hell of a kid.  

"You take care of each other," I told them softly. His mother didn't hear me, but the boy did.  

"We will," he mouthed with a soft smile. "Merry Christmas," he added.  

That smile stayed with me the rest of the night. It kinda said that no matter how bad things get-- 

love, laughter... light... they will win through in the end.  

 

Tuesday December 26th 2056 - Miracles 

The day started at three in the morning, or was it just the night continuing? Not that it really 

mattered there was work to be done and we were the ones to do it.  

A baby had stopped breathing. Never an easy call to deal with. Tonight was no different. I felt 

tense as we wasted precious time convincing the parents that we were going to do our best for 

their child. Seems that the Citywide station that covered Fort Lewis had a less than stellar 

reputation. Seems Lewis is where you go when you arenôt cutting it in the óreal world.ô  

I understood their concerns, but my first concern was their daughter... and finding out what 

happened. As I worked on her, I realized that it the first time since Chicago that a life depended 

on me doing the right thing. This time at least, I was in control and there was no way I was going 

to give up on this kid.  
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She was trying to breathe, but nothing was getting through. We went through the numbers on her 

but nothing seemed to work. Her throat was swollen and it was almost as if she was fighting us 

as we tried to establish an airway.  

Time was the most important factor so we bundled her up and I worked on her as Terry, my new 

partner, drove.  

All the way to the hospital I worked on her and I finally got an airway established. It was close, 

and I could see by the docôs expression she wasnôt out of the woods yet. She seemed to be 

having some sort of allergic reaction, anaphylactic shock. It's going to be touch and go for a 

while but my vote is on the kid.  

Our fourth call of the day brought us back to McChord Hospital. I checked up on her and found 

our Christmas Miracle... Sheôd just been a little late.  

As the morning calmed down I began to realize that being stationed in Fort Lewis wasnôt all that 

bad. The military took care of most of the óreal work.ô We were responsible for the civiliansï 

and any full call outs that occurred.  

By lunch time, I was getting restless and a little bored. I worked out in the weight room trying to 

convince my arm to heal faster. I have another appointment on Thursday to see how its healing 

up, but until thenï it looks like Iôm stuck at Ft. Lewis.  

Around 3:00, when we still hadnôt gotten any calls, and the trucks were all polished, and weôd 

taken our third inventory of the day, Terry decided to start asking questions.  

He wanted to know who Iôd either ticked off or bribed for this assignment. I had to chuckleï it 

was a goldbrickerôs dream and a true medicôs nightmare. People were in trouble and I was baby 

sitting a dalmatian and ten year old equipment.  

It didnôt take Terry long to figure out that I didnôt want to be there, but it still beats doing 

nothing... or running dispatch.  

At 5:00 we got a call to a minor accident. I recognized the voice on the other end immediately. It 

was Ray. He didnôt sound too excited, but it was good to hear his voice just the same. We didnôt 

get to talk much, but he teased me about getting back to órealô work soon.  

By the time we got back, the dinner Case had brought me had been half picked through by my ... 

ócomrades,ô and I was left to fend for myself.  

Iôm beginning to wonder if they make locking coolers for such occasions.  

 

Wednesday December 27th 2056 - sheer boredom 
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We gave the truck another coat of wax, like it really needed it. I think if they really want to do 

some good, maybe they should cycle equipment from the busy stations here. At least theyôd get 

the rest and maintenance they need.  

I have never seen an ambulance as old as ours look so... pristine. I meanï there wasnôt even one 

bullet ding in it... not one!  

Okayï Two days on the job and Iôm already chomping at the bit.... We got one call last night, 

and the only reason we got it was because the base medics were on a óreal call.ô They got a 

helicopter crash. We got a drunk.  

Worseï listening to the scanner as we pulled back into the station, I heard no less than three calls 

that should have been motorcycle calls-- should have been mine.  

If it makes any sense, I had trouble sleeping because there werenôt enough calls. I kept expecting 

something to happen, but nothing did. Nothing worth worrying about anywayï one transport, one 

accident scene. By the time our relief shift showed up, I was more than ready to go home.  

Its almost, but not quite, like being on administrative leave. The only real difference is the fact 

that I have to stay at the station for three days (more like three and a half, but whoôs counting?) 

And every now and then, we get a call.  

If I never have to polish a truck three times in a row with no callsï it will be too soon. 

Unfortunately... it looks like itôll be next Sunday. Night.  
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WeekTwenty-Eight ï A New Year 

Thursday December 28st 2056 - Revelations 

Well, at least the physical therapist is happy about my progress. I wish I could beï its still going 

way too slow for me.  

He says I'm right on schedule. I guess its good, but it made for a rather depressing morning for 

me. I'm still at least two weeks away from running the bike. Two more weeks of Fort Lewis and 

chauffeur runs. I was a bit disgruntled as I took the bus back to the condo.  

I was surprised when I got home and found several messages on my answering machine. One 

from Mrs. Walker and three from Mario. Seems Mrs. Walker had her talk with him, and maybe 

made some headway. I don't knowï Guess I won't know until I talk to the man.  

PM  

I ended up taking a taxi. Everett General was everything I remembered it to beï crowded, 

confusing. I made my way up to Mario's room and took a deep breath. My hands were shaking 

when I finally got the courage up to open the door and go inside.  

Its funny, I felt a lot less nervous when I saw how bad Mario was looking. I waited in the 

doorway until he looked up and waved me in. Something in the gesture conveyed concern and 

perhaps apology.  

"Jess," he called. His voice was strained, almost as if he'd been crying. I found out he had. It was 

hard on him, talking to me after having condemned me for what I'd done.  

Knowingly or unknowingly I had done something unforgivable in his worldï and still I was his 

adopted daughter. He couldn't stop caring and the fact that I hadn't only seemed to make things 

worse.  

"Please," he said softly. "Sit... I have much to explain."  

I sat and shook my head. "No, you don't have to," I objected.  

He gave me that knowing smile of his and nodded. "Yes I doï Just as you felt you had to tell me 

what had happened."  

I thought about that for a moment and then nodded.  

He seemed lost in thought for a very long time and finally when he spokeï I began to 

understand.  
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Some time before he'd met Trina's mom, he'd been very much in love with a young woman. He 

thought he knew her, he knew he loved her. He would have done anything for her and in the end, 

he did.  

She was twenty-three when they found out she had leukemia and it was too far gone to do 

anything about it. His own skills as a healer were just beginning to develop and even now he 

couldn't have done anything to save her.  

So he'd gone further and further afield as things got more and more desperate. In the end he 

found several mages from AZT who were willing to help him for a price. He would become their 

apprenticeï serve them in whatever capacity they demanded and in return they would save his 

beloved Angelina.  

He was a desperate man and she was dying. He agreed to their offer. They killed three men to 

heal her and that was only the beginning for Mario.  

For Angelinaï she took Diaz's approach, embraced it even. She became everything Mario 

despised. She craved the blood of others, the power it brought her and he... he was apprenticed to 

a circle of blood mages.  

He was their studentï their ódonor'-- anything they needed. He would prepare their victims, clean 

up after them... suffer so that they did not suffer any from the power they wielded. And he 

continued in that capacity until they'd all but used him up and then they'd discarded him like the 

other ódonors.' They thought he was dead, and he may as well have been. It took him a long time 

to recover from his injuriesï body and soul.  

He thought it all long buriedï until I'd announced that I was looking for a blood mage.  

He knew all too well the price and he was afraid I would be enslaved as he was or worse, that I 

would find it appealing-- as his Angelina had. He feared that I would view it as a worthwhile 

sacrifice especially now that it was over.  

I shook my head. "Its not over," I told him softly. "It will never be over. I see his eyes when I 

close mineï but sometimes... sometimes I think ï I hear him sigh when I save a life."  

I met his eyes and opened my heart to him. "I... take what he was as my pastï that if I am ever to 

find redemptionï I have to make every day count and do everything I can to make amends for his 

li fe, for his death and for my own... survival."  

He looked at me for a very long time. "I know Jessï and I'm sorry... sorry I didn't warn you and 

yet... glad I didn't for if I had, you wouldn't have gone and you surely would have wasted away."  

He looked at the ceiling as he tried to find the words and I saw the tears streaming down his face. 

"So help me... I'm glad you are alive."  


































































































































































































































































































































































































































































